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Corporate Information
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Major Financial Indicators and Key Operating Data

TEHBEERETELE/HE

The following financial statements, notes and discussion and analysis IWREHEBRODBERAA(AATRIKIBERSG I RE
of Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd. (the “Company” or “Fengxiang” MEBARIIAEE]) A THBERRE M RilHm
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) contain certain amounts and EomBEE TEABRNEERAS LET - At
percentage figures that have been subject to rounding adjustments. ETERBRPEF " RETALEBELAMINHETHE
Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an flrg@ A - MEAABY ~EBERMAOSEE -

arithmetic aggregation of the figures preceding them and all monetary
amounts shown are approximate amounts only.

KEY FINANCIAL DATA

FTERBHEE
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MBLEE
2024 2023
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Revenue A 5,504,651 5,134,413
Gross profit B 660,099 591,464
Net profit % F 8 280,867 160,319
Net profit attributable to the shareholders of BN RRERFEFHE
the parent company 280,867 160,319
Adjusted net profit®” KRR EFNEY 198,048 160,319
Basic earning per share (in RMB cents) BRERBNARES) 17.9 10.8
Note: ff it -
1. Net profit after deducting the reversal of monetary fund receivables bad 1. MBRFEFVBEERAR((HRAEMBD EEEED
debt and the corresponding tax and interests arising from the liquidation of EMECERERREATEURNEENFNHE -

GMK Finance Co., Ltd. (“GMK Finance”).

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A



Major Financial Indicators and Key Operating Data (Continued)

KEY OPERATING DATA

TEREHE
Rearing volume of white-feathered broilers
APREFREER
unit: million birds
By :BBE
179.0
172.5

38
a/
/\ \

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2024
#H £2023F12831H B E2024F12831H

LEE LEE
Sales volume of raw chicken meat products
SHEANMEE
unit: million kg
B BBTR
279.3

241.3 y
9
Z\  \

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2024
H Z£2023F12831H H Z£2024F12831H

IEFE IEFE
Sales volume of chicken breeds
BHEHE
unit: million birds
By BHEBE
34.2

-68. 7%
"'l-\§‘ 10.7
A-I

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2024
HZ2023F12H318 B Z2024F 128318

TEVBEERTELERE (B)

Processed volume of white-feathered broilers
BPARAEMNIE

unit: million kg

BN BEBETR

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2024
B £20235F12H31H B £2024512A31H
LLFE LLFE
Sales volume of processed chicken meat products
AMIBERNRRAEE
unit: million kg

BN BBETR

129.1

152.9
oo
AD X

I

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2024
B £2023F12A31H B £2024F12831H

LEE LEE
Adjusted net profit"
RAEBFEFNBO
unit: thousand
B TR 198,048
160,319

Dﬁy

1~

Year ended 31 December 2023  Year ended 31 December 2024
#H Z£2023F12831H H Z£2024%12831H

ILFE ILFE LLFE LLFE
Note:
Hiat
1. Net profit after deducting the reversal of monetary fund receivables bad debt and the corresponding tax and interests arising from the liquidation of
GMK Finance.

HBRFREMBEEEENERESZRED RAAEMEARNSROFNE -
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2024 Major Events
“EMFERER

JANUARY
—A

In January, the “/27(iShape)” (“iShape”) chicken breast brand
won the grand prize — the 2023 Excellent New Consumer Brand at
the China Retail Eco Conference and 2024 Future Retail New Year
Celebration.

1A EPRTERASBE204RRTEBLFRA L [BF

(iShape) | (B 2 |) ZE 160 ) & b0 7 7 295 K 82 — 2023 4F X il 37
HE G

HR b HERUGER

B W

LEANED ERARR:

FREN, BAAE. QEFSRVLE, EHRENERU
ERELEAFCS AT QRN EHAE, APHLE

qE-F, XASEERANG. FREE, FEREE
BN FAMELLERENREPARRRTHARR, 4
HERTUERRA #N - HERNKREHRFARNF &
RTARAEESALH, USEL L KESRARIENSL
BB, RRTAARKNNNARESG. MERLEAINE
ARRRALHEH.

AAEE, AAER. BABHATHUSROE NS LN
RAAM, ABRVEHLR. FLRREL)

mARR,

® MARCH

diécns il @ a Bzl

B2 20248+ B ERHENT

D I A1 MUz HE: 457

LFRERBRERARAE

In March, Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd.
was awarded “Liangzhilong 2024 12th China Food Ingredients
E-commerce Festival Quality Enterprise Recommendation”.

BH LRAHRMRERARAAERIR 2ME20245 + — &+
BRIV ERSHELDLXERIKE -

HIZRIAFERE B ATH 25 7] 2

QBB ok (£ & ok

R AR
—o=mE=H

In March, at the Second Wuyue Forum of Broiler Industry and
Shandong Broiler High Quality Development Conference, the
Company was awarded the honourary title of “Outstanding
Enterprise of White-feathered Broiler European Index” by virtue of
its excellent breeding performance.

3A KEE_EAEEXTEWREBLRAESEERRAY
P ARRABFBREERENEERE ESIAPAREREES L
KRB -

In February, Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd. received a gratitude letter from the Training Bureau of the General
Administration of Sport of China. The letter specifically pointed out that “/&l # & & (Fovo Foods)” (‘Fovo Foods”) had given important
material support to the Training Bureau with high-quality “Sports ® Training Bureau National Team Athletes’ Preparation and Assurance
Products”, and actively contributed to the development of the sports industry with high sense of social responsibility, demonstrating the
enterprise’s family and national sentiment and its great love and responsibility.

2R WRBHARREREBRAFKRE TRENREREAELERIIKRBOEHE - EHFHIEL  [BH R & (Fovo Foods) ([HE#
BRDUSEENBE «IIABERFEDERERBEERI A TIRREENYEIR USELSEETREGHNEES

¥R RATLENRBEBEERMAEEE -

FEBRUARY
® —A

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A



APRIL
R

In April, the Company held the Fengxiang Postdoctoral Research Project
Review Meeting passing the opening report of the project of Research on Drug
Resistance Mechanism of Common Poultry Pathogenic Bacteria and Research
and Development of Highly Efficient Green Antimicrobial Agent. The Company
relied on the close cooperation with various scientific research institutions
and universities, maximised the advantages of postdoctoral research station,
attracted more doctors who master key technologies into the station, deepened
the development of the integration of industry and education platform, so as to
boost the high-quality development of white-feathered broilers industry.

AR ARFEHRBHBLAMARETES BB T (EERRREME
BT RS AR E A ) RERERSE o AR RREE RSB E
B ARNETAE RRCEEBLANMMAIFERNTEED  RIE
ZERBRBMOBLEN FMEXBEGBR DHAPAREXSH
ERR-

In May, Fengxiang supported the 2024 Yanggu County Staff
Half Marathon. With product attributes of being low-calorie,
delicious, convenient and ready-to-eat, iShape easily garnered
fans from runners and brought the dual support of health and
deliciousness to the vast participants.

57 BEKMDE) 20245 B BB T+ EFURE  EVE
RERXIK ERIARIEREL EREVNEINIRK &
BEAXKNEEIRTHREAZES -

MAY
® 1jg

2024 Major Events (Continued)
“E_WEXRER (A

In June, the black garlic flavoured chicken nugget was
successfully developed and supplied to customers in bulk. The
crispy squid ink-flavoured breadcrumb is wrapping around the
crispy and juicy chicken breast with black shell and white meat,
the colour of which forms a strong visual aesthetics. Its crunchy
and tender meat with light garlic aroma whets people’s appetite
and brings back memories.

67 BREAKERMAEXDIMNBHREES - HEBIER
BOAEEE BREREEANERA BRIIR AEA
HRAnBEREBUABER  BRRBBMAXFEZEA
BOARF EKRES -

In May, Fengxiang invited the “Promote Law into Enterprises” legal
lecture team of the People’s Court in Yanggu County to carry out
special training activities on integrity in practice with the theme of “Guard
the Bottom Line of the Law, Prevent Job-related Crimes”. Fengxiang
has promoted the modernisation of the corporate governance system
and governance capabilities on the trail of law, and comprehensively
enhanced the enterprise’s ability to resist risks.

50 BHREBNHBSGREARERZZECDEREFARLD
ARRTIERITEEIRESR BAHBBLEINEANESR
BEIES BEROEELGHE LHEEQAFIARERZAMGE
EHRALE 2EEALCERARESN -

Annual Report 2024 F 5§
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2024 Major Events (Continued)
—E_NERER(HA)

SEPTEMBER

g 9A

7 {{{ d |\1L-A
iH It

In August, during the traditional folk festival “God of Wealth
Festival’, the inaugural “Fengxiang Cup” Liaocheng
God of Wealth Cultural Festival was held at the Shanxi-

Shaanxi Guild Hall in Liaocheng. Fengxiang endeavoured In September, Fengxiang communicated with international clients
to promote the integration of traditional culture into chicken and further strengthened strategic partnerships. Fengxiang's
food consumption, allowing people to deeply experience the international production craftsmanship technology and meticulous
essence and charm of excellent traditional culture. on-site quality management level left a profound impression on
customers.

8H ERMEMRE A E] - [FFA] B & & B e

AL A B L PR B 2R AT o BLAERR (D Yﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁub IR BHEBRHNABBREFZIRER E-—TEEHAMAIER
XEBMANBEARREE  BAMEERAMERZES HEE - BEROBEBRENEE TERMARBR IFE’JEEF
B RRMIE ] © EEEEKY GKREFPBTTRAHDR -

15 52 A e D S AL L R it B R A R 2 )

A e s el PR E S (SR TRABUX) R
Y W R . | mmRME RS, BB, RAERE, BEp, |
R, RRERIP ) A A - IR B Bt

A, 202458 H 26
I

i !
| RS . [ a0aees 1 26 1

55 202417 SOZRRART AR

In August, Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd. received two certificates of honours from the Bureau of Training of the General
Administration of Sport of China (Bl 5 8 & 42 3| 48 /5), namely “Sports * Preparation and Protection Products” for National Teams Athletes of
the Training Bureau and “Sports * Sponsor of the Training Bureau”. Since 2018, Fovo Foods has been selected by the Bureau of Training of the
General Administration of Sport of China to support Chinese athletes in international competitions and have earned the national team’s trust.

8A WRBHARMERARAANUKIBREEERIRBRENRE -JRRBARFEHERBREER] [BE-VRFEDH
REEE - B2018FHN IXBEARIIREAALEBERESENTE E@JE}?@%H#RW BHRABAGERENER-

AUGUST
.'BH

10 SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A
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10 B

& &

£, s

AR eREEE-WAEEiS

In October, Fengxiang officially launched its Lean
Operation Project. Leveraging on the experience of leading
international management consulting company, the project
focuses on the optimisation and upgrading of Fengxiang's
factories, and is dedicated to progressively achieving the
improvement and implementation of critical metrics such as
production processes, cost control, and talent development,
thereby empowering Fengxiang’s high-quality development.

108 BHEBOEZELEE EANMAKS - ZBABE
BERALEEREARANAALER  ZEBFRMDS THEN
BUEAE BARBLSEREERE  KAES - AT
ERSHREFNREEZ L BitBTROSES %
=3

2024 Major Events (Continued)
“E_WEXRER (A

DECEMBER

@® 127

In December, Fengxiang awarded the “Fengxiang
Scholarship” to 50 outstanding university students.

Fengxiang has been constantly deepening its
commitment to public welfare, ranging from rural
revitalisation to the support for vulnerable groups. The
Company has been steadfastly upholding its social
responsibilities and driving societal development
through positive contributions.

127 BHEERNA0EEFKBEERIFHE] K

B IR 1D 5 SR BHL B A2 BY N B IR EDIH
KEZHRE - VERBEMSHEMT AUHSRRE
ABENE -

fnunn.,";*,.“u m:

L

In December, new products, Fi 5 /& (Wu Genglu) (‘Wu Genglu”) Roast Chicken in Double-stewed Soup and Two-Pepper
Roast Chicken were launched and expanded the product series of Wu Genglu brand. The Wu Genglu team has actively
explored markets beyond Liaocheng and expanded its nationwide presence, aiming to extend its brand strength across
the country.

12A THEEMWu Gengw) |TEERD Z55% ERAFG LT EFTATERRERRY - AR EBEKE

BEZEWRAIITS HREE2E EREEZEAIN2EHE -

® DECEMBER
128
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Chairman’s Statement

EEESIREHBES

PRINCIPLED AND INNOVATIVE, POISED TO
RISE

Dear Shareholders and Investors,

As the chairman of the Board of Directors of Fengxiang, on behalf of
the Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of you
for your continued trust and support throughout the year of 2024.

In 2024, the global economy faced a sluggish growth due to inflationary
pressures, geopolitical conflicts and trade tensions. However, the global
economy demonstrated certain resilience, driven by robust performance
in emerging markets and developing economies, alongside improved
inflation conditions. In 2024, domestic economy encountered issues
such as weak domestic demand and low expectations due to changes
in the external environment and concentrated emergence of deep-
seated structural conflicts accumulated in the domestic economy
over time. Meanwhile, driven by the Chinese government’s active
promotion of industrial upgrading, unswerving and comprehensive
deepening of reforms and expansion of opening-up, as well as the
steady development of new productive forces, the domestic economy
has maintained overall stability and made incremental progress, and
the major objectives of economic and social development for the whole
year were accomplished smoothly.

2024 marked a year for Fengxiang to deepen its structural adjustments.
Adhering to the work deployment outlined at the beginning of the year,
the Company saw notable improvements in its breeding indicators,
further consolidating its market position in core business channels. It
achieved record-high production capacity and sales volume, enhanced
supply chain synergy, and optimised internal operational efficiency. It
recorded operating revenue of RMB5,504.7 million, and a net profit of
RMB280.9 million.

Specifically, the export business continued to strengthen its leading
position and recorded sales revenue of RMB1,676.4 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 20.1%. The major customer
business generated revenue of RMB1,026.2 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 20.9%.

In 2024, Fengxiang restored the public float to over 25% through
measures such as share issuance, thereby fulfilling the resumption

guidance and further optimising its equity structure.

Looking forward to 2025, challenges and opportunities will coexist.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A

STIEHF  BE2ER

EMHEARR  REA

EABHERNEZTS IR  RERKAQR RO
BN E2024F M FH B ETHETFE -

20245 XBRE N - MEABOAER BEEREEZER
REEXE 2REEBERENE A XHEWH
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L -BARBMBEN L RBREBLETFEETHE
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2 FAKHERTE RBRThTAELE 2FK8BEHEHR
BREXZBBEBIENTK -
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FEARKE2809FE T -
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The global economy in 2025 still faces adjustment pressures due
to high costs, elevated debt levels, and intensifying protectionism.
Meanwhile, driven by the prosperous development of emerging markets
and developing economies alongside easing inflationary pressures, the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts that the global economy
is expected to grow by 3.3% in 2025, slightly higher than 2024. Global
trade is expected to show signs of recovery.

The Chinese Government Work Report states that in 2025, changes
unseen in a century are unfolding across the world at a faster pace,
and the external environment of our country’s development has
become more complex and severe. Domestically, the foundation
for economic recovery remains unstable, with insufficient effective
demand, particularly weak consumption. Nevertheless, the fundamental
trend of our country’s long-term economic improvement remains
unchanged and will not change.
will vigorously stimulate consumption, enhance investment efficiency,
and comprehensively expand domestic demand. These measures will
significantly boost domestic consumption demand and provide robust
momentum for the sustained development of Fengxiang.

In 2025, the Chinese government

In 2025 where opportunities and challenges coexist, Fengxiang will
uphold the spirit of ownership, maintain the quality system, talent
system, and management system, and leverage its advantages in
capital, brand, and customer to achieve rapid and leapfrog development
and improvement.

In this regard, Fengxiang will adopt the following major strategic
initiatives in 2025:

Firstly, innovate development models and accelerate capacity
expansion and penetration to boost supply chain acceleration.

Secondly, continuously optimise breeding and rearing management
and continue improving white-feathered chicken breeding performance,
focusing on cost optimisation in meat production to ensure overall
efficiency of the supply chain.

Thirdly, continuously deepen channel penetration, strengthen
Fengxiang’s market share across all channels, particularly with major
customers, and reinforce relationships with customers in all channels.
Fourthly, strengthen efficiency enhancement, cost control, and
technology-driven innovation, refine the key elements in production
while empowering the Group through digitalisation and artificial
intelligence driven advancements, thereby building lean capabilities and
intelligent competitiveness.

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ESEIRBEE (&)

TEEA mEEARREZENIERZTZE.

2025F R ENMHBARE N - ARZHENIS
MBEEPCERELER BRBEIEHREAZ  H
BEMESABIMF)IER - 20255 2 K BEEEE
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EERpE S o

MEBTLERER L 20255 R FFE /M
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TORBOFAFERENEE BRERTE H

}DJ‘JEE%Z:T}I_‘E ’ 1Eﬁ.?$/ﬁﬁl§ﬁﬁﬁﬁ}mg$@ﬁ/X
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ESEXIRHEHE (A

Fifthly, continuously advance the building of talent team through internal
cultivation, market-oriented recruitment, and differentiated incentive
mechanisms to foster a professional team that is suitable for future
business in a multi-dimensional way.

“Nothing can separate people with common goals and ideals, not even
mountains and seas.”

In 2025, Fengxiang will unite its workforce and uphold “integrity” to
fortify the foundation for development and “innovation” to activate the
momentum for growth. Fengxiang will seize structural opportunities
amidst fierce market competition, and break new grounds amidst
changes. We firmly believe that with the unwavering support of our
shareholders and partners, Fengxiang is poised to gather momentum
for growth and will continue to write a new chapter of high-quality
development!

This report is hereby submitted. We look forward to your continuous
trust and support.

Thank you.

Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd.
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Zhu Lingjie

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

COMPANY PROFILE

Introduction

The Company is one of the largest white-feathered broiler meat
exporters and the leading retail enterprises of chicken meat food in
China, which was established as a joint stock limited liability company
in the PRC on 17 December 2010 and listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9977) on 16 July 2020 (the “Listing
Date”).

The Group is principally based in Shandong, the PRC and produces
and sells processed chicken meat products and raw chicken meat
products mainly from white-feathered broilers. The main products
include (i) processed chicken meat products; (ii) raw chicken meat
products; (iii) chicken breeds; and (iv) others. Apart from its leading
domestic market position in the PRC, the Group has an established
and growing export business supplying a wide range of premium quality
chicken meat products to overseas customers in Japan, Malaysia,
Europe, the Middle East, Korea, Mongolia and Singapore.

The Group’s white-feathered chicken meat products are halal certified
by adopting Islamic slaughter rituals. The Group adopts an integrated
‘poultry to plate” model which enables it to control every stage of the
poultry lifecycle, allowing the Group to effectively manage quality and
cost throughout the process starting from the breeding of broilers to the
distribution and sale of chicken meat products.

MIE n—.l- Al &/-\*ﬁ

N REBER

IShIN
ARARAPEREANAPABZELOFREBELNER
ERTEME Y — R2010612817B £ Bk 7

R
ABRMBRAT  WHR2020FE7 168 ([ EHm AH))
FEBRZATER LT (R RSE: 9977) -

AEBTEURFRURE T EARPHRELEER
HEANTHAR M REERNR G - T EERBE)
AMITHEAR D (VEBERARG R R(v)E
fh o BREFEBEATSENELEAI  AEENES
BRAL TEAROEAER  mBAA- FRAE - B
MR BE SHERAINMENEINEPHELE
BEEARSR -

$§lmﬁﬂﬁmﬁ&%%ﬁ%%%$%fLﬁ%
BERE - $¢I%%—ﬁk%ﬁ SEER IR - £
REBEHEHR ﬂ%%#ﬂ%&' (e T A 2L
EE%W%%@H%@%&%%&%%%H%EW
HERKA -

Annual Report 2024 F 5§

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Segments
Processed Chicken Meat Products

The Group markets its processed chicken meat products under Fovo
Foods, iShape and Wu Genglu brands. Processed chicken meat
products comprise cooked, semi-cooked and seasoned chicken meat
products. Depending on the processing methods, these processed
products are required to be chilled or frozen. The raw chicken meat the
Group uses in its processed chicken meat production is either supplied
by itself or procured from independent third party suppliers. The cooked
chicken meat products comprise ready-to-eat chicken meat products
and frozen chicken meat products, which are fully cooked and sterilised (end
consumers will need to reheat the frozen cooked chicken meat products
before consumption according to the instructions provided on the
packaging). The semi-cooked chicken meat products are processed,
chilled or frozen and boxed (end consumers will need to further process
(including steaming, grilling, roasting or frying) such semi-cooked
chicken meat products before consumption according to the instructions
provided on the packaging). The seasoned chicken meat products
include raw chicken meat flavoured with certain ingredients or spices.
The Group also offers ready-to-cook pre-prepared meal solutions,
including Chinese cuisine. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
sales volume of processed chicken meat products increased by 18.4%
to 152.9 million kilogram (“kg”) (31 December 2023: 129.1 million
kg). For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from sale of
processed chicken meat products (after elimination of inter-segment
transactions) grew by 13.1% to RMB2,955.4 million (31 December
2023: RMB2,613.7 million), representing 53.7% of the Group’s total
revenue.

Raw Chicken Meat Products

The Group offers raw white-feathered chicken meat products, which
include whole frozen chickens and chicken portions, such as chicken
wings, chicken breast, chicken drumsticks, chicken drumettes, bone-in
chicken thighs, boneless chicken fillets, chicken head, chicken feet and
chicken legs. The Group’s broilers are then cut into portions according
to its internal or customers’ requirements, which will be chilled or frozen
depending on the product’s nature. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the sales volume of raw chicken meat products increased by
15.8% to 279.3 million kg (31 December 2023: 241.3 million kg). For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from external sale of
raw chicken meat products increased by 2.6% to RMB2,343.4 million
(31 December 2023: RMB2,284.1 million), representing 42.6% of the
Group’s total revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Chicken Breeds

The Group sells some of its chicken breeds hatched from broiler eggs
to other independent third parties for breeding into broilers. The sales
volume of the Group’s chicken breeds is based on the average selling
prices of chicken breeds, which is market-driven. The Group sells
chicken breeds to local chicken farmers and other poultry business
operators, who are independent third parties. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the sales volume of chicken breeds decreased by
68.7% to 10.7 million birds (31 December 2023: 34.2 million birds). For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue from external sale of
chicken breeds dropped by 55.8% to RMB27.0 million (31 December
2023: RMB61.0 million), representing 0.5% of the Group’s total
revenue.

Other Products

The Group sells other products, including the sale of broilers that
cannot satisfy the Group’s quality requirements and excess broiler eggs
that exceed the Group’s internal needs, by-products (such as chicken
feathers, chicken blood and unused chicken organs), packing materials
and other miscellaneous products. Revenue from the external sale of
other products grew by 1.8% to RMB178.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB175.7 million), representing
3.2% of the Group’s total revenue.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the white-feathered chicken industry exhibited features of both
supply-demand imbalance and structural adjustment. For domestic
markets, the pressure on the industry was significant throughout the
year, with supply across the entire industry chain being released
gradually. The demand side was constrained by a weak recovery in
domestic consumption, with the progress of recovery across various
channels being slower than expected, resulting in persistently sluggish
end-consumption. The widening gap between supply and demand
led to a downward shift in price levels, continuous compression on
the industry’s profit margins, and risk of overcapacity requiring urgent
discharge. At the same time, due to the impact of avian influenza,
supply gaps emerged in certain international regions, allowing Chinese
white-feathered chicken enterprises to seize international market share,
resulting in a significant year-on-year increase in export volumes. On
the raw materials front, the decline in prices of animal feed ingredients
has optimised breeding costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Facing pressure, Fengxiang had, by focusing on the major strategic
initiatives for 2024 and fully leveraging its advantages in the integrated
industry-chain and value-chain business model and in multi-channel
penetration, persistently consolidated the industry-leading position
in the export market, strengthened the loyalty of major customers,
prioritised the refined management of each section, and continued
increasing its efforts to reduce costs and improve efficiency, which
enabled relatively remarkable improvements in its overall operation and
management and significantly reinforced the driving force for synergistic
development.

During the year, the Group achieved sales revenue of RMB5,504.7
million (2023: RMB5,134.4 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.2%, and net profit of RMB280.9 million (2023: RMB160.3
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 75.2%.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting Period”),
excluding the effect of the reversal of monetary fund receivables
bad debt and the corresponding tax and interests arising from the
liquidation of GMK Finance, the Group achieved the above results
mainly attributable to:

(1) an increase in sales volume of raw chicken meat products and
processed chicken meat products; and

(2) increased production efficiency and lower costs due to refined
management of the Group’s management and all employees.

() Business Highlights
1. Export Business Continued to Lead

In 2024, sales revenue of the export business further rose to
RMB1,676.4 million (2023: RMB1,396.0 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of 20.1%, and its share of the overall
business increased to 30.5% (same period: 27.2%).

During the Group’s provision of products and services to
international customers for nearly 30 years, it has accumulated
domestically-leading and international quality standard,
channel resources, industry experience and brand reputation
and has continuously become the largest exporter in the white-
feathered chicken industry in China, driving and supporting the
continuous growth of the overall business of the Group.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A

EHEN  BERNDEZE2024FERBKESE 75
RE-BL2EXREEREGEN ZREMBE
O REZETEALNHOTSHA  NMBREER
EFNHAE BHESROBALERE SEMK
RARYNE BRELEBEKFESRANRE
FIEREMES HEE R -

AEE AEEBRHEERAARKS5047HE T
(2023F : AR¥S51344E & L) RLLLERT2% - &
IFFE AR 28098 & Tt (20234 : AR #160.3
B8 BHERETS2% -

HE2024F12A3MBLEFE(RERD A - OB
BHEGEIEELENEEESEZRRERRIEENE
UERFBENFE AEERES LA EENETERR
ER

() FEEABAESNENTEALRHEGR
iR

2 AEEEEELRTEBEIMBELERREAR
FEERRRED RKARR -

(- ¥B=
1. HOXKFEEL

2024% - HORBHHERAE - T BT
EARM167648 8 T(2023%F: AR™
1,396.0E B L) ' R K20.1% - EHEL
18 Z #% 2 30.5% (R H 15 £ 27.2%) »

AEBEREIFABEREFRMERER
BHBRETERTEAREEL ABEBERKE
MmERE REER TELBRIRAEE
B2 UWEBKRATERAPETERALED
BORPNMIXBETASEEREBNSSE
-



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the supply of white-feathered
chicken meat in some countries and regions was affected
by the disruption of avian influenza epidemic. The Group
accurately identified and strategically seized market
opportunities, efficiently optimised internal resource allocation,
transformed market opportunities into unique competitive
advantages and consolidated its market position. During the
Reporting Period, on the basis of continuous consolidation of
its original channels, the Group opened up new channels such
as aviation and high-end chain channel, and expanded trader
resources, making its channels more diversified and refined.
In particular, the revenue from Europe increased by 19.5%,
further expanding its advantage of industry leadership.

Centralised Procurement Business Continued to
Grow

The centralised procurement business achieved overall sales
revenue of RMB1,351.4 million (2023: RMB1,136.2 million),
representing a year-on-year increase of 18.9%, and its share
of the overall business achieved 24.6% (same period: 22.1%).

During the Reporting Period, the Group strengthened
investment in research and development (“‘R&D”) and
optimised resource allocation, drove the R&D direction with
sales strategy and accelerated the pace of new product
iteration, achieving rapid growth in the sales of new products.
At the same time, the Group optimised the collaborative
management of the supply chain and coordinated the
upgrading of existing production lines, thereby improving
production capacity and efficiency. In the food processing
sector, the Group implemented a comprehensive whole-
process cost control system, optimised the assessment
system, resulting in the continuous improvement in cost control
efficiency and leading to the continuous enhancement of the
comprehensive competitiveness of its centralised procurement
business channel.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to promote
the extension of the industrial chain to downstream high
value-added segments, with proportion of the revenue from
processed products in the total revenue increased to 53.7%,
further strengthening its resistance against market cycles.

The major customer business is the supply of chicken meat
products by the Group to international Western-style fast food
stations in Mainland China and is a key component of our
centralised procurement business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In 2024, the major customer business achieved sales revenue
of RMB1,026.2 million (2023: RMB848.8 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of 20.9%.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to closely
collaborate with major customers, deeply integrated into
the supply chain system of major customers and efficiently
synergised with major customers in the sections of R&D,
quality control and information sharing. While optimising the
processing procedures and techniques of mature products, the
Group seized incremental opportunities by driving the iteration
of new products of major customers with its R&D advantages,
promoted the supply of all types of products, followed major
customers’ steps in opening shops to gain a foothold in new
markets, and achieved rapid growth in both sales and revenue.

Retail Business Actively Adjusted

The retail business achieved sales revenue of RMB384.6
million (2023: RMB428.3 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 10.2%, and its share of the overall business was 7.0%
(same period: 8.3%).

Among which, iShape accounted for 59.2% of the retail
business and continued to play a key role in the Group’s
customer-end products.

In order to increase the potential of sustainable development
of customer-end products, the Group optimised its marketing
activities and related expenses in 2024. As a result, revenue of
products under iShape decreased, but iShape maintained its
leading position in the market and the quality and sustainability
of its development further increased.

In terms of the online channel, the year-on-year increase in
iShape’s market share on Tmall continued to outperform the
platform’s industry index. Meanwhile, iShape also achieved
sound growth on several new platforms such as Pinduoduo
and Douyin. In terms of the offline channel, iShape cooperated
with large membership chain stores to customise a variety of
new products and launch in domestic stores. At the same time,
iShape further developed diversified channels, which helped it
in forming a channel moat with multiple links to consumers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(Il) Observation of Current Trends

Companies with Integrated Industry-Chain
Embraces Rapid Development Opportunities as
China Consumer Goods Industry has entered a
New Era of High-Quality Development

Against the backdrop of China’s macroeconomic expansion
from leveraged growth to a stock economy, the consumer
goods industry has experienced a dividend period of growth
propelled by a dual drive of volume (quantity, from nothing to
something) and price (quality, from something to something
premium) and has transitioned to a stage of pursuing high-
quality development which corresponds to the development
stages of such industry, the industry concentration has been
further increased.

For white-feathered broiler industry, companies with
integrated industry-chain that achieve full-chain control
gain advantages in quality, cost, and efficiency. With stable
supply and consistent quality assurance, they are easier to
earn the trust of major customers. Additionally, their ability to
extend downstream into deep processing enhances their anti-
cyclical resilience, positioning them to be more competitive
amid increasing industry concentration and consumption
upgrade trends. Meanwhile, brand value drives more efficient
sales, generates profits for partners, and earns consumer
recognition. Establishing ESG compliance systems and setting
up sustainability goals can help enhance industry standards
and corporate image, and products are more likely to be
favoured by the high-end market. In this process, the market
share of high-quality companies with integrated industry chain
is expected to experience steady growth.

Catering Chain Integration Rate Continues to
Rise, and Quality Supply Chain Companies Usher
in Growth Opportunities

Driven by the trend of catering branding, the catering chain
integration rate of China is expected to further increase in
2024, marking the continuous acceleration in chain integration
process within China’s catering industry. As chain catering
brands have an increasing demand for standardised ingredients and
stable supply, white-feather chicken, with its high level of
industrialisation and easy portioning and processing, has
become a core ingredient for chain catering enterprises such
as KFC and McDonald’s, directly driving the growth of demand
for processed chicken meat.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Large-scale chain catering enterprises tend to establish long-
term strategic partnerships with high-quality white-feather
broiler enterprises to ensure supply chain stability and food
safety. High-quality supply chain companies maintain higher
quality standards has automated and digitalised processing
factories with the involvement of high technology and can
meet large-scale and customised procurement needs of
catering institutions making them more likely to secure long-
term collaborations with chain catering giants. As the catering
chain integration rate continues to rise, high-quality supply
chain companies are set to embrace growth opportunities.

(1i1) Development Initiatives

Development Goals:

We will adjust to market demands, commit to upgrading the
industry of chicken meat products and achieve sustainable,
steady and balanced quality growth.

We will continue to consolidate balanced multi-channel
development and expand production lines. We aim to maintain
our industry leadership in the export business and enhance
profitability and international influence. We will increase
customers’ loyalty, actively understand customer needs,
continuously enhance product quality, launch new products,
and increase our market share.

We will continue to enhance the quality of breeding and drive
the growth in breading and chicken meat processing capacity
steadily, and ensure the healthy enhancement of supply chain
management capabilities.

We will continue to accelerate the construction of talent pool,
increase organisational vitality, accumulate organisational core
competencies, and create an organisational culture that dares
to meet the unknown and challenges.

Development Measures:

In 2025, the Group will adhere to the three principles of “continuous”
and further enhance the Group’s operating efficiency and
effectiveness, to realise steady and sustainable high quality
growth and create a leading chicken meat brand of China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(1) “Continue to Promote the Refinement of

Management and Efficiency with All Aspects
Improving Steadily’:

At the breeding end, we will continue to promote refined
management in all aspects. We will further enhance
the breeding ability of breeder chicken and improve the
quality of chicken breeds; in the commercial breeding
process, we will further improve the efficiency of broiler
rearing, survival rate and feed conversion ratio; we will
continuously innovate feed formulations to reduce the
cost of raw materials.

At the processing end, we will continue to improve
the yield of chicken meat by continuously optimising
craftsmanship process and equipment; we have improved
production technology to enhance the comprehensive
utilisation rate of raw materials, optimised raw material
allocation to increase the turnover rate of direct raw
materials supply, and reduced processing costs through
energy management in our plants. Meanwhile, we will
continue to increase the proportion of processed chicken
meat products.

At the R&D end, we proactively understand customer
needs, and will continue to introduce new products,
optimise the efficiency of existing products.

At the operation end, through the integration of upper and
lower links of operations, we facilitate the allocation and
optimisation of orders, warehousing and logistics to further
improve production efficiency and optimise warehousing
costs to realise the optimisation of production efficiency.

At the sales end, we continue to expand the coverage of
various channels, deeply explore opportunities from new
customers, follow the pace of our customers, and layout
new markets and new products for major customers, so
as to realise increase of business volume and revenue of
various channels.

The Group will leverage digitalisation and artificial
intelligence-driven endogenous evolution to empower
the Group to build capabiliies and a moat featuring
intelligence. The Group will also make use of information
technology and digital means to assist the Group in
effectively tracking and analysing the indicators in
the process of production and operation through big
data management system, so as to provide effective
assistance for the implementation of refined management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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(2)

(3)

“Continue to Deepen Channel Penetration and
Expand Market Share”:

For export business, we will continue to optimise
products, services and channels of our export business,
and reinforce the Group’s leading position in the export
business, and continue to upgrade its services, develop
markets and broaden channels so as to provide the
most outstanding service and achieve diversification of
channels.

For centralised procurement business, we will continue
to strengthen our comprehensive business capabilities
and business scale for major customers and use it as
a starting point to continue to expand the centralised
procurement business facing the catering industry and
the convenience store system. We will further broaden
the coverage of various channels, and expand business
development opportunities with new channels and
customers.

For retail business, we will continue to develop the
business through online and offline collaboration and
provide consumers with quality products including “iShape”
and “Fovo Foods” through channels such as online
e-commerce, offline convenience stores and boutique
supermarkets.

“Continue to Accelerate the Construction of Talent
Pool and Increase Organisational Vitality”:

Talent is the primary resource for enterprise development,
and competition among enterprises is ultimately a
competition for talent. In order to achieve the goal of high-
quality development, enterprises need to be supported by
quality talent team. Therefore, in the face of a domestic
market filled with complexities and uncertainties and an
international environment full of changes and conflicts,
the Group will take practical and effective measures to
continue to accelerate the construction of talent pool,
increase organisational vitality, accelerate organisational
upgrading and improvement, accumulate organisational
core competencies, and create an organisational culture
that dares to meet the unknown and challenges.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Through the implementation of the strategy of three
principles of “continuance”, the Group realised mutual
promotion between the domestic market and the
international market. Great synergy is created among the
export business, the centralised procurement business
and the retail business. With the quality and standard for
serving global top food and beverage giants for years,
the Group provides hundreds of millions of families and
individual consumers with quality products and services,
creating a leading brand of chicken meat products.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overall performance

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group experienced a slight
increase in revenue as compared to that of 2023. The Group recorded
a net profit of RMB280.9 million in 2024 (2023: RMB160.3 million).
Adjusted net profit" increased by 23.5% year-on-year. There was an
increase of 11.6% in gross profit as compared to that of 2023. The
basic earning per share was RMB17.9 cents in 2024. Set out below is
the detailed information on the fluctuations in the Company’s results for
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEFE

Items HE 2024 2023 Change
20245 20234 =)
RMB’000 RMB’000 (%)
AR¥E TR ARET T (%)
Total operating revenue EEBITA 5,504,651 5,134,413 +7.2
Operating costs AN 4,844,553 4,542,949 +6.6
Selling expenses HEBA 163,969 156,268 +4.9
Administrative expenses EEBHA 130,750 100,604 +30.0
R&D expenses HeEsE R 25,623 22,708 +12.8
Finance costs B E R 52,133 102,981 -49.4
Other gains H b U 2= 3,759 6,698 -43.9
Gain on changes in fair value AnBEEZHES (10,483) 2,869 N/A
Total profit il 4a %8 258,216 163,945 +57.5
Net profit SE F 8 280,867 160,319 +75.2
Adjusted net profit!" KRB FFEO 198,048 160,319 +23.5
Gross profit EHE 660,099 591,464 +11.6
Gross profit margin FEFE 12.0% 11.5% +4.1
Net profit margin JF IR 5.1% 3.1% +63.4
Note: Kt st -
1. Net profit after deducting the reversal of monetary fund receivables bad 1. NMBRFBEY B EEEANERESBRBER KA

debt and the corresponding tax and interests arising from the liquidation

of GMK Finance.

BT B AR BAR 8 FFE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Revenue by products

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLFEE

2024 2023 Change

2024 5 20234 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 (%)
ARET ARBET T (%)
Raw chicken meat products EHAR R 2,343,404 2,284,084 +2.6
Processed chicken meat products I THARSR 2,955,393 2,613,650 +13.1
Chicken breeds i) 26,964 61,015 -55.8
Others Hity 178,890 175,664 +1.8
Total &&t 5,504,651 5,134,413 +7.2

BEHRR AEBFEESHAEN DHRAKE L H
MELGm RN THAR R EILMAR -

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s sales revenue increased due
to the increase in the sales volume of raw chicken meat products and
processed chicken meat products of the Group.

>

REmMB| 7 HWEE - FHIEME

Sales volume and average selling price by products

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A3MALFE

2024 2023 Change
20245 20234 23
(%)
(%)
Raw chicken meat products SERHER
Sales volume (per kg) HE(FEFr) 279,313,828 241,290,399 +15.8
Average selling price (RMB per kg) THEB(ETZARE) 8.39 9.47 -11.4
Processed chicken meat products EIMIERAR
Sales volume (per kg) HE(ZFx) 152,938,912 129,121,387 +18.4
Average selling price (RMB per kg) FHEEB(ETEARK) 19.32 20.24 45
Chicken breeds BH
Sales volume (per bird) HE (HE) 10,710,204 34,244,511 —-68.7
Average selling price (RMB per bird) FHEBEBAAREK) 2.52 1.78 +41.3

BEHAN AEEAPAHENTERLIEK16.2%
AMTHEARGBNEHEDRIGHEBIER - B 0
T HERREAGRMEEE-

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s number of white-feathered
broilers being processed experienced a year-on-year increase of
16.2%, and the production and sales volume of processed chicken
meat products both experienced corresponding growth. The growth of
breeding, processing and sales are related.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Revenue by geographic territory and products

EREN®mE D ()

it 7 I 15 0 6 R i B 0 B A

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLFEE

2024 2023 Change

20245 20234 4
RMB’000 RMB’000 (%)
AR®BT ARBTT (%)
Mainland China H At 3,828,207 3,738,375 +2.4
Japan B 411,624 412,575 -0.2
Malaysia BRI 298,221 177,507 +68.0
Europe BOM 826,627 691,772 +19.5
Other countries HEBE X 139,972 114,184 +22.6
Total &t 5,504,651 5,134,413 +7.2

During the Reporting Period, the Company’s revenue growth in the
Mainland China market was driven by an increase in sales volume of
processed chicken meat products. Also, in light of the competitiveness
of the Group’s products and the re-structuring of the international
landscape, growth was achieved in sales revenue from Europe and
other markets.

B2B and B2C sales revenue

The Group’s B2B sales are mainly direct sales or distribution of
products to domestic and international customers, primarily food
service or industrial customers, fast food restaurants, and food retailers.
B2C sales are primarily through online and offline platforms to the end

BEPRAR RNTHEAXNRHEERTIARFFE
M H WAL R - I SRR AEEE MmO HF
HWRBEBRBRER EEEMEEMMISHNHEERA
BRBER-

B2B Kk B2C 5 & X A

AEEBBHETZHUBEARBEEEFAEHH D H
Em TEHHRMREXIXETFS EREE R
RmTERN BAXHEITZABRLERRTFERAKR
RHEBEHEER-

consumers.
For the year ended 31 December
BE1RRANALEE

2024 2023 Change
2024 20234 )
RMB’000 RMB’000 (%)
ARMT T ARBTT (%)
B2B B2B 5,120,025 4,706,065 +8.8
B2C B2C 384,626 428,348 -10.2
Including: Online Hep: B E 127,848 146,856 -12.9
Offline SN 256,778 281,492 -8.8
Total a5t 5,504,651 5,134,413 +7.2
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (&)

During the Reporting Period, the Group further expanded its B2B
customer base and achieved growth in sales volume. Revenue from
the B2B business increased by 8.8% and accounted for 93.0% (2023:
91.7%) of the total revenue, representing an increase of 1.3%. As the
Company strategically prioritised the supply of chicken meat to B2B
business in 2024, which led to a reduction in the supply of chicken meat
to B2C business and a decline in its production volume, sales volume
of the products under the iShape and Fovo Foods series declined,
resulting in a decrease of 10.2% in revenue from the B2C business.
Revenue from the B2C business reached 7.0% (2023: 8.3%) of the
total revenue, representing a decrease of 1.3%.

Operating costs

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operating costs increased by
6.6% to RMB4,844.6 million (2023: RMB4,542.9 million), mainly due to
an increase in the rearing volume of white-feathered broilers and an
increase in the volume of chicken processed by the Group.

Administrative expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s administrative expenses
increased by 30.0% to RMB130.7 million (2023: RMB100.6 million),
mainly due to the enhancement in management efficiency of the
Group and improvement in the performance and remuneration of the
employees.

Selling expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s selling expenses increased by
4.9% to RMB164.0 million (2023: RMB156.3 million), mainly due to an
increase in the sales volume of chicken meat products of the Group.

R&D expenses

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s R&D expenses increased
by 12.8% to RMB25.6 million (2023: RMB22.7 million), mainly due to
an increase in the Group’s R&D projects and the improvement in R&D
personnel’s performance and remuneration.

Finance costs
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s finance costs decreased by
49.4% to RMB52.1 million (2023: RMB103.0 million), which was mainly

due to (i) the decrease in borrowing rates; and (ii) the decrease in
amount financed due to the improvement in profitability of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Total profit

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s net profit increased by
75.2% to RMB280.9 million (2023: net profit of RMB160.3 million),
which was mainly due to (i) an increase in sales volume of the Group’s
export business; and (ii) the receipt of the assets recovered after the
liquidation of GMK Finance and relevant taxes thereof.

Analysis on Capital Resources
Liquidity and capital resources

The Group has funded its operations principally with cash generated
from its operations, borrowings and shareholders’ capital contributions.
The Group’s primary uses of cash in 2024 were for working capital
purposes and capital expenditures for expansion and improvement of
production equipment and facilities.

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2024, the registered capital of the Company
was RMB1,583,348,000 and the total number of issued shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) was 1,583,348,000 Shares, comprising
1,045,000,000 domestic Shares (“Domestic Shares”) and 538,348,000
H Shares (“H Shares”) with a nominal value of RMB1.0 each. During
the Reporting Period, the Group allotted and issued 730,000 new H
Shares under the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 29
August 2023 (amended and restated on 6 June 2024).

As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings of the Group amounted
to RMB999.1 million, representing a decrease of 15.0% as compared
to that as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly attributable
to: (i) repayment of certain long-term borrowings that has fallen due;
and (ii) less borrowing needs as a result of the Company’s improved
profitability.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings divided by total equity, and balance sheet ratio, which is
total borrowings divided by total assets. The gearing ratio and balance
sheet ratio as at 31 December 2024 was 30.2% (31 December 2023:
38.7%) and 36.8% (31 December 2023: 40.0%), respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (&)

Contingent liabilities and pledge of assets

The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 were secured by (i)
mortgages of the Group’s lands situated in the PRC with aggregate
net carrying amount of RMB76.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB62.4
million); (ii) pledge of the Group’s bank deposits of RMB25.1 million (31
December 2023: RMB8.6 million); (i) pledge of certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with aggregate net carrying amount of
RMB1,508.1 million (31 December 2023: RMB886.10 million); and (iv)
pledge of the Group’s inventories with aggregate net carrying amount
of RMB128.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB241.4 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The results and business operations of the Group are affected by a
number of risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly related to the
business of the Group. Primary risk factors are outlined as follows:

Price Risks

Price risks refer to the losses of costs increase or profits decrease
due to the fluctuation of the sales price. We operate in a competitive
industry, where the main raw materials and products are commodities,
all of which have been subject to significant price fluctuations. We
are exposed to the risk of fluctuations of commodity prices, including
prices of corn and soybean meals (which are our primary animal feed
ingredients), chicken breeds and poultry products in China. Fluctuations
in these commodity prices have had and are expected to continue to
have an effect on our profitability. Commodity prices generally fluctuate
with market conditions, including supply and demand, government
policies and weather conditions in major agricultural and farming
regions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Health Risks

Health risks refer to the risks of outbreak of diseases among or
attributed to chicken. A lot of countries have encountered animal
diseases, including but not limited to, foot-and-mouth disease, avian
influenza and other animal diseases. Avian influenza, in particular H5SN1
virus, H7N9 virus and H5NG6 virus, is a type of disease which spreads
through poultry and is capable of killing millions of poultry and may, in
some circumstances, be transmitted to humans, causing symptoms
such as fever, cough, sore throat, muscle aches and, in severe cases,
breathing problems and pneumonia that may be fatal. Outbreak of
diseases in neighbouring areas of any of our production facilities could
raise concerns of the public and our customers on the safety and quality
of our products. To solve health risks, the Group has implemented
comprehensive procedures to prevent diseases among our breeders
and broilers and focuses on reaction measures in response to any
potential risk of disease outbreak. The chicken farms are constructed
in stages and tailor-made according to the Company’s own standards
and requirements to ensure effective quality control, with procurement
and installation of designed facilities according to prescribed standards
of temperature, humidity and ventilation. This requires thorough
planning to maintain operational stability. The Group has a technical
specialist responsible for collecting information relating to livestock
disease and providing early warning. In particular, we implemented a
disease and mortality rate monitoring programme whereby our staff
will check and remove dead breeders and broilers and will inform our
veterinarians accordingly. Our veterinarians monitor the mortality rate
of breeders and broilers on a daily basis and we maintain records of
their health conditions throughout their lifespan. Such records include
feed consumption, mortality, daily egg production, average egg weight,
medication, vaccinations and disinfection records.

Food Safety Risks

Food safety risks refer to risks of severe customer complaints,
large-scale product recalls and other negative effects resulted from
unqualified product and food safety indicators due to deficient food
safety management system as well as early warning mechanism. To
solve possible food safety risks, we have established and maintain a
quality control system covering each stage of our operations. In addition
to our quality control system covering each stage of our operations, we
have established a food safety control system covering issues related
to our R&D, supplier certification and management, procurement,
production, storage, transportation and sales and distribution
activities, and has obtained, among other things: (i) ISO22000 (Food
Safety) Certificate; (ii) ISO9001 (Quality) Certificate; and (iii) HACCP
Certification.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (&)

Safety Production Risks

Safety production risks refer to risks of corporate property loss,
temporary production suspensions or tarnished reputation due to
production safety accidents caused by deficient safety management
system or inadequate accident preventive measures. The Group
has formulated food safety and management system manuals and
procedure documents in accordance with the requirements of Food
Safety Law of the PRC, GB/T27341-2009 Hazard Analysis and Critical
Control Point (HACCP) System — General Requirements for Food
Production Enterprises and other laws and regulations and relevant
industry standards. Further, the results of our bacteria tests on our
chicken meat products have complied with the Fresh and Frozen
Poultry Product National Standards of the PRC and we procure our
raw materials, Parent Stock Day-old Chicks and frozen chicken meat
products from third party suppliers that have obtained the necessary
licences and permits.

Epidemic Risks

Epidemic risks are the major risks faced by the development of animal
husbandry. Outbreaks of health epidemics such as COVID-19, the
severe acute respiratory syndrome, Middle East Respiratory Syndrome
as well as the Ebola virus could materially and adversely affect our
business operations. The Group will continue to monitor closely the
development of the epidemics, assess and react actively its impacts on
the Group’s financial position and operating results, and ensure hygiene
measures have been adopted. All personnel entering and exiting the
breeder and broiler farms are required to undergo a disinfection process
and be logged, and our staff are prohibited from bringing their uniforms
out of the enclosed farm area to minimise the chance of introducing
bacteria from the external environment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Policy and Regulation Risks

We are subject to laws, rules and regulations inside and outside
the PRC. Changes in domestic and foreign economic environment
and the continuous development of the poultry industry could result
in the relevant laws and regulations and industry policies being
adjusted accordingly. Such changes may, to a certain extent, result in
uncertainties in the future business development and operating results
of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Period,
the Group did not have any other significant investments, acquisitions
or disposals.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 6,473 employees who were
directly employed by the Group, of which 6,469 employees were
employed in the PRC and four employees were located in Japan. The
remuneration packages for the employees include salary, bonuses and
allowances. The bonus is based on business performance. As required
by the PRC regulations, the Group (i) participates in social insurance
schemes operated by the relevant local government authorities, and
(i) maintains mandatory pension contribution plans, medical insurance,
work-related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity
insurance. The Group also provides continuing education and training
programmes to its employees to improve their skills and develop their
potential. The Company currently has two share award schemes
adopted on 10 December 2021 (as amended on 6 June 2024) (the “2021
SAS”) and 29 August 2023 (as amended on 6 June 2024) (the “2023
SAS”), respectively. The employee participants of the 2021 SAS shall
only include connected persons of the Company (as defined under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) while the employee
participants of the 2023 SAS shall exclude such connected persons.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEENWR D (&)

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

1.

Challenges and Risks:

(1) due to the impact of intensifying industry competition and weak
consumption recovery, the prices of products remained low;

(2) continuous international trade disputes and frequent
international conflicts adversely affect the export business.

Opportunities and Potential Development:

(1) the Central Economic Work Conference has put “vigorously
boosting consumption and comprehensively expanding
domestic demand” as the primary task of economic work in
2025. Meanwhile, the dual expansion of macro policies will
open up space for the recovery of the consumer market;

(2) structural opportunities in the industry will provide sustained
growth impetus for enterprises with diversified channels;

(3) cost-effectiveness of white-feather broiler protein will continue
to be a substitute for other animal proteins;

(4) application of digital intelligence and artificial intelligence in
production will broaden room for high-quality enterprises to
reduce costs and increase efficiency.

Quality Growth Strategies at Current Stage:

(1) refine management to further enhance management efficiency,
thereby intensively reducing costs and increasing efficiency;

(2) deepen channel penetration to increase customers’ loyalty,
carry out in-depth cooperation with major customers in various
industrial lines, and further increase market share in major
customers;

(3) continue to attract outstanding talents to join us, and further
stabilise and optimise our operation and management team
through continuous innovation in mechanisms and step-by-
step implementation of medium-and long-term incentives;

(4) explore new development models, match the increase in
market demand through flexible expansion of production
capacity, and consolidate the competitive position in the
industry;

(5) explore the application of intelligence in breeding, production,

management, etc., to help the enterprise to reduce costs and
increase efficiency.
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Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

ES ESkaREEERBE

DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR EE EERaAREERE

MANAGEMENT

The directors (the “Directors”), supervisors (the “Supervisors”) ARARREBE2024F12ANMBLEEFEARBEARSF
and senior management of the Company during the year ended 31 HKAHWESF(ES]) EF(ESBDNSRERE
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report are set out FHHMT

below:

DIRECTORS

=

Name Position in the Company

Jia DA B

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng Executive Director and general manager

HRAERE MITERHRERE

Mr. Shi Lei Executive Director, vice general manager, chief financial officer,
A&@kE secretary to the Board of Directors and company secretary

Mr. Qiu Zhongwei
R & 5 A

Mr. Lu Wei
BREE

Mr. Zhu Lingjie
KRERSEE

Ms. Zhou Ruijia
J& 3 2 &+

Ms. Wang Anyi
FTRHLL

Ms. Zhao Yinglin
D 2

Mr. Chung Wai Man
EREXEE

HITEF BRKE UKes EFeNERLINE

Non-executive Director

FRITES

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Chairman of the Board of Directors and non-executive Director

EFSIRRFATES

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Independent non-executive Director

BYIFATES

Independent non-executive Director

BYFATES

Independent non-executive Director

BYIFATES
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEX ESNGREEERE (&)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng, aged 53, an executive Director and the
general manager of the Company. He was appointed as a Director
on 1 November 2018. He is primarily responsible for the sales and
marketing functions of the Group. He is also a director of Shandong
iShape Food Technology Co., Ltd. and Fengxiang Foods (Japan) Co.,
Ltd, an executive director of Shandong Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd.,
a director of Shandong Xiangyuan Food Co., Ltd.* (L REERBAR
A A1), the chairman of Shandong Xiangteng Food Co., Ltd.* (L 5 £
A & AMR A F)and a chairman of Shandong Xiangshengyuan Food
Co., Lid* (WRHFFIREMBR A A).

Mr. Xiao has over 27 years of experience in corporate and business
management. He joined the Group in December 2010. He has been a
general manager and the general manager of international marketing
centre of Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd. (“Fengxiang
Food Development”) since December 2011. He has also been a
general manager of Shandong iShape Food Technology Co., Ltd.
since June 2019 and the chairman and general manager of Shandong
Xiangteng Co., Ltd.* (1L 3 #f i B R A &) since February 2025.
Mr. Xiao obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from Nanjing
University of Chemical Technology (currently known as Nanjing Tech
University) in the PRC in July 1994 and the EMBA completion certificate
from Tsinghua University PBC School of Finance in March 2024.

Mr. Shi Lei, aged 39, an executive Director, the vice general manager,
chief financial officer, the secretary to the Board of Directors and the
company secretary of the Company. He was appointed as a Director on
31 May 2022. He is primarily responsible for the finance, IT business,
legal matters and securities of the Group.

Mr. Shi has over 15 years of experience in finance, accounting and
management, and joined the Group in June 2013. Mr. Shi served as
a vice general manager of financial budget and analysis department,
a financial manager and an assistant director of financial centre of
the Company from June 2013 to February 2018. Mr. Shi has been a
supervisor of Yucheng Fengming Food Co., Ltd. since August 2017, a
director of Shandong Xiangteng Food Co., Ltd.* (I R B E @B R A 7))
since 28 February 2025, and a director of Shandong Xiangshengyuan
Food Co., Ltd.* (ILE#FAREMABRZAF) since 21 March 2025.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shi worked for the finance department
of Qingdao Zhengda Co., Ltd. from January 2008 to June 2010, and
worked as a supervisor of the finance department of OSI Group (Weihai)
Poultry Development Co., Ltd. from June 2010 to June 2013. Mr. Shi
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in financial management from Qingdao
Agricultural University in the PRC in July 2007, and then obtained
a master's degree in business administration from China Europe
International Business School of Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the
PRC in November 2024.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Qiu Zhongwei, aged 56, a non-executive Director of the Company.
He was appointed as a Director on 18 January 2023. Mr. Qiu is a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”).

Mr. Qiu has over 32 years of experience in corporate finance and
private equity investment. He has been a partner and managing
director of PAG Asia Capital since April 2015. From 1990 to 2000, Mr.
Qiu served as a vice president at Goldpark China Limited, a subsidiary
of China Huaneng Group. Mr. Qiu has served as the managing director
and managing partner at Hony Capital for 10 years from January 2005.
Before that, he was the chairman of Yintai Holdings Limited. From July
2006 to June 2015, he served as a non-executive director of Changsha
Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and Technology Development
Co., Ltd. (currently known as Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 01157) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000157). He served as the chairman and the general manager
of Shanghai Baosteel Gases Co., Ltd. from January 2019 to February
2023. He has been a director of Metro Land Corporation Ltd., a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600683),
since December 2017; and a non-executive director of China Youran
Diary Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 09858), since August 2020. Mr. Qiu obtained
a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Xi'an Jiaotong University in
the PRC in 1990. He then obtained a master's degree in business
administration jointly awarded by Kellogg School of Management
of Northwestern University in the United States and the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in Hong Kong in 2003.

Mr. Lu Wei, aged 46, a non-executive Director. He was appointed
as a Director on 18 January 2023. Mr. Lu is a member of the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”).

Mr. Qiu has over 22 years of experience in banking, investment
and business consultation. He joined PAG Asia Capital as a senior
associate in August 2011 and was subsequently promoted to vice
president and executive director, he is currently a managing director of
PAG Asia Capital. From September 2001 to June 2004, Mr. Lu served
at the Shanghai office of Standard Chartered Bank (China) Limited.
From August 2004 to April 2010, he served as a business analyst and
an associate at McKinsey & Company. He served as a senior associate
at the Shanghai office of CITIC Capital from May 2010 to August 2021.
Mr. Lu obtained a bachelor's degree in economics with a major in
international finance from Renmin University of China in the PRC in July
2001. He then obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from Harvard University in the United States in June 2009.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEX ESNGREEERE (&)

Mr. Zhu Lingjie, aged 45, is the chairman of the Board of Directors
and a non-executive Director. He was appointed as a Director on 18
January 2023. Mr. Zhu is the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”).

Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of experience in business and marketing
strategy formation and investment. Mr. Zhu joined PAG Asia Capital
in October 2013 and his current position is managing director. He has
extensive experience in consumer goods sector and retail industry as a
consultant and professional manager. From July 2005 to March 2008,
he worked as a senior manager at Opera Solutions, LLC., a company
providing analytics consulting service. From March 2008 to March 2012,
he served as a senior project manager at Roland Berger, a worldwide
management consulting company. From April 2012 to October 2013, he
worked as a brand sales director at Beiersdorf AG. Mr. Zhu obtained a
bachelor’s degree in finance from Nanjing University in the PRC in July
2002. He then obtained a certificate of graduate studies from Johns
Hopkins University Nanjing University Center for Chinese and American
Studies in July 2004. He further obtained a master’s degree in finance
from Nanjing University in the PRC in July 2005.

Ms. Zhou Ruijia, aged 36, is a non-executive Director. She was
appointed as a Director on 18 January 2023.

Ms. Zhou has over 13 years of experience in investment, financial and
operational management. Ms. Zhou currently serves as an executive
director of PAG Asia Capital, focusing on buyouts, privatisations, and
structured minority investments. Since joining PAG Asia Capital in
2013, Ms. Zhou has been actively involved in a number of investments
in the business services and technology sectors, including several
leading public companies on the New York Stock Exchange and
the Stock Exchange. She is primarily responsible for conducting
investments and advising invested portfolio companies on strategic,
financial and operational initiatives. Prior to joining PAG Asia Capital,
Ms. Zhou worked as an analyst in the investment banking division of
Goldman Sachs in New York from July 2011 to July 2013, primarily
responsible for conducting financial analysis and advising corporate
clients and financial institutions on mergers and acquisitions, as well as
equity and debt issuances. Ms. Zhou obtained a bachelor of science
degree from Duke University in the United States in 2011.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A

KREBEE 455 REZSERBIIENTESR K
%mmi1ﬂma%§&%%$o%%$%$@ﬂ%
LB ((REBEEB®DER-

KEERBEREHETBRIETRBRELRFTARE
FRIB204F o R ER2013F10 A MA KB MEA -
FREBUAZEZALCE - RIEAEBRBELRE

AN EBEEMAFNRTEEXERTEBEREELR - R
200547 4 £200853 A * {1 Opera Solutions, LLC.
FEESHLIE  ZARRMESTERRE - 720084
3AZE2012F3 A - N Z & B 1% (Roland Berger) #Z (£
BAREELE  ZARA—HERERZHANRA R
201254 A 22013510 A - # 7 7 B 8t % K (Beiersdorf
A@#Eﬁ%m%@% K % A R 200247 A Bl {5 R
BEERAZERMEET 24 - FHEN2004F7 A
BERAE — BT« ELX M AER I MR
ROETRAEZEEZ  WHR20054F7 AERSHPEE R KA
B S ERE L B4 o

BAimtEr+ 3658 RIFNTESE - WN2023F1 A
1BHEZERES -

AaztrREE PHEREEEEFARBAI3FL
5o Eﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ§$mﬂﬁ§$’ﬁﬁﬁw
B AALEREBELHERERE - B2013F MAK
BOMNERNR A28 T ZHEEMERS R
EEHHRKRE  HRARNFEELSRARBNEBLFRZM
REBRAEMHARAR - BREBEBEETRENR
R VB RKEEREESTEARMBEARIRMR
Bz  "MAKBEEMNERA B20MF7AE
201347 A » AZ £ 7 & 5 (Goldman Sachs)% & R 1T
BEMAOMAEETONE  TEETETERUE
SMEBHEARREREFEHTRRAATF LS
BMEBREEERNER - AL TR20MF A X
RAENBEESB LB



Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Wang Anyi, aged 48, is an independent non-executive Director.
She was appointed as a Director on 18 January 2023. Ms. Wang is the
chairperson of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Wang has over 22 years of experience in business consultancy,
corporate management and finance. Ms. Wang was a partner and the
chief financial officer of BosWinner, a company providing building and
facility construction and management software, from June 2017 to
December 2023. Prior to that, she served as the chief financial officer
of e-Shang, an integrated development and investment management
business that subsequently merged into the ESR Group from 2014
to 2017. Ms. Wang started her career as an analyst at McKinsey &
Company in 1999. She joined Morgan Stanley as an associate in its
Chicago office’s mergers and acquisition team in 2004 and then served
in the global capital markets team in the Hong Kong office in 2006. She
was promoted to vice president of the China investment banking and
real estate team in the Hong Kong office in 2007. From 2009 to 2013,
she served as the head of corporate finance and investor relations at
Yanlord Land Group Limited. Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in
international finance and real estate from Shanghai Jiaotong University
in the PRC in 1999. She then obtained a master’s degree in business
administration from Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern
University in the United States in 2004.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEX ESNGREEERE (&)

Ms. Zhao Yinglin, aged 59, an independent non-executive Director.
She was appointed as a Director on 28 May 2021. Ms. Zhao is
a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Ms. Zhao has 25 years of experience in corporate and business
management. She was the general manager of the investment
management department of China Life Property & Casualty Insurance
Company Limited between October 2007 and March 2020 and the chief
investment officer of PICC Health Insurance Company Limited from
March 2020 to February 2021. Ms. Zhao completed her postgraduate
studies in finance and investment and received her doctorate degree
in economics from the Northwest University in the PRC in July 2000.
She obtained the Securities Practitioners Qualifications Certificate from
the Securities Association of China in February 2004 and obtained the
Independent Director Qualification Certificate from the Shanghai Stock
Exchange in March 2014.

Mr. Chung Wai Man, aged 61, an independent non-executive Director.
He was appointed as a Director on 8 August 2019. Mr. Chung is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Chung has over 31 years of experience in accounting, taxation
and finance. Mr. Chung has served as an independent non-executive
director of Net Pacific Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 5QY)
since June 2018, the shares of which are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited, E Lighting Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
08222) since September 2014, the shares of which are listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange, Shanghai MicroPort MedBot (Group) Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 02252) since July 2024, the share of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and Zhongmiao Holdings (Qingdao)
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 01471) since August 2024, the share of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chung obtained a bachelor's degree in social sciences from
University of Hong Kong in December 1989 and a master’'s degree in
international business management from City University of Hong Kong
in November 1998. Mr. Chung has been an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since April 1995
and a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom since November 1999.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

SUPERVISORS
E=S

Name

Ms. Gao Jin
SERZL

Mr. Zhu Kaijie

Mr. Ma Xianwen

EEX ESRSREEERE (&)

Position in the Company

"E DA B

Shareholders representative Supervisor

BRARE=S

Shareholders representative Supervisor

BRERKEE

Employees representative Supervisor

BEBLE BIRKRES
The biographical details of the Supervisors are set out as follows: EERRFBOT

Ms. Gao Jin, aged 42, is the chairperson of the board of supervisors
of the Company (the “Board of Supervisors”) and a shareholders
representative Supervisor. She was appointed as a Supervisor on 18
January 2023.

Ms. Gao has over 12 years of experience in professional accounting
and tax advisory services. Ms. Gao joined PAG Asia Capital in
April 2019 and her current position is vice president. From August
2005 to October 2014, she served as a manager at KPMG Advisory
(China) Ltd.. From November 2014 to June 2015, she worked as a
senior manager at WTS Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd. From July 2015
to February 2019, she served as a director at Sinopharm Capital
Management Co., Ltd. (currently known as Sinopharm Capital
Management Limited Company). Since June 2020, she has been
a supervisor at Shenzhen Xin Jiao Cultural Information Consulting
Co., Ltd.. From June 2021 to March 2023, she served as a director at
Mingya Insurance Brokers Co., Ltd. Since April 2022, she concurrently
serves as a manager at Chengdu Xuyu Education Consulting Co.,
Ltd. and Chengdu Fanshun Education Consulting Co., Ltd.. Ms. Gao
obtained a bachelor’'s degree in accounting from Fudan University in
the PRC in July 2005. Ms. Gao has been a certified public accountant
in the PRC since December 2006 and a certified tax advisor in the PRC
since August 2009.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEX ESNGREEERE (&)

Mr. Zhu Kaijie, aged 29, is a Shareholders representative Supervisor.
He was appointed as a Supervisor on 18 January 2023.

Mr. Zhu has over seven years of experience in finance and investment
banking. Mr. Zhu joined PAG Asia Capital in February 2021 and his
current position is vice president of private equity strategy. From July
2017 to August 2019, he worked at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited with
his last position as an associate of the investment banking division.
From September 2019 to January 2021, he worked as an analyst
at DCP Capital. Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’s degree in arts with a
double major in economics and mathematics-statistics from Columbia
University in the City of New York in the United States in May 2017 with
magna cum laude honour.

Mr. Ma Xianwen, aged 39, is the employees representative Supervisor.
He was appointed as a Supervisor on 18 January 2023.

Mr. Ma is the senior manager of the human resources department of
the Company and the manager of the human resources department
of Shandong iShape Food Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr. Ma joined the
Company in November 2009. He was a recruitment specialist of the
human resources department of the Company from November 2009
to December 2011. From January 2012 to July 2016, he successively
served as the section chief of recruitment division and integrated
personnel division under the human resources department of the
Company. He worked as the manager of the human resources
department of the Company from August 2016 to December 2020 and
was promoted to senior manager in January 2021. Mr. Ma obtained a
bachelor's degree in human resources management from Liaocheng
University in the PRC in June 2009.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
= Il& B IE}E

Name

"E DR B

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng

HRELE LR R

Mr. Wang Zhixian

pa v Bl A e g
Mr. Meng Tao
hERE Bliakie

Ms. Zhou Jinying
S E &+ Bl A e g
Mr. Shi Lei
AZRE

The biographical details of senior management of the Company are set
out as follows:

For biographical details of Mr. Xiao Dongsheng (B % 4 ) and Mr. Shi Lei (£
#%), please refer to “Directors — Executive Directors” of this section.

Mr. Wang Zhixian, aged 59, a vice general manager of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for the food safety and quality management
functions of the Group.

Mr. Wang has over 23 years of experience in food safety and quality
management industry. He joined the Group in August 2001. He was a
vice general manager of Fengxiang Food Development from August
2001 to August 2011. He served as a vice general manager of food
business department of Fengxiang Food Development from August
2011 to July 2016. He has been a general manager of Shandong
Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd. since December 2011.

Mr. Wang completed his education specialising in Chinese enterprise
operator project from Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.
He also completed his education specialising in refrigeration from
Shandong Commercial School in the PRC in July 1986.

General manager
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Position in the Company

Vice general manager

Vice general manager

Vice general manager

Vice general manager, chief financial officer, secretary to the Board of
Directors and company secretary
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEX ESNGREEERE (&)

Mr. Meng Tao, aged 57, a vice general manager of the Company. He
is primarily responsible for the operational planning and supply chain
centre of the Group.

Mr. Meng has over 35 years of experience in meat product industry.
He joined the Group in February 2013. He was a vice general manager
of production department of Fengxiang Food Development from
February 2013 to November 2013. He served as a general manager
of production department of Shandong Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd.
from November 2013 to September 2016. Mr. Meng served as a vice
general manager of Fengxiang Food Development from September
2016 to February 2018.

Mr. Meng completed his education specialising in mechanical
engineering from Beijing Union University in the PRC in August 1989.
Mr. Meng was awarded the Post Experience Certificate in engineering
business management from The University of Warwick in the United
Kingdom in November 2002.

Ms. Zhou Jinying, aged 52, a vice general manager of the Company.
She is the person-in-charge of the business of iShape, and is also the
general manager of marketing centre.

Ms. Zhou has over 27 years of experience in marketing and media
industry. She joined the Group in February 2018. She has been a vice
general manager of the Company since February 2018 served as an
executive Director of the Company from May 2022 to January 2023.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou served as a general manager
of the brand management centre and a chief brand officer at GMK
Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“GMK Holdings”) from September 2016 to
April 2018. She was a vice general manager and chief brand officer of
GMK Holdings from April 2018 to January 2019.

Ms. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in cultural business
management from Beijing Film Academy in the PRC in June 1998.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management (i) hold any other directorship
in other publicly listed companies in the last three years; (ii) has any
relationship with any other Directors, Supervisors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company;
(iii) hold any other position in the Company or other members of the
Group; (iv) hold any other interest in the shares of the Company with
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SF0O”); and (v) has other information relating to him/her that should be
disclosed pursuant to the events under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to 13.51(2)(v)
of the Listing Rules.
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Biographies Of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in information
of the Directors since the publication of the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report are set out below:

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng has been a director of Shandong Xiangyuan Food
Co., Ltd.* ((LLE# ER MAB R A F) since August 2024, the chairman
and general manager of Shandong Xiangteng Food Co., Ltd.* (L & #f
i & & AR A 7)) since February 2025 and the chairman of Shandong
Xiangshengyuan Food Co., Ltd.* (IUE#FFREMBMR A F) since
March 2025, and obtained the EMBA completion certificate from
Tsinghua University PBC School of Finance in March 2024.

Mr. Shi Lei has been a director of Shandong Xiangteng Food Co., Ltd.* (1L
BB R BB 2 7)) since 28 February 2025, a director of Shandong
Xiangshengyuan Food Co., Ltd.* (I B # F )RR M B R 2 7)) since 21
March 2025, and obtained a master’s degree in business administration
from China Europe International Business School of Shanghai Jiao
Tong University in the PRC in November 2024.

Mr. Chung Wai Man was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Shanghai MicroPort MedBot (Group) Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02252)
on 18 July 2024. Mr. Chung was also appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Zhongmiao Holdings (Qingdao) Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01471) on 5 August 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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Report of Board of Directors

EETHE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present its report (the “Report
of Board of Directors”) together with the financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The principal business of the Company is the R&D, processing and
sale of chicken meat products made with white-feathered broilers. Main
products include processed chicken meat products and raw chicken
meat products.

RESULTS

The results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated income statement on pages 123 to 125 of this annual
report.

DIVIDENDS DISTRIBUTION

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and pay dividends to the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). Any proposed distribution of dividends
shall be formulated by the Board of Directors and will be subject to
approval at the Shareholders’ meeting. A decision to declare or to
pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of any dividends,
will depend on a number of factors, including the Group’s results of
operations, cash flows, financial condition, capital adequacy ratio,
payments by the subsidiaries of cash dividends to the Company,
business prospects, statutory, regulatory and contractual restrictions
on the Company’s declaration and payment of dividends and other
factors that the Board of Directors considers important. The articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) stipulate
that the Company may distribute dividends by means of cash, stock or
a combination of cash and stock.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Pursuant to the Notice of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues
Concerning Individual Income Tax Collection and Management after the
Repeal of Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 045 (Guo Shui Han [2011] No. 348),
individuals who are resident outside the PRC and who hold shares
issued in Hong Kong by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises
enjoy preferential tax rate in accordance with the tax conventions
between Mainland China and the country where the residents reside
and the tax arrangements between the Mainland China and Hong
Kong (Macao). Individual shareholders will be generally subject to
a withholding tax rate of 10% when domestic non-foreign invested
enterprises which issue shares in Hong Kong distribute dividends to
their shareholders, unless otherwise required by the regulations of
relevant tax laws and tax conventions. Pursuant to the Notice on the
Issues Concerning Withholding the Enterprises Income Tax on the
Dividends Paid by Chinese Resident Enterprises to H Share Holders
Who Are Overseas Non-resident Enterprises (Guo Shui Han [2008] No.
897) of the State Administration of Taxation, we are obliged to withhold
and pay enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% from dividends paid
or payable for H Shares when distributing dividends to non-resident
enterprise shareholders of H Shares. No tax is payable in Hong Kong
in respect of dividends paid by us according to the current practice
of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department. Shareholders are
recommended to consult their tax advisers regarding the tax implication
in the PRC, Hong Kong and other tax implications arising from their
holding and disposal of H Shares.

The Board of Directors has resolved not to declare any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). As at the date of this
annual report, the Board of Directors is not aware of any Shareholders
who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company is expected
to be held on Friday, 23 May 2025. The notice of the AGM will be
published and despatched to the Shareholders in due course in the
manner as required by the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

EEEHRE (&)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
20 May 2025 to Friday, 23 May 2025 (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to be
qualified to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates must be lodged with the H share
registrar of the Company, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong (in respect of H
Shareholders), or to the Company’s registered office in the PRC at
Liumiao Village, Anle Town, Yanggu County, Liaocheng City, Shandong
Province, PRC (in respect of domestic Shareholders) no later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 19 May 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year and the material factors
underlying its results and financial position are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 15 to 34 of this annual report.
Description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can
be found throughout this annual report. Particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred after 31 December 2024, if any,
can also be found in the notes to the financial statements.

In addition, more details regarding the Group’s performance by
reference to financial key performance indicators and environmental
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Each of the above-
mentioned relevant contents form an integral part of the Report of
Board of Directors.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last

five financial years are set out on page 312 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the financial statements.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is subject to the PRC national and local environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Law on the Prevention and Treatment
of Water Pollution of the PRC and the Law for the Prevention
and Treatment of Air Pollution of the PRC. In particular, there are
environmental regulations concerning the treatment of wastewater
produced by our slaughtering and processing facilities and we are
subject to annual inspection by the regulatory authorities for compliance
with these laws and regulations. Failure to comply with applicable PRC
environmental protection laws and regulations may result in significant
consequences, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties,
liability for damages and negative publicity. Further, such failure to
comply, or allege on failure to comply, with the relevant PRC laws,
regulations or government policies on environmental protection, may
lead to costly litigation or penalty imposed by the relevant judicial or
governmental authorities. We emphasise on environmental protection
and strive to minimise the environmental impact brought by our
business operations.

The Group has established environmental policies and procedures aimed
at compliance with local environmental and other laws. Management
performs regular reviews to identify environmental risks and to ensure
that the systems in place are adequate to manage these risks.

There had been no material administrative penalties imposed on the
Group as a result of non-compliance with any PRC laws or regulations
in relation to environmental protection during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Board of Directors has authorised the senior management to
control and monitor the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
performance for the daily management of ESG. Investors can search for
information related to the ESG report on the investors relationship page
of the Company’s website. As reported by the senior management, the
Board of Directors considers that the Group’s ESG performance, with
respect to the subject areas and individual aspects that are set out in
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules, has been satisfactory.
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EEEHRE (&)

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As at 31 December 2024, we had 6,473 employees who were directly
employed by us, of which 6,469 employees were employed in the PRC
and four employees were located in Japan.

The remuneration packages for our employees include salary, bonuses
and allowances. Except for Japanese employees who are required to
comply with Japanese laws and regulations, as required by the PRC
regulations, we participate in social insurance schemes operated by the
relevant local government authorities and maintain mandatory pension
contribution plans, medical insurance, work-related injury insurance,
unemployment insurance and maternity insurance for some of our
employees. We also contribute to housing provident fund for some of
our employees. No forfeited contribution was used by the employer
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years. Details of the
defined contribution and benefit scheme of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note Il (XXII) to the financial
statements.

When we make hiring decisions, we take into account factors such as
our business strategies, our development plans, industry trends and the
competitive environment. We recruit our employees based on a number
of factors such as their work experience, educational background and
vacancy needs. We endeavour to attract and retain appropriate and
suitable personnel to serve the Group.

We provide continuing education and training programmes to our
employees to improve their skills and develop their potential. We also
adopt evaluation programmes through which our employees can receive
feedback. We foster strong employee relations by offering various staff
benefits and personal development support. Our subsidiaries in China
have established labour unions in accordance with the applicable PRC
law. We are not subject to any collective bargaining agreements. As
at the date of this annual report, we had not experienced any material
labour disputes or claims.

The Company currently adopted the 2021 SAS and 2023 SAS. The
employee participants of the 2021 SAS shall only include connected
persons of the Company (as defined under the Listing Rules) while the
employee participants of the 2023 SAS shall exclude such connected
persons.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Customers

We had a diversified customer base of over 3,000 customers globally,
including internationally renowned food processors and traders as well
as fast food restaurant chains (and their poultry meat suppliers and
sourcing agents). We exported to countries including Japan, Malaysia,
Europe, Korea, the Middle East, Mongolia and Singapore. We also sell
our products to our distributors whose designated sales regions are all
within the PRC.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 27.53% (2023: 26.30%) of the Group’s
total sales and sales to the largest customer accounted for 11.91% (2023:
11.30%).

Suppliers

We procured (i) raw materials for the production of our animal feeds,
including corn, soybean meal, soybean oil and wheat, and (ii) Parent
Stock Day-old Chicks for the production of our chicken meat products
in the PRC. We also procured raw chicken meat products from third
party suppliers domestically as well as from overseas for producing our
processed chicken meat products in order to meet customers’ growing
demand. During the Reporting Period, we have entered into hedging
activities in respect of the commodity price fluctuation of soybean meal
and corn.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for 29.18% (2023: 24.78%) of the
Group’s total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for 16.98% (2023: 10.11%).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the
Supervisors or any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors and Supervisors own more than 5%
of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Company’s five
largest customers and suppliers.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note V (XXXI) to the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,583,348,000 Shares (of which 1,045,000,000 were Domestic Shares
and 538,348,000 were H Shares).

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in owners’ equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations,
the Company has distributable reserves of RMB880.3 million in total
available for distribution (2023: RMB618.1 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company as at
31 December 2024 are set out in note V (XVIII), note V (XXIV), note V (XXV),
note V (XXVI) and note V (XXVIII) to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note V (IX) to
the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of

Association or the PRC laws that would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

According to the Articles of Association, the terms of service of both
the Directors and the Supervisors are for three years, and all Directors
and Supervisors are subject to re-appointment or re-election upon the
expiry of their term. Each of the executive Directors, non-executive
Directors, independent non-executive Directors and Supervisors has
entered into a service contract generally with a term of three years with
the Company. None of the Directors or Supervisors has or is proposed
to have a service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent and
remain so as at the date of this annual report.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

Securities Transactions of Directors and Supervisors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct for securities
transactions by the Directors and Supervisors. The Company has made
specific enquiries with each Director and Supervisor and each of them
confirmed that he or she had complied with all required standards under
the Model Code during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executives in any shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning as defined in Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
the interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or to be entered in the register
to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or other wise required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as
follows:

The Company

EE EERERTRAERAFARS -
MHEARORESTHEETNEDZR AR

MN2024F12R31H  EF - EERERTHRAER
RARKEMTMBEER (& R(ES RBEEM)
EXVE) B EMARD - RN REHF BHEEHRIEK
(BHERBEGROEXVBETRESD PAMNE AR
ARBRFME=RAE(BREBEESFRAER
PIVEBEXEEERRAEENRERAR) IR
B(ES REEIED)E 352K B AT ENZ LM
N KA R - SRR T 48 BI) BT 8 C3 AT 3 &Y
GEESFRINE ST ARRD A K FTH R ROK
BT

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

relevant class total share
Name of Directors/ Nature of Class of Number of of Shares of the capital of the
Supervisors interest Shares Shares Company"" Company?
KA DR EE
ROERH REQREABRE
FriEidER PREBOESR
B EEpnE EntE % 19 38 Bl RO #E BA® BA®
Mr. Xiao Dongsheng® Beneficial interest H Shares 2,244,000 (L) 0.42% 0.14%
HREXED ExnfEs H A%
Beneficiary of a trust H Shares 972,000 (L) 0.18% 0.06%
BEEE@mA H A&
Mr. Shi Lei® Beneficial interest H Shares 957,332 (L) 0.18% 0.06%
B&REEY ExnEm H A&
Beneficiary of a trust H Shares 428,668 (L) 0.08% 0.03%
EEZmA H A%
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Notes:

(1)  The calculation is based on the percentage of shareholding in Domestic
Shares or H Shares respectively.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,045,000,000 Domestic
Shares in issue and 538,348,000 H Shares in issue.

(3) Mr. Xiao Dongsheng and Mr. Shi Lei have been granted the awarded
shares under the 2020 Share Award Scheme and/or 2021 Share Award
Scheme. They are deemed to be interested in the issued share capital
of the Company for the awarded Shares which have been granted to
them pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. As at 31 December 2024, all of the
awarded Shares to Mr. Xiao Dongsheng and Mr. Shi Lei under the 2020
Share Award Scheme were vested. Out of the 2021 Awarded Shares
granted to Mr. Xiao Dongsheng and Mr. Shi Lei, 972,000 and 428,668
awarded Shares under the 2021 SAS (representing approximately
0.12% and 0.05% of all the issued Shares), have not yet been vested,
respectively.

(4)  The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors or chief executives or their associates have or
are deemed to have any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning as defined in Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
the interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, required to be entered in the register referred therein,
or otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being the Directors or Supervisors or chief
executives) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which were required to be entered in the register referred to in
section 336 of the SFO by the Company or would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO:

FERRRR G M EE R 5 B #E s A
KRB

MR2024F12A31H  MESFAEA LU TAL(AIE
EEYESFAERTRAB)RKROIHEBROESE
RARMRIECGE S RS G 0)) %336 15 H 28 A Z R
i BEMEBE(ES RBEKRIDEXVEE2RE
3D AMARRHEEMRERIAR ¢

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

relevant class of

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the total

Number of shares of share capital of
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Class of Shares Shares the Company!" the Company?®
RAXRHEERG RAAT
HARFAEBY SREATAEHED
RREH M B85 RAYE REE AL MEE AL
Shan Weijian® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
BEeo REEEER e
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
R rEER HAR
PAG Capital Limited® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
PAG Capital Limited® REEEAES NE K
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
REEEER HAR
PAG Asia Capital GP IV Limited® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
PAG Asia Capital GP IV Limited® REEEER W& &
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
REEEER HAR
PAG Asia IV LP® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
PAG Asia IV LP® R LEER NE MKk
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
REEBEER H%
PAG® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
ABEEC Ry EEER L
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
REEBEER H&
Pacific Alliance Group Limited® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
Pacific Alliance Group Limited® REEEER NE &
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
Ry EEER H%
Falcon Holding GP Limited® Interest in controlled corporation Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
Falcon Holding GP Limited® REEEER HE R
Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
Ry EEER H%
Falcon Holding LP® Beneficial interest Domestic Shares 992,854,500 (L) 95.01% 62.71%
Falcon Holding LP® EniEm ME R
Beneficial interest H Shares 137,265,505 (L) 25.50% 8.67%
Enkkan H%
Hwa-An International Limited Beneficial interest H Shares 34,909,000 (L) 6.46% 2.20%
Hwa-An International Limited EmiEm HAR
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relevant class of

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the total

Number of shares of share capital of
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest Class of Shares Shares the Company"" the Company?
RADEHER G RADHE
BRIRAERY BREARREHD
BRERER ERMtE B 40 5 5l ROEE EEEI Y BEEoL?
Dragonstone Capital Management Investment manager H Shares 31,808,000 (L) 5.91% 2.01%
Limited
Dragonstone Capital Management REKE HER
Limited
CICFH New Dynamic Investment Beneficial interest H Shares 29,705,000 (L) 5.52% 1.88%
SPC
CICFH New Dynamic Investment EamEm H%
SPC
Abu Dhabi Investment Authority® Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 156,679,000 (L) 29.10% 9.90%
Abu Dhabi Investment Authority® RErEER H&
Platinum Peony B 2023 RSC Limited® Beneficial interest H Shares 156,679,000 (L) 29.10% 9.90%
Platinum Peony B 2023 RSC Limited” & 25 # 25 H
Shum Yip Investment & Development  Interest in controlled corporation H Shares 33,042,000 (L) 6.14% 2.09%
Company Limited
Shum Yip Investment & Development 5% 1% 3% @ # 25 H&
Company Limited
JinYi Capital Multi-Strategy Fund Beneficial interest H Shares 47,478,000 (L) 8.82% 3.00%
SPC Ltd.
JinYi Capital Multi-Strategy Fund EamEn HAR
SPC Ltd.
B &t -

Notes:

Q)

The calculation is based on the percentage of shareholding in Domestic
Shares or H Shares, respectively.

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,045,000,000 Domestic
Shares in issue and 538,348,000 H Shares in issue.

PAG is directly owned as to 34.67% by Shan Weijian. PAG is indirectly
interested in the Shares through its wholly-owned corporations in Pacific
Alliance Group Limited, PAG Capital Limited, PAG Asia Capital GP IV
Limited, PAG Asia IV LP, Falcon Holding GP Limited and Falcon Holding
LP. Accordingly, Shan Weijian, PAG, Pacific Alliance Group Limited, PAG
Capital Limited, PAG Asia Capital GP IV Limited, PAG Asia IV LP and
Falcon Holding GP Limited are deemed to be indirectly interested in the
992,854,500 Domestic Shares and 137,265,505 H Shares held by Falcon
Holding LP.

Platinum Peony B 2023 RSC Limited is wholly owned by Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority. Accordingly, Abu Dhabi Investment Authority is
deemed to be indirectly interested in 156,679,00 shares held by Platinum
Peony B 2023 RSC Limited.

The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares.

DAARNEREIHENFRA DL REERH -

LA & #£1,045,000,000 % 2 % 17 1 & % K& 538,348,000 A%
BETHRBEETH -
EREEEFRAABREEN3467%ER -  KBEEEE
B H 2 & 2 | % B Pacific Alliance Group Limited « PAG
Capital Limited + PAG Asia Capital GP IV Limited - PAG
Asia IV LP * Falcon Holding GP Limited }2 Falcon Holding
LPREIZEFERMEZ At BEE ABEH
Pacific Alliance Group Limited * PAG Capital Limited *
PAG Asia Capital GP IV Limited - PAG Asia IV LP
Falcon Holding GP Limited % 1% {E 74 Falcon Holding LP %
B 19992,854,500 % M & % % 137,265,505 A% H ik 5 i #
EEE -

Platinum Peony B 2023 RSC Limited 5 Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority = & # A ° itt, * Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority 4 18 /& f&l £ 7 Platinum Peony B
2023 RSC Limited$ 4 #)156,679,00% i& 17 # 5 # 2= °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
has not been notified by any other person (excluding the Directors or
Supervisors or chief executives), who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or required to be entered in the register kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities, including treasury shares.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement that would enable the Directors or Supervisors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors
or Supervisors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of
the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no issuance of debentures
was made by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors is interested in any
business, apart from the Group’s businesses, which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As the loan framework agreement (the “Loan Framework Agreement”)
entered into between the Company and Falcon Holding LP (“Falcon”)
on 28 January 2023 expired on 27 January 2024 and after considering
the future needs of the Group within the PRC, the Company and Falcon
entered into the new loan framework agreement (the “New Loan
Framework Agreement’) on 26 January 2024, pursuant to which
Falcon will provide a revolving loan facility to the Group for a term of
one year commencing from 28 January 2024 and ending on 27 January
2025. The proposed annual caps, being the maximum daily balance of
the loans (including interests accrued) for the transactions contemplated
under the New Loan Framework Agreement for the years ending
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2025 is USD13,591,000 and
USD15,000,000 (the annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2025
is set up to 27 January 2025, being the end date of the term of the New
Loan Framework Agreement), respectively. Falcon is the controlling
Shareholder directly holding over 70% interest in the Company’s total
issued share capital. Accordingly, Falcon is a connected person of the
Company and as a result, the transactions contemplated under the
Loan Framework Agreement and the New Loan Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 29 January 2023 and 26 January 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had not entered into any
connected transaction during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
this annual report, which is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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The following table sets forth the annual cap and actual amount for the
non-exempt continuing connected transaction of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024:

Continuing connected transaction

TREFIARQNBE E2024F 12831 B ILEETER
GZHERERSNEE LR NER SR

For the year ended
31 December 2024

BHERERS B E2024F12A31MALFE
Actual
maximum
Annual cap daily balance
FELR EBESSH&H
(USD’000) (USD’000)
(£7F 5) (257 F )
Continuing connected transaction subject to the annual reporting and announcement requirements
AETFERRRAERAENFERERS
Loan Framework Agreement 13,591 13,297

BERERBH

The independent non-executive Directors have, for the purpose of
Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the continuing connected
transaction set out above and have confirmed that the continuing
connected transaction has been entered into by the Group (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of its business; (ii) on normal commercial
terms or on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available
to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the
terms of the agreements governing such transaction that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
The Company followed its pricing policy in the New Loan Framework
Agreement during the Reporting Period and the annual transaction
value of the above continuing connected transaction did not exceed its
annual cap.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Auditor was engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with
“Standards on Other Assurance Engagements for Certified Public
Accountants of China No. 3101 — Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor
has not qualified its report in respect of the continuing connected
transaction disclosed above by the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had not entered into any

connected transaction during the Reporting Period, which is required to
be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or Supervisor or an
entity connected with a Director or Supervisor was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract
which is significant to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting
during the year ended 31 December 2024 or at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contract of significance was
entered into between the Company, or one of its subsidiary companies,
and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024 between the Company and a person other than a Director or
Supervisors or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not enter into or renew
any equity-linked agreement.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate activities
against the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 up to
the date of this annual report.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report, there was or is, any permitted
indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors
of the Company or associated companies.

EEEHE (A

EEREEREARS ZTHASHHH
B

BAFHAEESEN HEESHESSEEENE
EEHECEREENMERE 2£2024F12A31H

EFERSREE2024F12A3MBIEFERTFEN
ARBIREAMMBARISRAREBRARIER A
FUWEAHAREEBEMEBEANTARS  ©HEX
EHPHEBEKRES -

EREN
BAFERABEE S RBE2024F 128318 1L F
ERRING RN P PG i e e
AT BB 2 R Z P AT ST A ER A -
BEEEWN
HE2024F12A31ALFE AR ABEFLARA
EHAEABNEAEBNERRITREBRBRE

FHEFHIARAEREEZIINEATIRETSR
EAEL -

JR 3% #9175

WEMA - RRABRETLLFEEAIRZH B

ESCEENREMRKRX

AAFCABEERN2024FE12A3MBFEEHEER
FRAPUEAGE TS MO BREERMANEZFTR
THEE 2 B TR -

BRZERRIN ERSHARBEERFHRAHEEM
W fE - 19K B A IR A 4 R (1A 2 O BF R 18 15 SO
RARBINBERRNEMES -

Annual Report 2024 F 5§

61



62

Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

EEEHRE (&)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note Xll
to the financial statements. The Company has complied with the
applicable requirements under the Listing Rules for those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules, which are set out in the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” on pages 59 to 60.

Save as disclosed above, no other related party transactions disclosed
in the financial statements constituted a notifiable connected transaction
as defined under the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

Our employees are generally remunerated by way of fixed salary.
Our remuneration policies are formulated based on the performance
of individual employees and are reviewed regularly. A remuneration
committee was set up for reviewing the Company’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the Supervisors and five
highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in note XII (1V) to the financial statements.

IMPLEMENTATION OF EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
2020 Share Award Scheme

The Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2020 Share Award
Scheme (“2020 SAS”) on 4 June 2020, which was effective from 16 July
2020, being the date on which dealings in H Shares first commenced
on the Stock Exchange. The 2020 SAS is analogous to a share scheme
and subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. On
22 June 2020, the Company established a trust in connection with the
2020 SAS (the “2020 Trust’) and appointed Bank of Communications
Trustee Limited (the “BOC Trustee”) as trustee to administer the 2020
Trust. Pursuant to the 2020 SAS, the grant of awarded Shares (the
“2020 Awarded Shares”) by the Board of Directors to the selected
participants may vest in the form of H Shares or the net sale proceeds
of the 2020 Awarded Shares in cash in accordance with the 2020 SAS.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Purposes

The purposes of the 2020 SAS is to recognise the contribution by the
Group’s personnel and to provide them with incentives in order to retain
them for the continual operation and development of the Group, to
stimulate further development of the Group, and to provide retirement
protection to the Group’s personnel.

Participants

Pursuant to the 2020 SAS, any full-time or part-time employees of the
Group (including any Director) are eligible participants of the 2020 SAS.

Administration

The 2020 SAS shall be subject to the administration of the Board of
Directors and BOC Trustee in accordance with the scheme rules and
the trust deed. The decision of the Board of Directors with respect to
any matter arising under the 2020 SAS (including the interpretation of
any provision) shall be final and binding. BOC Trustee shall hold the
trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
of Directors, the 2020 SAS shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the date of listing.

Scheme Limit and Entitlement

The Board of Directors shall not make any further award which will
result in the maximum number of new H Shares that can be awarded
and issued for the purpose of the 2020 SAS in any financial year is
3% of the total number of issued share capital in the H Shares at the
relevant time. The maximum number of new H Shares that can be
allotted and issued to a selected employee in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued share capital in the H
Shares at the relevant time.

Grant

After the Board of Directors has decided to make a grant to any
selected employee, the Board of Directors shall send a grant notice
to such selected employee with a copy thereof to the BOC Trustee
within 14 business days after the grant was made. Such selected
employee shall confirm acceptance of the awarded Shares by signing
and returning to the Board of Directors the acceptance form within 14
business days after the date of the relevant grant notice.
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Vesting and Conditions

The Board of Directors is entitled to impose any conditions (the “2020
Vesting Conditions”) as it deems appropriate in its absolute discretion
with respect to the vesting of the 2020 Awarded Shares on the selected
employee, and shall set out the relevant 2020 Vesting Conditions and
the 2020 Awarded Shares in the relevant grant notice.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2020 SAS and the fulfiiment
of all 2020 Vesting Conditions on such selected participant as specified
in the 2020 SAS and the relevant grant notice, the respective awarded
Shares held by the BOC Trustee on behalf of the selected participant
shall vest in such selected participant in accordance with the vesting
schedule as set out in the relevant grant notice.

Movements of 2020 Awarded Shares

On 26 June 2020, the Board of Directors granted to 18 selected
participants 2,050,000 2020 Awarded Shares under the 2020 Share
Award Scheme (the “Planned Share Award”), all of which were vested
to the selected participants (less those cancelled and/or lapsed),
representing in aggregate 89.8% of the Planned Share Award. The
2020 Awarded Shares were vested in four tranches with the vesting
schedule as follows: (i) as to 40% of the 2020 Awarded Shares on 30
September 2020; (ii) as to 20% of the 2020 Awarded Shares on 30
June 2021; (iii) as to 20% of the 2020 Awarded Shares on 30 June
2022; and (iv) as to 20% of the 2020 Awarded Shares on 30 June 2023.

No H Shares under the 2020 SAS were granted or vested during the
Reporting Period. There are also no outstanding awards during the
Reporting Period.

On 24 August 2024, the Board of Directors resolved to terminate the
2020 SAS with effect from 26 August 2024. As at the date of this
annual report, there are no shares available for award under the 2020
SAS and the BOC Trustee disposed all Shares (being 210,000 H
Shares) remaining in the trust fund on the market within such period as
stipulated in the notice of termination.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Proposed Amendments to 2021 SAS and 2023 SAS

The Company proposed to make amendments to the 2021 SAS and
2023 SAS (the “Share Schemes”), including but not limited to: (i) to
allow the amended Share Schemes to involve the grant of awarded
Shares by new H Shares and/or existing H Shares in issue; (ii) to adopt
the scheme mandate limit (i.e. the total number of H Shares which may
be acquired (whether by subscription as new H Shares and/or purchase/
acceptance of existing H Shares in issue) in respect of all awards and/
or options to be granted under relevant schemes of the Company,
which shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at 6 June 2024,
being the date on which the Company amended the respective scheme
rules of the Share Schemes) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”); (iii)
to specify that the total number of H Shares which may be acquired
(whether by subscription as new H Shares and/or purchase/acceptance
of existing H Shares in issue) in respect of all awards and/or options
to be granted under the relevant schemes of the Company under the
Scheme Mandate Limit as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of issued Shares as at the date of approval of the refreshing of
the Scheme Mandate Limit by the Shareholders; (iv) to require approval
by the Shareholders for refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit after
three years from the date of the Shareholders’ approval for the last
refreshment (or as the case may be, the date of amendment, being 6
June 2024); (v) to require approval by independent Shareholders for
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit within a three-year period
from the date of the Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment (or
as the case may be, the date of amendment, being 6 June 2024); (vi)
to allow the Company to grant an award to any selected participant at
nil or such consideration subject to such terms and conditions as the
Board of Directors may in its sole and absolute discretion determine;
and (vii) to include other amendments for house-keeping purposes and
to better align the wording among the amended Share Schemes and
with that of the Listing Rules.

The amended Share Schemes constitute share schemes involving
issue of new Shares by the Company under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The resolution in relation to the amendments was approved by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company on 5
June 2024.

Due to the amendment to the Share Schemes, the Scheme Mandate
Limit of the Relevant Schemes shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares as at 6 June 2024 (being the date on which the Company
amended the Share Schemes) (i.e.158,261,800). As at 31 December
2024, the number of awards available for grant under the Scheme
Mandate Limit was 155,305,832, and the total number of Shares
available for issue (less those vested and cancelled) under the Scheme
Mandate Limit was 158,261,800 as at the date of this annual report,
representing approximately 9.99% of the issued share capital as at the
date of this annual report.
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The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of awards
granted under the Relevant Schemes during the Reporting Period
divided by the weighted average number of Shares of the relevant class
in issue for the Reporting Period is 0.19%.

2021 Share Award Scheme

The Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2021 SAS on 10
December 2021 and amended the 2021 SAS on 29 August 2023 and 6
June 2024. Pursuant to the 2021 SAS, the grant of 2021 awarded Shares (the
“2021 Awarded Shares”) by the Board of Directors to the selected
participants may vest in the form of awarded Shares or awarded cash
or in the combination thereof.

Purposes

The purpose and objective of the 2021 SAS are to recognise the
contributions by certain eligible participants and to provide them with
incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

Participants

Pursuant to the 2021 SAS, any employees (including full-time
employees and part-time employees) of the Group (including persons
who are granted awards under the 2021 SAS as an inducement to
enter into employment contracts with any member of the Group) are
eligible participants of the 2021 SAS. For the avoidance of doubt,
this includes employee of any members of the Group, who are also a
Director, Supervisor, chief executive, substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any of their respective associates or any other person that
may otherwise be regarded as a connected person of the Company.

Administration

The 2021 SAS shall be subject to the administration of the Board of
Directors and the trustee, the Futu Trustee, in accordance with the
scheme rules and the trust deed. The decision of the Board of Directors
with respect to any matter arising under the 2021 SAS (including the
interpretation of any provision) shall be final and binding. Without
prejudice to the foregoing and to the extent permissible under the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations, the Board of
Directors may resolve to delegate to another committee of the Board
of Directors or to one or more officers of the Company any or all of the
authority and responsibility of the Board of Directors under the scheme
rules and the trust deed. The Futu Trustee shall hold the trust fund in
accordance with the terms of the trust deed.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
of Directors pursuant to the scheme rules, the 2021 SAS shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption date,
after which no further awards will be granted. As at 31 December 2024,
the remaining life of the 2021 SAS is approximately six years.

Scheme Limit and Entitlement

The Board of Directors shall not make any further award which will
result in the aggregate number of the Shares awarded by the Board of
Directors under the relevant schemes (i.e. the Share Schemes and any
other schemes (excluding the 2020 SAS) involving subscription for new
H Shares and/or purchase/acceptance of existing H Shares in issue
adopted and to be adopted by the Company from time to time) (the “Relevant
Schemes”) exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 6 June 2024, being the date on which the Company amended
the Share Schemes. The maximum number of Shares which may be
awarded to a selected participant under the 2021 SAS shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month period.

Grant

Subject to the provisions of the 2021 SAS, including but not limited to
the restrictions set out in the scheme rules, the Board of Directors may,
from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion select any eligible
participant (other than any excluded participant as stated in the scheme
rules) for participation in the 2021 SAS as a selected participant, and
grant an award to any selected participant at nil or such consideration
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may in
its sole and absolute discretion determine. The Board of Directors may
determine that a selected participant will be granted awarded interests
in the form of awarded Shares or awarded cash or in the combination
thereof. The Board of Directors may also grant the related income of
the awarded interests to any selected participant in such amount or to
such extent as the Board of Directors determines.

In determining the eligibility of the eligible participants and the
appropriate awarded interest to be granted to any selected participant
(excluding any excluded participant as stated in the scheme rules),
the Board of Directors shall take into consideration matters including,
but without limitation to, (a) the present contribution and expected
contribution of the relevant selected participant to the profits of the
Group; (b) the general financial condition of the Group; (c) the Group’s
overall business objectives and future development plan; and (d) any
other matter which the Board of Directors considers relevant.
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Vesting and Conditions

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2021 SAS and the fulfilment
or waiver of all vesting conditions applicable to the vesting of the
awarded interests on such selected participant, the respective awarded
interests held by the Futu Trustee on behalf of the selected participant
shall vest in such selected participant in accordance with the applicable
vesting schedule, and the Futu Trustee shall cause the awarded
interests to be transferred to such selected participant and/or a vehicle
controlled by him/her (such as a trust or a private company) for the
benefit of the selected participant and any family members of such
selected participant.

Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, in the event
that the vesting conditions specified in the grant notice are not fully
satisfied prior to or on the relevant vesting date, the award of the 2021
Awarded Shares in respect of the relevant vesting date shall lapse,
such 2021 Awarded Shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date
and shall remain as part of the trust fund and the selected participant
shall have no claims against the Company, the Board of Directors, the
trust or Futu Trustee.

Movements of 2021 Awarded Shares

On 10 December 2021, an aggregate of 23,487,800 2021 Awarded
Shares were granted to 63 selected participants by the Board of
Directors under the 2021 SAS, and 2,609,800 reserved Shares were
kept for the time being in the pool of the trust fund as reserve for future
grants of 2021 Awarded Shares to the selected employees (the “Reserved
Shares”). The 2021 Awarded Shares and the Reserved Shares shall be
acquired by subscription as new H Shares and/or purchase/acceptance
of existing H Shares in issue. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 10 December 2021, 29 August 2023 and 21 May
2024. As at 1 January 2024, the then scheme mandate limit of 2021
SAS shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the adoption date
(i.e. 140,000,000), and the total number of awards available for grant
(less those vested and cancelled) under the then scheme mandate limit
of the 2021 SAS was 129,294,271.

As at 31 December 2024, the Futu Trustee held 1,517,368 H Shares.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

The table below sets out the movements of 2021 Awarded Shares
during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024:

T &

EEEHRE (&)

& 5] 120241 18 £202412 A31 0 5

2021 F 2 EH A& 19 1Y &

Number of awarded shares

RBRGEHE
Closing price of Closing price
the Company’s  of the Company’s
Cancelled/ H Shares H Shares
Granted Vested lapsed Outstanding immediately before immediately
Asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the asat the date of grantin  before the vesting
1 January Reporting Reporting  Reporting 31 December 2024 date in 2024
Name Date of grant Vesting date"*? 2024 Period™*?  Period"**?  Period"*¥ 20241 1) (HKS)"e? (HKg)"e e
RENUF ZHNUEF
BB B BE A BA
REEHRR R2024F ARARHKRH ARFHRH
) R2024%F REEHRN  REEHR H#/ 128318 W
#e Biti B BEAH 1A1A By ] RS S S O F ¥ (7)) e
Directors
gz
Mr. Xiao Dongsheng 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 1,944,000 — 972,000 — 972,000 — 1.52
HRERE 20215128108 20244564308
Mr. Shi Lei 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 857,334 — 428,666 — 428,668 — 1.52
RELE 20214128108 2024F6A30H
Senior Management
BREEE
Mr. Wang Zhixian 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 233,400 - 116,700 — 116,700 — 1.52
F2RRE 202146128108 202456 A30H
Mr. Meng Tao 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 388,800 — 194,400 194,400 — — 1.52
ARLE 202146128108 202456 A 307
Highest-paid employee (excluding 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 567,000 — 283,500 283,500 — — 1.52
Directors and
Senior Management)™*?
ERFMER (TERESR 20214128108 202456 A30H
BREEE)"
Other Selected Employees 10 December 2021 30 June 2024 9,591,537 — 2,478,066 7,113,471 — — 1.52
HttEERER 20214128108 202456 A30H
Total 13,582,071 - 4,473,332 7,591,371 1,517,368 — 1.52
it
Notes: HiaF -

1.

The 2021 Awarded Shares granted on 11 December 2021 shall be vested
in three tranches with the vesting schedule as follows: (i) as to one-third of
the 2021 Awarded Shares on 30 April 2023; (ii) as to one-third of the 2021
Awarded Shares on 30 April 2024; and (iii) as to one-third of the 2021
Awarded Shares on 30 April 2025. The vesting dates of 2021 Awarded
Shares to be vested on 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2024 were postponed
to 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2024, respectively.

No H Shares under the 2021 SAS were granted during the Reporting
Period. The purchase price of the vested share awards during the
Reporting Period was nil.

Closing price of the H Shares immediately before the suspension of
trading of H Shares on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2023.

2,473,231 outstanding awarded Shares (unvested) were lapsed on 30
June 2024 due to the employees’ resignation and failure of meeting the
vesting conditions. 5,118,140 outstanding awarded Shares (unvested)
were cancelled on 24 July 2024, some of which were substituted by new
grants of 2,955,968 awarded Shares under the 2023 SAS on the same
day, to gradually differentiate the eligible participants of the 2021 Share
Award Scheme and the 2023 SAS. The purchase price of the cancelled
share awards during the Reporting Period was nil.

The weighted average closing price of the H Shares vested during the
Reporting Period before 2 February 2023, the date on which trading of the
H Shares on the Stock Exchange was suspended, was HK$1.52.

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng, Mr. Shi Lei and Mr. Meng Tao were three of the
five highest-paid employees as at 31 December 2024; and the aggregate
number of Shares granted and vested to the five highest-paid employees
in 2024 were nil and 1,878,566 respectively.

1.
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2023 Share Award Scheme

The Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2023 SAS on 29
August 2023 and amended the 2023 SAS on 6 June 2024. Pursuant to
the 2023 SAS, the grant of 2023 awarded Shares (the “2023 Awarded
Shares”) by the Board of Directors to the selected participants may vest
in the form of awarded Shares or awarded cash or in the combination
thereof.

Purposes

The purpose and the objective of the 2023 SAS are to recognise
the contributions by certain eligible participants and to provide them
with incentives in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

Participants

Pursuant to the 2023 SAS, any employees (including full-time
employees and part-time employees) of the Group (including persons
who are granted awards under the 2023 SAS as an inducement to
enter into employment contracts with any member of the Group) are
eligible participants of the 2023 SAS. For the avoidance of doubt, this
should exclude any Director, Supervisor, chief executive, substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
or any other person that may otherwise be regarded as a connected
person of the Company.

Administration

The 2023 SAS shall be subject to the administration of the Board of
Directors and the Futu Trustee in accordance with the scheme rules
and the trust deed. The decision of the Board of Directors with respect
to any matter arising under the 2023 SAS (including the interpretation
of any provision) shall be final and binding. Without prejudice to the
foregoing and to the extent permissible under the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations, the Board of Directors may
resolve to delegate to another committee of the Board of Directors or
to one or more officers of the Company any or all of the authority and
responsibility of the Board of Directors under the scheme rules and the
trust deed. The Futu Trustee shall hold the trust fund in accordance
with the terms of the trust deed.

Duration

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board
of Directors pursuant to the scheme rules, the 2023 SAS shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption date,
after which no further awards will be granted. As at 31 December 2024,
the remaining life of the 2023 SAS is approximately nine years.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Scheme Limit and Entitlement

The Board of Directors shall not make any further award which will
result in the aggregate number of the Shares awarded by the Board of
Directors under the Relevant Schemes exceeding 10% of the issued
Shares as at 6 June 2024, being the date on within the Company
amended the Share Schemes. The maximum number of Shares which
may be awarded to a selected participant under the 2023 SAS shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company in any 12-month
period.

Grant

Subject to the provisions of the 2023 SAS, including but not limited to
the restrictions set out in the scheme rules, the Board of Directors may,
from time to time, at its sole and absolute discretion select any eligible
participant (other than any excluded participant as stated in the scheme
rules) for participation in the 2023 SAS as a selected participant, and
grant an award to any selected participant at nil or such consideration
subject to such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may in
its sole and absolute discretion determine. The Board of Directors may
determine that a selected participant will be granted awarded interests
in the form of awarded Shares or awarded cash or in the combination
thereof. The Board of Directors may also grant the related income of
the awarded interests to any selected participant in such amount or to
such extent as the Board of Directors determines.

In determining the eligibility of the eligible participants and the
appropriate awarded interest to be granted to any selected participant
(excluding any excluded participant as stated in the scheme rules),
the Board of Directors shall take into consideration matters including,
but without limitation to, (a) the present contribution and expected
contribution of the relevant selected participant to the profits of the
Group; (b) the general financial condition of the Group; (c) the Group’s
overall business objectives and future development plan; and (d) any
other matter which the Board of Directors considers relevant.

Vesting and conditions

Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 SAS and the fulfilment
or waiver of all vesting conditions applicable to the vesting of the
awarded interests on such selected participant, the respective awarded
interests held by the Futu Trustee on behalf of the selected participant
shall vest in such selected participant in accordance with the applicable
vesting schedule, and the Futu Trustee shall cause the awarded
interests to be transferred to such selected participant and/or a vehicle
controlled by him/her (such as a trust or a private company) for the
benefit of the selected participant and any family members of such
selected participant.
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Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, in the event
that the vesting conditions specified in the grant notice are not fully
satisfied prior to or on the relevant vesting date, the award of the 2023
Awarded Shares in respect of the relevant vesting date shall lapse,
such 2023 Awarded Shares shall not vest on the relevant vesting date
and shall remain as part of the trust fund and the selected participant
shall have no claims against the Company, the Board of Directors, the
trust or Futu Trustee.

Movements of 2023 Awarded Shares

No Shares were granted or vested during the year ended 31 December
2024.

As at 1 January 2024, the then scheme mandate limit of 2023 SAS
shall not exceed 10% of the issued Shares as at the adoption date (i.e.
140,000,000), and the total number of awards available for grant (less
those vested and cancelled) under the then scheme mandate limit of
the 2023 SAS was 140,000,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the Futu Trustee held 14,272,968 H Shares.

To gradually differentiate the eligible participants of the Share
Schemes, so that the employee participants of the 2021 SAS shall
only include connected persons of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules) while the employee participants of the 2023 SAS shall
exclude such connected persons, on 24 July 2024, the Company (i)
cancelled the 2,955,968 awarded Shares granted to, yet unvested in,
certain selected participants who were non-connected persons of the
Company (“Non-connected Grantees”) under the 2021 SAS and (ii)
substituted such cancelled grants under the 2021 SAS by new grants of
2,955,968 awarded Shares to such Non-connected Grantees under the
2023 SAS (subject to acceptance by the grantees). The new grants of
2,955,968 awarded Shares was satisfied partly by issuance of 730,000
new H Shares and partly by existing H Shares in issue under the 2023
SAS within the Scheme Mandate Limit. Subsequent to the new grants
of 2,955,968 awarded Shares, the number of Shares available for future
grants under the Relevant Schemes is 155,305,832. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 July 2024.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

The table below sets out the movements of 2023 Awarded Shares
during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024:
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Number of awarded shares

Granted

As at during the

1January Reporting

Name Date of grant  Vesting date"™*” 2024 Period""*?

RBRABE
Closing price of Closing price
the Company’s  of the Company’s
Cancelled/ H Shares H Shares Fair
Vested lapsed  Outstanding immediately before immediately  value per
during the  during the asat the date of grantin before the vesting  awarded
Reporting Reporting 31 December 2024 date in 2024 share
Period"**? Period 2024 (HKS)"=9 (HKS$)"#9  (HKS)"=?
#2024 F F#2024F
R R FEAHA SRER
2024 % ARFAHRK ADFAHRN RHWDA
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Senior Management

BREEE

Mr. Meng Tao 24 July 2024 - - 194,400 - - 194,400 1.52 - 1.52

aREE 202457R24H

Highest-paid employee (excluding Directors 24 July 2024 - - 283,500 - - 283,500 1.52 - 1.52
and Senior Management) "*¢%

BEFMES (TRRESRAALEER " 202457A24A

Other Selected Employees 24 July 2024 - - 2/478,068 - - 2,478,068 1.52 - 1.52

HittEERR 20245 7R 248

Total - - 2,955,968 - - 2,955,968 1.52 - 1.52

&3t

Notes: B &t -

1. The 2023 Awarded Shares granted on 24 July 2024 shall be vested on or
before 30 June 2025.

2. No H Shares under the 2023 SAS were vested or cancelled/lapsed during
the Reporting Period. The purchase price of the granted share awards
during the Reporting Period was nil.

3. Closing price of the H Shares immediately before the suspension of
trading of H Shares on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2023.

4. The weighted average closing price of the H Shares vested during the
Reporting Period was nil.

53 Mr. Meng Tao was one of the five highest-paid employees as at
31 December 2024; and the aggregate number of Shares granted and
vested to the five highest-paid employees in 2024 were 477,900 and nil
respectively.

6 The fair value of the 2023 Awarded Shares was assessed in accordance
with China Accounting Standards of Business Enterprises by reference
to the market price of the H Shares on the grant date, which is the price
immediately before the suspension of trading of H Shares on the Stock
Exchange on 2 February 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB372,032.00.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed Initial Public Offering of A Shares

On 29 January 2021, the Board of Directors has resolved and approved
to commence the relevant preparation related to the proposed initial
public offering of A shares of the Company. The Company has engaged
Huatai United Securities Co., Ltd. as the pre-listing tutoring institution
and submitted the registration application for pre-listing tutoring with
the Shandong Supervisory Commission (I Z &5 /3) of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (FElFESEEEELZEE) on
29 January 2021. As at the date of this annual report, the Company is
under pre-listing tutoring procedure and has not commenced filing the
application for the proposed initial public offering of A shares.

Change of Overseas Auditors

In view of the change to the standards in the preparation of the
Company’s overseas financial statements in 2021 from International
Financial Reporting Standards to China Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises, the Board of Directors also proposed to change
the Company’s overseas auditor from BDO Limited to BDO China SHU
LUN PAN Certified Public Accountants LLP, which was approved by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 28 May 2021.

Loan Agreement with Covenant relating to Specific
Performance of the Controlling Shareholder

On 2 November 2023, the Company, as the borrower, and syndicate
members, as the lender (the “Lender”), entered into a working capital
syndicate loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement’) in relation to the
provision of a working capital loan facility by the Lender to the Company
in an aggregate maximum principal amount of RMB960 million, for a
loan granting period commencing from the date of signing of the Loan
Agreement to 31 May 2024. The loan was used to repay loans and for
the Company’s daily working capital.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company undertakes that (i) no
change of control of the controlling Shareholder shall occur during the
term of the loan (change of control refers to the existing controller’s loss
of control in the Company and their direct and indirect consolidated
shareholdings being less than 50% through share transfers, bond
market transactions, capital increases and share enlargements,
mergers and acquisitions and concerted party agreements); or (ii) no
external pledge of the equity of the Company held by the controlling
Shareholder shall be made, except where it has been considered and
approved by the syndicate loan agent.
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If violation of the relevant undertakings under the Loan Agreement
occurs and leads to an event of default, the syndicate loan agent
may cease the drawing of all or part of the loan funds that has been
requested in a drawdown notice but not yet been drawn; cancel all
or part of the total commitments; declare that all or part of the loan
balance, together with all accrued interest, expenses and other amounts under
the Loan Agreement be immediately due and payable in advance. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2
November 2023.

Public Float and Suspension of Trading in the H Shares

Upon completion of the acquisition of the Domestic Shares by Falcon
on 20 December 2022, Falcon was required to make unconditional
mandatory general offers in cash for all the issued Domestic Shares
and H Shares not already owned or agreed to be acquired by Falcon
and its concert parties (the “Offers”) in accordance with the Code
on Takeovers and Mergers (the “Takeovers Code”) issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Falcon also
proposed to delist the Company from the Stock Exchange. On 28
December 2022, Falcon and the Company jointly despatched the
composite document comprising (including without limitation) the
offer document from Falcon, the response document from the Board
of Directors, details of the Offers and the delisting resolution to the
Shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Takeovers
Code.

As the delisting resolution was not approved at the relevant general
meetings of the Company held on 18 January 2023, and the public
float of the Company fell below 25% following the close of the Offers,
the minimum public float requirement as set out in Rule 8.08(1)(a) of
the Listing Rules was not satisfied. Pursuant to Note 1 to Rule 8.08(1)
(b) of the Listing Rules, at the request of the Company, trading in the H
Shares has been suspended from 9:00 a.m. on 2 February 2023 since
the percentage of public float fell below 15% following the close of the
Offers. On 25 April 2023, the Company received the guidance for the
resumption of trading issued by the Stock Exchange (the “Resumption
Guidance”), which includes, among others, restoring the minimum
public float required under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

In order to satisfy the Resumption Guidance, the Company had taken
appropriate steps to restore its public float and resume the trading in H
Shares as soon as practicable. The Company completed subscriptions
of a total 182,618,000 H Shares with two subscribers on 11 September
2023. Falcon further completed sales of a total 80,520,000 H Shares
with two purchasers on 15 September 2023 and 3 October 2023,
respectively. Subsequently on 24 July 2024, the Company issued and
allotted 730,000 new H Shares under the 2023 SAS to satisfy part
of the awards granted to the non-connected grantees and therefore
complied with the requirements of Rule 8.24 of the Listing Rules and
was counted towards the public float of the Company.
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Upon completion of the above steps, the Company’s public float
restored to over 25% and has satisfied the minimum public float
requirement as set out in Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules since
then. Given that the Company fulfilled the Resumption Guidance, the
trading in H Shares of the Company has been resumed with effect from 9:00
a.m. on 31 July 2024. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 30 July 2024.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

On 29 December 2023, the amendments to the Company Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({(ffZE AR EXFIE QA RE)) (the
“PRC Company Law”) were adopted and took effect on 1 July 2024.
The new PRC Company Law makes changes to the current PRC
Company Law, including optimisation of corporate governance,
enhancement in protection for minority shareholders, and strengthening
of responsibilities and fiduciary duties of controlling shareholders,
directors, supervisors and senior management members. Listed issuers
are required to make any necessary changes to their constitutional
documents in accordance with the latest amendments to the PRC
Company Law before the effective date.

Meanwhile, given that the Company’s daily business operation will
involve cargo transportation, the Company is required to include (i)
road transportation of goods (excluding dangerous goods) and (ii)
motor vehicle repair and maintenance in its scope of business in
accordance with the Regulations of the People’s Republic of China on
Road Transportation ({12 A K £ 50 B 18 iR 8 &) & B11)). As a result,
the scope of business as stated in the Articles of Association shall
be amended and such amendments are subject to the review by the
company registration authority.

Based on the foregoing, the Company proposed to amend the Articles
of Association in order to (i) reflect the change in business scope of the
Company; (ii) reflect the latest amendments in the PRC Company Law
in the Articles of Association; and (iii) make other consequential, tidy-up
and housekeeping amendments (the “Articles Amendments”).

In view of the Articles Amendments, the Board of Directors and the
Board of Supervisors proposed to amend the rules of procedure for the
general meeting, the rules of procedure for the Board of Directors and
the rules of procedure for the Board of Supervisors (the “Procedural
Rules Amendments”).

The resolutions in relation to the Articles Amendments and the

Procedural Rules Amendments were approved by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company on 5 June 2024.
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Report of Board of Directors (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this annual report, there had been no material change to the
Articles of Association. The Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Deposits with GMK Finance

In March 2022, the Company was notified by GMK Holdings, the
former controlling shareholder of the Company that its subsidiaries had
overdue debts. Among such subsidiaries, GMK Finance was involved
in overdue repayment disputes, pursuant to which civil complaints
were being filed against it by the plaintiffs and the guarantors for
the debts concerned in those cases, GMK Holdings and/or certain
of its subsidiaries were also named as defendants. The judicial
restructuring was then filed against Yanggu Xiangguang Copper Co.,
Ltd. (“Xiangguang Copper”), a subsidiary of GMK Holdings with the
Liaocheng Intermediate People’s Court, Shandong Province, PRC,
by a creditor on the ground that Xiangguang Copper was unable to
repay the debts falling due. The People’s Court of Yaanggu County,
Shandong Province, PRC, as appointed to hear the case, subsequently
accepted the application of judicial restructuring of 19 companies,
including GMK Holdings, Shandong Fengxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. and
Shandong Fengxiang Investment Co., Ltd. (each a former controlling
shareholder) and Xiangguang Copper (but for the avoidance of doubt,
does not include the Company). The first creditors’ meeting was held
on 15 March 2024 at Yanggu County People’s Court.

Pursuant to the court order, the Xiangguang Copper No. 1
Reorganisation Services Trust* (#£ )¢ i 2158 EE R 5 5E) (“Trust
1”) and Xiangguang Copper No. 2 Reorganisation Services Trust* (#F
J iR 2 257 EE IRFIE57T) (“Trust 27) serve as management platforms
for the assets and shareholding interests of the above said companies,
respectively, the corresponding trust units (the “Trust Units”) of which,
shall be used as liquidation distribution to the creditors. Both trusts are
jointly held by Kunlun Trust Co., Ltd.* (E@&@ErEBEREE A7) and
Yunnan International Trust Co. Ltd* (EFE B Rt B R Q7).

The Company was informed by the administrator that according to the
court order, the Company would be entitled to receive the relevant
liquidation assets of (i) cash amounting to RMB27,786,153.44,
(ii) 679,686,612.67 Trust Units under Trust 1, with corresponding
value of its underlying assets being RMB138,246,740.07; and (iii)
679,686,612.67 Trust Units under Trust 2, with corresponding value
of its shareholding interests held being RMB27,458,480.71, and the
Trust Units under Trust 2 were realised. There is no guarantee that
the remaining Trust Units can be realised due to the uncertainty of
the liquidity and market value of the Trust Units. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 15 March 2024 and 19
December 2024.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company will
continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practice to
ensure the compliance of the CG Code. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 84 to 109 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management and
the Board of Directors the accounting principles and policies adopted by
the Company, the audited annual results and the financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit
Committee also recommended and submitted the annual results and
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 to the
Board of Directors for approval.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by BDO China SHU LUN PAN Certified Public
Accountants LLP.

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of the Report of Board of Directors, the composition of
the Board of Directors is as follows:
Executive Directors: Mr. Xiao Dongsheng
Mr. Shi Lei
Non-executive Directors: Mr. Qiu Zhongwei
Mr. Lu Wei

Mr. Zhu Lingjie
Ms. Zhou Ruijia

Independent non-executive
Directors:

Ms. Wang Anyi
Ms. Zhao Yinglin
Mr. Chung Wai Man

By order of the Board of Directors
Zhu Lingjie

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Shandong, PRC, 28 March 2025
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Report of Board of Supervisors

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

As at the date of the report of Board of Supervisors, the composition of
the Board of Supervisors is as follows:

Shareholders representative Supervisors: Ms. Gao Jin
Mr. Zhu Kaijie

Employees representative Supervisor: Mr. Ma Xianwen

FUNCTIONS AND AUTHORITIES AND
OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the functions and powers of the
Board of Supervisors include, among other things:

() to supervise the actions of the Directors, general manager
and other senior management during the performance of their
functions, and to propose removal of Directors and senior
management who have violated laws, administrative regulations,
the Articles of Association or the resolutions of the general
meetings;

(Il)  to require Directors and senior management to make corrections
if their conduct has damaged the interests of the Company;

(I)  to review the financial position of the Company;

(IV) to verify the financial information such as the financial report,
business report and profit distribution plan to be submitted by the
Board of Directors to the general meetings and to appoint, in the
name of the Company, certified public accountants and practicing
auditors to assist in the re-examination of such information should
any doubt arise in respect thereof;

(V) to propose the convening of extraordinary general meetings and,
in case the Board of Directors does not perform the obligations
to convene and preside over the general meetings in accordance
with Company Law, to convene and preside the general
meetings;
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ExgHs (8

(VI) to submit proposals to the general meeting;

(VI1) to propose the convening of a provisional meeting of the Board of
Directors;

(VII) to initiate legal proceedings against Directors and senior
management in accordance with the Company Law; and

(IX) to exercise other functions and powers stipulated by laws,
administrative regulations and the Articles of Association.

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors had held
three meetings and considered and approved proposals and matters
including 2023 Work Report of the Board of Supervisors, 2023 Annual
Report, Annual Profit Distribution Plan, Internal Control Report and
2024 Interim Results and Interim Report. The attendance of the
Supervisors of the Company at meetings of the Board of Supervisors
during the Reporting Period is listed below:

(R) MERASRLRES:

(b) REAHEZTEHRNER

() EKE(ARRNRE HEF SRERAR
RIEF: &
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EEEel

BREMAN EFESHABHATZRER EFRBT
(023FEEEFETIFME) 202BFFERSE)
(FEMBEDREDE) (RBPEEERE) K 20245+
HEELTPHBRE)SRENEFHE - REHAN - AR
AEEHEEEEERNBERAT

Number of meetings
attended/Number of
attendance required

HESBERHEY
Supervisors E=x EHEEZARE
Ms. Gao Jin SELZL 3/3
Mr. Zhu Kaijie KRIEREE 3/3
Mr. Ma Xianwen FEEBLEAE 3/3

Note:

(1)  Attendance in meetings includes on-site attendance and attendance by
way of telephone and video conference.
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Report of Board of Supervisors (Continued)

WORK OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

During the Reporting Period, with a view to be committed to the
Shareholders and the Company, the Board of Supervisors has
diligently performed its duties of supervision pursuant to applicable
laws and regulations and the Articles of Association. The Board of
Supervisors continued to improve the supervisory methods to improve
its effectiveness and influence so as to effectively protect the interests
of the Shareholders and the Company to exercise its supervisory and
counter balancing under the corporate governance of the Company and
specifically carried out the following work:

1. supervised the operation of the Company in accordance with
the law, the implementation of the Company’s decision-making
procedures, internal control system and the performance of
duties by the Directors and senior management in accordance
with the law, and the production, operation and management of
the Company and other major matters. The Board of Supervisors
is of the view that: the Company operates in strict accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations and the provisions of the
Articles of Association, etc., the decision-making procedures are
legal and there are no irregularities in operation; the Directors
and senior management of the Company can perform their duties
faithfully and diligently in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the State and the relevant provisions of the Articles
of Association, and no acts detrimental to the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders have been found;

2. the Board of Supervisors inspected and supervised the financial
situation of the Company in 2023 and checked the financial
information such as financial report, business report and profit
distribution plan to be submitted to the Shareholders’ meeting
by the Board of Directors, and the Board of Supervisors was of
the opinion that: the Company conducted financial management
in strict accordance with the requirements of relevant laws
and regulations, its financial system was sound and effectively
implemented, its capital was in good condition, and it could
effectively prevent operational risks;
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the Board of Supervisors has conducted a comprehensive
inspection of the related party transactions of the Company and
is of the opinion that: the parties to the transactions have followed
the principle of “fairness and impartiality” and the transaction
prices are fair and have not harmed the interests of the Company
and other non-connected Shareholders;

the Board of Supervisors supervised the internal control and
concluded that: the Company follows the basic principles of
internal control and has established a sound internal control
system covering all aspects of the Company in accordance with
its actual situation to ensure the safety, integrity and effective
use of assets. The Company’s internal control organisation is
complete, and the internal audit department and personnel are
fully equipped and in place to ensure that the implementation and
supervision of the key activities of the Company’s internal control
are adequate and effective; and

the Board of Supervisors inspected of the Company’s information
disclosure matters and concluded that: as at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Company has established the information
disclosure related system in compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, and the Company’s information disclosure was true,
accurate, timely and complete, which could effectively protect the
right to information of investors, especially the small and medium
Shareholders.
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Report of Board of Supervisors (Continued)

WORK PLAN FOR 2025

In 2025, the Board of Supervisors will continue to faithfully and diligently
perform its duties to further promote the improvement of the Company’s
corporate governance structure and the standardised operation of its
business management, and to establish a good and honest image of
the Company.

1. strengthen supervision of Directors and senior management in
accordance with laws and urge the Company to further improve
the governance structure and enhance the level of governance in
accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations;

2. continue to strengthen and perform supervisory functions, keep
abreast with and actively focus on major decision-making matters
of the Company, and supervise and promote the legality of
various decision-making procedures to better safeguard the rights
and interests of Shareholders; and

3. further strengthen the implementation of the internal control
system by supervising and inspecting the Company’s finances as
well as supervising and inspecting the production and operation
of the Company; strengthen the supervision and inspection of
the enterprise, to prevent operational risks and to promote the
healthy and stable development of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Board of Supervisors had no objection to
other supervisory issues during the Reporting Period.

By order of the Board of Supervisors
Gao Jin
Chairperson of the Board of Supervisors

Shandong, PRC, 28 March 2025
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The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board of Directors believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing a framework
for the Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability.

Since the H Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date, the Company has been
complying with the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 to Listing Rules throughout the period
from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report.

The Company has been committed to enhancing its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its
business and to reviewing such practices from time to time to ensure
that the Company compiles with statutory and professional standards
and align with the latest development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions and performance and takes decisions objectively in the best
interest of the Company.

The Board of Directors regularly reviews the contribution required

from a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Board of Directors Composition ESg4Am

The Board of Directors currently comprises nine Directors, consisting EFZeRANBEFTAN PEMBRTES WA
of two executive Directors, four non-executive Directors and three P TESR =B IINTES EFTSRANE
independent non-executive Directors. The current members of the HEWMT :

Board of Directors are listed as follows:

Name Position in the Company

%A A B B AL

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng Executive Director and general manager

HERELSE BITEEFRARLE

Mr. Shi Lei Executive Director, vice general manager, chief financial officer,
secretary to the Board of Directors and company secretary

AwERE WITES BlRALE UBKAEE EEgNERATAWE

Mr. Qiu Zhongwei Non-executive Director

R & e A EMITES

Mr. Lu Wei Non-executive Director

2R EE EMITES

Mr. Zhu Lingjie Chairman of the Board of Directors and non-executive Director

N EEGIRRIINITES

Ms. Zhou Ruijia Non-executive Director

J& 3 1 2+ EMITES

Ms. Wang Anyi Independent non-executive Director

FTLHEL BIUIFERITES

Ms. Zhao Yinglin Independent non-executive Director

A A+ BIUIEMITES

Mr. Chung Wai Man Independent non-executive Director

EREXEE BWIUFMITES

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate EEREERI>B)NMRBRBCEMHADR AR BT

communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant N ZFAERBIRAANTARE - BIENTESH

to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are MU ERBCETRADEMBE A RIBAMTABEHA -

expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the

Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the EEV AR BEREATFRIZES ESREME

section headed “Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior BERER]—&-

Management” of this annual report.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the BAFRABEEIN  BARFMMN - EEEXEZ

Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other material MBI 5 REXEMERBER-
relationships among members of the Board of Directors.
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Chairman and General Manager

Mr. Zhu Lingjie is the chairman of the Board of Directors and Mr. Xiao
Dongsheng is the general manager. The chairman of the Board of
Directors and the general manager are two different positions, and their
duties are clearly separated and set out in the Articles of Association.

The main duties of the chairman are: to preside over Shareholders’
general meetings, and convene and preside over meetings of the
Board of Directors; to supervise and examine the implementation of
the resolutions of the Board of Directors; to sign the Shares, corporate
bonds and other marketable securities issued by the Company; to sign
important documents of the Board of Directors and other documents
that should be signed by the legal representative of the Company, and
exercise functions and powers of the legal representative; in case of
force majeure or major emergency in which a meeting of the Board
of Directors cannot be held in time, to exercise the special right of
disposal in respect of the business of the Company in compliance
with laws and in the interests of the Company, and report to the Board
of Directors afterwards; to organise formulation of regulations on the
operation of the Board of Directors, and coordinate the operation of the
Board of Directors; to listen to regular or irregular work reports of the
senior management members of the Company, and propose guiding
opinions on implementation of the resolutions of the Board of Directors;
to nominate candidates for the general manager of the Company and
secretary to the Board of Directors; to handle external affairs on behalf
of the Company and sign economic contracts concerning investments,
cooperative operations, joint ventures and loans; and to exercise other
functions and powers specified in relevant laws, regulations or the
Articles of Association and granted by the Board of Directors.
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The principal duties of general manager are: take charge of production,
operation and management matters of the Company and report to
the Board of Directors; organise the implementation of resolutions of
the Board of Directors, annual business plans and investment plans
of the Company; draft the Company’s basic management system and
plans for the establishment of the internal management structure of the
Company; formulate the specific rules of the Company; propose to the
Board of Directors to appoint or dismiss the deputy general manager,
financial officer and other senior management members; appoint or
dismiss management personnel and general staff other than those that
should be appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors, propose
policies on the salaries, welfares, rewards and penalties related to the
employees of the Company; propose the convening of a provisional
meeting of the Board of Directors; decide on other issues of the
Company within the authority granted by the Board of Directors; decide
on the loan (both within the annual budget and extra-annual budget),
external investment, sale of assets, acquisition, lease, mortgage,
pledge or any other matters in relation to asset disposal and guarantee
with an amount of less than 10% of the Company’s audited total assets
for the latest period; and exercise other functions and powers conferred
in the Articles of Association and by the Board of Directors.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Board
of Directors at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board of Directors with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent and remain so as at the date of
this annual report.

& EEARE (8)
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company generally for a term of three years commencing from
general meeting, which are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms, and shall be subject to retirement by rotation
once every three years.

Directors shall be elected or replaced by the general meeting and serve
a term of office of three years. A Director may serve consecutive terms
if re-elected upon the expiration of his/her term. Any person appointed
as Director by the Board of Directors to fill a temporary vacancy or add
the quota of Directors of the Board of Directors shall serve until the next
annual general meeting of the Company, at which time the said person
is eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board of Directors and Management

The Board of Directors should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board of Directors directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to the management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal
control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board of Directors
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board of
Directors for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.
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The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board of Directors reserves for its decisions on all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, election of
director candidates and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board of Directors, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed by the
Company on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board of Directors remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Company and full awareness of Director's responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.
Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key
plant sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.

During 2024, the Company organised training sessions conducted by
the legal advisers for all Directors. The training sessions covered a wide
range of relevant topics including directors’ duties and responsibilities,
continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests and regulatory
updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including compliance
manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been
provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December

2024 are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors

Exps

m

Attending training, briefings,
seminars, conferences and
workshops relevant to the

Company’s industry and
business, director’s duties
and/or corporate governance
HERRKQBTERER -
EERER R
REREMEE 2 -
B - SBRBERRE

HE2024F12A3MALFE  EF2HICEALH

Reading news alerts,
newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications
relevant to the Company’s
industry and business,
director’s duties and/or
corporate governance
FMEEAQNAITEREY -
ESHER Y
NEAEMEE 2 HERA -
BB BERERY

Executive Directors
HITE=SE

Mr. Xiao Dongsheng
HRAERE

Mr. Shi Lei
h&EE

Non-executive Directors
FHITES

Mr. Qiu Zhongwei
i & HE

Mr. Lu Wei

2R EE

Mr. Zhu Lingjie
RERTHE

Ms. Zhou Ruijia

JB 3 2 2+

Independent non-executive Directors
BIFHTES

Ms. Wang Anyi

TRHRL

Ms. Zhao Yinglin

A 2+

Mr. Chung Wai Man

BEXEL
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Board Independence Policy

The Company has formulated the policy regarding the independence
of the Board of Directors and has assessed the effectiveness of such
policy. The Board of Directors has adopted the board independence
policy (the “Board Independence Policy”) as a mechanism to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board of Directors.
The summary of which is set out below:

(i) Composition

The Board of Directors ensures the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board of Directors with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Further, independent non-
executive Directors will be appointed to board committees of the
Company (the “Board Committees”) as far as practicable to
ensure independent views are available.

(ii) Independence Assessment
The Nomination Committee strictly adopted the Nomination Policy
with regard to the nomination of independent non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee also assesses the
independence of independent non-executive Directors annually
to ensure independent judgement is exercised.

(iii) Compensation
No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to independent non-executive Directors as this
may lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

(iv) Board Decision Making

Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
entitled to seek further information from the management on the
matters to be discussed at meetings of the Board of Directors.
Independent professional advice would be provided to Directors
upon reasonable request to assist them to perform their duties
to the Company. Any Directors who have a material interest in a
contract, transaction or arrangement shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any resolution approving the same.
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(v) Board Evaluation

Evaluation of the Board of Directors is a continual process. In
accordance with the Board Independence Policy, each Director
reviews the performance of the Board of Directors, as well as the
performance of the Board Committees, through various means:

— Annual questionnaires

An annual self-evaluation questionnaire is conducted by
the Board of Directors and Board Committees. Each of the
Board of Directors and Board Committees is required to
submit an anonymous questionnaire on relevant matters
such as the performance, dynamics and processes,
composition and diversity, risk management, and the
proceedings of meetings of the Board of Directors and
Board Committees. The questionnaire encourages
Directors to share suggestions, provide comments and
raise any concerns.

— Feedback
A summary of the evaluation results is prepared based on
the anonymous questionnaires collected, and is provided to
the Board of Directors and Board Committees.

— Action Plan
The Board of Directors and Board Committees consider
and discuss constructive insights, and review action plans
in light of the evaluation process as appropriate.

(vi) Evaluation Results

The Company has conducted an evaluation on the independence
of the Board of Directors in 2024, including, among others,
the composition of the Board of Directors, time commitment
of Directors, professional input obtained by Directors, self-
evaluation of the Board of Directors and the evaluation of
independence of the non-executive Directors. In accordance with
the relevant evaluation results, the Company concluded that the
Board Independence Policy adopted by the Group was effective
as a mechanism to ensure that the Board of Directors acquires
independent input and views.

The Board of Directors has reviewed the evaluation results
and the Board Independence Policy, and considered that the
Company’s mechanism in ensuring independent views and input
are provided to the Board of Directors is effective.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A

(v) EEET
EReffR—ARBELETNRERF KRARA
HELEEFGBUIMRER SEFRBERS
ARTEFEREEZREENRR

— FERB
EEZghEFLEQEFETRES
BRAG - SEFSARESTENESE
BEgmRE FHhRRBEAXKEZ T
REERUAREEERELELZETER
WEFSHEBFREX -—NERHS - B
SRBHEFREES RYEER RRELHE
fa] & i ©

— KREE
FEEROBEDRBERENERES
e HEFEREZZEEHE -

— 18t
EEeNEEZBeRRTMERER
Wil B EREN DB REVEHTH
BEK

(vi) FF1& 4
RARE2024FEEFE 2B IMEEATHMGE
ITHEARTIZEREFTGCEN EFRAR
M EFZEEZEER ESFQEHRTIHE K
FENITESTBIMNEE MEREBZIHE
EHER ARARREAEEFTRACESZEE
UMBRREABBER NERBREFSRBEE
SERAME B H o

EEeRJTHGERREFEBIMERE
TRRARREERRAEZTERHEBIEIR
BB RER -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, each of which has been delegated responsibilities and
reports back to the Board of Directors. The roles and functions of
these committees are set out in their respective terms of reference.
The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of
the Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where
applicable. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are posted
on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chung Wai Man, Ms. Wang Anyi and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Lu Wei. Mr. Chung Wai Man serves as
the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the
Audit Committee are to make recommendations on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditors; to review and
monitor the independence and objectiveness of the external auditors
and the effectiveness of the audit procedure in accordance with
applicable standards; the Audit Committee shall discuss the nature and
scope of audit and the reporting requirements with the auditors before
the commencement of audit; to review the financial information of the
Company and its disclosure; to oversee the financial reporting system,
internal control procedure and risk management of the Company; to
enhance the communication between internal auditors and external
auditors; and to develop a policy on engaging external auditors to
supply non-audit services to our Board of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held
two meetings, during which matters such as the annual results and
report for the year ended 31 December 2023, the interim financial
results and report for the six months ended 30 June 2024, and adoption
of information disclosure and management measures, etc. were
considered and internal control reports were discussed and reviewed.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the
presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Anyi, Ms. Zhao Yinglin and
one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Qiu Zhongwei. Ms. Wang Anyi
serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions
of the Remuneration Committee include to make recommendations to
the Board of Directors on the remuneration policies and package of all
Directors and senior management of the Company and the proper and
transparent procedures for the formulation of remuneration policies; to
review and approve the remuneration proposals of the management
with reference to the corporate targets and objectives set by the Board
of Directors; to make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
remuneration package of individual executive directors and senior
management members; this shall include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment; to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors; to take into account the salary levels of comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment
terms of other positions of the Group; to review and approve
compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management
for any loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that the
compensation is in compliance with contractual terms. In the event
of any inconsistency with contractual terms, the compensation shall
also be fair and reasonable but not excessive; to review and approve
the compensation arrangement for dismissal or removal of Directors
for misconduct to ensure that it is in compliance with the contractual
terms. In the event of any inconsistency with contractual terms, the
compensation shall also be reasonable and appropriate; to ensure that
no Director or any of their associates participate in the decision of their
own remuneration; to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including any grants
of options or awards to directors or senior management, and to make
disclosure and give explanation in the corporate governance report
on the appropriateness to approve such material matters (if any); and
other duties commissioned by the Board of Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting, during which matters such as emolument
policy and structure of the Company, Directors’ remuneration packages
and other related matters were discussed.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
paid to the senior management by bands for the year ended 31
December 2024 is set out below:

& EEARE (8)
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Remuneration bands P EM Number of Individuals A
Nil to HK$5,000,000 £ % 5,000,0007%5 T 5 5
Nomination Committee RBEZES

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Wang Anyi, Ms. Zhao Yinglin and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Zhu Lingjie. Mr. Zhu Lingjie serves as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties
of the Nomination Committee include (l) reviewing the selection criteria
and procedures, structure, number, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to gender, age, culture and education, expertise, skill,
knowledge and term of office) of Directors and senior management
annually and make suggestions on any proposed changes to the
Directors and senior management based on the strategy of the Company; (1)
identifying and selecting qualified candidates to be nominated as
Directors and senior management or make recommendations to the
Board of Directors. As for the identification of suitable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall consider their merits and review
measurable requirements with due regard to the benefits of diversity
of Directors and senior management; (lll) making recommendations
to the Board of Directors on the appointment or re-appointment of and
the succession planning for Directors and senior management. The
Nomination Committee shall at its discretion, together with the Board of
Directors, take into account various factors, including the strategy of the
Company, and the personnel skill, knowledge, experience and member
diversity to be required; (IV) reviewing, at its discretion, the diversity
policy and relevant measurable targets of the Board of Directors,
supervise the implementation progress of the targets and make relevant
disclosure in corporate governance report annually; (V) reviewing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and (VI) other
duties as authorised by the Board of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships by making reference to
the balance of expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business,
requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting, during which matters such as structure, size and
composition of the Board of Directors and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors were discussed. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
of the Board of Directors is maintained.

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee will identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Directors and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the
selection of individuals. The Nomination Committee will determine the
composition of members of the Board of Directors based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also
make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for Directors
(in particular the chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and
mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board of Directors has adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board of Directors. The board diversity policy provides that the
Company should endeavour to ensure that the members of the Board
of Directors have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the execution of
the Group’s business strategy. Pursuant to the board diversity policy,
we seek to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, age, gender, cultural and education background,
ethnicity and length of service. The Nomination Committee shall review
this policy and the measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board of
Directors.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors comprises
nine directors, three of which are females. The Board of Directors
targets to maintain at least the current level of female representation,
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity in the near future. The
Company has also maintained an approximately workforce 48%:52%
(male:female) gender ratio in the past year.

In considering the Board of Directors’ succession, the Board of
Directors recognises that the gender diversity of the Board of Directors
is achieved but can be further improved. We will endeavour to identify
suitable female candidates for future appointment to the Board of
Directors and provide career development and training opportunities for
our female employees to qualify them for future management and the
Board of Directors positions.

The Company will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity of
the Board of Directors and senior management and shall increase the
proportion of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for the Board of Directors, with
the ultimate goal of bringing greater gender diversity to the Board of
Directors.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
selection criteria and nomination procedures adopted to guide the
Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship so as to ensure that the Board of Directors has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination
Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

. character and integrity;

. qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

. willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board of Directors and other directorships and
significant commitments;
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. for independent non-executive Directors, requirement for the
Board of Directors to have independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board of
Directors; and

. such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board of Directors is responsible for performing the functions set
out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

From the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Board
of Directors had reviewed the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the corporate governance policies and practices, the
compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

MEETINGS ATTENDED AND HELD

Since the Listing Date, the Company adopts the practice of holding
meetings of the Board of Directors regularly, at least four times a year
for meetings of the Board of Directors, and at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of majority of Directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.
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& EEARE (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the attendance records of HE2024F12A3MBIEFE SEFEEFHRER
each Director of the Board of Directors at the meetings of the Board of AABRTZEFEERELRERGIDHEHIINOT
Directors and general meetings held by the Company are set out below:

Attendance/Number of meeting(s)

HERE ERHA

Meeting(s) of Audit Remuneration Nomination

the Board of Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Directors meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)

EEg HitEeg FHESS REZEES

EEns 2% = 25 2% BRRAE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Xiao Dongsheng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 17
BHREXE T iE A 1~ iE A T iE A
Mr. Shi Lei 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1M
A&%HE T iE A A~ iE A i A
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Qiu Zhongwei 4/4 N/A 171 N/A 171
R R k4 i A A3
Mr. Lu Wei 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A 171
BRIk E i A i A
Mr. Zhu Lingjie 4/4 N/A N/A 171 171
KRR A& T iE A A iE A
Ms. Zhou Ruijia 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 171
BimER L i A T~ iE A i A
Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Ms. Wang Anyi 4/4 2/2 171 171 171
FRHEL
Ms. Zhao Yinglin 4/4 N/A 171 171 1M
A A+ i A
Mr. Chung Wai Man 4/4 2/2 N/A N/A 171
EREXEE @A 5@ A
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Meetings of the Board of Directors include regular meetings and
extraordinary meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors
shall be held at least four times a year and shall be convened by the
chairman. Notice of a regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be
given to all Directors and supervisors at least 14 days in advance and
the board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information shall be delivered to all Directors at least three days prior to
the date of such regular meeting of the Board of Directors.

An extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors may be held by
request of Shareholders representing more than 10% of the voting
rights or by request of no less than one-third Directors or by the
chairman or by two or more independent non-executive Directors or
by request of the Board of Supervisors or by request of the general
manager. Notice of an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors
shall be given to all Directors, supervisors and general manager at least
five days in advance and the board papers thereof shall be delivered to
all Directors at least three days prior to the date of such meeting.

The Board of Directors shall keep minutes on matters discussed at
meetings of the Board of Directors, including any concerns or objections
raised by the Directors. The minutes shall be signed by the Directors
present at the meeting and by the secretary to the Board of Directors.
Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors shall be kept as the
Company’s record for a period of ten years.

The Board of Directors and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRBH¥ KRG ERA A

ESCEREHNEFEReRNESERE T
E%oiﬁﬁ§$222§i¢§9\€%ﬁﬂu\'Elﬂi%;%?:?
S RBERMELVUBRAEBEFREFENRES
EEHER AN REEESFSEHERARMAM
RERE TBERAGEZEFEXMHREDR

o

E
=R
5=

BEERUEEBI0%EERREZRER =02

—EHERE HIFE AMBRMEBA LB IERT
B SEEY ALBERAR - BERENZE
LPARMERES EFNAKLEENEZTSHRRE
BZBEN FREAEZSRFSIZCAMAAN=R KA
HEFgeaXHrEsE=R-

ExEeRSEFTe RN R ERELAESEC

B RREFSMRAMEEARYER -HESH
CEFENEFENEREAERCHLER EFT
ERLHRE/AFAEBERRT REHRRTF-

EFERBEFTAENBLIBESR

il

REER

BE -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for oversight of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
Board of Directors has delegated oversight to the Audit Committee to
oversee the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on
an ongoing basis, and to conduct reviews of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Group has
established risk management and internal control systems, consisting
of relevant organisational framework policies and procedures, financial
reporting procedures and processes, compliance rules and policies and
risk management measures that the Group believes are appropriate
processes for its business operations to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks. The aforementioned systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Internal Audit

The Company has adopted an internal audit system and has external
auditors responsible for the independent and objective supervision,
examination and evaluation of the Company’s conditions such as
revenues and expenditures, business activities, risk conditions and
internal control. The auditors shall report to the Board of Directors
or the Audit Committee and the Board of Supervisors annually if any
material problems are discovered during the audit procedure.

The Board of Directors is responsible for supervising, reviewing and
evaluating the Company'’s internal audit to ensure that the internal audit
was independent and effective. The Audit Committee is responsible
for reviewing the Company’s internal audit methods, audit policies
and procedures and annual auditing plans and providing guidance
and supervision. The Company had adhered to the principles of
independence, objectivity, prudence, efficiency, importance and
pertinence during the internal auditing process. The Company’s internal
audit system is comprehensive covering business operation, risk
management, internal control and corporate governance.
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The Company and the external auditors conducted an annual internal
control review (the “Internal Control Review”) on, among others,
control environment, risk management, information and communication,
monitoring of controls, operational level controls and provided
recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by
the external auditors and the external auditors have not identified any
material findings which may have material impact on the effectiveness
of our internal control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board of
Directors, as supported by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December
2024, and considered that such systems are effective and adequate.
The annual review also covered the financial reporting, internal audit
function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experiences,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangements to facilitate employees and
other stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement regularly and
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company strictly complies with the Anti-Corruption and Bribery
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations, which
expressly prohibit corrupt practices such as corruption and bribery. To
prevent fraud, strengthen corporate governance and internal control,
reduce corporate risks, regulate business practices and protect the
legitimate rights and interests of the Company and its shareholders, we
have developed the “Employee Behaviour Red Line” and “Employee
Non-Compliance Management System”, which clearly define the
violations, types of penalties, principles of penalties, investigation of
violations and management of penalty files.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access and use of
inside information are strictly prohibited.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the
Directors and Supervisors and the Directors and Supervisors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code from the Listing
Date up to the date of this annual report. The Company’s employees,
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of
the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Board of Directors is responsible for presenting a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
announcements relating to disclosure of inside information and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board of Directors such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
of Directors to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board of Directors for
approval.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the independent Auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’'s Report of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fee paid/payable to the external Auditor, BDO China SHU
LUN PAN Certified Public Accountants LLP, in respect of audit services
and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

B AN B &

HE2024F1283MBIEFE  NWNEEEM I EE5
MEBA(ERLTRAY) ZEZRGEIFEFZRS
B/ EMBEEERANTER

Category of services R#%ER Fee paid/payable
Bt ENER

RMB’000

ARETT

Audit services EZR% 2,000
Non-audit services I %R 350
Total Bt 2,350

The non-audit services mainly included work on reviewing the interim
financial report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Shi Lei is currently the company secretary of the Company. During

the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Shi has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ARRANGEMENT FOR ISSUING CORPORATE
COMMUNICATIONS ELECTRONICALLY

The Company has adopted an arrangement for the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications (“Corporate
Communications”), which refer to any documents issued or to be
issued by the Company for the purpose of providing information to
its Shareholders or prompting them to take action, including but not
limited to (a) copies of directors’ reports, annual accounts and auditors’
reports and, where applicable, summary financial reports; (b) interim
reports and interim report summaries (where applicable); (c) notices of
meeting; (d) listing documents; (e) circulars; and (f) proxy forms. Please
note that all Corporate Communications in English and Chinese are
only available on the Company’s website (https://www.fengxiang.com)
and the Stock Exchange website (www.hkexnews.hk), with no
printed versions provided. Shareholders should proactively check the
Company’s and the Stock Exchange websites to stay informed about
the release of Corporate Communications. To ensure timely receipt of
Actionable Corporate Communications (as defined in the Listing Rules),
the Company recommends that Shareholders provide their email
addresses to the Company. The method for providing email addresses
is detailed in the Shareholder notification letter and reply slip published
on the Company’s website. If the Company has not received a valid
email address from a shareholder, the Company shall send actionable
Corporate Communications in printed form until the H Share Registrar
(Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited) receives a valid
email address from such Shareholder. If Shareholders wish to receive
the printed version of Corporate Communications, please complete and
return the reply slip in accordance with the instructions contained in the
Shareholder notification letter and reply slip.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.
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The Company adopts shareholders’ communication policy and reviews
it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The shareholders’
communication policy sets out various communication channels
including, among other things, the Company’s website (www.fengxiang.
com) where information and updates on the Company’s financial
information, corporate governance practices, biographical information
of the Board of Directors and other information are available for public
access, investor briefings and Shareholders’ meetings, through which
Shareholders, both individual and institutional, may communicate with
and provide feedback to the Company from time to time. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board of Directors and the Shareholders.
The chairman of the Board of Directors as well as the chairman/
chairperson of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other members
of the respective committees, are available to answer Shareholders’
questions at general meetings. The external auditor of the Company
is also invited to attend annual general meetings to answer questions
about the conduct of audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The Board of Directors reviewed the Group’s shareholders and
investors engagement and communication activities conducted in 2024
and was satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of Director. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting

According to the Articles of Association, if Shareholders require
convening an extraordinary general meeting or class meeting, the
following procedure shall be followed:

1. Two or more Shareholders jointly holding more than 10%
(inclusive) of Shares with voting rights at the general meeting to
be convened may sign one or several written requests with the
same format and content to propose to the Board of Directors
to convene the extraordinary general meeting or class meeting,
and specify the topics of the meeting. The Board of Directors
shall convene the extraordinary general meeting or class meeting
responsively after receipt of the aforesaid written request. The
aforesaid amount of shareholding is calculated on the day when
the Shareholders tender the written request.

2. If the Board of Directors fails to issue a notice of meeting
within 30 days after receipt of the aforesaid written request, the
Shareholders tendering the said request may request the Board
of Supervisors to convene an extraordinary general meeting or
class meeting.

3. If the Board of Supervisors fails to issue a notice of meeting
within 30 days after receipt of the aforesaid written request,
the Shareholders individually or jointly holding more than 10%
of Shares with voting rights at the meeting to be convened for
90 consecutive days may by themselves convene a meeting
within four months after the Board of Directors receives the said
request, and the convening procedure shall to the extent possible
be the same as the procedure by which the Board of Directors
convenes the general meeting.

Where the Shareholders convene a meeting because the Board of
Directors or the Board of Supervisors fails to convene the meeting
pursuant to the aforesaid provision, the reasonable expenses incurred
shall be borne by the Company and shall be deducted from the monies
payable by the Company to the defaulting Directors or supervisors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TtEERBE (&)

When the Company convenes the general meeting, the Board of
Directors, the Board of Supervisors and the Shareholders individually or
jointly holding not less than 5% (inclusive) of the total number of shares
carrying voting rights of the Company shall have the right to put forward
proposals to the Company in writing. The Company shall include the
matters falling within the scope of duties of the general meeting set out
in the proposal in the agenda of the meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the laws
of the PRC for putting forward proposals of new resolutions by
Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For
proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to the
procedures set out in the paragraph below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate Candidates of
Directors

Written notices specifying the intention to nominate a person for
election as a Director and acceptance of such nomination by such
person, as well as the written information on such person, shall be sent
to the Company no earlier than the day after dispatch of the notice of
the general meeting and no later than seven days prior to the date of
such meeting. The minimum length of period during the nomination and
acceptance of such nomination shall not be less than seven days.

Based on this, if a Shareholder of the Company intends to propose
any person for election as a Director, the following documents shall
be effectively delivered to the Company’s headquarter in the PRC at
Liumiao Village, Anle Town, Yanggu County, Liaocheng City, Shandong
Province, the PRC or the Company’s H Share share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712—
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, including: (i) the signed notice of the intention to propose
the candidate for election as a Director in general meeting; and (ii) the
signed notice of the candidate indicating his or her willingness to accept
the election, together with (a) information about the candidate required
to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and (b) the
written consent indicating the consent of the candidate to release his or
her personal information.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board of Directors

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board of Directors, Shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following address:

Address: Liumiao Village, Anle Town, Yanggu County
Liaocheng City,
Shandong Province, PRC
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: lei.shi@fengxiang.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% RA R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD.:

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
with limited liability)

AUDIT OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of the Shandong
Fengxiang Co., Ltd. (“Fengxiang”), which comprise the
consolidated and the Company’s balance sheets as at 31
December 2024, the consolidated and the Company’s income
statements for 2024, the consolidated and the Company’s cash
flow statements, the consolidated and the Company’s statements
of changes in owners’ equity for the year then ended, and notes to
the financial statements.

We are of the view that, the accompanying financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and the
Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2024 and the
consolidated and the Company’s financial performance and cash
flows for 2024 in accordance with the requirements of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with China Standards on
Auditing (“CSAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of Fengxiang in accordance with the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“CICPA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the CICPA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Key audit matters

HRESEE

B ZHE®E (&)

BMESTPBNEOERESAFRELNT

How our audit addressed the matter

REBEERAEFTROMEHRD

() Revenue recognition

(-) BEBAER

Fengxiang’s operating revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB5,504,651,300.

2024 F Z B M) & % Y\ 5550,465.135

Operating revenue of Fengxiang are primarily generated
from the sales of frozen chicken products and meat
products, which are mainly supplied to large catering chain
enterprises, wholesale market for agricultural products,
supermarket chains and other market fields. Fengxiang
recognises operating revenue when the control of the goods
is transferred to the customer.

BHEBRNDEESERATRREANRRD AEREEE
HOEMTEHEAAREEREHPE EEHEMS

BEHBMEMSRE - BaERhREmZf #E2RE
FRIEREERA -

Communicated with the management to understand the
impact of industry policies and market environment on the
performance of Fengxiang, and evaluated the rationality of
fluctuations in operating revenue;

HEREETER TROERR mHRIEHETR
MAREENTE FHERRARBOAEN

Conducted interviews with management and selected
sales contracts for inspection to identify contract terms
related to the transfer of control over goods, and evaluated
whether the operating revenue recognition policy of
Fengxiang complied with the relevant requirements of the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises;
HEREHAREREEARETRS - #5 HEHm
ZHIEEREENS RGN FEREROAFNE
FWABRRBEEERaCESERNBBEX

Understood, evaluated and tested the internal control
systems related to revenue recognition and tested the
effectiveness of the implementation of key internal
controls;

TR ST OB ST B U A e SR AR B e A BB
RIS T RSN ITEY A R

Combined with product categories, types of sales
channels, major business customers, etc., analysed the
changes in operating revenue and gross profit margin

this year while paying attention to whether there were
abnormal fluctuations;
HEEEmMER - HE %L*ﬁ’*” . I?&%i‘%%ﬁg CHAR

FEXBARENREZEHF
EEERKSER:

ETOoW BEIRST

Selected samples and implemented confirmation
procedures for trade receivable and operating revenue,
checked the confirmation results against book records,
and carried out substitute tests for no reply samples;
BN ERRRMNEERAETERT HEFREF 1
BRHEARERMAORET TRYE  HRERK
TTERRR

Annual Report 2024 &5}

111



112

Key audit matters

MREETSER

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B2 EE R E (&)

How our audit addressed the matter

REHEESTRNMESN

Since operating revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of Fengxiang, there is an inherent risk that the
management of Fengxiang (hereinafter as the “management”)
will control the timing of operating revenue recognition
in order to achieve specific goals or expectations, so we
determine operating revenue recognition as a key audit
matter. Please refer to Note Il (XXV) and Note V (XXXVII)
for the above accounting policies, significant accounting
judgments and estimates and related financial statement
disclosures.
HREEXEWARBFERNNBEREERERZ 2 — EWF
EH&%@%@F@H?%M%EED%TE%%EE
B HEMBRME X WA BRARENESRR B
%%H&Aﬁwﬁ&mﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁ%lﬁ o PIlEEEE &KX
B AE GG A REEMBBRRBERE2EWE=(=Z1
) UEMERERCE+R) -

() Valuation of biological assets

() EMEEMNME

As at 31 December 2024, the book balance of Fengxiang’'s
consumptive biological assets and productive biological
assets was RMB228,094,800 and RMB204,930,000,
respectively.

HE2024F12A318 - BHERDEREENEEREE
MAEYE E R R &5 9 Rl /522,809.48 8 T - 20,493.00
HIT°

The measurement of the fair value of Fengxiang’s biological
assets involves significant management judgment,
particularly the estimated culling rate and the market prices
of breeders, broilers and broiler eggs. As a result, there
is an inherent risk that management will control the fair
value valuation to achieve specific goals, so we identify the
valuation of biological assets as a key audit matter. Please
refer to Note Il (XI), (XVIl) and Note V (VI), (XI) for the above
accounting policies, significant accounting judgments and
estimates and related financial statement disclosures.
BHBRNDEMEERABENGESREEENEXRH
& BRI TR EIRE Eﬁ Wﬁ BENTES -1
MEEERERAEIRTERRBUAABERENESR
i ﬁﬂf’ﬁH%E%ﬁ%ﬁwﬁﬁaﬁkﬂwﬁﬁ%&%ﬁ%lﬁ o bt
BETBR  ERG A E AT A RIEEY B RRRE
S2ARF=(+—)  (TE)URMERG) ~ (+—) -
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(6)

(6)

)

(4)

Selected operating revenue transaction samples, checked
sales contracts, orders, outbound documents, invoices
and customer receipt documents, export declaration forms
and other supporting documents for operating revenue
recognition, and evaluated whether revenue recognition
conformed to the Company’s accounting policies on
operating revenue recognition;

BREXRARGERN RHHEEAR IE -HE
B RARPEFPERE HOBEEFTKA ﬁii?ﬁ
Yﬁ R ELER A ARRBETENA AR EERAR
BRI

Checked the operating revenue transactions before and
after the balance sheet date, checked the outbound
documents, customer receipt documents, export
declaration forms and other supporting documents for
revenue recognition, and evaluated whether operating
revenue was recorded in the appropriate accounting
period.

MEEEBBERBANBENEXERARS REHLES
EPERE HORBEEZFTWABRBEFEXH - 1E
EEWARTWLERN RS NG EE -

Evaluated the competence, professionalism and objectivity
of the external appraiser engaged by the Company;
AERREBZNIINTEAABEE N EEXEREAN
2EIE

Evaluated the reasonableness of the key assumptions
used in the valuation of the biological assets with the
assistance of an external appraiser;
BHPENBFEEROBHT
RREMERERRNAEGE:

HEEMEEMBETD

Implemented monitoring procedures for the Company’'s
biological assets and reviewed the quantities of biological
assets in the valuation model to verify the accuracy and
relevance of the input data.

HRARAMEMEEERERERF TERMAERE R
EMEEHE REMABABURSEEL MBI -

Engaged an expert from a certified public accountant to
review the valuation of biological assets.

CEAME N ERYEMEEGEETER



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

IV. OTHER INFORMATION

The management of Fengxiang (hereinafter as the “management”)
is responsible for the other information which comprises all the
information in the 2024 annual report of Fengxiang other than the
financial statements and this auditor’s report.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In conjunction with our audit to the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information when we can
obtain it. During the process, we considered whether there was
material inconsistency or there was likely material misstatement
between the other information and the financial statements or the
information we obtained during the audit.

If, based on the work we have performed on other information
obtained prior to the date of the audit report, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNING BODIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management shall be responsible for the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with the Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises to enable them to be fairly reflected and
to design, implement and maintain the necessary internal control
so that there is no material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, in the financial statements.

In the preparation of the financial statements, the management
is responsible for assessing Fengxiang's continuing operating
capacity, disclosing matters relating to continuing operations (if
applicable) and applying the continuing operating assumptions
unless the management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease its operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The governing bodies are responsible for overseeing the financial
reporting process of Fengxiang.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B2 EE R E (&)

. RESPONSIBILITIES OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTANTS FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit
report containing audit opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that audits carried out in
accordance with the audit standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements may be caused by
fraud or error and are generally considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users made on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also performed the following works:

(I) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error; design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

(II) Understand the internal control related to the audit to design
the appropriate audit procedures, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal control.

(Il Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the management.

(IV) Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the ability of Fengxiang to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the information available to us up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause Fengxiang to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

(V) Evaluate the overall presentation (including disclosures),
structure and content of the financial statements and to assess
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

(VI) Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence of the financial
information of the entities or business activities of Fengxiang
in order to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for directing, supervising and
performing group audits. We take full responsibility for the
audit opinion.

We communicated with the governing bodies regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during the audit.

We also provided a statement to the governing bodies on
compliance with ethical requirements related to independence and
communicated with them about all relationships and other matters
that may be reasonably considered to affect our independence, as
well as related precautions (if applicable).

From the matters we had discussed with the governing bodies, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless any law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about such matters or when, in tiny minority circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants LLP
Chinese Certified Public Accountant: Qiang Guiying
(Engagement Partner)

Chinese Certified Public Accountant: Jia Guangyu PEEMETH  EEF
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 5318 (R4S R4 - BB ARET)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Note V the period last year
Assets BE MaEa HREAEE FFEFRGBE
Current assets: REBEE:
Monetary funds EBEe H(—) 354,959,490.25 198,502,740.43
Settlement reserves HEEENS
Loans to banks and other financial FHES
institutions
Financial assets held for trading REMECRMEE (=) 2,477,721.15 293,000.00
Derivative financial assets METHMEE
Bills receivable e R &
Trade receivable JE U BR 3k (=) 327,026,990.42 272,666,325.70
Financing receivables FE W FIE R &
Prepayments T8+ IE (v)(m) 31,319,968.36 29,073,351.43
Premiums receivables FEUR B
Reinsurance accounts receivable FEU 5 IR BR 3R
Provision of cession receivable R nREREHES
Other receivables H b B YL (V)(#) 3,755,059.70 11,203,717.24
Financial assets held under resale BEARECREE
agreements
Inventories FE v1) (7%) 969,066,420.78 947,344,195.99
Contract assets aREE
Assets held for sale BEGEAE
Non-current assets due within one year —FANEHIERE
BE
Other current assets HihmeEh&E (i) (+) 41,598,485.33 60,494,402.98
Total current assets REBEESE 1,730,204,135.99  1,519,577,733.77
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

EHEERGER (A

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 A 318 (R4 554N 2B A ARET)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Note V the period last year
Assets BE MaEa HREAEE T FFRGE
Non-current assets: RBEE:
Disbursement of loans and advances BB M B
Debt investments ERRE
Other debt investments HihBEERE
Long-term receivables £ HA e W 3R
Long-term equity investments RHRERE i) (1) 46,293,129.65 54,609,735.36
Investment in other equity instruments HEmTEKRE
Other non-current financial assets HiERBEMmEE
Investment properties WE MR E
Fixed assets EE&E (IX) (1)  2,844,168,195.00  2,955,066,801.11
Construction in progress fERIR X)(+) 2,699,664.21 6,311,448.19
Productive biological assets SENEMEE Xi)(+—)  204,930,000.00 221,015,800.00
Oil and gas assets MR EE
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE Xi)(+=)  207,659,678.22 184,733,477.03
Intangible assets BPEE X (+=) 87,437,666.47 87,323,472.65
Development expenditures X H
Goodwill 7
Long-term deferred expenses RHFEER (XIV) (+9) 10,837,000.00 16,597,000.00
Deferred income tax assets RIEMBHEE XV)(+#) 64,563,635.54 2,396,928.75
Other non-current assets HEMIERBEE (XVI) (+75) 36,108,838.22 9,433,780.83
Total non-current assets kFRBEES 3,504,697,807.31  3,537,488,443.92
Total assets EEMA 5,234,901,943.30 5,057,066,177.69
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

EHEEREGER (A)

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 5318 (R4S R4 - BB ARET)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Note V the period last year
Liabilities and owners’ equity BENMEEER K a HREAEE FFEFRGBE
Current liabilities: REAE:
Short-term borrowings 5 HIE R xvii (+/1) 633,645,701.02 280,373,266.00
Borrowings from central bank M RBITER
Loans from banks and other wAE®
financial institutions
Financial liabilities held for trading RPpEcHEE
Derivative financial liabilities METRAE
Bills payable FE E R
Trade payable FEBR R (XIX) (+71) 399,453,303.68 380,727,251.84
Advances from customers TEUR SRR
Contract liabilities ERBE xXx) (=) 23,608,417.12 41,851,607.26
Financial assets sold under repurchase EHENESREER
agreements
Absorption of deposits and interbank W Wy 17 3R K (R 377
deposit
Client money received for acting REBEEZBHFK
as securities trading agent
Client money received for acting RIBAEFELER
as securities underwriter
Payroll payable FE < B8 T % XX)(=+—)  111,593,922.85 76,483,233.50
Taxes payable EZXH B XX (=+=) 10,820,390.45 9,469,775.19
Other payables H P& 5 3R XXl (=+=) 142,816,372.10 311,885,930.94
Handle fee and commission payable ERNFEERAS
Reinsurance accounts payable JEF D R ER R
Liabilities held for sale FAERERE

Non-current liabilities due within one year

—F RN IERD
B

(XXIV)(=+/m)  186,806,811.11

165,859,675.20

Other current liabilities HithmEhaE XXV)(=+7) 11,686,120.91 225,515,440.17
Total current liabilities FEBEEE 1,520,431,039.24  1,492,166,180.10
Non-current liabilities: FREBEME:

Reserve for insurance contracts RecREES

Long-term borrowings EHIER XXVI) (=Z+7%)  159,950,000.00 319,970,000.00

Bonds payable e EFH

Including: Preferred shares Hrp - Exk

Perpetual bonds KB E

Lease liabilities HEAE XXvil)(Z++) 203,550,003.46 187,779,655.98

Long-term payables & HIFE 15 3R (XXVIII)

(Z+/U 25,681,131.01 6,010,512.43

Long-term payroll payables = HA FE 1< B8 T % B

Estimated liabilities ‘i AaE XXIX) (= + ) 746,197.22 41,052.08

Deferred income R IE W = (XXX)(=+) 17,256,128.42 19,006,106.48

Deferred income tax liabilities REFEH AR XV)(+2) 847,939.26 196,941.02

Other non-current liabilities HtIERBER
Total non-current liabilities kRBEESE 408,031,399.37 533,004,267.99
Total liabilities BEa5 1,928,462,438.61  2,025,170,448.09
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)

EHEEEGER (B

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 A 318 (R4 554N 2B A ARET)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Note V the period last year
Liabilities and owners’ equity BENMEEER K a HREAEE FFEFRGBE
Owners’ equity: FEEER:
Share capital [N (XXXI) (= +—) 1,583,348,000.00 1,582,618,000.00
Other equity instruments Hihgm TH
Including: Preferred shares HepExR
Perpetual bonds KB E
Capital reserve BERRNIE (XXXII)
(Z=+=) 689,489,082.02 697,794,677.72
Less: treasury shares o R (XXXII)
(Z=+=) 19,859,452.99 21,315,465.58
Other comprehensive income H b ir & W (XXXIV)
(=+m) -926,064.45 -722,580.47
Special reserves HIRFE
Surplus reserves B NE (XXXV)
(=+5h) 174,085,722.37 155,377,605.51
General risk reserves — R E
Undistributed profits Ao B AE (XXXVI)
(=+7) 880,302,217.74 618,143,492.42
Total equity attributable to owners GENEARMBE
of the Company EmaEr 3,306,439,504.69  3,031,895,729.60
Minority interests DEIR R E =
Total owners’ equity FEEERE 3,306,439,504.69  3,031,895,729.60
Total liabilities and owners’ equity EENMEEERES 5,234,901,943.30 5,057,066,177.69

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Person-in-charge of the Company:
Zhu Lingjie

Chief Accountant:
Shi Lei

Head of the Accounting Department:
Shen Sanxing

BT EBREMELSTBRENAKLS -
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Balance Sheet of the Company

BAREEERR

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 12 531 8 (B4 57840 - BB BAREIT)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Note XVIII the period last year
Assets BE e+ N HREAEE FFEFRGBE
Current assets: REEE:
Monetary funds EEEe 76,083,562.46 60,897,435.15
Financial assets held for trading THEEREE 1,521,854.07 293,000.00
Derivative financial assets MTESREE
Bills receivable JE UL S 3R (=) 11,000,000.00
Trade receivable FE U BR 3R (=) 1,058,067,360.55 1,037,871,892.10
Financing receivables FEW R IE L&
Prepayments B A 13,698,827.70 15,911,810.57
Other receivables H At & K (=) 96,795.58 8,277,106.96
Inventories 7E 376,745,202.42 379,578,657.76
Contract assets EREE
Assets held for sale BEGEEE
Non-current assets due within one year —F A HIERE
Other current assets HEfRB & E
Total current assets REBEES 1,537,213,602.78  1,502,829,902.54
Non-current assets: ERBEE:
Debt investments BEERE
Other debt investments HfEREIRE
Long-term receivables = HA e U 5k
Long-term equity investments RERERE (Iv)(m) 1,190,072,488.74  1,197,212,150.62
Investment in other equity instruments HihEmTERE

Other non-current financial assets
Investment properties

HMERBEmEE

REEFEME

Fixed assets EEE 1,607,342,634.04  1,724,453,649.35

Construction in progress TEREIR 2,280,898.05 202,247.30

Productive biological assets SEMEEMEE 176,599,700.00 206,316,500.00

Oil and gas assets MREE

Right-of-use assets FREEE 165,967,139.71 170,157,228.09

Intangible assets mEE 32,410,079.70 30,989,098.32

Development expenditures 2% S

Goodwill [EES

Long-term deferred expenses REGHER 10,837,000.00 16,597,000.00

Deferred income tax assets BIEFMSHEE 2,848,447.41 2,287,774.07

Other non-current assets EMIEREBEE 3,222,774.47 1,230,666.00
Total non-current assets kRBEEST 3,191,581,162.12  3,349,446,313.75
Total assets EEHAG 4,728,794,764.90  4,852,276,216.29
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Balance Sheet of the Company (Continued)

BRAREERERER(H)

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 A 318 (R4 554N 2B A ARET)

Balance at Balance at

the end of the end of

Notes the period last year

Liabilities and owners’ equity BENMEEER K it HREAEE T FFRGE

Current liabilities: REAE:
Short-term borrowings G HIfE X 542,594,588.00 280,373,266.00
Financial liabilities held for trading Rt BmEE
Derivative financial liabilities MEe@Mas
Bills payable JE E 5B
Trade payable FEBR 3R 192,115,792.76 242,654,734.82
Advances from customers 78 U 308
Contract liabilities aRAaE 514,510.81 521,193.29
Payroll payable &~ B T %5 B 44,624,099.00 24,415,818.94
Taxes payable BT E 3,555,122.56 3,608,933.31
Other payable H b FE TN 53,355,482.99 260,952,237.31
Liabilities held for sale BEGTEERE
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FAEEHERE
AafE 177,136,093.42 162,563,730.22
Other current liabilities HEfrEhasd 10,304,503.81 210,107,950.57
Total current liabilities RBEEET 1,024,200,193.35 1,185,197,864.46
Non-current liabilities: ERBEE:
Long-term borrowings EHIER 159,950,000.00 319,970,000.00
Bonds payable ERHES
Including: Preferred shares Ho @R
Perpetual bonds KB &
Lease liabilities HEBE 174,858,586.38 176,845,276.14
Long-term payables & HAFE 5 3R 20,003,262.05
Long-term payroll payables £ B JE B8 T 357 B
Estimated liabilities it A&
Deferred income IR E WY 2 16,505,087.09 17,947,025.15
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFESHAE
Other non-current liabilities HiFERBEE
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEF 371,316,935.52  514,762,301.29
Total liabilities aEEE 1,395,517,128.87  1,699,960,165.75
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Balance Sheet of the Company (Continued)

BAREEEGR(E)

31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024412 5318 (R4S R4 - BB ARET)

Balance at Balance at
the end of the end of
Notes the period last year
Liabilities and owners’ equity BENMEEER Kt it HREAEE FFEFRGBE
Owners’ equity: FEEER:
Share capital & A 1,583,348,000.00 1,582,618,000.00
Other equity instruments Hihigm T H
Including: Preferred shares Ho @R
Perpetual bonds KAE &
Capital reserve BERRNIE 689,093,171.07 697,398,766.77
Less: treasury shares B R TE R 19,859,452.99 21,315,465.58
Other comprehensive income Hivfr e W=
Special reserves HIEHE
Surplus reserves Pty /N 178,279,916.73 159,571,799.87

Undistributed profits

Ao B HE

902,416,001.22

734,042,949.48

Total owners’ equity

FEERESF

3,333,277,636.03

3,152,316,050.54

Total liabilities and owners’ equity

BENAAEERSA

4,728,794,764.90

4,852,276,216.29

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Person-in-charge of the Company:
Zhu Lingjie

Chief Accountant:
Shi Lei

Head of the Accounting Department:

Shen Sanxing
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Consolidated Income Statement

Aﬁ?ﬂﬁ%

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 € (45 555 8RS - @ EMHAARE T
Amount of Amount of
Note V the current period the previous period
EH ipiaiy rHLE ik
|. Total operating revenue — BEERA 5,504,651,337.10 5,134,413,089.58
Including: Operating revenue CEERA XXXV (= ++) 5,504,651,337.10 5,134,413,089.58
Interest income FEMA
Premiums earned ERRE
Handle fee and commission income FEERMBRUA
Il. Total operating costs T BEBRA 5,252,593,699.41 4,961,345,122.93
Including: Operating costs A HERA oxvi(=++) 4,844,552,688.12 4,542,948,700.10
Interest expenses MEZH
Handle fee and commission expense FEERMET L
Surrender value BRe
Net amount of compensation payout BRTHEE
Net amount withdrawn for insurance liability RORBREAEELFE
reserves
Commissions on insurance policies REAFI
Cession charges ARER
Taxes and charges He RMm oxvin) (= +1) 35,565,953.43 35,835,395.18
Selling expenses HEER OXIX) (=111 163,969,332.68 156,267,671.50
Administrative expenses EEER XL)(m+) 130,749,785.11 100,603,868.48
R&D expenses HEER XL +=) 25,622,936.18 22,708,127.44
Finance costs H%ER XL(m+=) 52,133,003.89 102,981,360.23
Including: Interest expenses 2o FIEEBA XL (m+=) 62,841,191.66 91,163,646.84
Interest income FlEKA xun(m+=) 5,922,965.00 6,171,284.58
Add: Other income m: Efpla KL +=) 3,758,804.24 6,697,839.32
Investment income (loss to be inserted with “-") RAEKE (BERU-]5
$£31) (XLIV) (9 115) -6,687,000.03 -5,231,774.65
Including: Income on investments in associates and Ao #BetEneg
joint ventures rENRENR XLv)(m+m) -6,124,189.39 -5,231,499.28
Income from derecognition of financial SABBRRAREEH)
assets measured at amortised cost SREERIBRNE
Exchange gain (loss to be inserted with “-") B s (BRI =578 5)
Income from net exposure hedging (loss to be inserted FHAE Y& BRI-15%
with ") $31)
Gains from the changes in fair value (loss to be RABEEHKE (BRMUI-]
inserted with “-") $IE5) XLV) (1 +7) -10,482,907.63 2,869,030.48
Credit impairment loss (loss to be inserted with “~") ERAEBX (BRUI-I5H
£31)) XLV)(BF75) 47,709,888.83 -5,425,713.57
Asset impairment loss (loss to be inserted with ") BERBEBRR(BEUI-15%
$£31) XLVIN (B ++) -19,651,760.06 -2,191,274.23
Gains on disposal of assets (loss to be inserted with “-") BERE W (BRIU-I5%
£311) v (m+1) 9,874.15 248,471.07
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Consolidated Income Statement (Continued)

B fF A = (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 £ (45 555835 - £ EMH A ARET)
Amount of Amount of
Note V the current period the previous period
Items EH ipiaiy rHLE ik
Ill. Operating profit (loss to be inserted with “-") = BEFBERU-IRES) 266,714,537.19 170,034,545.07
Add: non-operating income m: EEMEA XLX) (BB +71) 1,814,901.81 1,364,553.28
Less: non-operating expenses B BENTE L(ET) 10,313,463.01 7,454 44571
IV Total profits (total loss to be inserted with =) W FERE (BREEU-]57E) 258,215,975.99 163,944,652.64
Less: income tax expenses W EHER L)(E+-) -22,650,866.19 3,626,052.83
V. Net profit (net loss to be inserted with *~") e FHBOFERM-IRES) 280,866,842.18 160,318,599.81
(1) Breakdown by continuity of operations (—) BEeBENENE
1. Net profit from continuing operations (net loss to be 1. HECRFHE(FERMN
inserted with *-") [-]5fE51) 280,866,842.18 160,318,599.81
2. Net profit from discontinued operations (net loss to be 2. RIEEEFFIBOFBEN
inserted with *-") [-15%51)
(1) Breakdown by attributable interests (D) RFEERENE
1. Net profit attributable to the shareholders of the 1. GEREDARENFFA
Company (net loss to be inserted with “-") (FBBEMUI-]5ES) 280,366,842.18 160,318,599.81
2. Profit or loss attributable to minority interests 2. VEREBR(FHELN
(netloss to be inserted with “~") [-J5E5)
VI, Net other comprehensive income after tax N EEANENREFE -203,483.98 -48,845.21
Net other comprehensive income attributable to the %Eﬂ AfEENANES
shareholders of the Company after tax WHERT%FE -203,483.98 -48,845.21
(I) Other comprehensive income that cannot be (= ) FENBRBRNEMD
reclassified into profit or loss ala
1. Changes arising from remeasurement of defined 1. E%ﬁ FEREX@EE
benefit plan FIES
2. Other comprehensive income that cannot be 2 BEai T ERRENEM
reclassified into profit or loss under the equity Al
method
3. Change in fair value of investment in other equity JHEMERTARARAERE
instruments 29
4. Change in fair value of corporate credit risks 4 REBHERARRABE
23
(1) Other comprehensive income that can be reclassified (D) BESNRERRNEMES
into profit or loss Wi -203,483.98 -48,845.21
1. Other comprehensive income to be reclassified into 1 B TABREMAN
profit or loss under the equity method FelE
2. Change in fair value of other debt investments 2 EHERREAREEED
3. Amount of financial assets to be reclassified into 3 % mﬂ EEENRG; AL
other comprehensive income BlaENeE
4. Creditimpairment provision for other debt 4.3 ‘rM EREGRABEER
investments
5. Cash flow hedging reserve 5 RenEEHREE
6. Exchange differences on translation of foreign b NEHBRANEZEE
currency financial statements -203,483.98 -48,845.21

7. Others
Net other comprehensive income attributable to minority
interests after tax

7. Bft
RERVERRANEBES WED
REFE
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Consolidated Income Statement (Continued)

& fEAE = (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 £ (45 B35 835N - £ EM I A ARET)

Amount of Amount of
Note V the current period the previous period
Items EH ipiaiy rHLE ik
VII. Total comprehensive income T BAkGEE 280,663,358.20 160,269,754.60
Total comprehensive income attributable to the GENEARNMEERNGRA IR
shareholders of the Company k] 280,663,358.20 160,269,754.60
Total comprehensive income attributable to minority FERVERANGANEAE
interests
VIII. Earnings per share: N BRikE
() Basic earnings per share (RMB per Share) (=) BERERME (/) L(zE+=) 0.18 0.11
(Il) Diluted earnings per share (RMB per Share) (Z) BESHRRE t/Hk) Ln(E+=) 0.18 0.11
Person-in-charge of the Company: ARIBAFA:
Zhu Lingjie KER
Chief Accountant: FTEGTIEEEA:
Shi Lei A&
Head of the Accounting Department: BRMEBEEA:
Shen Sanxing L=HE
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Income Statement of the Company

SEYNETRPEES

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 £ (45 555835 - £ EMH A ARET)
Amount of Amount of
Note XVIll the current period the previous period

Items EH H#+N rHEH LHeE

|. Operating revenue — EHEHA W)(&) 3,417,219,710.62 3,451,604,515.08
Less: Operating costs e EERAK W)(&) 3,047,818,330.67 3,303,138,795.55

Taxes and charges e Rbm 14,360,072.61 15,978,934.39
Selling expenses HEER 4,539,122.82 4,085,132.66
Administrative expenses EEER 70,283,075.80 58,797,123.09
R&D expenses Mg 5,010,307.33 5,043,819.60
Finance costs BEER 74,940,975.50 89,243,434.44
Including: Interest expenses Ed: FEER 59,761,278.76 83,710,826.07
Interest income FIEBMA 580,171.48 2,945,228.05
Add: Other gains m: Eils 2,188,490.90 5414,671.74
Investment income (loss to be inserted with “=") RE W (BRMUI-15F
1) V) () -6,687,000.03 -5,231,774.65
Including: Income on investments in associates and joint E o HBECERNEE
ventures CENRE KR -6,124,189.39 -5,231,499.28
Income from derecognition of financial assets ISR ARG 20
measured at amortised cost SREERILER
K&
Income from net exposure hedging (loss to be inserted FHOEBRE(BR
with ') (-5 E310)
Gains from the changes in fair value (loss to be inserted DR EEEENE (BEUN
with =) [-1583) -25,185,522.48 24.676,815.78
Credit impairment loss (loss to be inserted with “~") GERREBX(BRU-I%
B 26,121,284.60 -4537,942.26
Asset impairment loss (loss to be inserted with *=") BERERKBRU-IH
1851) -4,867,360.96 -320,457.97
Gains on disposal of assets (10ss to be inserted with *-") BERE WA BRU-I%
231)

II. Operating profit (loss to be inserted with *-") Z EETB(ERUI-I5ES) 191,837,717.92 -4,681,412.01
Add: non-operating income meEEMIA 320,043.38 914,914.98
Less: non-operating expenses W EEMT 5,637,266.04 2,631,424.25

Ill. Total profits (total loss to be inserted with ") = FIBaE(ERaBI-]FET) 186,520,495.26 -6,397,921.28
Less: income tax expenses B Pﬁ GHER -560,673.34 -507,594.35

IV. Net profit (net loss to be inserted with “") M- EFREF BB -] RET) 187,081,168.60 -5,890,326.93
(1) Net profit from continuing operations (net loss to be inserted () BEOZEFIBOEHEMN

with “=") (-5 E51) 187,081,168.60 -5,890,326.93

() Net profit from discontinued operations (net loss to be
inserted with ")

(Z) RIEREFFE(FBBEN
(-5 E5])
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Income Statement of the Company (Continued)

& 4 8 X E & (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 £ (45 B35 835N - £ EM I A ARET)

Amount of Amount of
Note XVIll the current period the previous period
Items EH H#+N THEH LTHeE
V. Net other comprehensive income after tax e At ANENRETE
(1) Other comprehensive income that cannot be reclassified (—) FEELBEBRNEM
into profit or loss el
1. Changes arising from remeasurement of defined benefit 1. BN ERER B8
plan 298
2. Other comprehensive income that cannot be reclassified 2 EEATAREBRER
into profit or loss under the equity method Azl
3. Change in fair value of investment in other equity EMBERTARERR
instruments EEEY
4. Change in fair value of corporate credit risks 4 PEESERERAR
EEZY
(1) Other comprehensive income that can be reclassified into (D) BEARERRNEM
profit o loss Al
1. Other comprehensive income to be reclassified into 1. BRETIEEEMNER
profit or loss under the equity method FEWE
2. Change in fair value of other debt investments 2 EERRENLBE
g
3. Amount of financial assets to be reclassified into other 3 ERBEEENEITALM
comprehensive income GRNENSE
4. Credit impairment provision for other debt investments 4 EMBEEREGRRE
B
5. Cash flow hedging reserve 5 ReneEMRE
6. Exchange differences on translation of foreign currency 6. NEHBRRNEES
financial statements
7. Others 7. Hf
V1. Total comprehensive income N RANGEE 187,081,168.60 -5,890,326.93
VII. Eamning per share: t Bhla:
() Basic earning per share (RMB per Share) (=) EXERME(T/R)
(I1) Diluted earning per share (RMB per Share) (Z) BESKUE(T/])

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Person-in-charge of the Company:
Zhu Lingjie

Chief Accountant:
Shi Lei

Head of the Accounting Department:
Shen Sanxing

BRI EBREMELST B RENAKILD
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

EOHRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(BR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)

Amount of Amount of
Note V the current period the previous period
Items EH ipiai rHEE LHeE
I. Cash flows from operating activities - BETBELNBRERE
Cash received from sales of goods and rendering of services HERM RESBUINERS 5,805,932,399.86 5,401,453,135.91
Net increase in customer deposits and interbank deposits RPRERNREERTE
FENE
Net increase in borrowings from central bank MR RBTETFEMNE
Net increase in placement from other financial institutions MEMEREERAER
FENE
Cash received from premiums of original insurance contracts WHRRBERRERENES
Net cash received from reinsurance business WHBREBRSFE
Net increase in insured’s deposits and investments REBERBAFFEME
Cash received from interests, fees and commissions KIHE FEERA2NRS
Net increase in loans from banks and other financial institutions RAESFEME
Net increase of repurchased business capital EEEBESFEMNE
Net cash received from agent sales of securities REEEZFUINEAL TR
Tax refunds received YEMHERE 114,111,787.79 91,576,822.73
Cash received from other operating activities WEHERBEREHERNEE (LN(ELZ) 67,698,357.81 53,278,151.38
Sub-total of cash inflows from operating activities BEZHRLRANG 5,987,742,545.46 5,546,308,110.02
Cash paid for goods purchased and services received BEER BXAKIAMRS 4,533,894,130.47 4,406,640,283.68
Net increase of customer loans and advances EPERRBIFENE
Net increase of deposits in central bank and interbank FHARRINAEFE
FENE
Cash paid for claim settlements on original insurance contracts XARRRAFAENHENR &
Net increase in loans to banks and other financial institutions FHESFEME
Cash paid for interests, fees and commissions RS FEERBEMHS
Cash paid for policy dividends IRREAFNAS
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees SHRBIARARI M
Re 619,943,112.10 627,455,872.33
Cash paid for taxes INHEERE 83,807,043.13 47,857,610.03
Cash paid for other operating activities THEMELEEYERNRE  (L(ELZ) 140,342,181.20 112,364,468.49
Sub-total of cash outflows from operating activities BEZHR LR 5,377,986,466.90 5,194,318,234.53
Net cash flows generated from operating activities BETHELNBLRERE 609,756,078.56 351,989,875.49
IIl. ~ Cash flows from investing activities Z RETBELANBESRE
Cash received from disposal of investments WERERENES
Cash received from gains on investments REREREKRINE £
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible REETEE EVAENEM
assets and other long-term assets RHEENEMNR S FE 2,400,258.43 5,076,138.85
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and other BETRARAREMEEBEMME
business units NRLFE
Cash received from other investing activities WHERERAEFHEHNES  (L(EL=) 82,274,488.68
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing activities RERHREAN G 84,674,747.11 5,076,138.85
Cash paid to acquire and construct fixed assets, intangible BEETEE EFAEANHM
assets and other long-term assets RPEELRNES 192,380,977.19 241,638,605.40
Cash paid for investments REZNHRS
Netincrease in pledge loans EREFFENE
Net cash paid to acquire subsidiaries and other business REFRAARAMEFEMTH
units MREFE
Cash paid for other investing activities SREMEREEYERNRSE  (L)(ESZ) 28,799,800.00 6,773,765.03
Sub-total of cash outflows from investing activities REEBHR MLt 221,180,777.19 248,412,370.43
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(fR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow (Continued)

EHRERER(B)

Amount of Amount of
Note V the current period the previous period
Items EH ipiai THEH LTHeE
Net cash flows from investing activities REFHELNEEREFE -136,506,030.08 -243,336,231.58
. Cash flows from financing activities = BEEHELNRLRE
Cash from absorption of investments RURERE MRS 731,048.00 252,851,086.99
Including: Cash received by subsidiaries from investment Ao FRARKSPBERERE
by minority shareholders Dbk
Cash received from borrowings REEZRKINES 972,490,065.28 900,000,000.00
Cash received from other financing activities WHEREEAEHERNES (LN(E1 =) 36,000,000.00 842,782,319.91
Sub-total of cash inflows from financing activities EEEHREANNG 1,009,221,113.28 1,995,633,406.90
Cash paid for debts repayments EERBEZNNRL 791,030,000.00 1,635,864,000.00
Cash paid for distribution of dividends and profits or payment 2 ELRRF| - M E S & (T H 8
of interest ihikea 43,288,819.79 47,687,008.72
Including: Dividends and profits paid to minority shareholders ~ E# : FRARAT[HADHREM
by subsidiaries TRl A
Cash paid for other financing activities TREMEEEEYERNRE  L(ELZ) 523,399,715.05 369,841,357.66
Sub-total of cash outflows from financing activities EEEHREAL NG 1,357,718,534.84 2,053,392,366.38
Net cash flows from financing activities EETHELNBERERE -348,497,421.56 -57,758,959.48
IV. Effect of fluctuation in exchange rate on cashand cash 1}~ ERZHURERBLLEYH
equivalents ye 15,141,289.55 -5,698,840.57
V. Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents I BeRBLSENFENE 139,893,916.47 45,195,843.86
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period m:BNRekRLEZENHE 189,928,649.77 144,732,805.91
VI Cash and cash equivalents at end of period A BRASGRASEENGE 329,822,566.24 189,928,649.77

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

statements.

Person-in-charge of the Company:
Zhu Lingjie

Chief Accountant:
Shi Lei

Head of the Accounting Department:
Shen Sanxing
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Cash Flow Statement of the Company

BAREHEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 £ (45 555835 - £ EMH A ARET)
Amount of Amount of
Notes the current period the previous period
Items BEH iz rHEHE LHeE
. Cash flows from operating activities - BETBELMBESRE
Cash received from sales of goods and rendering of services HEEM RESBUINES 3,361,761,481.41 3,062,705,301.28
Tax refunds received WERRERE
Cash received from other operating activities YHEpELREHERNRE 46,100,358.77 159,542,962.30
Sub-total of cash inflows from operating activities BEEHTEMANG 3,407,861,840.18 3,222,248,263.58
Cash paid for goods purchased and services received BERR BER4BIANRL 2,750,023,853.34 3,066,184,531.34
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees SHRBRINRARI I
B 155,568,612.89 154,218,423.91
Cash paid for taxes INRMEERE 15,110,846.85 17,768,554.93
Cash paid for other operating activities IREMECEEHEENES 45,623,141.30 155,318,293.78
Sub-total of cash outflows from operating activities LeEBRL RN 2,966,326,454.38 3,393,489,803.96
Net cash flows generated from operating activities BETHELENBLRETFE 441,535,385.80 -171,241,540.38
IIl. ~ Cash flows from investing activities Z REEHELNRLRE
Cash received from disposal of investments L|5Z BRERENES
Cash received from gains on investments BREKRKINR:
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible ﬁ EETEE ENVAEANHM
assets and other long-term assets REEENEMNESFE 1,084,175.63 4,506,620.85
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and other BREFAARAMEFEMKE
business units NREFE
Cash received from other investing activities YHERERERDEBENRS 36,339,861.83
Sub-total of cash inflows from investing activities RERHRE AN 37,424,037.46 4,506,620.85
Cash paid to acquire and construct fixed assets, intangible BEETEE EVAEANHfM
assets and other long-term assets REEETRNAE 63,363,885.50 151,631,534.81
Cash paid for investments & SE HHEe
Net cash paid to acquire subsidiaries and other business REFRAARAMEFEMTH
units E’\] ReRE
Cash paid for other investing activities INEMEREEDERNTE S 4,000,000.00 4,945,146.02
Sub-total of cash outflows from investing activities REZHR RN 67,363,885.50 156,576,680.83
Net cash flows from investing activities REZHELNBERERE -29,939,848.04 -152,070,059.98
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Cash Flow Statement of the Company (Continued)
BARRERER (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(fR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)

Amount of Amount of

Notes the current period the previous period

Items BEH iz rHeE LHeE

Il Cash flows from financing activities = BEEHELNRLRE

Cash from absorption of investments RURERE MRS 731,048.00 252,851,086.99

Cash received from borrowings BEERUEINE S 811,932,152.78 1,088,280,166.64

Cash received from other financing activities YHEREEEEDERNRE 35,000,000.00 734,610,121.76

Sub-total of cash inflows from financing activities EEEHREMANG 847,663,200.78 2,075,741,375.39

Cash paid for debts repayments EEEBEIANES 710,030,000.00 1,375,864,000.00
Cash paid for distribution of dividends and profits or payment ARBF - FEREFF XA

of interest ighika 41,410,264.23 41,898,572.66

Cash paid for other financing activities TREMEEEZHEENES 487,466,401.09 322,294,058.18

Sub-total of cash outflows from financing activities ZEZYTe MM 1,238,906,665.32 1,740,056,630.84

Net cash flows from financing activities EETHELNBERETE -301,243,464.54 335,684,744.55
IV. Effect of fluctuation in exchange rate on cashand cash 11+ ERZHUBERBEEENN

equivalents ye 153,042.69 3,110.224.76

V. Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents T BEREESENIENE 20,505,115.91 15,483,368.95

Add: Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period m:BOREEAESENRE 54,528,043.70 39,044,674.75

VI. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period A BRRERBESEENGE 75,033,159.61 54,528,043.70

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
statements.

Person-in-charge of the Company:
Zhu Lingjie

Chief Accountant:
Shi Lei

Head of the Accounting Department:
Shen Sanxing
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity (Continued)

EHFREREZE R (A)

BHARETT)

RIFERRSN ©RREM

=

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024 F E(Bx
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(BR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity (Continued)
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EHFREREZE R (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(fR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity (Continued)
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Changes in Owners’ Equity Statement of the Company

NEfIREREEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 2024 F E(Bx
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Changes in Owners’ Equity Statement of the Company (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) 20244 [E(fR 45 B 5T 8RS BB H A A REIT)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024

O HFEMBHRRHE

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (F& % Bl #7874

BASIC INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(I) Company Profile

Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as the
“Company” or “the Company”) was approved by Liaocheng
Administrative Examination and Approval Service Bureau
in December 2010, and it was a joint stock company jointly
established by GMK Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (3 Bl #f 5 i%
£ E B R & £ 2 7)) and Shandong Fengxiang Investment
Co., Ltd. (lh R Bl # % & B [R 2 A]). The Company's
Enterprise Legal Person Business License registration number
is 91371500723866545F. The Company was listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in July 2020, which is classified
as livestock breeding industry.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of share capital
issued by the Company was 1,583,348,000 shares, and the
registered capital was RMB1,583,348,000. The registered
office is located at Liumiao Village, Anle Town, Yanggu
County, Shandong Province. The headquarter is located
at Liumiao Village, Anle Town, Yanggu County, Shandong
Province. The principal businesses of the Company are: the
sale of animal feeds for animal husbandry and fishery, the
sale of agricultural by-products, the sale of fertilisers, technical
service, technology development, technical consultation,
technical exchanges, technology transfer and technology
promotion; planting of herbs used in Chinese medicine;
purchase and sale of locally produced Chinese herbal
medicine (excluding slices of prepared Chinese medicine);
and convention and exhibition services. Approved items for
operation: poultry breeding; slaughtering; breeding stock and
breeding poultry production and operation; food production
and operation; online food sales; food purchase; animal feed
production; veterinary drug operation; fertiliser production;
innocuous treatment of animals; food import and export; goods
import and export; technology import and export; import and
export agency.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

I. BASIC INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY — DAEERER(H)
(CONTINUED)

(I) Company Profile (Continued) (=) DEBR (&)

GMK Holdings Group Co., Ltd., Shandong Fengxiang
Investment Co., Ltd. and Shandong Fengxiang (Group) Co.,
Ltd. are former controlling shareholders of the Company. On
16 October 2022, Falcon Holding LP obtained 70.92% of the
Company’s equity held by GMK Holdings Group Co., Ltd.,
Shandong Fengxiang Investment Co., Ltd. and Shandong
Fengxiang (Group) Co., Ltd. through judicial auctions. The
completion of registration of transfer at China Securities
Depository and Clearing Co., Ltd. took place on 20 December
2022 and the equity transfer was officially completed. The new
controlling shareholder of the Company is Falcon Holding LP.
In February 2023, the new controlling shareholder completed
the tender offer, increasing its shareholding to 86.48%. In
September 2023, the Company completed the issuance of new
H shares under specific mandate with an additional share capital
of 182,618,000 shares. After the completion of the issuance, the
registered capital of the Company is RMB1,582,618,000, with
the controlling shareholder holding 76.5%. In September 2023
and October 2023, the controlling shareholder sold 33,042,000
H shares and 47,478,000 H shares respectively, and thus the
controlling shareholder's shareholding was 71.41% after the
completion of the reduction. In July 2024, the Company issued
730,000 new H shares. Upon the issuance, the registered
capital of the Company was RMB1,583,348,000 with the
controlling shareholder holding 71.38%.

The de facto controller of the Company is Pacific Alliance
Group (PAG, registered in the Cayman Islands). The financial
statements were approved and issued by the Board of the
Company on 28 March 2025.

MBHEEREEEREA AR IWRBER
BERAR LRBEHF(EB)BRETRA
AR DA RERAR R 20226108168 -
Falcon Holding LPif i 7])% i1 2 & 13 51 Bl 1
TREBBEREETAR  LRBHEERR
AR LEBEF(EE)BEREFAAAFEEN
N A B 70.92% B% #E - 20224F 12 420 H 7E AL
TEHREBHFECEEARETRAANE
HBE BREEXNTKARE - AR AHHIE
fi% A% 3 A& Falcon Holding LP ' 202342 A -
IR R ER B AU - 15 0% 5 0 35 A0
%86.48% ° 2023F 9 A+ A & 7E AL 1R I 4 B
PR AT ITHAR - 18 8% Ik Z5182,618,000 A%
WESEAK %R - QA& K A158,261.80%
TLc PR IR R R L 5] 576.5% 2023 4F 9
A 2023F 108 - R E D B B EHE
33,042,000 f% - 47,478,000 % @ & #F 5T AKX &
PERR B R A AR L B 5 71.41% © 20247 B
A A B 1T FHTHPL 730,000 A% - 1 2% 15 N 7] s R
& N /158,334.80 & 7T ¢ 2 B AR B 45 AR L
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Il. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL T MBRRNERER
STATEMENTS

() Basis of preparation (- R ER

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with
the Accounting Standard for Business Enterprises issued by
the Ministry of Finance and respective specific accounting
standards, application guidelines for accounting standards for
business enterprises, interpretation for accounting standards
for business enterprises, and other relevant regulations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises”). In addition, the financial statements
also comply with the disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and the applicable disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

() Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Notes to specific accounting policies and accounting estimates:

The following disclosures cover the specific accounting policies
and accounting estimates formulated by the Company according to
the characteristics of its production and operation. Please refer to
Note “Ill. (XI) Inventories”, “Ill. (XVII) Biological assets” and Note “llI.
(XXV) Revenue”.

() Declaration on compliance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises

The financial statements comply with the requirements of the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises issued by
the Ministry of Finance, and truthfully and completely reflect
the consolidated and the Company’s financial position as at
31 December 2024 and the consolidated and the Company’s
results of operations and cashflows for the year ended 31
December 2024.
(II) Accounting period

The accounting year is from 1 January to 31 December of the
calendar year.

(Ill) Business cycle
The Company'’s business cycle is 12 months.
(IV) Functional currency

The Company adopts RMB as its functional currency.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(R)E—ZFTMER—ZHTEESHH

(V) Accounting treatment of business combinations

under common control and not under common
control

Business combinations under common control: The assets and
liabilities acquired by acquirer through business combination
shall be measured at the carrying value of the assets, liabilities
(including goodwill arising from the acquisition of the acquiree
by controlling party) of the acquiree in the consolidated
financial statements of the ultimate controlling party at the
date of combination. The difference between the carrying
amount of the net assets obtained and the carrying amount
of the consideration paid for the combination (or total nominal
value of the issued shares) is adjusted to capital premium in
capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb
the difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained
earnings.

Business combinations not under common control: The cost
of combination is the assets paid, the liabilities incurred or
committed and fair value of the equity securities issued by
the acquirer for acquisition of control over the acquiree on the
date of acquisition. Where the cost of combination is higher
than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired from
the acquiree in business combination, such difference shall be
recognised as goodwill; where the cost of combination is less
than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired from
the acquiree in business combination, such difference shall
be charged to current profit or loss. Each of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree,
which are acquired in the combination and meet the criteria
for recognition, shall be measured at fair value on the date of
acquisition.

The direct relevant expenses incurred for the business
combinations are recognised as the profit or loss in the
period when the costs are incurred; the transaction costs for
the equity securities or debt securities issued for business
combination shall be recognised as the initial recognition
amount of equity securities or debt securities.

EEERE
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(V1) Preparation method of consolidated financial
statements

Judging criteria for control

The scope of consolidation of the consolidated financial
statements is determined on the basis of control, and the
scope of consolidation comprises the Company and all of
its subsidiaries. Control refers to the power of a company
over the investee, the rights to enjoy variable returns from
its involvement in relevant activities of the investee, and
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of its returns.

Consolidation procedures

When preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the Company considers the entire enterprise group as a
single accounting entity and presents the overall financial
position, operating results and cash flows of the enterprise
group based on the consistent accounting policies. The
impact of internal transactions between the Company
and its subsidiaries, and among its subsidiaries, shall be
offset. If internal transactions indicate impairment losses
on relevant assets, such losses shall be recognised in
full. Any inconsistent accounting policies and accounting
period adopted by a subsidiary will be subject to
necessary adjustments to align with those of the Company
when preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Owners’ equity, net profit or loss of the current period
and comprehensive income attributable to minority
shareholders of the current period of subsidiaries
are stated separately under owners’ equity in the
consolidated balance sheet, net profit in the consolidated
income statement and total comprehensive income
respectively. Loss of the current period assumed by
minority shareholders of a subsidiary in excess of minority
shareholders’ share of owners’ equity in that subsidiary
at the beginning of the period is offset against minority
interests.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESHBREREME(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(VI)Preparation method of consolidated financial (R)EHUMBERRNERS E(BE)
statements (Continued)

2. Consolidation procedures (Continued) 2 BOHERF (&)

(1) B I0F 2 E 225

(1) Addition of subsidiary or business

During the reporting period, if there is an addition of
subsidiary or business due to business combination
under common control, the operating results and
cash flow of the subsidiary or business combination
from the beginning of the period to the end of the
reporting period will be included in the consolidated
financial statements, and the amounts at the
beginning of the period in the consolidated financial
statements and relevant items in the comparative
statements will also be adjusted as if the reporting
entity after combination had been existing since the
control of the ultimate controlling party started.

Where control over the investee under common
control is obtained due to reasons such as increase
in investments, for equity investment held before the
control over the acquiree is obtained, profit or loss,
other comprehensive income and other changes in
net assets recognised from the later of the acquisition
of the original equity interest and the date when the
acquirer and the acquiree are placed under common
control until the date of combination are offset against
retained profit at the beginning of the period of the
comparative financial statements or profit or loss of
the period respectively.

During the reporting period, if there is an addition of
subsidiary or business due to business combination
not under common control, it shall be included, from
the date of purchase, in the consolidated financial
statements based on the fair value of each of the
identifiable assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities
determined on the date of purchase.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(V1) Preparation method of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

2. Consolidation procedures (Continued)

(1) Addition of subsidiary or business (Continued)

Where control over the investee not under common
control is obtained due to reasons such as increase
in investments, for the equity interest of the acquiree
held before the date of purchase, the Company
remeasures the equity interest at its fair value as at
the date of purchase, and any difference between the
fair value and its book value will be accounted for as
investment gains of the period. Other comprehensive
income that will be reclassified into losses and profits
and other changes in owners’ equity under equity
accounting with respect to the equity interest in
the acquiree held before the date of purchase are
transferred to investment gains of the period to which
the date of purchase belongs.

(2) Disposal of subsidiary

@ General treatment for disposal

When control over the investee is lost due to
the disposal of part of the equity investment or
other reasons, the Company re-measures the
remaining equity investment after the disposal
at fair value as at the date on which control is
lost. The difference between the sum of the
consideration received from equity disposal and
the fair value of the remaining equity interest
and the sum of the net assets of the subsidiary
proportionate to the original shareholding
accumulated from the date of purchase
or combination and goodwill is included in
investment gains of the period during which the
control is lost. Other comprehensive income that
will be reclassified into losses and profits and
other changes in owners’ equity under equity
accounting with respect to the equity investment
in the original subsidiary are transferred to
investment gains of the period during which the
control is lost.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESHBREREME(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(VI)Preparation method of consolidated financial (R)EHUMBERRNERS E(BE)
statements (Continued)

2. Consolidation procedures (Continued) 2- EHEF (&

(2) Disposal of subsidiary (Continued) 2) BEETA~al(#&)
 Stepwise disposal of subsidiary Q@ NFTREFRA

BRZARGIDTREH TR
AR EREEERKREH 2
M BEHTFTRAABREREDN
BB SRR R IA R
BHENFEUAT —RBHZRIE

In respect of stepwise disposal of equity
investment in a subsidiary through multiple
transactions until control is lost, if the terms,
conditions and economic effects of the
transactions of equity investment in the

subsidiary satisfy one or more of the following N BERAZZARHEIA

conditions, the transactions are normally R—EBTRS

accounted for as a package of transactions:

i. these transactions are entered into . EEXFIERBFHELEE
simultaneously or after considering the BTHRLEZENBERTE
effects of each other; STHY

ii. these transactions constitute a complete i. ELEXFIEESREEN—
commercial result as a whole; EHRBNEES

i. " BEXIMNBELERRARE
HEL—EZHHEE

iii. one transaction is conditional upon at least
one of the other transaction;

iv. one transaction is not economical on its own iv. " EHXZEBFEREILE
but is economical when considering together B B AE ﬁﬁ RHp—UE
with other transactions. B R AR B A

Where the transactions constitute a package EEXGBR—EBTFRHH

of transactions, the Company accounts for the BEEXZGIER—HEEFA

transactions as a transaction of disposal of a
subsidiary resulting in the loss of control; the
difference between the amount received each

A RAEFENRZETE
AARE: ERKENEZAE
—REEEREREREHE

time for disposal before control is lost and the WEBEZTARFEEMEDY
net assets of such subsidiary corresponding EZH &bt ﬁ7f BHmEPER
to the disposal of investment is recognised as REMERE W £ EERE

other comprehensive income in the consolidated
financial statements, and upon loss of control, is
transferred to profit or loss of the period during
which control is lost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(VI) Preparation method of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

2. Consolidation procedures (Continued)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Disposal of subsidiary (Continued)
@ Stepwise disposal of subsidiary (Continued)

Where the transactions do not constitute a
package of transactions, before the loss of
control, the transactions are accounted for based
on partial disposal of equity investment in a
subsidiary that does not involve loss of control;
when control is lost, they are accounted for using
the general method for disposal of subsidiaries.

Purchase of minority interests in subsidiary

For the difference between the long-term equity
investment newly acquired due to the purchase of
minority interests and the share of net assets of the
subsidiary that the Company is entitled to calculated
according to the new shareholding accumulated from
the date of purchase or date of combination, share
premium of the capital reserve in the consolidated
balance sheet will be adjusted; where share premium
of the capital reserve is insufficient for the write-down,
retained profit will be adjusted.

Partial disposal of equity investment in
subsidiary without loss of control

For the difference between the consideration received
from disposal and the net assets of the subsidiary
that the Company is entitled to corresponding to the
long-term equity investment disposed accumulated
from the date of purchase of date of combination,
share premium of the capital reserve in the
consolidated balance sheet will be adjusted; where
share premium of the capital reserve is insufficient for
the write-down, retained profit will be adjusted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(V) Classification of joint arrangements and (L) EERHEPERAARESHEEL E
accounting treatment for joint operations

Joint arrangements can be classified into joint operations and EERHESARRAKEMEEDE -
joint ventures.

Joint operations represent the joint arrangement that a party HAKE REEENEZBEZLIEREE

to a joint arrangement has rights to the assets, and obligations BAEZLZHEEHAEEN G SR -

for the liabilities, relating to such arrangement.

The Company recognises the following items in relation to its ARAEREARLLERINRMDEMRBOT

share of benefits in joint operations: FIE A -

(1) the assets held solely by the Company and those jointly (1) BRARBEBMIBFENEE  URRE
held on a prorate basis; ARARNEERARRFTENEE

(2) the liabilities assumed solely by the Company and those (2 MRAAREBAAENEE  URIEK
jointly assumed on a pro-rata basis; AARDEERARAENEE:

(3) the income generated from the sale of the products of the (B) BMAELEARAZANLARKCEELD
joint operation attributable to the Company; BATEERRA

(4) the income generated by the joint operation from the sale (4) BRARARHBERERALRAKEREEED
of products on a pro-rata basis; FrE AR WA

(5) the expenses incurred solely by the Company and those (b5) BREBMEENER  UREZARQF
incurred by the joint operation on a pro-rata basis. MERRERASCEEENER -

The Company’s investments in joint ventures are accounted AARHEECENRERAER ERE

for using the equity method. Please refer to the Note “III. (XIII) HRAMEI=Z (T REARERE] -

Long-term Equity Investment” for details.

(VIll) Recognition standard for cash and cash MNBEERRASEEYNBRERE

equivalents

Cash represents the Company’s cash on hand and deposits BREe - BEARA E’] EE 157 3 & DA B A LA B& B

that can be used readily for payments. Cash equivalents ARIZNNER - REEZEEBY REAAR

represent investments that satisfy four conditions, namely FE®HARE - mu@] \ﬁ{ W HREREE A

short-term, highly liquid, readily convertible to known amounts eHENEe BEZIRARR/NHIKE -

of cash, and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(IX)Foreign currency transactions and translation

of financial statements denominated in foreign
currency

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions shall be translated into
RMB at the spot Exchange rate on the day when the
transactions occurred.

Balance sheet date foreign currency monetary items
shall be translated using the spot exchange rate at the
balance sheet date. The resulting Exchange difference
are recognised in profit or loss for the current period,
except for those differences related to a specific-purpose
borrowing denominated in foreign currency for acquisitions
and construction of the qualified assets, which should be
capitalised as cost of the borrowings.

Translation of financial statements
denominated in foreign Currency

For the translation of financial statements of foreign
operation denominated in foreign currency, the assets
and liabilities in the balance sheets are translated at the
spot exchange rates on the balance sheet date; except for
“retained earnings” items, all items under owner’s equity
are translated at the spot exchange rates when incurred.
The income and expense items in the income statement
are translated at the annual average exchange rates on
the transaction dates.

On disposal of foreign operations, exchange differences
in financial statements denominated in foreign currencies
related to the foreign operation shall be transferred from
owner’s equity items to profit or loss to profit or loss from
disposal for the current period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (H)&mIA
ARABERBERTEARN — K EZ
—FERMEE SRBENEZTA-

One of the financial asset, financial liabilities or equity
instrument is recognised when the Company becomes a party
to the contract of the financial instruments.

Classification of financial instruments

According to the business model of the Company for
management of financial assets and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of financial assets, financial assets
are classified at the initial recognition as financial assets
measured at amortised cost, or financial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income, or
other financial assets that are measured at fair value
through current profit or loss.

The Company shall classify financial assets that meet the
following conditions and are not designated as financial
assets at fair value through current profit or loss as
financial assets measured at amortised cost:

— The objective of the business model is to collect
contractual cash lows;

— The contractual cash flows are solely payment of the
principal and the interest based on the outstanding
principal amount.

The Company shall classify financial assets that meet the
following conditions and are not designated as financial
assets at fair value through current profit or loss as
financial assets (debt instruments) measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income:

— The objective of the business model for managing
such financial assets is both to collect contractual
cash flows and to dispose of the financial assets;

— The contractual cash flows are solely payment of the
principal and the interest based on the outstanding
principal amount.

1- LRI AT HE
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ERE

— ARREREER/RHFAEMAKRE
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

Classification of financial instruments
(Continued)

For an investment in equity instruments not held for
trading purposes, the Company may irrevocably designate
it as financial assets (equity instrument) measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income at the initial
recognition. This designation is made on an investment-
by-investment basis and the relevant investment meets
the definition of equity instrument from the perspective of
the issuer.

All financial assets not classified as measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income as described above are measured at fair value
through current profit or loss. On initial recognition,
the Company may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at fair value through current
profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial liabilities, at initial recognition, are classified into
financial liabilities at fair value through current profit or
loss and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

When meeting any of the following criteria, the Company
may, at initial recognition, designate a financial liability as
measured at fair value through current profit or loss:

(1) Such designation would eliminate or significantly
reduce an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

1. Classification of financial instruments
(Continued)

)

@)

A group of financial liabilities or financial assets and
financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy,
and information about the group is provided internally
on that basis to the entity’s key management
personnel.

The financial liabilities include embedded derivatives
which can be split separately.

2. Recognition basis and measurement method
of financial instruments

(1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Financial assets measured at amortised cost,
including bills receivable and trade receivable,
other receivable, long-term receivable, and debt
investment, are initially measured at fair value plus
relevant transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain significant financing components and
trade receivable that the Company has decided not to
consider for a financing component of no more than
one year are initially measured at the contractual
transaction price.

Interest calculated under the effective interest method
during the period of holding is included in current
profit or loss.

When recovering or disposing, the difference
between the price obtained and the book value of the
financial asset is included in current profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

2. Recognition basis and measurement method
of financial instruments (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Financial assets (debt instruments) measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets (debt instruments) measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income,
including financing receivables and other debt
investments, are initially measured at fair value plus
relevant transaction costs. These financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value, with changes
in fair value included in other comprehensive income
except for interest, impairment losses or gains and
exchange gains or losses calculated using the
effective interest method.

On derecognition, the accumulated gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is transferred out from other comprehensive
income and recognised in current profit or loss.

Financial assets (equity instruments) measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets (equity instruments) measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, including
other equity instruments investments, are initially
measured at fair value plus relevant transaction costs.
These financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value included in other
comprehensive income. The dividends received are
included in current profit or loss.

On derecognition, the accumulated gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is transferred out from other comprehensive
income and recognised in retained earnings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

2. Recognition basis and measurement method
of financial instruments (Continued)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Financial assets at fair value through current
profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through
current profit or loss, including held-for-trading
financial assets, derivative financial assets and other
non-current financial assets, are initially measured
at fair value with relevant transaction costs included
in current profit or loss. These financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value included in current profit or loss.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
through current profit or loss

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through
current profit or loss, including held-for-trading
financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities,
etc., are initially measured at fair value with relevant
transaction costs recognised in current profit or loss.
These financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value included in
current profit or loss.

On derecognition, the difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration paid is recognised in
current profit or loss.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost,
including short-term loans, bills payable,
payable, other payable,
bonds payable and long-term payables, are initially
measured at fair value plus relevant transaction
costs.

trade
long-term borrowings,
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
()& I A(&E)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

2 EMTAWNERKENTESE

2. Recognition basis and measurement method

of financial instruments (Continued)

(6) Financial liabilites measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Interest calculated under the effective interest method
during the period of holding is included in current
profit or loss.

On derecognition, the difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in current profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial asset and financial
asset transfers

The Company derecognises a financial asset if it meets
one of the following conditions:

— the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire;

— the financial asset has been transferred, and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset have been transferred to the
transferee;

— the financial asset has been transferred, and
the Company neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards related to the
ownership of the financial assets, but did not retain its
control over the said financial assets.

If the Company and the counterparty modify or renegotiate
the contract and it constitutes a substantial amendment,
the recognition of the original financial asset shall be
terminated, and a new financial asset shall be recognised
in accordance with the amended terms.

When transferring a financial asset, if the Company
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset, the Company shall continue to
recognise such asset.

When judging whether the transfer of a financial asset
meets the above criteria for derecognition, the substance-
over-form principle shall be applied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(H&®MITAE)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

3. Derecognition of financial asset and financial 3 THREERUIBERFNCHEEER

asset transfers (Continued)

The Company differentiates the transfer of a financial
asset as full transfer or partial transfer. If the full transfer

(%)

RAKEREEEBRRISETHEEE
REBNMLIrEE cHEEBRRER

of a financial asset meets the criteria for derecognition, MR IEERIEER BT MBS
then the difference between the following two amounts WERETASHER

was included in current profit or loss:

(1) the book value of the financial asset transferred;

(2) the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and the total amount of the fair value
changes that is directly charged or credited to
owners’ equity (if the asset transferred is a financial
asset (debt instruments) at fair value through other
comprehensive income).

When the partial transfer of a financial asset meets the
criteria for derecognition, the entire book value of the
financial asset transferred shall be allocated between the
part derecognised and the part to be recognised based on
their respective fair value, with the difference between the
following two included in current profit or loss:

(1) The book value of the part that is derecognised;

(2) The sum of the consideration attributable to the
part derecognised and the total amount of the fair
value changes that is directly charged or credited
to owners’ equity and attributable to the part
derecognised (if the asset transferred is a financial
asset (debt instruments) at fair value through other
comprehensive income).

If the transfer of a financial asset does not meet the
criteria for derecognition, the financial asset shall continue
to be recognised and the consideration received is
recognised as a financial liability.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

4.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

If all or part of the current obligations of a financial liability
have been discharged, the financial liability or part of it will
be derecognised; if the Company signs an agreement with
the creditor to replace the existing financial liability with
new financial liability of substantially different contractual
terms, the existing financial liability shall be derecognised
while the new financial liability shall be recognised.

If substantial changes are made to the contractual
terms (in whole or in part) of the existing financial
liability, the existing financial liability (or part of it) shall
be derecognised, and the financial liability after the
modification of terms shall be recognised as a new
financial liability.

When a financial liability is derecognised in whole or
in part, the difference between the book value of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
(including the non-cash assets transferred out or the new
financial liability assumed) shall be included in current
profit or loss.

If the Company repurchases part of a financial liability,
the book value of the entire financial liability is allocated
between the part that continues to be recognised and the
part that is derecognised on the repurchase date based on
their respective relative fair value. The difference between
the book value assigned to the part derecognised and
the consideration paid (including the non-cash assets
transferred out or the new financial liability assumed) shall
be included in current profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

5.

Determination of fair value of financial assets
and financial liabilities

As for financial instruments with an active market,
their fair values are determined by quoted prices in
the active market. As for financial instruments without
an active market, their fair values are determined by
using valuation techniques. At the time of valuation,
the Company adopts valuation techniques that are
applicable in the current circumstances and sufficiently
supported by available data and other information, and
selects inputs that are consistent with the characteristics
of the assets or liabilities considered by the market
participants in the transactions of the relevant assets or
liabilities, and prioritises the use of relevant observable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are used only if the relevant
observable inputs are unavailable or not reasonably
available.

Test and accounting methods for impairment
of financial instruments

The Company shall dispose of financial assets measured
at amortised cost, financial assets (debt instruments)
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial guarantee contracts, etc. as
impairment on the basis of expected credit losses.

The probability-weighted amount of the difference in
present value between the contractual cash flow of
receivable from contracts and the cash flow expected
to be received, weighted with the risk of default, will be
measured by taking into account reasonable and valid
information on, among other things, past events, current
status and the forecast of future economic conditions to
recognise the expected credit losses.

For trade receivables and contract assets formed by
the transactions regulated in the Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises No. 14 — Revenue whether
contain significant financing components or otherwise,
the Company always measures the loss provision at the
lifetime expected credit loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

6.

Test and accounting methods for impairment
of financial instruments (Continued)

For lease receivables formed by the transactions
regulated in the Accounting Standards for Enterprises No.
21 — Leasing, the Company chooses to always measure
the loss provisions at an amount equal to the lifetime
expected credit loss. For other financial instruments, the
Company evaluates the changes in the credit risk on
relevant financial instruments since the initial recognition
on the balance sheet date.

In determining changes in the risk of default during the
expected lifetime of a financial instrument and assessing
whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Company compares the risk of default occurring on
the financial instrument assessed at the balance sheet
date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
Usually, if it is overdue for more than 30 days, the
Company will consider that the credit risk of the financial
instrument has increased significantly, unless there is
conclusive evidence to prove that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
the initial recognition.

For a financial instrument with lower credit risk on the
balance sheet date, the Company assumes that its
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since the initial recognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

6.

Test and accounting methods for impairment
of financial instruments (Continued)

If the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since the initial recognition, the Company
measures the loss provisions according to the lifetime
expected credit loss of the financial instrument; if the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since the initial recognition, the Company
measures the loss provisions at an amount equal
to 12-month expected credit losses of the financial
instrument. The resulting increase in or reversal of loss
provision shall be included in current profit or loss as
impairment losses or gains. The loss provision of financial
assets (debt instruments) measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income shall be recognised in other
comprehensive income and the impairment losses or
gains shall be included in the current profit or loss without
deducting the book value of such financial assets in the
balance sheet.

If there is objective evidence that a receivable has been
credit impaired, the Company shall make individual
provision for the impairment of the receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

Ill. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND =S EESHEERE A (E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(H)&®mIA(E)

(X) Financial Instruments (Continued)

6. Test and accounting methods for impairment 6 TRTABMENARLTEZRETE

of financial instruments (Continued)

In addition to the aforesaid receivables of which bad
debt provision is made on an individual basis, the
Company divides other financial instruments into several
combinations according to credit risk characteristics,
and recognises their expected credit loss on the
basis of combination. The basis for classification and
determination of the combinations for making provision for
expected credit loss of bills receivable, trade receivables,
financing receivables, other receivables, contract assets,
long-term receivables, etc. is as follows:

Item
HH

Basis for determination of combination

AENEEXE

BrE (&)

BB IR GHIR R AR E R 10 b e U AR

Sh o N EW%%%H&%@%E%
EMIAEODRETHSG EAHSE
REBEBRMERBER - ARAHEK
EEBREFR BRRERE HEi
WK - AREE RBEKREFR
HHERBANAS RN REEKE
m

Basis for determination

W kg

Related party combination

BB AA

Aged analysis combination

Related parties included within the scope
of consolidation

MARGEE AN

This includes receivables that are not
part of the above combination. The
Company makes its best estimate on
the provision for receivables based
on historical experience and classifies
credit risk portfolio with reference to
the aging of receivables.

B LMAE 2N YRR
AR BRI A 6 S 45 B R UG
RBFHRLOIEHREMRT 22
U RENRKRETERRRAS
DER e

No credit loss is expected to be incurred based
on historical credit loss experience, along
with current conditions and future economic
forecasts.
%%ﬁi%%ﬁ%wﬁ'%é%##ﬂu&
R EM DG AR - EEREEREKX

The Company utilizes aging to assess
the expected credit losses of this
combination. This combination with similar
risk characteristics aging information
reflects its repayment capability when
the receivables become due. As at
the balance sheet date, the Company
recognizes the expected credit losses for
this combination based on the impairment
matrix.

QAR B R A %A S B TR
EREX% ZEASAGHERANERRR
BERheE B re UG SR & B Y FRA
IR ENEN -REEABEXRA
RRRERBEEERERZES A
EREBEX-

AREATBRERHEREEARRS
MEEAZHRET L WE K - HHER L
%% A ERIRE AR o

Where the Company no longer reasonably expects

-
o|

=

contractual cash flows of a financial asset to be fully or

&

nm—

partially recoverable, the book balance of the financial
asset is directly written down.

160 SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XI)Inventories

1.

4.

Classification for inventories

Inventories are classified into: goods in transit, raw
materials, turnover materials, goods in stock, work in
process, finished goods, consumptive biological assets,
etc.

Consumptive biological assets

The consumptive biological assets refer to broilers, chicks
and hatchable eggs held by the Company. Consumptive
biological assets are measured at fair value less sales
costs at the end of the year. Any gain or loss arising
from changes in fair value less sales costs is included in
current profit or loss for the period in which the gain or
loss arises.

Valuation of inventories
(1) Costs of other inventories

Other inventories are initially measured at cost, which
comprises purchase costs, processing costs and
other expenses incurred in bringing the inventories to
their current location and condition.

(2) Measurement for inventories delivered

The standard cost method is adopted for inventories
measurement on a normal basis. The difference
between actual cost and standard cost at the end
of the period is included in the current profit or loss
or carried forward to the cost of the corresponding
asset. When the actual cost of inventories fluctuates
significantly from the standard cost each quarter, the
Company will revise the relevant standard cost.

Inventory system

The perpetual inventory system is adopted.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XI)Inventories (Continued)

5. Amortisation of low-value consumables and

packaging materials

(1) Low-value consumables are mortised using the
immediate write off method.

(2) Packaging materials are mortised using the
immediate write-off method.

Recognition criteria and methods for
inventory depreciation provision

On the balance sheet date, inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. When the cost of
inventories was higher than their net realisable value, the
provision decline in value of inventories shall be made.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of the
inventories in the ordinary course of business deducting
the estimated costs upon completion, the estimated
selling expenses and the related taxes.

Net realisable value of held-for-sale commodity stocks,
such as finished products, goods in stock, and held-for-
sale materials, during the normal course of production
and operation, shall be determined by their estimated selling
prices less related selling costs and taxes; the net realisable
value of inventory materials, which need to be processed,
during the normal course of production and operation, shall
be determined by the amount after deducting the estimated
cost of completion, estimated selling costs and relevant
taxes from the estimated selling price of finished goods;
the net realisable value of inventories held for execution
of sales contracts or labor contracts shall be calculated on
the ground of the contracted price. If an enterprise holds
more inventories than the quantity stipulated in the sales
contract, the net realisable value of the excess part shall
be calculated on the ground of general selling price.

After the provision decline in value of inventories, if the factors
resulting in the previously recorded inventory impairment
disappeared, as a result of which the net realisable value
of the inventories became higher than its book value, it
would be written back to the extent of the original provision
decline in value of inventories made, and such written-
back amounts would be charged to the current profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XI)Contract assets

1.

Recognition and standard of contract assets

The Company presents contract assets or contract
liabilities in the balance sheet based on the relationship
between performance obligations and customer
payments. The consideration that the Company has the
right (and this right depends on factors other than passage
of time) to receive for goods transferred to customers is
listed as a contract assets. Contract assets and contract
liabilities under the same contract shall be shown on a net
basis. The right of the Company to charge the customer
unconditionally (only depends on the passage of time) is
listed as a receivable individually.

Method of determination of expected credit
loss of contract assets and accounting
treatment methods

For the method of determination of expected credit loss
of contract assets and accounting treatment methods,
please refer to the Note “Ill. (X) 6. Test and accounting
methods for impairment of financial instruments”.

(Xll) Long-term equity investments

1.

Joint control or significant influence criterion

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, and exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities of the arrangement require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. If the
Company together with the other joint venture parties can
jointly control over the investee and are entitled to the
right of the net assets of the investee, the investee is a
joint venture of the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xlll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

1. Joint control or significant influence criterion
(Continued)

Significant influence refers to the power to participate in
making decisions on the financial and operating policies
of investee, but not the power to control, or jointly control,
the formulation of such policies with other parties. Where
the Company can exercise significant influence over an
investee, the investee is an associate of the Company.

2. Determination of initial investment cost

(1) Long-term equity investments acquired through
business combination

For a long-term equity investment in subsidiaries
resulting from a business combination involving
entities under common control, the initial investment
cost of long-term equity investments are its share
of the book value of the owners’ equity of the
acquiree in the financial statements of the ultimate
controlling party on the date of combinations. The
difference between initial investment cost of long-
term equity investment and the carrying value of
paid consideration is to adjust share premium in
the capital reserve. If the balance of share premium
in the capital reserve is insufficient, any excess is
adjusted to retained earnings. In connection with
imposing control over the investee under joint control
as a result of additional investment and other reasons
the difference between initial investment cost of long-
term equity investment according to the aforesaid
principle, and the sum of the carrying value of long-
term equity investment before combination and
the carrying value of newly paid consideration for
additional shares acquired on the date of combination
is to adjust share premium. If the balance of share
premium is insufficient, any excess is adjusted to
retained earnings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

2. Determination of initial investment cost
(Continued)

(1)

(2)

Long-term equity investments acquired through
business combination (Continued)

For a long-term equity investment in subsidiaries
resulting from a business combination involving
entities not under common control, the cost of the
combination determined on the date of acquisition
shall be taken as the initial investment cost of the
long-term equity investment. In connection with
imposing control over the investee not under joint
control as a result of additional investment and other
reasons, the initial investment cost shall be the
sum of the carrying value of the equity investment
originally held and the newly increased investment
cost.

Long-term equity investments acquired by other
means other than business combination

The initial investment cost of a long-term equity
investment obtained by the Company by cash
payment shall be the purchase cost which is actually
paid.

The initial investment cost of a long-term equity
investment obtained by the Company by means of
issuance of equity securities shall be the fair value of
the equity securities issued.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and recognition of
profit or loss

(1)

(2)

Long-term equity investment accounted for by
cost method

Long-term equity investments in subsidiaries
are accounted for using cost method unless the
investments meet the conditions of held-for-sale.
Except for the actual consideration paid for the
acquisition of investment or the declared but not
yet distributed cash dividends or profits which are
included in the consideration, investment gains is
recognised as the Company’s share of the cash
dividends or profits declared by the investee.

Long-term equity investment accounted for by
equity method

Long-term equity investments in associates and
jointly ventures are accounted for using equity
method. Where the initial investment cost of a long-
term equity investment exceeds the Company’s
share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable
net assets at the acquisition date, no adjustment
shall be made to the initial investment cost; where
the initial investment cost is less than the Company’s
share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable
net assets at the acquisition date, the difference shall
be charged to current profit or loss and the cost for
long-term equity investment shall be adjusted.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(T RERERE (E)

(Xlll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

* féﬂﬁ #E&Eéﬁn@ﬁ/ﬁ (ﬁ’ )

3. Subsequent measurement and recognition of
profit or loss (Continued)

(2) Long-term equity investment accounted for by 2) Ba ZEERNRAREKE
equity method (Continued) (%)

NARBREZTELREDENKIRE
BUERMNFEEMEMEE K

The Company recognises the investment income
and other comprehensive income according to its

shares of net profit or loss and other comprehensive R o Rl R E WS E M
income realised by the investee respectively, and Felan RARFAERIAKRERE

simultaneously makes adjustment to the carrying WREEE RREREENES
value of long-term equity investments. The carrying SR F ESIBEeRMNAEEREEZS
value of long-term equity investment shall be reduced WD HERDRBARERED
by attributable share of the profit or cash dividends EEEF B SRR ESEMRIFE
for distribution declared by the investee. In relation to - Hfth 4R A& U a A0 FDE 5 B LA SN
other changes of owner’s equity (the “Other Changes Ffr EEEmNEmEe (HHEIEMm
of Owner’s Equity”) except for net profits and losses, FrEER=SE])  FHERPRE
other comprehensive income and profit distribution of REMRAEBEELGTAMBEE#ELR -
the investee, the carrying value of long-term equity

investment shall be adjusted and included in owner’s

equity.

The Company’s share of net profit or loss, other
comprehensive income and Other Changes of
Owner’'s Equity of an investee is determined based
on the fair value of identifiable assets of the investee
at the time when the investment is obtained, and
according to the accounting policies and accounting
period of the Company, recognition shall be made to
the net profit of the investee after the adjustment and
other comprehensive income, etc.

The unrealised profit or loss resulting from
transactions between the Company and its
associates or joint venture shall be eliminated in,
based on which investment income or loss shall be
recognised. Any losses resulting from transactions,
which are attributable to impairment of assets, shall
be fully recognised, except for the disposal of assets
that consist of operations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xlll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and recognition of
profit or loss (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Long-term equity investment accounted for by
equity method (Continued)

The Company discontinues recognising its share of
net losses of the investee after the carrying amount
of the long-term equity investment and any long-
term interest that is in substance forms part of the
Company’s net investment in the associate or the
joint venture is reduced to zero, except to the extent
that the Company has an obligation to assume
additional losses. Where net profits are subsequently
made by the associate or joint venture, the Company
resumes recognising its share of those profits only
after its share of the profits equals the share of losses
not recognised.

Disposal of long-term equity investments

When long-term equity investments are disposed
of, the difference between the carrying amount and
the actual proceeds received should be charged to
current profit or loss.

For the certain long-term equity investment treated
under the equity method, where the remaining
equity continues to be accounted for using the
equity method,
previously recognised under the equity method shall
be transferred in proportion by using the same basis
as the investee used for direct disposal of relevant
assets or liabilities. Other Changes of Owner’s Equity
shall be transferred in proportion into current profit or

the other comprehensive income

loss.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A

SHEUHR/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

Tz R ERE (B)

- BAE

(2)

(3)

#E&Eéﬁw&ﬁé‘f(ﬁ )

B ZEE N RPRERE

(%)

NAHEAEELEIMELEZ LD
FEE RAEFAESEIINNELRR
SN LA BRI HE R & B BR (B (B A
NREMEE FHEKEE S P E M
EEEFHENRARSBALET
RBR -SELEIBMECENRE
WEMBS  RaAlERE) =R
MABROEEERERZ  RERE

RUED ZH

RHRERENEE

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂg%ﬁﬁ CHRE(EE S
SERNER FAEH

E'/T\

Tél\fm\m

BrREEDEZENR I RE

BE RBEBREDRBEREZE
B RREDSEZEEINEMES
Wk A EE IR E S ME&EEEH

MEEXBEMARNERIZAREL
i HtmAEREEHRL
flassE NS B8



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(T RERERE (E)

(Xlll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and recognition of 3 BEBNERBEmBRLZE(E)
profit or loss (Continued)
(3) REKREREN GE (&)

(3) Disposal of long-term equity investments

(Continued)

When the Group loses the control or material
influence over the investee due to disposal of
equity investment and other reasons, for other
comprehensive income recognised in the original
equity investment due to the equity method
is adopted, it shall be treated using the same
accounting basis as the investee used for direct
disposal of relevant assets or liabilities when ceasing
to use the equity method. Other Changes of Owner’s
Equity shall be transferred into the current profit or
loss when ceasing to use the equity method.

When the Group loses the control over the investee
due to partially disposal of equity investment and
other reasons, the remaining equity interest after
disposal shall be accounted for under equity method
in preparation of separate financial statements
provided that joint control or material influence over
the investee can be imposed and shall be adjusted as
if such remaining equity interest had been accounted
for under the equity method since being obtained. The
other comprehensive income previously recognised
before obtaining the control over the investee shall
be transferred in proportion by using the same basis
as the investee used for direct disposal of relevant
assets or liabilities. Changes in other owner’s equity
recognised as a result of the adoption of the equity
method shall be transferred to the current profit or
loss on pro rata basis. Where the remaining equity
interest after disposal cannot exercise joint control
or exert material influence over the investee, it shall
be recognised as financial asset, and the difference
between fair value and the carrying value on the
date of losing control shall be included in current
profit or loss. All the other comprehensive income
and Other Changes of Owner's equity recognised
before obtaining the control over the investee shall be
transferred.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xlll) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

3. Subsequent measurement and recognition of

profit or loss (Continued)

(3) Disposal of long-term equity investments
(Continued)

For disposal of the equity investment in a subsidiary in
stages by multiple transactions resulting in the loss of
control, where the Company accounts for a package
deals, accounting treatment shall be conducted for all
transactions as the equity investment for disposal of a
subsidiary and the transaction in the loss of control. In
the individual consolidated financial statements, the
differences between the consideration disposed and
the corresponding carrying value of long-term equity
investment of the disposed equity in each transaction
prior to the loss of control shall be recognised in other
comprehensive income first and transferred to the
current profit or loss when the parent eventually loses
control over the subsidiary. Where the no package
deal is accounted for, accounting treatment shall be
conducted for each transaction individually.

(XIV) Fixed assets

Recognition and initial measurement of fixed
assets

Fixed assets are tangible assets that are held for use in
production or supply of goods or services, for rental to
others, or for administrative purposes, and have a useful
life of more than one accounting year. Fixed asset is
recognised when it meets the following conditions:

(1) it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the fixed asset will flow to the enterprise;

(2) its cost can be reliably measured.

Fixed assets are initially measured at cost (and taking into
account the effect of estimated costs of disposal).
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XIV) Fixed assets (Continued) (th) B E & E (8)

Recognition and initial measurement of fixed
assets (Continued)

For subsequent expenses related to fixed assets, if
the related economic benefits are likely to flow into
the enterprise and its cost could be reliably measured,
such expenses are included in the cost of the fixed
asset; and the carrying amount of the replaced part will

1 BIEEERERA AL 8 (E)

HEFEERWMNKESH FRESF
B EEMERAERAREKAER
AEFER  FFABREEEXA : HR
WERNE D RI-ERAEROEE:
PEEMRESHRBELERGTAES

be derecognised. All other subsequent expenses are B e
included in current profit or loss upon occurrence.
Methods for depreciation 2 FEFZE

Fixed assets of the Company are depreciated by
categories using the straight-line method, and the annual
depreciation rates are determined by categories based
upon their estimated useful lives and their estimated
residual values. For fixed assets that have made provision
for the impairment, the amount of depreciation of it is
determined by carrying value after deducting the provision
for the impairment based on useful life during the future
period. Where different components of a fixed asset have
different useful lives or generate economic benefits for the
enterprise in different ways, different depreciation rates or
depreciation methods shall apply, and each component is
depreciated separately.

The depreciation methods, useful life of depreciation,

BEEENERABFRFHED B
R-BEBETEERN HEAERS
MEFAFEERETHER - HHET
HELEENETEE  AERKAHER
R EEEROREEERMKERA
ERERECHTERE NEATEESHE
RER DB E R E e TRk EHIATE TR
REFREEENR  MBRETRTE
KRFFWEHE - DRIFHRITE -

EREEEENEN L FEFR B

residual value rate and annual depreciation rate of each BEEMEFERNT :
category of fixed assets are as follows:
Residual Annual
Useful life value depreciation rate
Category Depreciation method (Years) rate (%) (%)
LBzl FESE HEER(F) BEZ(%) FHEER (%)
House and buildings Straight-line method 20-40 5 2.38-4.75
EEREEY F IR EE
Machine and equipment Straight-line method 4-15 5 6.33-23.75
HeERE FRFEE
Vehicle Straight-line method 5-8 5 11.88-19.00
B RE FRFEE
Electronic equipment Straight-line method 5-8 5 11.88-19.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XIV) Fixed assets (Continued)
3. Disposal of fixed assets

A fixed asset is derecognised on disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from using or
disposal. The amount of proceeds on sale, transfer,
retirement or damage of a fixed asset net of its carrying
amount and related taxes and expenses is recognised in
current profit or loss.

(XV)Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at actual cost. Actual
cost comprises construction costs, installation costs,
borrowing costs that are eligible for capitalisation and other
costs necessary to bring the construction in progress ready for
their intended use. Construction in progress is transferred to
fixed assets or intangible assets when the assets are ready for
their intended use, and depreciation begins from the following

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

(tB) B E & E (&)

3- BlEBERE
EEETEENRE HERHBBER
KEETRELELBEN S - K ILHER
ZETEE-BTEELE HE W
BEHBRENEERAIGREREEAM
HERBERNEETAERRS -
(TR HEEZEIR

ERIRRERZLENRAGE BERKA
BREEERAN  TRKA  FEENCEN
MERERAREMREEZTIZEDNEE
AEARERMAEENBES R -ERZTE
FEINBEAEAMRER EABEEEN
BIZEEY B RXARRAIETE - NQF
ERIRABRETEENEBIEENEE

month. The standards and timing points for the Company’s MEFET -
construction in progress to be transferred to fixed assets and
intangible assets are as follows:
Category Standards and timing points for transfer to fixed assets/intangible assets
5l BRETEE EBNEENEENKH
Fixed assets Fixed assets transfer to fixed assets when they reach intended usable condition
B E & E BETEEENRATAEARERERETEE
Intangible assets Intangible assets transfer to intangible assets when they reach intended usable condition
BICEE ERVEEEINEEERRESERBETLEE
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XVl) Borrowing costs

1.

Criteria for recognition of capitalised borrowing
costs

The Company’s borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised into the cost of
relevant assets. Other borrowing costs are recognised as
expenses in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Qualifying assets include fixed assets, investment property
and inventories that necessarily take a substantial period
of time for acquisition, construction or production to get
ready for their intended use or sale.

Capitalisation period of borrowing costs

The capitalisation period refers to the period beginning
from the commencement of capitalising borrowing costs
to the date of ceasing capitalisation, excluding the period
of suspension of capitalisation.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs begins when the
following three conditions are fully satisfied:

(1) expenditures for the assets (including cash paid,
non-cash assets transferred or interest-bearing
liabilities assumed for the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets) have been incurred;

(2) borrowing costs have been incurred;

(3) acquisition, construction or production that are
necessary to enable the asset get ready for their
intended use or sale have commenced.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs shall cease when
the qualifying asset under acquisition, construction or
production gets ready for intended use or sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XVl) Borrowing costs (Continued)

3.

Suspension of capitalisation period

Capitalisation of borrowing costs shall be suspended
during periods in which the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset is interrupted abnormally,
and the interruption is for a continuous period of more
than 3 months; if the interruption is a necessary step
for making the qualifying asset under acquisition,
construction or production ready for the intended use
or sale, the capitalisation of the borrowing costs shall
continue. The borrowing costs incurred during such period
of interruption shall be recognised in current profit or
loss. When the acquisition, construction or production of
the asset resumes, the capitalisation of borrowing costs
continues.

Capitalisation rate and calculation of
capitalisation amount of borrowing costs

As to specific borrowings for the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, borrowing costs
from the specific borrowings actually incurred in the
current period minus the interest income earned on the
unused borrowing loans as a deposit in the bank or the
investment income earned from temporary investment will
be used to determine the amount of borrowing costs for
capitalisation.

As to general borrowings for the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, the to-be-capitalised
amount of borrowing costs on the general borrowing
shall be calculated and determined by multiplying the
weighted average asset disbursement of the part of the
accumulative asset disbursements minus the specific
borrowings and the capitalisation rate of the said general
borrowings. The capitalisation rate shall be calculated
and determined according to the weighted average actual
interest rate of general borrowings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XVl) Borrowing costs (Continued)

4.

Capitalisation rate and calculation of
capitalisation amount of borrowing costs
(Continued)

During the capitalisation period, exchange differences
related to the principal and interest on a specific-purpose
borrowing denominated in foreign currency are capitalised
as part of the cost of the qualifying asset. The exchange
differences related to the principal and interest on foreign
currency borrowings other than a specific-purpose
borrowing are included in the current profits and losses
when incurred.

(XV)biological assets

1.

Classification and costs for biological assets

The Company’s biological assets are classified as
consumptive biological assets and productive biological
assets, consumptive biological assets including broilers,
chicks, hatchable eggs and productive biological assets
including breeders. Productive biological assets are
classified into immature productive biological assets and
mature productive biological assets according to different
stages. The two stages refer the breeding stage and the
production stage, respectively.

Productive biological assets are measured at fair value
less sales costs at initial recognition and the end of each
reporting period. Any gain or loss arising from changes in
fair value less sales costs is included in current profit or
loss for the period in which the gain or loss arises.

Breeding costs and other related costs (such as labour
costs, depreciation and amortisation expenses and
public expenses) are capitalised at the breeding and the
production stage until normal and stable egg production.

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

(t7) AR E A (&)

4 BRBAZFEE BXLLEH
5 E 7% ()

EEACHEA INEFEMEREE R
MEWERZ/E FTAERL  FFAF
BEABEHENEENRA - RINEH
FIfE R Z SN A SIS fE R AR & T B A
BREAMELZHEFAEHIEE -

T EMEE
1 £YEER T B KK

ARABREMEENBERBERELENEE
MEEEEMEE HRUELEVEER
O SE AIRMCER AEMNS
MEERRE BE-LEEEMEER
BARMERED/RARREELREY
BEMKALEELEMEE  MERR
DRREHERERRERMRER -

EEUEEMEERVEERABME RS
HBMARRAAEEREEERGE £
MEAREERDEERNEEE LK
Yo 2 3 5 1R A A B W 2 3 1R B A A
AFAE BB -

BoE A RS R A R H A iE B AR
(MATIRE -FERBHERARAAE
RIBERE  BEBFBEFTREE
BRI

Annual Report 2024 5§

175



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XVi)biological assets (Continued) Tt EYEE(B)
2. Inventory system of productive biological 2 EEMEYHNEREFHE
assets
The Company takes inventory of parent stock day-old NEERX R B LRR ETEE
chicks by batch once every six months or at the time of FFEHERARFEI—IX KA XE
culling. The perpetual inventory system is adopted. 74l
(Xvil)Intangible assets (thEREE
1. Measurement of intangible assets 1 BEEEWERZE
(1) Intangible assets are initially measured at cost (1) 1 Al R 13 METE & 2 I 15 K 2N
upon acquisition by the Company TR T2
The costs of an externally purchased intangible asset NEEBEEENKAEA RIEEBEE
include the purchase price, relevant tax expenses, FoNHENMEBEULREERBREZ
and other expenditures directly attributable to bringing HEEENBEAEMEBEANEM
the asset ready for its intended use. S
(2) Subsequent measurement (2) 44 E
The Company shall analyse and judge the useful life EREEFEEERSTHE EFA
of intangible Assets upon acquisition. Ha o
As for intangible assets with a finite useful life, they HRERASTERNEREE &
are amortised over the term in which economic I RSB R & H) H R N
benefits are brought to the firm; If the term in which H O EBEBRENEEARMLETK
economic benefits are brought to the firm by an KEMNZEREY  RAEFEASGT
intangible asset cannot be estimated, the intangible MENELEE T THE-

asset shall be taken as an intangible asset with
indefinite useful life, and shall not be amortised.

176 SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xvil)Intangible assets (Continued) (th | EE (8)

2. Estimate of useful life for the intangible 2- FHETERWEFREENERSE

assets with finite useful life

13 & 18 %

Estimated Amortisation Residual

Items Useful Years method value rate Basis

HHE I EASe BMHEEE BREX {KE

Land use rights 25-50  Straight-line method 0 Terms for bringing economic benefits
to the Company

o {5 FRFBE R B RSB A 71 69 HAIR

Computer 10  Straight-line method 0 Terms for bringing economic benefits

software to the Company

B FRFIEE 7R B AR A a8 ) HAIR

Patents 20  Straight-line method 0 Terms for bringing economic benefits
to the Company

BN R FRFBEE RN B AR B A w1 69 B IR

Scope of Depositing of R&D Expenses 3- HBLTHWEEEF

The expenditures incurred during the research and
development of the Company include benefits of relevant
R&D employees, R&D and design expenses, depreciation
expenses, etc., which shall be deposited with the following
method:

Labor expenses refer to the total labor costs of R&D
employees, including annual salaries, five insurances,
housing provident fund and salary surcharges made.

Office expenses, traveling expenses and others refer to
the office and traveling expenses incurred for R&D.

Depreciation expenses and amortisation of intangible
assets refer to the depreciation and rental expenses of
the premises of the R&D institution, and equipment and
instruments purchased for R&D activities.

Other relevant expenses refer to other relevant expenses
for R&D projects.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XvilIntangible assets (Continued)

4. Specific criteria for the division of research

phase and development Phase

SHEUHR/ARYET)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

TNEBEEE(B)

4

The expenses for internal research and development
projects of the Company are divided into expenses in the
research phase and expenses in the development phase.

Research phase: a phase in which innovative and
scheduled investigations and research activities are
conducted to obtain and understand new scientific or

technological knowledge.

Development phase: a phase in which the research
outcomes or other knowledge are applied for a plan or
a design prior to the commercial production or use in
order to produce new or substantially improved materials,

devices, products, etc.

5. Specific conditions for capitalisation of

expenditure incurred in development phase

Expenditures incurred in the research stage are
recognised in profit or loss for the period. Expenditures
incurred in the development stage are recognised as
intangible assets only when all of the following conditions
are satisfied, and the expenditures in the development
stage that does not meet all of the following conditions are

recognised in profit or loss for the period:

(1) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible

asset so that it will be available for use or for sale;

(2) the intention to complete the intangible asset for use

or for sale;

(3) the ways in which the intangible asset generate
economic benefits, including there is evidence that
the products produced using the intangible asset has
a market or the intangible asset itself has a market,
or if the intangible asset is for internal use, there is

evidence that proves its usefulness;

(4) the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and the

ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(Xvil)Intangible assets (Continued) (th | EE (8)

5. Specific conditions for capitalisation of
expenditure incurred in development phase
(Continued)

(5) the expenditures attributable to the development
phase of the intangible asset could be reliably
measured.

If the expenditures cannot be distinguished between the
research phase and development phase, all of which
should be included in the current profit or loss.

(XIX) Impairment of long-term assets

Long-term equity investments, fixed assets, construction in
progress, right-of-use assets, use of intangible assets with a
finite useful life, oil and gas assets and other long-term assets
are tested for impairment if there is any indication that such
assets may be impaired at the balance sheet date. If the result
of the impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount
of the asset is less than its carrying amount, a provision for
impairment and an impairment loss are recognised for the
amount by which the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the present value of
the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.
Provision for asset impairment is determined and recognised
on the individual asset basis. If it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the recoverable
amount of a group of assets to which the asset belongs is
determined. A group of assets is the smallest group of assets
that is able to generate independent cash inflows.

Goodwill formed by business merger, intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets that are not yet
ready for use are tested for impairment at least at the end of
each year regardless of whether there is any sign of impairment.

When the Company performs impairment test on goodwill,
the Company shall, as at the purchase day, allocate on a
reasonable basis the carrying value of the goodwill formed
by merger of enterprises to the relevant asset groups, or if
there is a difficulty in allocation, to allocate it to the set of asset
groups. The related asset groups or the set of asset groups
refers to these ones that can benefit from the synergies of a
business combination.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XIX) Impairment of long-term assets (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment test on the relevant asset
groups or the set of asset groups containing goodwill, if any
evidence shows that the impairment of asset groups or set of
asset groups related to goodwill is possible, an impairment test
will be made firstly on the asset groups or set of asset groups
not containing goodwill, thus calculating the recoverable
amount and comparing it with the relevant carrying value so
as to recognise the corresponding impairment loss. Then,
the Company will conduct impairment tests on the asset
groups or set of asset groups that includes goodwill and
compare its carrying value against its recoverable amount. If
the recoverable amount is lower than its carrying value, the
amount of impairment loss is first offset against the carrying
value of the goodwill allocated to the asset groups or set of
asset groups, then, based on the proportion of the carrying
value of other assets in the asset groups or set of asset
groups other than goodwill, offset against the carrying value of
other assets proportionally.

Once the above asset impairment loss is recognised, it will not
be reversed in subsequent accounting periods.

(XX)Long-term deferred expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses are expenses which have
occurred but will benefit over 1 year and shall be amortised
over the current period and subsequent periods.

The amortisation period and amortisation method for each
expense are: evenly amortised over the benefit period.

(XX Contract liabilities

The Company has presented contract assets or contract
liabilities in the balance sheet based on the connection
between the fulfilment of performance obligations and
payment of the customers. A contract liability represents the
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for that
the Company has received a consideration or an amount
of consideration that is due from the customer. A contract
asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XXl Employee benefits (212) B T %57 A

1 BRIFH A E 5t T %

1. Accounting treatment method of short-term

benefits

In the accounting period in which employees provide
services for the Company, short-term benefits actually
incurred are recognised as liabilities and charged into
current profit or loss or cost of relevant assets.

With regard to the social insurance and housing
provident funds contributed and labour union expenses
and employee education expenses paid as required by
regulations, the Company should calculate and recognise
the corresponding employee benefits payables according
to the appropriation basis and proportion as stipulated by
relevant requirements in the accounting period in which
employees provide services for the Company.

At the time of actual occurrence, the Company’s employee
benefits are recorded in the current profit or loss or costs
of relevant assets as incurred. The non-currency welfare
expenses are measured at fair value.

Accounting treatment method of post-
employment benefits

(1) Defined contribution scheme

The Company will pay basic pension insurance and
unemployment insurance for the staff in accordance
with the relevant provisions of the local government.
During the accounting period in which the staff
provides services for the Company, the Company
will calculate the amount payable in accordance with
the local stipulated basis and proportions, and such
amount will be recognised as liabilities and charged
into current profit or loss or cost of relevant assets.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXl Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Accounting treatment method of post-
employment benefits (Continued)

(2) Defined benefit scheme

According to the formula determined under the
expected cumulative welfare unit method, the
Company attributes the welfare obligations arising
from the defined benefit scheme to the period during
which the employees provide services, and such
obligations would be charged into current profit or
loss or costs of relevant assets.

The deficit or surplus generated from the present
value of obligations of the defined benefit scheme
minus the fair value of the assets of defined benefit
scheme is recognised as net liabilities or net assets of
a defined benefit scheme. When the defined benefit
Scheme has surplus, the Company will measure the
net assets of the defined benefit scheme at the lower
of the surplus of defined Benefit scheme and the
upper limit of the assets.

All defined benefit schemes obligations, including
the expected duty of payment within 12 months after
the end of annual reporting period during which the
staff provided service, are discounted based on the
market yield of government bonds matching the term
and currency of defined benefit scheme obligations or
corporate bonds of high quality in the active market
on the balance sheet date.

The service cost incurred by the defined benefit
scheme and the net interest of the net liabilities and
net assets of the defined benefit scheme would be
charged to current profit or loss or relevant costs of
assets. The changes arising from the remeasurement
of the net liabilities or net assets of the defined benefit
scheme would be included in other comprehensive
income and are not reversed to profit or loss in a
subsequent accounting period; when the previously
defined benefit scheme is terminated, all of such
amount previously included in other comprehensive
income shall be carried forward to undistributed profit
within the scope of equity.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXl Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Accounting treatment method of post-
employment benefits (Continued)

(2) Defined benefit scheme (Continued)

When the defined benefit scheme is settled, the
gain or loss is recognised based on the difference
between the present value of obligations under the
defined benefit scheme and the settlement price at
the settlement date.

3. Accounting treatment method of termination
benefits

When the Company provides employees with termination
benefits, the staff remuneration liabilities arising from
termination benefits are recognised and recorded in
current profit or loss whichever of the following is earlier:
when the Company cannot unilaterally revoke such
termination benefits provided due to dissolution of labour
relationship plan or layoff proposal; when the Company
recognises such cost or expenses associated with
the restructuring involving the payment of termination
benefits.

(Xxi Estimated liabilities
The Company shall recognise an obligation related to
contingencies as the estimated liability, when all of the
following conditions are satisfied:

(1) such obligation is the present obligation of the Company;

(2) the performance of such obligation is likely to lead to an
outflow of economic benefits of the Company;

(3) the amount of such obligation can be reliably measured.
The estimated liabilities are initially measured at the best

estimate of expenditure required for the performance of
relevant present obligations.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXil) Estimated liabilities (Continued)

The Company shall take into consideration the risks,
uncertainties, time value of money and other factors relating
to the contingencies in determining the best estimate. If the
time value of money is significant, the best estimates shall be
determined after discount of relevant future cash outflows.

If there is a successive range of the required expenditure,
and the likelihood of occurrence of various results within
the range is the same, the best estimate is determined by
the intermediate value. In other cases, the best estimate is
handled as follows:

*  Where the contingency is related to individual item, the
best estimate should be determined as the most likely
amount.

*  Where the contingency is related to a number of items,
the best estimate should be calculated and determined
according to the various possible results and the relevant
probabilities.

When all or part of the expenditures necessary for the
settlement of an estimated liability is expected to be
compensated by a third party, the compensation should be
separately recognised as an asset only when it is virtually
certain that the compensation will be received. The amount
recognised for the compensation should not exceed the
carrying amount of estimated liabilities.

The Company reviews the carrying amount of estimated
liabilities on balance sheet date. If there is clear evidence that
the carrying amount does not reflect the current best estimate,
the carrying amount is adjusted to the current best estimate.

(XXV)Share-based payments

The share-based payments of the Company are transactions
that grant equity instruments or assume equity-instrument
based liabilities for receiving services rendered by employees
or other parties. The share-based payments of the Company
include equity-settled share-based payments and cash-settled
share-based payments.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXV) Share-based payments (Continued) 10 B4 243 (48)

Equity-settled share-based payments and
equity instruments

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange
for services rendered by employees are measured at the
fair value of equity instruments granted to employees.
If the equity instruments granted to employees vest
immediately, the fair value of the equity instruments
granted is, on grant date, recognised as relevant cost
or expenses with a corresponding increase in capital
reserve. If the equity instruments granted to employees
do not vest until the completion of services for a vesting
period, or until the specified performance conditions are
met, the Company, at each balance sheet date during the
vesting period, makes the best estimation according to
the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The
Company recognises the services received for the current
period as related costs or expenses, with a corresponding
increase in capital reserve, at an amount equal to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

If the terms of the equity-settled share-based payment
are amended, the Company shall recognise the services
received at least based on the situation before the
amendment was made. In addition, any amendment
resulting in the increase of the fair value of the equity
instrument granted or changes that are beneficial to the
staff on the amendment date will be recognised as an
increase in the service received.

During the vesting period, where the granted equity
instrument is cancelled, the Company shall accelerate
the exercise of rights thereunder, recognising the
outstanding amount for the remainder of the vesting
period in current profit or loss, while recognising capital
reserve. However, if new equity instruments are granted
and they are verified at the granting date of new equity
instrument as alternatives granted to the cancel led equity
instruments, the treatment on the new equity instrument
is in conformity with the modified treatment on disposal of
equity instrument with the same terms and conditions.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXIV) Share-based payments (Continued)

2.

Cash-settled share-based payments and
equity instruments

A cash-settled share-based payment shall be measured
in accordance with the fair value of liability calculated
and determined based on the shares or other equity
instruments undertaken by the Company. If the equity
instruments granted to employees vest immediately,
the fair value of the liability undertaken by the Company
shall, on the date of the grant, be included in the
relevant costs or expenses, and the liabilities shall be
increased accordingly. If the equity instruments granted
to employees do not vest until the completion of services
for a vesting period, or until the specified performance
conditions are met, at each balance sheet date during
the vesting period, the services obtained in the current
period shall, based on the best estimate of the information
about the exercisable right, be included in the relevant
costs or expenses and the corresponding liabilities at
the fair value of the liability undertaken by the Company.
On each of the balance sheet date and settlement date
before the settlement of the relevant liabilities, fair value
of the liabilities will be remeasured and the changes will
be included in the profit or loss for the current period.

The Company amends the terms and conditions of a
cash-settled share-based payment agreement to make it
become an equity-settled share-based payment. At the
date of amendment (whether occurring during or after
the end of a vesting period), the Company measures the
equity-settled share-based payment at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date by including the
acquired services in capital reserves and derecognising
the liability recognised for the cash-settled share-based
payment on the date of amendment, where the difference
is recognised in profit or loss for the current period. If a
vesting period is extended or shortened as a result of the
amendment, the Company will account for in accordance
with the amended vesting period.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XXV) Revenue (ZTEM A
c MABRAGTERANE T BE

1. Accounting policies for revenue recognition

and measurement

The Company recognises revenue when the performance
obligation in a contract is fulfilled, that is, the customer
obtains control over relevant goods or services. Control
over a good or service refers to the ability to direct the use
of the good or service, and obtain substantially all of the
benefits from the good or service.

If a contract contains two or more performance
obligations, at the commencement of the contract, the
Company allocates the transaction price into each
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individual performance obligation according to the relative LEfl BREGERSBESBERENE
proportion of each individual selling price of goods or e AR IEBOBESEBERNERL

services committed by individual performance obligation,
and recognises the revenue according to the transaction
price allocated to each individual performance obligation.

The transaction price is the amount of consideration to
which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties
and those expected to be refunded to the customer.
The Company considers the terms of the contract
and its customary business practices to determine the
transaction price. When determining the transaction
price, the Company considers the effects of variable
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consideration, the existence of a significant financing HAFEBRRUABRAIEIAISELESES
component in the contract, non-cash consideration and AELOHNSHEBEETREANZHUENR

consideration payable to a customer. The Company
determines the transaction price that includes variable
considerations based on the amount not exceeding the

ZEE - élﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂéﬁkn o
ARARERRBETEFERSAMARE
2H ARSI NNEN S BREE

revenue accumulatively recognised which is not likely to R HER  WEE R B EARAERF
be significantly reversed when the relevant uncertainty REBHZXHERESREE ZHED
disappears. Where there are significant financing EH o

elements in the contract, the Company determines the
transaction price based on the amount payable by the
assumption that the customer will pay in cash when he/
she obtains control over the promised goods or services.
The difference between the transaction price and the
amount of contract consideration is amortised using an
effective interest method over the contract term.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXV)Revenue (Continued)

Accounting policies for revenue recognition
and measurement (Continued)

When one of the following conditions is satisfied, the
Company is considered to have fulfiled an obligation
within a certain period of time. Otherwise, the Company is
considered to have fulfilled an obligation at a certain point
in time:

* At the same time when the Company fulfills the
obligation, the customer immediately obtains and
consumes the economic benefits brought about by
the Company’s performance.

» The customer can control the goods under
construction in the course of the Company’s
performance.

+ Goods produced in the course of the Company’s
performance are irreplaceable. In addition, during the
entire contract period, the Company has the right to
collect the payments for the cumulatively completed
parts of performance.

For a contractual obligation per formed within a certain
period of time, the Company recognises revenue by the
progress in performance over that period of time, except
where the progress cannot be reasonably determined. The
Company considers the nature of the goods or services
and adopts the output method or the input method to
determine the progress in performance. If the progress
in performance cannot be reasonably determined, but
the incurred costs are expected to be compensated, the
Company should recognise revenue on the basis of the
incurred costs till the progress in performance can be
reasonably determined.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXV) Revenue (Continued) (TR A (#8)

Accounting policies for revenue recognition
and measurement (Continued)

For a contractual obligation performed at a certain point
in time, the Company recognises revenue when the
customer obtains control over relevant goods or services.
In determining whether the customer has obtained control
over the goods or services, the Company considers the
following indications:

« The Company enjoys the present right to receive
payment for the goods or services, that is, the
customer has the present obligation to pay for the
goods or services.

*  The Company has transferred the legal ownership of
the goods to the customer, that is, the customer has
obtained the legal ownership of the goods.

+ The Company has physically transferred the goods
to the customer, that is, the customer has physically
taken possession of the goods.

« The Company has transferred the main risks
and rewards in the ownership of the goods to the
customer, that is, the customer has obtained the main
risks and rewards in the ownership of the goods.

*  The customer has accepted the goods or services.

The Company determines whether the Company is a
principal or an agent at the time of the transaction based
on whether or not it has control over the goods or services
before the transfer of the goods or services to the
customer. If the Company is able to control the goods or
services before the transfer of the goods or services to the
customer, the Company shall be the principal and shall
recognise the revenue according to the total consideration
received or receivable; Otherwise, the Company acts
as an agent and recognises revenue in the amount of
commissions or commissions that it is expected to be
entitled to.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XXV) Revenue (Continued) (TR A (8)
2 REXGEIREABRAERS
HXRat B 5%

2. Revenue recognition methods and
measurement approaches disclosed by
business type

(1) A2 A4 & B WA B R AR
2B K fE 8 B[R] 7 AL B8 A B % -

(1) The specific method of determining the
Company’s revenue recognition criteria and the
time of recognition of revenue from the sale of
goods:

The Company’s sales model is divided into direct
sales to domestic customers and direct sales
to foreign customers. The Company’s revenue
from domestic sales of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and accepted by the
counterparty. The Company’s revenue from external
sales of goods is recognised when the goods have
been declared at customs and the charter party bills
of lading has been obtained.

(2) Analysis and introduction of the corresponding

business characteristics of the Company’s
revenue from sales of goods

Shandong Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd. and
Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co.,
Ltd. are the main subsidiaries of the Company’s
external sales. Shandong Fengxiang Industrial
focuses on the raw chicken cutting products and
Shandong Fengxiang Food Development focuses
on processed and cooked chicken products. The
external sales customers are domestic advanced
payment customers, credit customers and export
customers, respectively. The Company grants credit
to different customers and enters into credit contracts
with customers with better reputation. The remaining
customers are generally advanced payment
customers.

RAHEBRADREHBEAEL R
BHHEENEP - ABAEEmEA
BEWEL B BERKIEER
HEWA - AR EARBARE
Y B B I BUS 8E 1R B R TR 8
WA o

(2) R AN FIEE B mRAEE
£ 3 75 145 B 0 W FIIT 4

WRBEFEZXRAR QB MLREFRF
EmBERERARRHIMEENE
BFRAAMENEADEERA
BRI RENBEARNIARM
RE-HIHETFP AN RERNE
WREP REFEPNLEOEP -
REAHTREP TUERE BR1E
BRENARARIRHEAR Hif
— R BERKER -

(XxV) Contract costs 17 & B B A

Contract costs comprise contract performance costs and ERKABEESERELDKANESRBREG
contract acquisition costs. BR o
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EEEFBERGMAE(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(Xxvl Contract costs (Continued) L1 &R B A (48)
The costs incurred by the Company for the performance of the AARIRETERMEBEENKAE  TBREF
contract which does not fall under the scope of the standards E BATEENEREESHBENRGEH
relating to inventories, fixed assets and intangible assets are B fEm R TR ERE B R QKA
recognised as an asset as contract performance costs when WRAE—IBEE:

the following conditions are met:

«  The cost is directly related to a current or expected s RAAHE-—GHEANNBHARNEGHNERE
contract. BEAERE

+  The cost increases the resources of the Company to fulfill s HEKAEMTAARRKRARBITEL
its performance obligations in the future. EBEHER -

+  The cost is expected to be recovered. o RZBKRTEEBRE MUK [E o

If the incremental cost incurred by the Company in obtaining ARARBREBEREENEEKKNTE Hﬂ B

the contract is expected to be recovered, such cost shall be HREW ERERIMEKAERE—

treated as contract acquisition cost and recognised as an BE -

asset.

Assets related to the cost of the contract are amortised on HERKAEHENEERAEZEERBAD

the same basis as the revenue recognition of the goods or ?ﬁuﬂ HREUATERAB R A BT

services related to the asset; however, if the amortisation BEEHNERIMGKAN#FEHARRBB—F

period of the contract acquisition cost is less than one year, B NRARIEZHERKETASBER -

the Company will include it into the current profit or loss when

is incurs.

For assets related to contract costs whose carrying amount is HERMKAERMNEE HEEEERRT

higher than the difference between the following two items, the FIRMNIEM ZFE - ANA R E B 5 R

Company will make provision for impairment for the excess BEE THERSEEREBEIBL:

and recognise it as asset impairment loss:

1. The remaining consideration expected to be obtained by 1- HEEEZEEMBBNN MR ES
the transfer of goods or services related to the asset; B S0 EX 15 /O Tl £ 2T (B

2. The cost expected to be incurred for the transfer of the 2 REFEFZHBEN QKRB EERE
relevant goods or services. B BK AN o
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

XXVl Contract costs (Continued)

If the above-mentioned excess is higher than the book value
of such assets as a result of any subsequent change of
impairment factors in the previous period, the provision for
impairment of assets previously made shall be reversed and
included in profit or loss for the period as incurred to the extent
the book value of the reversed asset shall not exceed the book
value of the asset on the date of the reverse assuming no
provision for impairment is made.

(V) Government grants

Types

Government grants are monetary assets and nonmonetary
assets obtained by the Company from the government for
free, and are divided into government grants related to
assets and government grants related to revenue.

Government grants related to assets are those obtained
by the Company for the purposes of acquisition,
construction or otherwise forming a long-term asset.
Government grants related to revenue refer to the
government grants other than those related to assets.

The specific criteria for classifying government grants as
asset-related are: government documents specify that
the grants are for long-term assets obtained, acquired or
constructed or otherwise formed by the enterprise.

The specific criteria for classifying government grants as
revenue-related are: government documents specify that
the grants are for expenses or losses.

If government documents do not specify the target of
the subsidy, basis of determination for asset-related
government grants or revenue-related government
grants are: the Company classifies government grants
as a whole as revenue-related government grants and
includes them in current profit or loss, or recognises them
as current revenue in installments over the project period,
depending on the circumstances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

XXVl Government grants (Continued)

2.

Timing for recognition

Government grants are recognised when the Company
can comply with the conditions attached to it and when it
can be received.

Accounting treatment

Asset-related government grants shall be used to offset
the carrying amount of relevant asset or recognised as
deferred income. The amount recognised as deferred
income shall be included in current profit or loss by
installments in a reasonable and systematic way over the
useful life of the relevant assets (the government grants
related to the Company’s daily activities shall be included
in other income; and the government grants unrelated
to the Company’s daily activities shall be included in
non-operating income).

Government grants related to revenue that are used to
compensate relevant costs or losses of the Company in
subsequent periods are recognised as deferred income
and included in current profit or loss when such costs
or losses are recognised (government grants related to
the Company’s daily activities shall be included in other
income; government grants unrelated to the Company’s
daily activities shall be included in non-operating income)
or are used to offset relevant costs or losses; and the
grants used to compensate relevant costs or losses that
have incurred by the Company are included directly in
current profit or loss (government grants related to the
Company’s daily activities shall be included in other
income; government grants unrelated to the Company’s
daily activities shall be included in non-operating income)
or are used to offset relevant costs or losses.

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXV) Government grants (Continued)

3. Accounting treatment (Continued)

The interest subsidies for policy-related preferential loans
obtained by the Company are divided into two types and
subject to accounting treatment separately:

(1)

Where the interest subsidies are appropriated from
the fiscal funds to the lending bank and then the
bank provides loans to Company at a policy-based
preferential interest rate, the Company will recognise
the amount of borrowings received as the initial value
and calculate the borrowing costs according to the
principal amount and the policy-based preferential
interest rate.

Where the interest subsidies are paid directly to
the Company, the Company will use such interest
subsidies to offset the corresponding borrowing
costs.

(XviiDeferred income tax assets and deferred income
tax liabilities

Income tax comprises current and deferred income tax.

Current income tax and deferred income tax are recognised in
current profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a
business combination or items included directly in equity (including
other comprehensive income).
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
CNEERSHEEMELEFRSHAR(E)

(XxvinDeferred income tax assets and deferred income

tax liabilities (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities
are calculated and recognised based on the differences (temporary
differences) between the tax bases and the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the extent of taxable income that is
likely to be obtained in the future period to offset the deductible
temporary differences. For deductible losses and tax credits
that can be carried forward to future years, deferred income
tax assets shall be recognised to the extent of future taxable
income that is likely to be obtained to offset the deductible
losses and tax credits.

Save for exceptions, deferred income tax liabilities shall be
recognised for the taxable temporary difference.

The exceptions for not recognition of deferred income tax
assets or deferred income tax liabilities include:

» the initial recognition of the goodwiill;

+ Other transactions or matters other than business
combinations in which neither profit nor taxable income (or
deductible loss) will be affected when transactions occur,
and initial recognition of assets and liabilities that do not
result in taxable temporary differences and deductible
temporary differences in equal amounts.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences relating to the investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference, and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. When
it is probable that the temporary differences relating to the
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures will
be reversed in the foreseeable future and that taxable income
is likely to be obtained in the future to offset the deductible
temporary differences, deferred income tax assets will be
recognised.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XxvinDeferred income tax assets and deferred income

tax liabilities (Continued)

On the balance sheet date, deferred income tax assets and
deferred income tax liabilities are measured at the applicable
tax rates during the period when the relevant assets are
expected to be recovered or the relevant liabilities are
expected to be settled in accordance with the provisions of the
tax law.

The carrying amount of a deferred income tax asset is
reviewed on the balance sheet date, and is reduced when
sufficient taxable income is not likely to be obtained in future
periods to offset the benefit of deferred income tax assets.
Such reduction will be reversed when sufficient taxable income
is likely to be obtained.

When the Company has a legal right to set-off and intends
either to settle on a net basis or to acquire the income tax
asset and settle the income tax liability simultaneously, current
income tax assets and current income tax liabilities shall be
presented as the net amount after offsetting.

On the balance sheet date, deferred income tax assets
and deferred income tax liabilities are presented in their net
amount after offsetting when all of the following conditions are
met:

*+  When the taxable entity has the legal right to set off
current income tax assets and current income tax
liabilities on a net basis;

*  When the deferred income tax assets and deferred
income tax liabilities are related to income tax to be
paid by the same entity liable to pay tax to the same tax
authority, or related to different entities liable to pay tax
but the relevant entities intend to settle on a net basis or
to acquire the income tax assets and settle the income
tax liabilities simultaneously in the future period in which
significant deferred income tax assets and liabilities would
be reversed.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX Lease CrEE

A lease is a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration. At inception
of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys the right to control the use of one or
more identified asset(s) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For a contract that contains multiple separate lease, the
Company separates and accounts for each lease component
as a lease separately. For a contract that contains lease and
non-lease components, the lessee and lessor separates the
lease and non-lease components.

1. The Company as a lessee
(1) Right-of-use assets

At the commencement date of lease term, the
Company recognises right-of-use assets for leases
(excluding short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets). Right-of-use assets are measured initially at
cost. Such cost comprises:

¢ The amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

* Lease payments made at or before the inception
of the lease less any lease incentives already
received (if there is a lease incentive);

< Initial direct costs incurred by the Company;

e The costs of the Company expected to be
incurred for dismantling and removing the leased
asset, restoring the site on which the leased
asset is located or restoring it to the condition as
agreed in the terms of the lease, except those
incurred for the production of inventories.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Lease (Continued)

1.

The Company as a lessee (Continued)

(1) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Company subsequently depreciates right of-
use assets using the straight-line method. If there is
reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain
the ownership of a leased asset at the end of the
lease term, the Company depreciates the right-of-
use asset from the commencement date to the end
of the useful life of the underlying asset; otherwise,
the Company depreciates the leased asset from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
lease term or the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use asset.

The Company determines whether the right-of use
assets have been impaired in accordance with the
principles described in the note “lll. (XIX) Impairment
of long-term assets” and conducts accounting
treatment for impairment loss identified.

(2) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of lease term, the
Company recognises lease liabilities for leases (excluding
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets).
Lease liabilities are initially measured based on the
present value of outstanding lease payments. Lease
payments include:

* Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives (if there is
a lease incentive);

* Variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate;
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Lease (Continued)

1.

The Company as a lessee (Continued)

(2) Lease liabilities (Continued)

« Amounts expected to be payable under the
guaranteed residual value provided by the
Company;

« The exercise price of a purchase option if the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise that
option;

* Payments for terminating the lease option, if
the lease term reflects that the Company will
exercise that option.

The Company adopts the interest rate implicit in
the lease as the discount rate. If that rate cannot be
determined reasonably, the Company’s incremental
borrowing rate is used.

The Company shall calculate the interest expenses
of lease liabilities over each period of the lease term
at the fixed periodic interest rate, and include such
expenses into current profit or loss or cost of relevant
assets.

Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities are included into
current profit or loss or cost of relevant assets when
actually incurred.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Lease (Continued)

1.

The Company as a lessee (Continued)
(2) Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date of lease term, the
Company re-measures the lease liabilities and
adjusts the corresponding right-of-use assets under
the following circumstances. If the carrying value of
the right-of-use assets has been reduced to zero, and
the lease liabilities still need to be further reduced,
the difference is included into current profit or loss:

When there in a change in the assessment
results of the purchase, extension or termination
option, or when the actual exercise of the
aforementioned options is inconsistent with
the original assessment results, the Company
remeasures the lease liabilities in accordance
with the lease payments after changes and
the present value calculated using the revised
discount rate;

When there is a change in substantial fixed
payments, the amount expected to be payable
under the guaranteed residual value or the
index or rate used to determine lease payments,
the Company remeasures the lease liabilities
in accordance with the lease payments after
changes and the present value calculated using
the initial discount rate. However, if the change in
lease payments is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, a revised discount rate is used for
the calculation of present value.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Lease (Continued)

1. The Company as a lessee (Continued)

(3)

(4)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Company chooses not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets, and includes the relevant
lease payments into current profit or loss or cost of
relevant assets over each period of the lease term on
a straight-line basis. Short-term leases refer to leases
with a lease term of not more than 12 months from
the commencement date of lease term and excluding
a purchase option. Leases of low-value assets refer
to leases that the single underlying asset, when is
new, is of low value. Where the Company subleases
or expects to sublease a leased asset, the original
lease is not a lease of low value asset.

Lease change

The Company will account for the lease change as
a separate lease if the lease changes and meets the
following conditions:

*  The lease change expands the scope of lease by
increasing the rights to use one or more leased
assets;

*« The increased consideration and the individual
price of the expanded part of the lease are
equivalent to the amount adjusted for the
contract.

If the lease change is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Company shall re-allocate the
consideration of a changed contract, redetermine
the lease term, and remeasure the lease liabilities in
accordance with the lease payments after changes
and the present value calculated using the revised
discount rate on the effective date of the lease
change.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Lease (Continued)

1.

The Company as a lessee (Continued)
(4) Lease change (Continued)

If the lease change results in a narrower lease or
a shorter lease term, the Company reduces the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset accordingly,
and includes the gains or losses related to partial or
complete termination of the leases into current profit
or loss. For other lease change that cause the lease
liabilities to be remeasured, the Company adjusts the
carrying value of the right-of-use assets accordingly.

The Company as a lessor

At the commencement date of lease term, the Company
classifies leases as financing leases and operating leases.
A financing lease is a lease that transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased
asset, irrespective of whether the ownership of the asset
is eventually transferred. An operating lease is a lease
other than a finance lease. As a sub-leasing lessor, the
Company classifies the sub-leases based on the right-of-
use assets of the original leases.

(1) Accounting treatment of operating leases

The lease payments derived from operating leases
are recognised as rental income on a straight-line
basis over the respective lease term. Initial direct
costs relating to operating leases to be incurred by
the Company shall be capitalised and then included
into the current profit or loss by stages at the same
base as the recognition of rental income over the
lease term. The variable lease payments not included
in the measurement of lease payments shall be
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are occurred. Where there is a modification in an
operating lease, the Company accounts for it as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
and the amount of lease receipts received in advance
or receivable relating to the premodification lease is
treated as receipts under the new lease.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XXX) Lease (Continued) CHEE (&)

2. The Company as a lessor (Continued) 2 XRAERHBAA(E)

(2) Accounting treatment of financing leases 2) BEHEZEE

At the commencement date of lease term, the
Company recognises financing lease receivable for
financing leases and derecognises the underlying
assets. The Company initially measures financing
lease receivable in the amount of net investment in
the lease. Net investment in the lease is the sum of
present value of unguaranteed residual value and the
lease payments receivable at the commencement
date of lease term, discounted at the interest rate
implicit in the lease.

The Company calculates and recognises interest
income in each period during the lease term, based
on a constant periodic interest rate. The derecognition
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and impairment of financing lease receivable are BERBAWZII=Z - (H)&@I
accounted for in accordance with the note “Ill. (X) BTSRRI -

Financial instruments”.

Variable lease payments not included in the RARMAHEREFRITENATEM
measurement of the net investment in the lease are ENFRBEEEREZERTAESR
included in profit or loss in the period in which they B o

are occurred.

When a financial lease is changed and the following
conditions are simultaneously met, the Company
accounts for the lease change as a separate lease:

+ The change expands the scope of lease by
adding the right to use one or more leased
assets;

e The increased consideration and the individual
price of the expanded part of the lease are
equivalent to the amount adjusted for the
contract.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX) Lease (Continued)
2. The Company as a lessor (Continued)

(2) Accounting treatment of financing leases
(Continued)

Where a change in a financial lease is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Company deals with the
lease after the change according to the following
situations:

« In case where the lease would have been
classified as an operating lease assuming
the modification became effective at the
commencement date of the lease, the Company
accounts for it as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification and the net investment
in the lease prior to the effective date of the
modification is taken as the carrying amount of
the leased assets;

* In case where the lease would have been
classified as a finance lease assuming
the modification became effective at the
commencement date of the lease, the Company
conducts accounting treatment in accordance
with the policy regarding the modification or
renegotiation of contracts described in note “lIl. (X)
Financial instruments”.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XXX) Lease (Continued) CHEE (&)

3. Sale and leaseback transactions 3- EAHEXS

The Company determines whether the asset transfer in the AREBEBAKNZEIZ - (Z+R)KAIFT
sale and leaseback transaction is a sale in accordance with MRAFEEEESRERRSPNEE
the principles described in notes “lIl. (XXV) Revenue”. EEELBRNEE -

(1) 1ERAMA

(1) As alessee

EREOXZFFNEEE BN H

If the asset transfer in the sale and leaseback

transaction is a sale, the Company, as a lessee, Er - RRERERMEARREER
measures the right-of-use assets formed by the HAEETEHECDESHEREER
sale and leaseback based on the part of the book BWE s srEEERMEEMEXSFE
value of the original assets related to the use rights AEEE WEMREZEZHEALN

RANEREBNSHBLR EHE
HRKER ERAEEENMHER

obtained from the leaseback, and recognise relevant
gains or losses only for the right transferred to the

lessor; After the commencement date of lease BEMREFERE % B E R RN
term, the subsequent measurement of the right- FI=Z - (Z+ )& AR alE
of-use asset and lease liability, as well as lease ABAERRAl- EEERMADMEK

MEERBEETRENER A7
BEHENKEREERBENRK
BHO AT S E AR EME DM
BHNERBEEHENNGHEBELXR &
BREERRXZHHEEEETBRHE
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BREE RANBEI -HEEZRK
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modifications are detailed in Note “lll. (XXIX) Leases
1. The Company as a lessee”. When conducting
subsequent measurement of the lease liability arising
from a sale and leaseback transaction, the Company
confirms that the method for determining either
the lease payment amount or the modified lease
payment amount will not result in recognizing gains
or losses related to the right-of-use obtained from the

leaseback. If the transfer of assets in the sale and ATEEAFRAMEFI=Z () &®
leaseback transaction is not a sale, the Company, TA]-
as a lessee, continues to recognise the transferred
assets and recognises a financial liability equal to the
transfer income. For details of accounting treatment
for financial liabilities, please see note “lll. (X)
Financial instruments”.
(2) As a lessor (2) fERHHEA

If the transfer of assets in the sale and leaseback
transaction is a sale, the Company, as a lessor,
accounts for asset purchase, and accounts for asset
lease in accordance with policies in the aforementioned “2.
The Company as a lessor”;
in the sale and leaseback transaction is not a sale,
the Company, as a lessor, does not recognise the
transferred assets, but recognises a financial asset
equal to the transfer income. For details of accounting
treatment for financial assets, please see note “Ill. (X)
Financial instruments”.

if the transfer of assets
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Hedge Accounting

Classification of hedging

(1) Fair value hedge is a hedge of the exposure to
changes in fair value of a recognised asset or liability
or an unrecognised firm commitment (except foreign
exchange risk).

(2) Cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to
a particular risk associated with a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction,
or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm
commitment.

(3) Hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
is a hedge of the exposure to foreign exchange
risk associated with a net investment in a foreign
operation. Net investment in a foreign operation is
the share of interest in the net asset of the foreign
operation.

Designation of the hedge relationship and
recognition of the effectiveness of hedging

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group
formally designates the hedge relationship and
documents the hedge relationship, the risk management
objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge. The
documentation includes identification of the nature and
quantity of the hedging instrument, the nature and quantity
of the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged,
the type of hedging and how the Group will assess the
hedging instrument’s effectiveness. Hedging instrument’s
effectiveness means the degree of the change of fair
value and cash flow of the hedging instrument in offsetting
the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

The hedge is assessed by the Company for effectiveness
on an ongoing basis and judged whether it meets the
requirements for the effectiveness of using hedge
accounting throughout the accounting periods for which
the hedging relationship was designated. Provided the
discontent of the requirements, the application of a hedge
shall be terminated.
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S EEEBEREfhE (E)

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Hedge Accounting (Continued)

2. Designation of the hedge relationship and
recognition of the effectiveness of hedging
(Continued)

The application of hedge accounting shall meet the
following requirements on the effectiveness of the hedge:

(1

)

There is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument.

The effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship.

The appropriate hedge ratio will not cause the
imbalance of relative weight between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, thus generating
accounting results inconsistent with the hedge
accounting objectives. If the hedge ratio is no longer
inappropriate, but the hedge risk management
objectives do not change, the amount of the hedged
item or the hedging instrument shall be adjusted, so
that the hedge ratio can re-meet the requirements on
the effectiveness.

3. Criteria for hedge accounting

(1) Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative
is recognised in the current profit or loss. The change
in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to
the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the carrying
amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in
the current profit or loss.

For fair value hedges relating to financial instruments
carried at amortised cost, the adjustment to carrying
amount is amortised through the current profit or loss
over the remaining term to maturity. Any adjustment
to the carrying amount of a hedged financial
instrument for which the effective interest method
is used is amortised to the current profit or loss.
Amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment
exists and shall begin no later than when the hedged
item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair
value attributable to the risk being hedged.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Hedge Accounting (Continued)

3. Criteria for hedge accounting (Continued)

(1)

(2)

Fair value hedges (Continued)

If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised
fair value is recognised immediately in the current
profit or loss.

When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated
as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change
in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to
the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability
with a corresponding gain or loss recognised in the
current profit or loss. The changes in the fair value
of the hedging instrument are also recognised in the
current profit or loss.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recognised directly as other
comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion
is recognised immediately in the current profit or loss.

Amounts taken to other comprehensive income are
transferred to the current profit or loss when the
hedged transaction affects the current profit or loss,
such as when hedged financial income or financial
expense is recognised or when a forecast sale
occurs. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-
financial asset or non-financial liability, the amounts
taken to other comprehensive income are transferred
to the initial carrying amount of the non-financial
asset or non-financial liability (or originally recognised
in other comprehensive income, and transferred in
the same period as the profit and loss is affected by
the non-financial assets and non-financial liability,
the amounts shall be included in the current profit or
loss).
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX} Hedge Accounting (Continued)

3. Criteria for hedge accounting (Continued)

(2)

(3)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no
longer expected to occur, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to the current profit or loss. If the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised
without replacement or rollover, or if its designation
as a hedge is revoked, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income remain in
there until the forecast transaction or firm commitment
affects the current profit or loss.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation,
including a hedge of a monetary item that is
accounted for as part of the net investment, are
accounted for in a similar way to cash flow hedges.
Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating
to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised
in other comprehensive income while any gains
or losses relating to the ineffective portion are
recognised in the current profit or loss. On disposal
of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any
such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred
to the current profit or loss.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXX) Repurchase the shares of the Company

Shares repurchased by the Company for employee equity
incentive purposes is handled as follows:

When shares are repurchased, they should be treated as
treasury shares in accordance with the full expense of the
repurchased shares and be registered for record purposes.

At each balance sheet date during the vesting period, the
Company recognises the services received as related costs or
expenses, with a corresponding increase in capital reserve (other
capital reserves), at an amount equal to the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

When the employee exercises the rights to repurchase
shares of the Company, the Company writes off the cost of
treasury shares delivered to the employee upon receipt of
consideration and the cumulative amount from capital reserve (other
capital reserves) during the vesting period, while its difference
is adjusted to capital reserve (share premium).
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXXl Debt restructuring

1.

The Company as a creditor

The Company derecognises the debt receivable upon
the termination of the contractual right to receive cash
flows from the debt. When a debt is settled by an
asset or conversion into an equity instrument in a debt
restructuring, the Company recognises relevant asset
when the definition and recognition criteria for the asset
are satisfied.

When a debt is settled by assets in a debt restructuring,
on initial recognition, the non-financial assets received are
measured at cost. The cost of inventories includes the fair
value of the debt receivable and any directly attributable
expenditure, including taxes, transportation costs,
handling costs, insurance and other costs, for bringing
the assets to the current position and condition. The cost
of investment in associates or joint ventures includes
the fair value of the debt receivable and any directly
attributable taxes and other costs of the investment.
The cost of investment properties includes the fair value
of the debt receivable and any directly attributable
taxes and other costs of the investment properties. The
cost of fixed assets includes the fair value of the debt
receivable and any directly attributable expenditure,
including taxes, transportation costs, handling costs,
installation costs, professional service costs and other
costs, for bringing the assets to working condition for
intended use. The cost of biological assets includes
the fair value of the debt receivable and any directly
attributable taxes, transportation costs, insurance and
other costs of the assets. The cost of intangible assets
includes the fair value of the debt receivable and any
directly attributable taxes and other costs, for bringing
the assets to working condition for intended use. When
a debt settled by conversion into an equity instrument in
a debt restructuring causes the creditor to convert the
debt receivable to an equity investment of joint ventures
or associates, the Company shall measure the initial
investment cost based on the sum of the fair value of
debt receivable, and any directly attributable taxes and
other costs of the asset. The difference between the fair
value and the carrying amount of the debt receivable is
recognised in profit or loss for the current period.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXXl Debt restructuring (Continued)

The Company as a creditor (Continued)

When a debt restructuring involves the modification of
other terms of a debt, the Company recognises and
measures the restructured debt receivable in accordance
with “lll. (X) Financial Instruments”.

When a debt is settled by multiple assets or combination
of various methods in a debt restructuring, the Company
firstly recognises and measures the financial assets
received and restructured debt receivable in accordance
with “Ill. (X) Financial Instruments”, and then allocates the
net value, which is the fair value of the debt receivable
deducted by the recognised total carrying amount of
financial assets received and restructured debt receivable,
to the costs of non-financial assets received based on
their relative fair value, and the cost of each asset is
determined separately based on the aforementioned
method. The difference between the fair value and the
carrying amount of the debt receivable is recognised in
profit or loss for the current period.

The Company as the debtor

The Company derecognises debts when its current
obligation to the debts is discharged.

In the case of the debt restructuring by way of payment
with assets, the Company derecognises the debts when
the relevant assets and the settled debts meet the
derecognition conditions, and the difference between the
carrying value of the settled debts and the carrying value
of the transferred assets shall be charged to current profit
or loss.

In the case of the debt restructuring by converting debts
into equity instruments, the Company derecognises the
debts when the settled debts meet the derecognition
conditions. The Company initially recognises the equity
instruments at their fair value. If their fair value cannot be
measured reliably, the measurement shall be made at
the fair value of the settled debts. The difference between
the carrying value of the settled debts and the amount
recognised for the equity instruments shall be charged to
current profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXXl) Debt restructuring (Continued) CEBEA (B)

2. The Company as the debtor (Continued)

2 XRAERBBEBA(E)

In the case of the debt restructuring by modifying other FAECRAEMGRAAAETEKEA
terms, the Company recognises and measures the B AREEBRARZE= - (H)e/T
restructured debts in accordance with “lll. (X) Financial BmRMGAEEHET -

Instruments” in the notes.

In the case of the debt restructuring by way of payment
with multiple assets or by combined means, the Company
recognises and measures the equity instruments and
restructured debts under the aforementioned method, and
the difference between the carrying value of the settled
debts and the sum of the carrying value of the transferred
assets and the amount recognised for the equity
instruments and restructured debts shall be charged to
current profit or loss.

(XXXl)Segment Reporting

The Company determines its operating segments based on its
internal organizational structure, management requirements
and internal reporting system, identifies reporting segment
on the basis of operating segments, and discloses segment
information.

An operating segment is a component of the Company
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that meets the following conditions simultaneously: (1) the HAKES D - (BRI DM B IS
component is able to generate revenues and incur expenses REEARA ZEER: QAR AIEEERE
in its daily activities; (2) the Company’s management is able HEMFEZAEKIBOLEERR  UAE
to regularly evaluate the operating results of the component MEREBEER FEHES QXA AIEH
to make decisions on allocating resources and assessing BISZAK DM BN  KEKRMNE
performance; (3) the Company can obtain financial information EREZFFUSHEE MEXZELED

regarding the financial position, operating results and cash
flows of the component. Two or more operating segments with
similar economic characteristics and meeting certain criteria
may be aggregated into a single operating segment.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXXv)Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Company continuously evaluates estimates and
judgments based on historical experience and other factors,
including reasonable projections of future events under
relevant circumstances. The Company makes estimates and
assumptions about the future. Accounting estimates under
judgments are seldom equal the actual results. The risks
of making estimates and assumptions that could result in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next accounting year are discussed as
follows.

(1) Net realisable value of inventories is lower

than inventories

The net realisable value of inventory is the estimated
selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of
activities, less the estimated costs to be incurred at
completion, estimated selling expenses and related taxes.
These estimates are based on current market conditions
and historical experience in selling products of a similar
nature. In severe industry cycles, inventories may
change significantly due to the actions of competitors.
Management will re-estimate at the reporting date. The
carrying amounts of the Company’s inventories are
disclosed in Note V.(VI) to the financial statements.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXXv)Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

2)

(3

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
inventories, biological assets and goodwill)

The Company assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including
investment in associates and the right-of-use assets) at
the end of each reporting period. For intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives, the impairment test is conducted
at the end of each year or when there are indicators of
impairment. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators of impairment
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and the present value
of the future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset. The calculation of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When calculating the present
value of the future cash flows expected to be derived
from the asset, the management shall estimate the future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset or the
group of assets, and select appropriate discount rate in
calculation of the present value of cash flows.

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The management of the Group recognises the fair value
less sales cost of biological assets at the end of the
reporting period with reference to market pricing, species,
growing environment, costs incurred and professional
valuation. The Directors of the Company worked closely
with qualified external valuers to select the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for the model. The
decision involves the application of significant judgments.
If actual results differ from management’s estimates,
the relevant differences from the original estimates will
affect the fair value changes in the current and future
periods. Details of the carrying amounts and fair value
measurements of the Company’s biological assets are
disclosed in Note V.(XI) to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXxv)Critical accounting estimates and judgments
(Continued)

(4) Income tax and value-added tax

The Company is subject to various taxes in the PRC.
Meanwhile, the Company enjoys various tax benefits in
the PRC. For example, the Company is exempted from
enterprise income tax for its operations engaging in
primary processing for agricultural products and animal-
husbandry and poultry feeding, and is exempted from
value-added tax on its revenue from the sales of its own
agricultural products. There are various transactions
and calculations in the ordinary course of business that
result in uncertainties as to the ultimate taxable income.
The Company recognises the related tax based on best
estimates. If the tax outcome of the matter differs from
the initial recorded amount, such difference will affect
the current profit or loss. In addition, the realisation of
income tax and value-added taxes is dependent on
the Company’s capability to generate sufficient taxable
income in the future. The aforesaid estimates, income tax
rates and future profitability will result in adjustments to
the value of tax assets and liabilities.

(XXxV) Changes in significant accounting policies and
estimates

1.

Changes in significant accounting policies

(1) Implementation of Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises Interpretation No.17

The MOF issued the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises Interpretation No. 17 (Cai Kuai
[2023] No.21, hereinafter referred to as “Interpretation
No. 17”) on 25 October 2023.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A

SHEUHR/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

CHEEEE & et R A E (&)

(4) TEHEEEHR

ARPEBRNERMNZRBRE - R
AAREFEEEZEHELES  §
meARASRORERTNMIARE
HERBEABEEBRBLEEMEH
HEBEREMNBALBEEN - &
BREBBETFEZER S RAE
TR EHAREEEETRKEABAT
BE- - ARRARBEZEMGTERBEN
B OEAZFENRKERBVBLES
BREZR NEAREZRRSEEEHE
& o AN - FTIS B R B B A B 3R BUR
RARBDEREEABELERHEAR
WARBE SN - Lt fhat EH - AISHH
EARARBMENBERHHIBEE
RBEEEFOHE -

HEESARENEAAANEE

1 EEETHREE

(1) BT(E S ERIEIEE
1758)

Bf IR #0 7A20234F 10 8258 A T
(EEFERBEREFI17TREIH
2[20231215% - LA T & B #E B E
1758%]) ©



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XX Changes in significant accounting policies and CrHEERtBRNEHETNEEE)
estimates (Continued)
1. Changes in significant accounting 1- EEEREKBE(H)
policies (Continued)

(1) Implementation of Accounting Standards (1) BT E G ERFESE

for Business Enterprises Interpretation 17550 (&)

No.17 (Continued)

@ Classification of Current and Non-current ® BERABDEREIABERE
Liabilities 7 & 5
Interpretation No. 17 specifies that: RIEBE1TIRAME

If a company does not have the substantive
right to defer settlement of liabilities for more
than one year after the balance sheet date,
such liabilities shall be classified as current
liabilities.

For liabilities arising from corporate loan
arrangements, the right of a company to
defer the settlement of liabilities to more than
one year after the balance sheet date may
depend on its performance of covenants
as stipulated in the loan arrangement
(hereinafter referred to as the covenants).
A company, in determining whether or not it
has a substantive right to defer settlement of
the liability, shall only take into account the
covenants that should have been complied
with on or before the balance sheet
date, and shall not take into account the
covenants that should be complied with by
the company after the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXxV) Changes in significant accounting policies and
estimates (Continued)

1. Changes in significant accounting
policies (Continued)

(1) Implementation of Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises Interpretation
No.17 (Continued)

®

Classification of Current and Non-current
Liabilities (Continued)

Settlement of a liability for the purpose
of division of a liability based on liquidity
means that the company discharges the
liability by transferring cash, other economic
resources (such as goods or services) or
the company’s own equity instruments to
the counterparty. If the terms of the liability
result in the company settling the liability
by delivering its own equity instruments
at the option of the counterparty, and if
the company classifies the above option
as an equity instrument and recognizes
it separately as an equity component
of a compound financial instrument in
accordance with the requirements of
the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 37 — Presentation
of Financial Instruments, the terms of
the liability shall not affect the liquidity
classification of the liability.

SHEUHR/ARYET)

S EEEBEREfhE (E)

This provision is effective from 1 January 2024.
When implementing this provision for the first
time, a company shall make adjustments to the
information for comparable period in accordance
with this provision. The implementation of
this provision has no significant impact on the
financial condition and results of operation of the

Company.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESTTHERER MG (B)

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

il

HIEERHRE AR 0B E (8)

XXV Changes in significant accounting policies and
estimates (Continued)
1. Changes in significant accounting 1- EEEREKBE(H)
policies (Continued)

(1) B77(LEESFERFREE
1758 ) (&)

(1) Implementation of Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises Interpretation
No.17 (Continued)

@ Disclosures Regarding Suppliers Financing Q@ HMRHEEERELTHNEE

Arrangements

Interpretation No. 17 specifies that a company
in making disclosure in notes shall summarize
and disclose information about supplier financing
arrangements, to assist users of the statements
in assessing the impact of these arrangements
on the liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk of the company. The impact of
supplier financing arrangements should also
be considered when identifying and disclosing
information about liquidity risk. The disclosure
requirement applies only to supplier financing
arrangements. A supplier financing arrangement
is a transaction with the following characteristics:
one or more financing providers providing funds
for the payment of company’s amounts due to its
suppliers, with an agreement that the company
shall make repayment to the finance providers
in accordance with terms and conditions of the
arrangement on or after the date the company
receives payment from its suppliers. The
supplier financing arrangement shall extend the
payment period for the company or advance the
collection period for the suppliers of the business
enterprise compared to the original due date of
payment.

This provision is effective from 1 January 2024.
When implementing this provision for the first
time, a company is not necessary to disclose
information related to the comparable period and
some information at the beginning of the period.
The implementation of this provision has no
significant impact on the financial condition and
results of operation of the Company.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

(XXxV) Changes in significant accounting policies and
estimates (Continued)

1. Changes in significant accounting
policies (Continued)

(1) Implementation of Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises Interpretation

No.17 (Continued)

® Accounting Treatment for Sale and

Leaseback Transactions

Interpretation No. 17 specifies that when a
lessee subsequently measures a lease liability
arising from sale and leaseback, the manner
of which it determines the amount of the lease
payments or the amount of the lease payments
after the change shall not result in the recognition
of a gain or loss relating to the right of use
acquired in connection with the leaseback. A
company shall make retrospective adjustments
to sale and leaseback transactions initiated
after the date of initial implementation of the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
No. 21 — Leasing when implementing this
provision for the first time. The implementation
of this provision has no significant impact on the
financial condition and results of operation of the
Company.
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lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESHBRRREHMAF(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
(XX Changes in significant accounting policies and CrHEERtBRNEHETNEEE)
estimates (Continued)
1. Changes in significant accounting 1- EEEREKBE(H)
policies (Continued)
(2) BT EXABREFIEH S &

(2) Implementation of the Interim Provisions on

the Accounting Treatment of Enterprise Data
Resources

The Ministry of Finance issued the Interim Provisions
on the Accounting Treatment of Enterprise Data
Resources (Cai Kuai [2023] No. 11) on 1 August
2023. These provisions apply to the relevant
accounting treatment of data resources that meet
the recognition criteria for intangible assets or
inventory under the relevant enterprise accounting
standards, as well as data resources that are legally
owned or controlled by the enterprise, expected to
bring economic benefits to the enterprise, but do not
meet the conditions for asset recognition and have
not been recognized. The provisions also specify
requirements for the disclosure of data resources.

These provisions have come into effect on 1 January
2024. Enterprises should adopt the prospective
application method. Expenditures related to data
resources that have been expensed and included
in profit or loss prior to the implementation of these
provisions will not be adjusted. The implementation
of these provisions has not had a significant impact
on the Company’s financial position and operating
results.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )
lll. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND S EESHBREREME(E)
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

() Changes in significant accounting policies and CHHEZEFBRMNEAEHTNEE(B)
estimates (Continued)

1. Changes in significant accounting 1- EEEREKBE(H)
policies (Continued)

(3) Implementation of the Interpretation No. 18 of

the Enterprise Accounting Standards “Regarding
the Accounting Treatment of Warranty-type
Quality Assurances That Do Not Constitute a
Separate Performance Obligation”

The Ministry of Finance issued Interpretation No. 18
of the Enterprise Accounting Standards (Cai Kuai [2024]
No. 24, hereinafter referred to as the “Interpretation
No. 18”) on 6 December 2024. This interpretation
has come into effect immediately upon issuance,
and enterprises may choose to apply it in advance
starting from the year of release.

The Interpretation No. 18 stipulates that when
accounting for the estimated liabilities arising
from warranty-type quality assurances that do
not constitute a separate performance obligation,
enterprises should follow the relevant provisions
of Enterprise Accounting Standards No. 13 —
Contingencies and, based on the determined
estimated liability amount, debit accounts such as “cost
of goods sold” or “other business costs” and credit
the “estimated liabilities” account. Corresponding
items should be presented in the statement of profit
and loss under “operating costs” and in the balance
sheet under “other current liabilities”, “non-current
liabilities due within one year”, “estimated liabilities”,
etc.

When an enterprise applies this interpretation for the
first time, if the warranty-type quality assurance was
previously accrued under “selling expenses” or other
accounts, retrospective adjustments should be made
in accordance with changes in accounting policies.
The implementation of this interpretation has not
had a significant impact on the Company’s financial
position and operating results.

2. Changes in significant accounting estimates

During the reporting period, there was no change in the
Company’s major accounting policies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

IV. TAXATION - IR
(I) Main taxes and tax rates () EEREMB R
Tax types Tax basis Tax rate
wnE BB B=
Value-added tax The value-added tax payable is the difference between output 13% * 9% ~ 6%

tax (calculated based on the revenue from sales of goods and
taxable service income under the tax laws) and net of the input
tax that is allowed to be deducted in the current period

B ER HRBA R ST RO 8 S MR B B 4 T A B R
ERE ENREBAFENORAREE  ZHND AR
2 KB R
City maintenance and Value-added tax actually paid 5%
construction tax
AT MR R RERS MR AT
Education surcharge Value-added tax actually paid 3%
B B RE RSN EN T
Local education surcharge Value-added tax actually paid 2%
772 A BN RERS MR AT &
Enterprise income tax Taxable income 25%
EMEH R & AT P AT R T AR
Resource tax Amount of water resources used RMB1.5/ton, RMB2/ton,
RMB6/ton
BIR KB RERSFH 1.57T,/ 1 -
27T/ W - 67T/ W
Property tax 1.2% of the remaining value after the original property value 1.2%
less 30%
BEN REERE— R 30%E R ET1.2% 18
Land use tax Actual land area RMB4/m?
b A B+ E BT A 470,/ F K
Different enterprise income tax rates applicable to different GEARCEMSHBNEMT BN BE
taxpayers are disclosed as below e
Taxpayer Income tax rate
MBERER B Bi=
Fengxiang Foods (Japan) Co., Ltd. Tax rate of 15% applicable to
the current period
BERmKA & N H 38 B T K 15%
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

IV. TAXATION (CONTINUED) BLIE ()

(D) BKEE

() Tax preference

The Company and Shandong Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company, are entitled to the preferential tax
policy of “exemption from enterprise income tax for agriculture,
forestry, husbandry and fishery projects” from 1 July 2012.

The Company is entitled to the preferential tax policy of
“VAT exemption for agricultural producers on the sale of self-
produced agricultural products” from 1 August 2012.

The Company is entitled to the preferential tax policy of “VAT
exemption for feed products” from 1 January 2015.

The Company is entitled to the preferential tax policy of “exemption
from urban land use tax for land directly used for production in
agriculture, forestry, husbandry and fishery” from 1 December
2010.

The subsidiaries, Shandong Fengxiang Industrial Co., Ltd. and
Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd., have been
enjoying the VAT exemption policy for the “circulation of fresh
meat and egg products exempting from VAT” since 1 January
2015 and 1 May 2016, respectively;

Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company, is entitled to the preferential tax
policy of “VAT exemption for vegetables in circulation” from 1
July 2016.

The Company, Shandong iShape Food Technology Co.,
Ltd. and Shandong Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd.,
subsidiaries of the Company, are entitled to the preferential
tax policy of “exemption from VAT on free lending of funds
between units within an enterprise group (including enterprise
groups)” from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2027;

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

L EHHMBEHRREEERE

STATEMENTS

() Monetary funds

(-EWES

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items b= BRERER FEFRHBE
Cash on hand EFRE 20,756.26 18,414.82
Digital currencies BFEE
Bank deposits RITIFR 329,358,750.01 188,670,092.47
Other monetary funds HEtEEEs 25,579,983.98 9,814,233.14
Amounts deposited in the finance company 77 J% 81 # A &) 3K 18 808,234,759.31
Sub-total IR 354,959,490.25 1,006,737,499.74
Less: Credit impairment loss provision B ERRERKEE 808,234,759.31
Total = 354,959,490.25 198,502,740.43
Including: Aggregate amounts Hep TSN IR
deposited overseas 1B %8 5,785,090.60 7,234,240.69
Funds that are held abroad GHRERIINBEES

subject to restriction of fund P& 5] 52 21| BR I 69 5K I8

repatriation

In 2022, based on the obtained
information, the Company has made a provision for “Credit
Impairment Loss — Monetary Funds” of RMB808,234,759.31
for the deposits in GMK Finance Co., Ltd. (the “Finance
Company”). As at 31 December 2024, as the Finance
Company has completed the bankruptcy liquidation procedure,
the Company has recovered the bankruptcy settlement assets
of RMB56,607,439.29, and has written off unrecovered
deposits of the Finance Company of $751,627,320.02.

Additional information:

Hih 2022 A AR ERBBH
EEHHBEHTBERARAMNTEBUEA
ANTERRIEAMERLS — E¥ES)
808,234,759.31 7T ° 12024412 A31H - Bt
BAREZKABESERF  ARE KE K
5 B & E56,607,439.29 7T © #% $ & Y [@ Bf
%A B 1F 5£751,627,320.02 7T °
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(DIRFUEREE

() Financial assets held for trading

Balance at the end Balance at the end

226

of the period of last year
Items BB HIR&AEE L FEFERAEE
Financial assets at fair value through AR A BETELEZ T A
current profit or loss EHERENSMEE 2,477,721.15 293,000.00
Including: Investment in debt Hp - BEBIEKRE
instruments
Investment in equity BHITARE
instruments
Derivative financial assets MESHEE 293,000.00
Trust Units BERHE 2,477,721.15
Financial assets designated at fair BERNARBHEF=ZEEEZS
value through current profit or loss AFAEHEENEREE
Including: Investment in debt Hp - BB IAKE
instruments
Others Hb
Total = 2,477,721.15 293,000.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Ill) Trade receivable

1. Disclosure of trade receivable by aging based
on the invoice date

il

B BBREEER(E)

() FE W AR 3K

1 BRRNZRT AR E R
w”E

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Aging BR e HREREE FEERBRTE
Less than 1 year (N 328,700,351.15 268,841,919.92
Including: Less than 1 month HEr o 1EANRA 323,472,086.79 239,507,564.29
1 to 3 months 1-318 A 5,135,323.29 29,304,961.47
3 months to 1 year 3E A1 92,941.07 29,394.16
1to 2 years 1224 4,008,200.37 13,728,745.98
2to 3 years 2FE 34 13,727,773.99
3 to 4 years 3FEAF
4 to 5 years 4E5F 2,254,727.41
Over 5 years 54 2,254,727.41
Subtotal NE 348,691,052.92 284,825,393.31

Less: bad debt provision

21,664,062.50

12,159,067.61

Total

327,026,990.42

272,666,325.70

Note: The sales settlement methods between the Company
and its customers are mainly cash sales and credit sales.
The credit period generally ranges from 30 to 60 days.
The Company implements strict control measures over
outstanding receivables, and the overdue amounts are
regularly reviewed by the management. Credit period
risks are managed in accordance with customers’ credit.
The Company does not require customers to provide any

collateral or other guarantee measures. Trade receivables

are not interest-bearing.

i AARBREFPHBEEAENTRTIERR
HANRR G - R B BR B0 — AR T M 30=60
R AR A H R YR A A RIBBT
BB ARSI - Wk B IR E AR
HEMEZ ERRBRARZRBEFE
RETER - ARAARERFFREH
E fa] #5402 E 4R 38 5 o B WUR R
W RFHR
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IEMEBRREBEZTR(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
() Trade receivable (Continued) (Z) EW AR ()
2. Disclosure of trade receivable by bad debt 2 BURBRMIBRERAIEGEZSEKE
provision method
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HARBE TEERBER
Book halance Bad debt provision Book balance Bad debt provision
REHE BRER RESKE BRER
Provision Provision
Proportion percentage Book Proportion percentage Book
Category Al Amount (%) Amount (%) value Amount (%) Amount (%) value
S8 A% S8 SREH%) REEE 28 A% SF FHROI%) REEE
Bad debt provision made on % BB xHE R £
an individual basis 19,990,701.77 573 19,990,701.77 100.00 5,350,547 51 188 535054751 100.00
Including: i
Bad debt provision made on B REFEAELEEAX
an individual basis with
significant amount 19,990,701.77 573 19,990,701.77 100.00 5,350,547 .51 188 535054751 100.00
Bad debt provision made on %z R R FHMAA
a collective basis RERER
based on credit risk
characteristics 328,700,351.15 9427  1,673,360.73 0.51 327,026,990.42 279,474,845.80 9812 6,808,520.10 244 272,666,325.70
Including: e
Aging analysis group RERAITER 328,700,351.15 9427  1,673,360.73 0.51 327,026,990.42 279,474,845.80 9812 6,808,520.10 244 272,666,325.70
Total AE 348,691,052.92  100.00 21,664,062.50 327,026,990.42 284,825393.31 10000 12,159,067.61 272,666,325.70
Bad debt provision for trade receivable made on an EENRERIREREGRNEUIRR
individual basis with significant amount:
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HRERE FEERBE
Provision
Book Bad debt  percentage Book Bad debt
balance provision (%)  Basis for provision balance provision
Name 28 BRI R ER BEREE SRLAI(%) sTREKE REAE ERER
Company 1 171 14,640,154.26 14,640,154.26 100.00 Not expected to be settled
A EEBREE
Company 2 12 2,254,727.41 2,254,727.41 100.00 Not expected to be settled 2,254,727.41  2,254,727.41
HIAEEBREE
Company 3 B3 3,095,820.10 3,095,820.10 100.00 Not expected to be settled 3,095,820.10  3,095,820.10
HAEEBIEE
Total &t 19,990,701.77 19,990,701.77 5,350,547.51  5,350,547.51
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Ill) Trade receivable (Continued)

2. Disclosure of trade receivable by bad debt
provision method (Continued)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

Bad debt provision made on a collective basis based on

credit risk characteristics:

Group provision items: aging analysis group

(Z) EW AR (%)

2 BRRANEZBEIRIEL ZD BRKE
(%)

REARRSBAEAFTIRERER

MEFIERR Rk TEE

Balance at the end of the period

HARERE
Provision
Trade Bad debt percentage
receivable provision (%)
Name = FE W BR X RERER 5T 12 B Bl (%)
Less than 1 month 118 A AR 323,472,086.79 1,617,360.45 0.50
1 to 3 months 1-31& A 5,135,323.29 51,353.23 1.00
3 months to 1 year 31EA-14F 92,941.07 4,647.05 5.00
Over 1 year 1F LA £
Total &5 328,700,351.15 1,673,360.73

3. Provision for bad debts made, reversed or

3 ZKHFH1E B KO RRER

recovered for the current period 15X
Changes in amount for the current period
rHEHER

Balance at Balance at

the end of Recovered Resold or Other the end of

last year Provision  or reversed written off changes the period

Category 55l FEERBE AR UERER  EHARE Hitt# B MR R EE
Group provision made BB R4 A

on an individual

basis 5,350,547.51 9,326,191.29 5,313,962.97 19,990,701.77

Aging analysis group ~ BREC AT E 6,808,520.10  1,673,360.73 -1,494,557.13  -5,313,962.97  1,673,360.73

Total =H 12,159,067.61  10,999,552.02 -1,494,557.13 21,664,062.50
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(IV) Prepayments () A RIE
1. Aging of prepayments: 1. BAIHEZERES T
Balance at the end Balance at the end
of the period of last year
HREREE FFFERRER
Amount Proportion (%) Amount  Proportion (%)
Aging BR e £8 Lt il (%) o £t (%)
Less than 1 year 1F AR 31,049,652.06 99.14  28,596,922.07 98.36
1to 2 years 15225 270,316.30 0.86 476,429.36 1.64
2to 3 years 2E 34
Over 3 years 3F LA E
Total &&h 31,319,968.36 100.00  29,073,351.43 100.00
(V) Other receivable (1) H fth & WX

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items 1HH HREREE FFFRGBE
Interest receivable JE W B
Dividend receivable & W B |
Other receivable H b fE W K18 3,755,059.70 11,203,717.24
Total &t 3,755,059.70 11,203,717.24
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(V) Other receivable (Continued)

1. Other receivable

(1) Disclosure by aging

(H) e R (48)

- Hftt R 5 E

(1) AR b EE

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Aging B e HREREE FEFERBREE
Less than 1 year 1F AR 2,689,017.56 8,413,135.44
1to 2 years 1522%F 730,382.69 199,500.45
2 to 3 years 2F3F 199,500.45 187,547.94
3to 4 years 3FEAF 172,997.94 124,999.06
4 to 5 years 4E5F 44,999.06 153,200.00
Over 5 years 5% A+ 163,200.00 2,977,816.78
Subtotal NEE 4,000,097.70 12,056,199.67

Less: bad debt provision

245,038.00

852,482.43

Total

3,755,059.70

11,203,717.24

(2) Disclosure by bad debt provision method

Balance at the end of the period

(2) BERFAIETVED R EE

Balance at the end of last year

BAGBE LEFRAE
Book balance Bad debt provision Book balance Bad debt provision
RESE BRER REBE BRER
Provision Provision
Proportion percentage Proportion percentage
Amount (%) Amount (%)  Book value Amount (%) Amount (%) Book value
Category EHl 28 WH(%) S8 HRLA®) REEE &8 Whl%) S8 HRLHI%) FEER
Bad debt provision made on % BB zHE R £
an individual basis 30,000.00 0.75 30,000.00 100.00 30,000.00 0.25 30,000.00 100.00
Including: e
Bad debt provision made on & E A E KB EB} 12
anindividual basis with ~ EER A 1R
insignificant amount 30,000.00 0.75 30,000.00 100.00 30,000.00 0.25 30,000.00 100.00
Bad debt provision made on %z R R FHAA
a collective basis RERER
based on credit risk
characteristics 3,970,097.70 99.25 215,038.00 542  3,755,059.70  12,026,199.67 99.75 822,482.43 6.84 11,203,717.24
Including: Hepp:
Aging analysis group FEALNAR 3,970,097.70 99.25 215,038.00 542  3,755,059.70  12,026,199.67 99.75 822,482.43 6.84 11,203,717.24
Total At 4,000,097.70 100.00 245,038.00 3,755,059.70  12,056,199.67 100.00 852,482.43 11,203,717.24
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(V) Other receivable (Continued) (B) Hfb e =K (48)

1. Other receivable (Continued) 1 HtEKFE (&)

232

(2) Disclosure by bad debt provision method
(Continued)

Bad debt provision made on a collective basis based
on credit risk characteristics:

Group provision items: aging analysis group

(2) BRI XD B (B

BRERARRSBAESHRBRER

MEFHRER RS THES

Balance at the end of the period

B REREE

Provision
Other Bad debt percentage
receivables provision (%)
Name £ H 1 & R E REREE =T 42 B Bl (%)
Less than 1 year 1FUAR 2,689,017.56 40,335.26 1.50
1to 2 years 15225 730,382.69 73,038.27 10.00
2 to 3 years 2E3F 169,500.45 25,425.07 15.00
3 to 4 years 3ZE4F 172,997.94 34,599.59 20.00
4 to 5 years 4E 55 44,999.06 8,999.81 20.00
Over 5 years 54 E 163,200.00 32,640.00 20.00

Total At 3,970,097.70 215,038.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I AU BBREEERE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(V) Other receivable (Continued) (B) Hfb e =K (48)
1. Other receivable (Continued) 1- BEttEWFE (&)
(3) Provision for bad debts (3) BRREHEIEIE R
Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3
B B E=RR
Lifetime
Lifetime expected
Expected expected credit losses
credit losses credit losses (credit
in the next (no credit impairment
12 months impairment) has occurred) Total
REFEDEN EZEFESES
AI12{8 A BEREX ERBRX
Provision for bad debts BERER BFHERRA (RBEGERAEE CRESARE) &5t

Balance at the end of last FFEFRHBE

year 822,482.43 30,000.00 852,482.43
Balance at the end of last FFEFRBBEEAY

year at the current period

— Transfer to phase 2 —BAEZEE
— Transfer to phase 3 —BAEZEE
— Reverse to phase 2 —BEE R
— Reverse to phase 1 —BEE R
Provision for the current REEHE
period 119,542.71 119,542.71
Reversal at the current period 7 Hi# 0]
Resell at the current period 7% Hi &% 4 -726,987.14 -726,987.14
Written off at the current % 8
period
Other changes Hth &
Balance at the end of the IR epE
period 215,038.00 30,000.00 245,038.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(V) Other receivable (Continued) (B) Hfb e =K (48)
1. Other receivable (Continued) 1- BEttEWFE (&)
(3) Provision for bad debts (Continued) (3) ZBEREFHEIEIE R (&)
The movements of the book balance for other Hih B AREREEBOT ¢

receivables are as follows:

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

E—MER ERR BEEMRR

Lifetime

Lifetime expected

Expected expected credit losses

credit losses credit losses (credit

in the next (no credit impairment
12 months impairment) has occurred) Total

BEEFEAEYN RECESES

A28 A EREX EREX

Book balance ARE ER RHMERELX (CRBLEEAFE CRESARE &%

Balance at the end of last FEFERBE
year 12,026,199.67 30,000.00 12,056,199.67
Balance at the end of last FEERBEAEARS

year at the current period

— Transfer to phase 2 —BAE_RR
— Transfer to phase 3 —BAE=BE
— Reverse to phase 2 —EOE &R
— Reverse to phase 1 —EOE R
Addition for the current period 7% £ 57 1% 2,689,017.56 2,689,017.56
Derecognised at the current 7R HI 4% |- #E7
period 10,745,119.53 10,745,119.53
Other changes Hing
Balance at the end of the HIR R
period 3,970,097.70 30,000.00 4,000,097.70
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—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(V) Other receivable (Continued)
1. Other receivable (Continued)

(4) Provision for bad debts made, reversed or

(H) e R (48)
1 Hft KR (&)

(4) AHj511E - #8 [0 2 4 [O] 4 52 AR

recovered in the current period =
Changes in amount for the current period
TR EEHE
Balance at Balance at
the end of Recovered Resold or Other the end of
last year  Provision orreversed  written off changes the period
-3
Category L=l FRGBE PR WEHER EHHE(aE 0 Htgs HAREBE
Bad debt provision % B IH 2 E Kk
made on an A
individual basis 30,000.00 30,000.00
Bad debt provision 4 A iR EE
made on a A
collective basis 822,482.43 119,542.71 -726,987.14 215,038.00
Total A& 852,482.43 119,542.71 -726,987.14 245,038.00

(5) Classification of receivables by nature

(5) BAELEE S HIFR

Book balance at the Balance at the end
end of the period of last year

Nature MIEME HARIRAEHE LFFRE@HE
Deposits and guarantees He RRES 3,577,828.08 7,451,840.86
Employee advance payment BITRBK 148,269.62 78,837.33
Government grants receivable JFE UK R T 4 B 264,000.00 4,465,521.48
Withholding social security payments £ #0144 5% 10,000,000
Others H 10,000.00 50,000.00
Sub-total NEE 4,000,097.70 12,056,199.67
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

(VI)Inventories (R)FE
1. Inventory Classification 1- ZFESHE
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HRBR TEERBE
Provision for
Impairment Provision for
of Inventory/ Impairment of
provision for Inventory/ provision
impairment for impairment
Book of contract Book Book of contract Book
balance performance costs value balance performance costs value
FERERE/ FERBERE/
BEBHAE ARBHRA
Items HH RESH HEER REEE FHHE WEER REEE
Raw materials RAH 152,288,569.85 152,288,569.85  130,403,648.92 130,403,648.92
Turnover materials e 36,930,960.71 36,930,960.71 32,813,686.69 32,813,686.69
Inventory goods ERFEm 546,754,576.86 14,784,399.10  531,970,177.76  545,233,135.73 5,011,958.87  540,221,176.86
Consumptive biological assets JEREME4EMAE  228,094,800.00 228,094,800.00  239,086,700.00 239,086,700.00
Finished goods FHAEm 19,781,912.46 19,781,912.46 4,818,983.52 4,818,983.52
Total At 983,850,819.88 14,784,399.10  969,066,420.78  952,356,154.86 5,011,958.87  947,344,195.99
Note: The Company’s consumptive biological assets refer to FARBEREMEEMEERARNFAENRA
broilers, chicks and hatchable eggs held by the Company. B ABCEEEREMEEMEE
Consumptive biological assets are measured at fair value at RERERAARBETE °
the end of the year.
2. Provision for Impairment of Inventory and 2 - FEKEEGRESFBYKFEE
provision for impairment of contract performance i
costs
Increase for Decrease for
the current period the current period
Balance at B MEE THRL S Balance at
the end of Reversed or the end of
last year Provision Others resold Other  the period
Items EE LEFERBE iR Hft BEREH Hit  HRKE
Raw materials R
Turnover materials AR
Inventory goods EfFEG 5,011,958.87 14,784,399.10 5,011,958.87 14,784,399.10
Consumptive biological
assets EREEEMEE
Finished goods R
Total =y 5,011,958.87 14,784,399.10 5,011,958.87 14,784,399.10
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—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(VIl) Other current assets

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

(D HMRBEE

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items B H BRERER FFEFRHBREE
Input tax to be recognised FFHERERR 237,688.43 182,360.53
Cost of return receivable FE WUR B RR AR 120,814.66 26,854.68

Outstanding value-added tax credit

EEHRBENE

41,239,982.24

60,285,187.77

Total &t 41,598,485.33 60,494,402.98
(Vi) Long-term equity investments N RERERE
1. Long-term equity investments 1- RAKBERERGBX
Balance of Gains or losses
impairment on investments Other Declaration Closing
Balance at  provisions at recognised  comprehensive Other of cash Balance at  balance of
theendof  theendof  Additional Reduction of under the equity income changesin dividends or  Provision for theendof  provision
last year lastyear  investment investment method adjustment  interest profits ~ impairment  Others the period  impairment
EERR
& REEEL R TERH Rfpse  HitEz  RERA HREE REER
Investees HREEMN EXBE FEABE  BNRE  HORE REBEH hEHE 25 ERie B At HASRE HRBE
Associate BELE
Yanggu Xiangyu Biological 5 AR MR
Technology Co., Ltd. ARAA 54,609,735.36 -6,124,189.39 2,192,416.32 46,293,129.65 2,192,416.32
Total At 54,609,735.36 -6,124,189.39 2,192,416.32 46,293,129.65 2,192,416.32

2. Impairment test on long-term equity

investments

During the current period, the Company conducted an
impairment test on its long-term equity investments,
determined the recoverable amount based on the net
amount of the fair value less the costs of disposal, and
recognized an asset impairment loss of RMB2,192,416.32.

2 RARERER B ERZHER

A ARABHRYPRERETTRE
AR BAABEREZREEERENF
ERTEATNESE BREERMER

2,192,416.327T °
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(V) Long-term equity investments (Continued)

2.

Impairment test on long-term equity
investments (Continued)

The Company utilized the evaluation report titled “Fair
Value Evaluation Project of the 49% Equity Interest in
Yanggu Xiangyu Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a Long-
term Equity Investment Held by Shandong Fengxiang
Co., Ltd. for the Purpose of Preparing Financial Reports”
(Zhe Lian Ping Bao Zi [2025] No. 84) issued by China
United Assets Appraisal Group (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.
on 17 March 2025 to confirm the fair value of its long-
term equity investments. As of 31 December 2024, the
pricing information for the fair value of the long-term
equity investments mainly derive from the land transfer
information of Yanggu County, the “Handbook of Common
Methods and Parameters for Assets Appraisal” (published
by China Machine Press in 2011), “Valuation: Measuring
and Managing the Value of Companies (3rd Edition)” (written
by [US]] Copeland,T., etc., translated by Hao Shaolun and
Xie Guanping, published by Electronic Industry Press), as
well as the notice forwarded by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong
Province regarding “Notice of Shandong Provincial
Development and Reform Commission on Integrating
and Reducing the Transaction Service Charges for State-
owned Assets of Enterprises”. The valuation conclusion
is that the fair value of the 49% equity interest in Yanggu
Xiangyu Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a long-term
equity investment held by Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd.
for the purpose of financial reporting, is RMB46.3859
million. The Company calculated the costs of disposal to
be RMB92,800, determined the recoverable amount to be
RMB46.2931 million based on the net amount of the fair
value less the costs of disposal, and recognized an asset
impairment loss of RMB2.1924 million.

SHEUHR/ARYET)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

N RBRERE (B)
2 REAKREREBERNHEL (E)

KARERERBAREREN AR EBERE
RAATHHREETIGHEECIT) AR
NAEIR202543 A178 B A ML R B
BHBRAREGRRMBRSE B 090 &
HENRHREREGAFREDRIE
BERABII9%ZIERN K EEFHEE)
CHT B 57 3R 7[2025] 55 8455 MR (A 3R &) -
HZE2024F 128318 REKELREN
ARABENREEEZIZERZREAS
THHEES (BEFEERAFEES
BF M) (A T % 5 AR 42011 F hin) -
(BEFE: RrEENEHEHEER(F
3fR))([E]Copeland, T.Z £ - M B fw - i
B¥E EFLEHRE)ARILEEER
BZEB(LRERRENNELZECH
REABRBELCERNEEERIIRBKE
EENBAOBN - FEERE ILE
BHEBROERARBAM GRS B SR
EHBREREBAFEREVREERA
F]49% A% #E 19 A 7t (B 18 /4,638.59 8 T ©
ARRBEREEMAIBE L BAA
BEREEEEAENFHEBETHEATRK
B & 384620318 BREERER

i —

5219248 7T °

(IX)Fixed assets

1. Fixed assets and fixed assets in liquidation

(MBEEEE

Balance at the end

1 BIEEEREELERE

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items EHR HIR&AER L FFERBREE
Fixed assets EEE&E 2,844,168,195.00 2,953,597,120.86

Fixed assets in liquidation FEEEBRE 1,469,680.25
Total A&t 2,844,168,195.00 2,955,066,801.11
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(IX)Fixed assets (Continued)

2. Fixed assets

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

(h)BEEEE(E)

2 - BlEEERR

Premises and Machinery Electronics
buildings devices  Transportation devices Total
ltems HE EEREEY BERE BRRE ETRE &%
1. Original Book Value 1. RERE
(1) Balance at the end of last (1) EEERBE
year 2,063,767,775.72 2,347,501,632.65 74,216,098.63 99,220,356.33 4,584,705,863.33
(2) Current increase amount (2) mEBEMEHE 25,902,618.16  120,026,604.23 754,151.01 13,397,518.24  160,080,891.64
— Purchase — BE 4,516,905.95 56,008,942.99 754,151.01 6,669,403.16 67,949,403.11
— Transfer from — kEIR
construction in B A
progress 21,385,712.21 64,017,661.24 6,728,115.08 92,131,488.53
(3) Current reduction payment () AER R
amount 717,223.00 29,076,151.53 2,369,724.82 4,900,406.16 37,063,505.51
— Disposal or — REIHE
abandonment 717,223.00 29,076,151.53 2,369,724.82 4,900,406.16 37,063,505.51
(4) Balance at the end of (4) BRHE
the period 2,088,953,170.88 2,438,452,085.35 72,600,524.82  107,717,468.41 4,707,723,249.46
2. Accumulated depreciation 2. ZEME
(1) Balance at the end of last year (1) LEERBE 583,295,743.38  942,358,985.20 30,046,070.36 75,407,943.53 1,631,108,742.47
(2) Current increase amount (2) KEEMEE 84,880,470.86  157,548,997.31 8,161,248.90 7,878,018.81  258,468,735.88
— Provision — iR 84,880,470.86  157,548,997.31 8,161,248.90 7,878,018.81  258,468,735.88
(3) Current reduction payment (3) ARSI EE
amount 391,162.38 21,567,553.68 2,251,238.58 4,487,413.89 28,697,368.53
— Disposal or — RELHRE
abandonment 391,162.38 21,567,553.68 2,251,238.58 4,487,413.89 28,697,368.53
(4) Balance atthe end of the period 4) BR%nE 667,785,051.86 1,078,340,428.83 35,956,080.68 78,798,548.45 1,860,880,109.82
3. Provision for impairment 3. REEE 2,674,944.64 2,674,944 .64
(1) Balance at the end of last (1) EFFERHBE
year 2,674,944.64 2,674,944.64
(2) Current increase amount (2) mEBEMEHE
(3) Current reduction payment (@) AHREIEE
amount
(4) Balance at the end of the @) BARAE
period 2,674,944.64 2,674,944.64
4. Book value 4. BHER
(1) Book value at the end of the (1) BREEEE
period 1,418,493,174.38 1,360,111,656.52 36,644,444.14 28,918,919.96 2,844,168,195.00
(2) Book value at the end of last () EFEREE
year BE 1,480,472,032.34 1,405,142,647.45 44,170,028.27 23,812,412.80 2,953,597,120.86

Additional information:
company has fully provided for impairment of the factory of

during the current period, the

No. 3 Feed Factory, which is expected to no longer be in

use.

HAMH A A8 REEEFTTBERD
R = MR 5 2 BRH IR B E R -
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IEMEBRREBEZTR(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(IX)Fixed assets (Continued) (W EEEE(E)
3. Fixed assets in liquidation 3 - BIEEERBE

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items 1BE B HARERE L FFEREREE
Assets pending disposal BREEE 2,585,917.52
Less: Provision for impairment of W R REEERBEER
assets pending disposal 1,116,237.27
Total AEr 1,469,680.25
(X) Construction in progress (HEZIR
1. Construction in progress and working materials 1- EZIBRIEYE
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
B LEERBE
Book Provision for Book  Provision for
balance impairment Book value balance impairment Book value
Items EH IRESE HEER REEE REAE REEE REEE
Construction in ERIRE
progress 2,699,664.21 2,699,664.21 6,311,448.19 6,311,448.19
Working materials IERYE
Total At 2,699,664.21 2,699,664.21 6,311,448.19 6,311,448.19
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(X) Construction in progress (Continued) (HEZIRE(E)
2. Details of construction in progress 2- TEITREBEX
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
BRBH LEERBR
Book  Provision for Book Provision for
balance impairment Book value balance impairment Book value
Items HE RESE HEER REEE BESH HEER BHEE
Informatization {5 8L BE
transformation 115,000.00 115,000.00
Other works Hih T2 2,584,664.21 2,584,664.21 475,492.90 475,492.90
Equipment under ERERE
installation 5,835,955.29 5,835,955.29
Total CHl 2,699,664.21 2,699,664.21 6,311,448.19 6,311,448.19
3. Changes in significant construction in progress 3 - EENEREIRERXHEZEER
projects during the period
Cumulative Including:
investment Amount
Amounts Other inthe of interest
transferred to decreases project as a Accumulated  capitalised Current
Balance at Current  fixed assets ~ forthe Balance at percentage amount of for the interest
the end of increase for the current  current the end of ofthe  Project interest current capitalisation Source of
Budget last year amount period  period the period budget(%) progress  capitalised period rate (%) funding
IRE&:t 2
KHEN RHHEM RAERE HEERE AHNE  AHAR
Project name RS BEY LEFARE APSNSE BETEESE ROSE BARE LAY IREE  RHEE EA(EE ERER%) EEXRR
2024 Modification 02A4FAES
project of broiler BEEE Completed Self financing
farms 32,332,600.00 32,779,920.07  32,779,920.07 10138  BxL EES-
Precooked nine BHAREER
chicken nugget Completed Self financing
project 16,200,000.00 27324560 16,217,595.45  16,490,841.05 10123 BxI BEE¢
Freezer renovation A KEBE Completed Self financing
project 12,133,500.00 10,934,586.66  10,934,586.66 9012 BRI EEES
Informationalization {5 £ 1 %i& Self financing
transformation 9,626,000.00 773371200  7,618,712.00 115,000.00 80.34  80.00% BE8Ee
Modification of new £ 8t T Bi# %
steaming and RENERR
roasting process
lines in catering Completed Self financing
factories 15,830,000.00 5102,709.09  5,102,709.09 9549 BRI EES
Total At 273,245.60 72,768,523.27  72,926,768.87 115,000.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XI) Productive biological assets

Productive biological assets using the fair value

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

(t-IEEMENEE

RAANABEAEBRANLEEMLY

measurement model 5E

Productive

biological

assets of

livestock

breeding
industry Total

BEWEEE

EEM
ltems H B EYEE &5t
1. Balance at the end of last year 1. EFFRBREE 221,015,800.00 221,015,800.00
2. Current changes 2. /N HR# ) -16,085,800.00 -16,085,800.00
Add: External procurement hn:ohEE 64,751,923.84  64,751,923.84
Self-breeding BT A 141,069,318.96  141,069,318.96
Less: Disposal BRE 202,924,442.30 202,924,442.30
Changes in fair value DREEEH 18,982,600.50 18,982,600.50
3.Balance at the end of the period 3. HAR & EE 204,930,000.00 204,930,000.00

Note 1:  Self-breeding costs for breeders mainly include the costs it BEMNBTEERAETEBERK
of animal feed, labour costs, depreciation and amortisation A AIKA - TEREHEBAURRD
expenses, apportionment of public expenses, etc. HEAMSBS -

Note 2:  Gains or losses from changes in fair value consist of two #22: ARBEEDEZREMI S HiEHE
components: gains from the initial recognition of consumable EYMEERWEREAABERLEEE
biological assets at fair value less sales costs upon harvest RAUEEREENREREEEEME
and gains from changes in fair value less sales costs of EARBERLEERMNESHEENK
productive biological assets. The Company engaged an R ARBEKEFELEXTHAH
independent professional appraiser to assess the fair value SYMEEREEBERANARERBE
of the biological assets as at the balance sheet date. The TTHE - BEAABEKAKANMG
valuation method adopted in determining the fair value and BREREAGERENTEZ2HRE
the key parameters of the relevant valuation models are RWE+— 2R BEEOEE -
disclosed in Note Xl, Disclosure of fair value.

Additional information: HAab A :

The Company’s productive biological assets are breeders
used for the production of hatchable eggs. The Company’s
breeders include breeders at the breeding and the production
stage.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
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(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XIl) Right-of-use assets tEREEE

1. Right-of-use assets

1 BAEEERR

Premises and Land use Machine and
buildings rights equipment Total
ltems 5H FEREEY i ERE HeERE &%
. Original Book Value 1. EHRE
(1) Balance at the end of last year (1) EFERHBE 25,687,653.18  198,321,201.79 224,008,854.97

(2) Current increase amount

2 THENEH

12,986,971.94

21,634,364.75

34,621,336.69

— New leasing — HEHE 12,986,971.94 21,634,364.75  34,621,336.69
(3) Current reduction payment amount (@) AHRHSEE 2,971,679.93 2,971,679.93
— Disposal — BE 2,971,679.93 2,971,679.93
(4) Balance at the end of the period (@) BRHE 35,702,945.19  198,321,201.79 21,634,364.75  255,658,511.73
. Accumulated depreciation 2. BitHE
(1) Balance at the end of last year (1) EFERHBE 8,453,210.22  30,822,167.72 39,275,377.94
(2) Current increase amount (2) REpEmMEE 5,303,582.39 4,155,206.95 2,103,341.02  11,562,130.36
— Provision — iR 5,303,582.39 4,155,206.95 2,103,341.02 11,562,130.36
(3) Current reduction payment amount (@) AEHRI2E 2,838,674.79 2,838,674.79
— Disposal — BB 2,838,674.79 2,838,674.79
(4) Balance at the end of the period (4) BRHE 10,918,117.82 34,977,374.67 2,103,341.02 47,998,833.51
. Provision for impairment 3 REEE
(1) Balance at the end of last year (1) EFEERHBE
(2) Current increase amount (2) RAEEMEE
(3) Current reduction payment amount () rER EE
(4) Balance at the end of the period @) BRHE
. Book value 4 EHER
(1) Book value at the end of the period (1) BREEEE 24,784,827.37  163,343,827.12 19,531,023.73  207,659,678.22
(2) Book value at the end of last year (2 LEEREEEE 17,234,442.96  167,499,034.07 184,733,477.03
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IEMEBRREBEZTR(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Xl Intangible assets (Tt EE
1. Intangible assets 1- BEELERBX
Land use Patent
rights rights Software Total
ltems EH T ERE EVill g4 &%
1. Original book value 1. EERE
(1) Balanceattheend of lastyear (1) LFERHE 101,319,752.73 1,045779.25  21,841,900.47  124,207,441.45
(2) Current increase amount (2) AEENEE 2,803,712.00 2,803,712.00
— Purchase — EE 2,803,712.00 2,803,712.00
(3) Current reduction payment Q) KERI2E
amount
(4) Balance atthe end of the period  (4) HiR 4% 101,31975273 104577925 2464562147  127,011,153.45
2. Accumulated amortisation 2. REEH
(1) Balance at the end of last year (1) EEFRBE 22,560,249.53 801,764.09 13,521,955.18 36,883,968.80
(2) Currentincrease amount (2) AEEMEE 1,948,286.70 104,577.93 636,653.55 2,689,518.18
— Provision — iR 1,948,286.70 104,577.93 636,653.55 2,689,518.18
(3) Current reduction payment (B) AERSEH
amount
(4) Balance at the end of the period ~ (4) HiR#% % 24,508,536.23 906,342.02 14,158,608.73 39,573,486.98
3. Provision for impairment 3. MEEE
(1) Balanceattheend of lastyear (1) LFEFRHBHE
(2) Current increase amount (2) ~EEMEE
(3) Current reduction payment @) KHRIEE
amount
(4) Balance at the end of the period ~ (4) HiK &%
4. Book value 4. EEEE
(1) Book value at the end of the (1) BAREEER
period 76,811,216.50 139,437.23 10,487,012.74 87,437,666.47
(2) Book value at the end of last (2 LFEREEER
year 78,759,503.20 244,015.16 8,319,954.29 87,323,472.65
(XIV)Long-term deferred expenses (T RESBER
Balance at Current  Amortisation Other Balance at
the end of increase for the decreased the end of
last year amount current period amount the period
£F N ER NH] HAh
Items 1H B FRERE e BiHewm ek | HIREAER

Arrangement fee  fREIE X
for a syndicated =~ L HEE
loan 16,597,000.00 5,760,000.00 10,837,000.00

Total a5t 16,597,000.00 5,760,000.00 10,837,000.00
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V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IEMEBRREBEZTR(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XV) Deferred Income Tax Assets and Deferred Income TRELEFMESHREENELFRSHAE
Tax Liabilities

1. Deferred income tax assets not subject to 1 REEBHEWELEBZHEE

Taxation differences on

XHUEETRMEE

offset
Balance at the end Balance at the end
of the period of last year
HRERER FFFERREE
Deductible Deferred Deductible Deferred
temporary income tax temporary income tax
differences assets differences assets
AT N i QIEGEN iR
Item 2 B HEHER  FEBEE | ERMERE  FAHEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 214,677,552.36  53,669,388.10 192,842,665.03  48,210,666.26
Deferred income IR 3E IR 7 723,693.18 180,923.30 589,317.92 147,329.50
Provision for credit ZAmEBEER
impairment 1,287,952.09 321,988.02
Provision for asset BEEBBEER
impairment 748,806.47 187,201.62

financial assets held Hexz®
for trading 52,257,574.01 13,064,393.50
Deductible loss Al K0 Es 48 192,307,490.62 48,076,872.66
Total &5t 462,003,068.73 115,500,767.20 193,431,982.95 48,357,995.76

2 REBHEWELFFSHA R

2. Deferred income tax liabilities not subject to

offset
Balance at the end Balance at the end
of the period of last year
HRER %R FEFRBE

Taxable Deferred Taxable Deferred
temporary income tax temporary income tax
difference liabilities difference liabilities
R T & 475 BT
Item HH ERMEER FiasiasE TRiEER Fristia &
Right-of-use assets CRAEEE 207,140,283.65  51,785,070.92 184,632,032.08  46,158,008.03
Total &5t 207,140,283.65 51,785,070.92 184,632,032.08  46,158,008.03
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL At BHRREEER(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
TEEEFSHREENELEREHAE(E)

(XV) Deferred Income Tax Assets and Deferred Income
Tax Liabilities (Continued)

3 LEHEFHEITHELFEHE
EHXEE

3. Deferred income tax assets or liabilities presented
in net amount after offsetting

As at the end of the period As at the end of last year

Hi R FFEER
Amount of
offsetting Balance of Amount of
between deferred offsetting Balance of
deferred income tax between deferred income
income tax assets or deferred income tax assets or

assets and liabilities after  tax assets and liabilities after

liabilities offsetting liabilities offsetting

ELEFTE W BIEL EIEFTIS TR ik A1

EENMERE MEHRHEER BEMBE MENMEESR

Item 1HH EESE BEHE EREH BE®E
Deferred income tax BEIEFMISTHEE

assets 50,937,131.66 64,563,635.54  45,961,067.01 2,396,928.75
Deferred income tax BEEMERAaRE

liabilities 50,937,131.66 847,939.26  45,961,067.01 196,941.02

4 AEFEZEFTEHEERH

4. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items 1B B HARERE L FFERBREE
Deductible temporary differences AENEREER 123,035,546.91 687,224,505.49

AEMER

Deductible loss

355,347,289.06

159,246,618.73

Total A&t

478,382,835.97

846,471,124.22
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XV) Deferred Income Tax Assets and Deferred Income

Tax Liabilities (Continued)

5. Deductible losses on unrecognised deferred
income tax assets due in the following years

Balance at the end
of the period

TEEEFRSHREENELERSHRAEME(E)

5 RERIELFTSHEER A HE
BRERUTEERH

Balance at the end
of last year  Remarks

Year FH HMARERE FEFRGE  HEE
2024 2024 F £ 33,856,824.85
2025 2025 2 63,602,603.68 63,602,603.68
2026 2026 F € 7,363,858.24 7,973,748.88
2027 2027 F [E 51,345,240.56 51,345,240.56
2028 2028 F £ 2,468,200.76 2,468,200.76
2029 2029F E 230,567,385.82
Total A&t 355,347,289.06 159,246,618.73
(XV)Other Non-current Assets tRHEHMERDEE
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
BRHR FEERBE
Book  Provision for Book Provision for
balance impairment Book value balance impairment Book value
Item HE RESR HEER REEE FEHE ABEER FHEE
Prepayment for acquisition of AN R EEBEE K
long term assets 35,808,838.22 35,808,838.22  9,133,780.83 9,133,780.83
Deposits for land reclamation it/ R &4 300,000.00 300,000.00 300,000.00 300,000.00
Total At 36,108,838.22 36,108,838.22  9,433,780.83 9,433,780.83
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XVl) Assets restricted in ownership or right to use ttFMERIEAESERFNEE
At the end of the period At the end of last year
R LEER
Restricted Restricted
Book balance Book value  Types Restrictions Book balance Book value  Types Restrictions
Items BR RERE RFEEE IREE ERER RERE REEE IRER ZRER
Monetary funds %44 25136,924.01  25136,924.01  Deposits  Deposits 8,574,090.66 8,574,090.66  Deposits  Deposits
REE  REe REE REL
Inventory FE 128,169,890.00  128,169,890.00 Mortgage  Floating pledge 130,176,716.00  130,176,716.00  Mortgage Floating pledge
L for borrowings EH for borrowings
RERRTT RERRTE
Bl HER
Fixed assets BEEE 232491820293 1,508,144,952.79  Pledge Pledgefor ~ 1,393,400,273.71  886,072,198.01 Pledge  Pledge for
it borrowings il borrowings
EFRER EHER
Intangible assets &/ & & 101,114,816.20  76,670,071.49  Pledge Pledge for 83,146,757.79  62,433,727.60 Pledge  Pledge for
it borrowings il borrowings
EFRER EHER
Other non-current  E #1377 &) 300,000.00 300,000.00  Deposits  Deposits for 300,000.00 300,000.00  Deposits  Deposits for
assets BE ®%%  land reclamation R&ES  land reclamation
THER THEE
RES RER
Inventory FE 111,227,300.00 111,227,300.00 Pledge  Pledge for
B# borrowings
EFE R
Total At 2,579,639,833.14 1,738,421,838.29 1,726,825,138.16 1,198,784,032.27
(Xvi)Short-term Borrowings (TN %E 8 f& =X
1. Classification of short-term borrowings 1 BRIEMNDHE

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year

Items EHA HREAER EFEFRGBEE

Pledged borrowings BHHER 93,050,463.00 40,057,933.00

Mortgaged borrowings EIER 480,530,833.00 240,315,333.00

Credit borrowings ERER 60,064,405.02

Total AEF 633,645,701.02 280,373,266.00
Additional information: Shandong Fengxiang Industrial HihFHA: ARAMFARILURBEE
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company, pledged trade ¥BR QG HH2024F1278308 =
receivable of RMB53.5 million from 30 December 2024 2026412 A 30 H #9 fiE Y R 585,350 & 7T -
to 30 December 2026 to provide pledge guarantee for £3,000 8 TfE IR EHIER -

borrowings of RMB30.0 million.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XIX) Trade Payable (t1) & 43 BR X
1. Trade payable 1 BRI R

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items 1BE B HARERE L FFEREREE
Payables for goods ERTE R 399,453,303.68 380,727,251.84

Total &5t 399,453,303.68 380,727,251.84

2. Disclosure of trade payable by aging based 2 EEMERERHTENRE
on the invoice date wE

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
ltems 15 B MR EAEE FFEFERBEE
Less than 1 month 118 A AR 276,333,730.06 249,292,665.54
1 to 3 months 1ZE31E A 117,068,390.02 123,718,305.98
3 months to 1 year 3EAAE1F 3,087,379.34 5,123,300.51
Over 1 year 14 LA | 2,963,804.26 2,592,979.81
Total AFr 399,453,303.68 380,727,251.84

Note: Trade payable are not interest-bearing. The credit
period granted by each supplier depends on individual
circumstances and is included in the supplier contract.

15 A B AR T8 5

EEKA -

i BNERRTFHANE - SEREAROH
S E WA E
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

250

(XX) Contract Liabilities

1. Contract liabilities

CHERAE
1 EREEER

Balance at the end

Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Iltems 15 H HRERER EFFRGBE
Advance receipts for goods TE U & K 23,608,417.12 41,851,607.26
Total A& 23,608,417.12 41,851,607.26

(XX) Payroll Payable

1. Payroll payable

(f-) BB A9 B T %7 B

1 BB T 5 M3 7w

Balance at Balance at
the end of Increase in Decrease in the end of
last year  current period  current period the period
ltems HH FEFERRE AHEAEE BN A ER D HRERE
Short-term 55 B = B
compensation 76,403,915.71  602,810,765.56 567,699,885.19 111,514,796.08
Post-employment benefits —  BEEE B F — & T
defined contribution plan RiFETE 79,317.79  54,359,843.27  54,360,034.29 79,126.77
Termination benefits BHRAEA 1,048,508.46  1,048,508.46
Other benefits due within one  —F R E|H A E
year 18 7
Total &5 76,483,233.50 658,219,117.29 623,108,427.94 111,593,922.85
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XXl) Payroll Payable (Continued)

2. Short-term compensation

SHEEUH/ARYET)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

CH- BB IEHM(E)

2 R T

Balance at Balance at
the end of Increase in Decrease in the end of
lastyear  current period  current period the period
ltems HH FEFRHBHE AERE M AER D HREAEE
(1) Wages, bonuses, allowances (1) T& - 4% « 2841
and subsidies e 76,349,983.77 534,657,850.76 503,523,540.73 107,484,293.80
(2) Employee benefits RQBIEMNE 2,491.75  25,719,490.33  25,721,982.08
(3) Social insurance P)HteRReE 49,530.19  29,504,846.85  29,504,439.27 49,937.77
Including: Medical insurance ~ H : BERBE
premium 47,631.42  27,060,105.82  27,059,719.80 48,017.44
Work-related IERBRE
injury insurance
premium 1,898.77 2,440,062.44 2,440,040.88 1,920.33
Maternity insurance EERBRE
premium 4,678.59 4,678.59
(4) Housing provident funds @ FEAT 1,910.00  8,053,591.92 8,055,501.92
(5) Labour union expenses (B ILer % ﬂ] BRI
and employee education HELE
expenses 4,874,985.70 894,421.19 3,980,564.51
Total =E) 76,403,915.71  602,810,765.56 567,699,885.19 111,514,796.08
3. Defined contribution plan 3 RERFEIR
Balance at Balance at
the end of Increase in Decrease in the end of
lastyear  current period  current period the period
ltems EHE FEFRHBE R ER LN ARER D HRERE
Basic pension insurance %$§%1% [y 76,903.36  52,129,983.48  52,130,193.72 76,693.12
Unemployment insurance KERKRE 2,414.43 2,229,859.79 2,229,840.57 2,433.65
Annuity TEFLHE
Total i 79,317.79  54,359,843.27  54,360,034.29 79,126.77
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL IEMEBRREBEZTR(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XX|) Payroll Payable (Continued) Cr- BB TH M (&)
3. Defined contribution plan (Continued) 3 REEFTEITF (E)
Additional information: The Company shall pay pension EfhFH AR - QA LAE 4 B A A = AR
insurance premium and unemployment insurance FEEPIR E M MESMLL B - % A M
premium to the relevant agencies on a monthly basis HEALHERESMNEZREE RKER
according to the payment base and proportion stipulated & BRWNESATRATERARAR
by the local labor and social security department, and the REAFEERE THFHIRIE -

payment shall not be used to offset the amount that the
Company shall pay for its employees in the future.

(XXl Taxes Payable I EXHRE

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items HEEE HIREREE EEFRHBRE
House tax BET 3,829,847.70 3,747,794.71
Enterprise income tax EMEH 3,392,752.22 1,081,310.49
Stamp duty ENTER 1,525,790.02 1,565,236.02
Land use tax TR 793,093.17 800,327.95
Resource tax ERT 607,346.00 745,274.00
Personal income tax (EPNIEEE 433,531.40 544,667.82
Value-added tax HEE 192,007.73 293,278.18
City maintenance and construction tax W AR 19,507.68 343,612.08
Education surcharge HEEMW M 19,464.53 343,553.94
Environmental protection tax IRIBIRER 7,050.00 4,720.00
Total &&t 10,820,390.45 9,469,775.19

(XXl) Other Payables (13 H fth FE AR

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items == HREREE FEFERBRR
Interest payable FERT B
Dividends payable FE 5 B R
Other payables H b FE A 5RIR 142,816,372.10 311,885,930.84
Total A&t 142,816,372.10 311,885,930.94
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XXi) Other Payables (Continued) Crd Ht AR (E)
1. Other payables 1- EE5E
(1) By nature of payment (1) = E M E SR

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items HH HIR&AEE T FFERGBE
Accrued expenses EiREH 56,668,724.72 29,011,600.60
Payments for projects TR 42,504,136.57 50,930,945.82
Deposits and guarantees HeRER 30,602,281.92 33,629,339.80
Sales commission HEME 10,802,076.42 5,426,822.82
Employee advance payment BT &K 2,239,152.47 1,654,321.90
Shareholder borrowings BEIETA 191,232,900.00
Total &&t 142,816,372.10 311,885,930.94

(XXV) Non-current Liabilities due within One Year Lt —FREPBNERBERS

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items HH HARERE L FFRBREE
Long-term borrowings due within one year — & R 2| Hi gy K Hi & X 160,459,959.00 160,690,000.00
Long-term payables due within one year — — £ A B 8 1) & Hi JE 1+ 3% 14,689,444.66
Lease liabilities due within one year —FREHMNEEAE 11,657,407.45 5,169,675.20
Total &5 186,806,811.11 165,859,675.20
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XXv) Other Current Liabilities

il

I HMRBEE

Balance at the end

B BBREEER(E)

Balance at the end

of the period of last year

Items BH HREREE EFEFRHBEE
Output tax to be recognised FHERIEIER 1,381,617.10 2,503,585.35
Sale and leaseback payments payable [ < £ 14 [@ F2 3% 10,304,503.81 223,011,854.82
Total &t 11,686,120.91 225,515,440.17

(XXV) Long-term Borrowings L REAERK

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year

Items BH HREREE EFEFERHBEE
Mortgaged borrowings I 5 = 159,950,000.00 319,970,000.00
Total = 159,950,000.00 319,970,000.00

1. Long-term borrowings by maturity

1 REMZREBEHRI T

Balance at the end of the period

MR
Immediate
repayment  Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years  Over 5 years Total
Item HE R E 1R 125 2-5% 5Nk aF
Long-term
borrowings ~ REMER 159,950,000.00 159,950,000.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XXV) Lease Liabilities

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

) EHERE

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year
Items HE HARERE FEERGRTE
Lease liabilities HEARE 203,550,003.46 187,779,655.98
Total At 203,550,003.46 187,779,655.98
1. Lease liabilities by maturity 1- HEEEZEZEHRI T
Balance at the end of the period
AR

Immediate
repayment  Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5years  Over 5 years Total
Item EHE B EE 15 0R 1-2% 2-5%F 5FLHUE &t

Lease liabilities M EE &

16,921,977.98

16,242,804.27 170,385,221.21  203,550,003.46

(V) Long-term Payables

CH) £ 5 BB A3 K

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year

Items BHR HIR&AEE LFFEFERBE

Long-term payables = HIFE 3K 25,681,131.01 6,010,512.43

Total at 25,681,131.01 6,010,512.43

1. Long-term payables 1. RAEEMN

Balance at the end Balance at the end

of the period of last year

Items BB HARERE L FEFERBREE
Payables to sale-and-leaseback JE {65 1% [81 AH 318

transactions

21,168,750.00

Less: Unrealised financial charges B AERMEEBR 1,165,487.95
Subtotal INET 20,003,262.05
Land lease payments T EE 5,677,868.96 6,010,512.43
Total =1 25,681,131.01 6,010,512.43
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHEUHR/ARYET)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

(XXV) Estimated Liabilities 11 B E

Balance at Increase Decrease Balance at

the end of in current in current the end of
last year period period the period Reason
Items HH FEFEREREE AN HRHE AN A ER HREREE EREREA
Returned goods JERTRE K Accrued return
payable expense
41,052.08  324,183.51  225,314.37 139,921.22 RIRREE
Anticipated litigation 78 51 & #A &% & Outstanding
compensation anticipated litigation
compensation
606,276.00 606,276.00 R#EFATEFTHER

Total &5 41,052.08  930,459.51  225,314.37 746,197.22

(XXX) Deferred Income (St) B % Uk 25

Balance at Increase Decrease Balance at

the end of in current in current the end of
last year period period the period Reason
Items HH FFFRBRRR AN HREE AN NERR HREREE EREREA
Government grants B/ 7 B Fiscal appropriation
19,006,106.48 1,749,978.06  17,256,128.42 EF B R

Total &t 19,006,106.48 1,749,978.06 17,256,128.42

Additional information: For details of government grants Hfth 587 5T AR E U a8 BUAT R B BF BB

included in deferred income, please refer to the Note IX,

Government grants.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XXX) Share Capital

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

[F1-] B A

Increase (+) or decrease (-) in the current period

AR B () ()

Conversion
of shares
Balance at the Issuance of Stock of common Balance at the
end of last year new shares bonus reserve fund Other Subtotal end of the period
Items HA FFFRRE BATHR 2#R ABE2ER Hi INEF HRERER
Total number of %17 42 %8
shares 1,582,618,000.00 730,000 730,000 1,583,348,000.00

Additional information: the increase in treasury shares for
the current period was due to the Company's repurchase
of shares for intended equity incentive purposes, and the
decrease in treasury shares for the current period was due to
the exercise of employee share-based payment.

HHeE  AEEMEFR ARG L ERG
BRARBEIBES  NPEFRERD AR
TITHREZR -

(Xxx) Capital Reserve (B = N
Balance at the Increase in Decrease in Balance at the
end of last year current period current period end of the period
Items =] FEFERBRE 2N HA 38 0 AN ERR HREREE
Capital premium BERHE
(share premium) (BR7 3 &) 689,064,972.14 5,182,354.51 683,882,617.63
Other capital reserves Hi&EARRQTE 8,729,705.58 2,561,898.39 5,685,139.58 5,606,464.39
Total ait 697,794,677.72 2,561,898.39  10,867,494.09 689,489,082.02
Additional information: HAan A :
1. Capital reserve — the decrease in share premium for the 1 BARE —BRARE AR EER

current period was due to the reduction of capital reserve
for offsetting the issuance expenses;

2. Capital reserve — the increase in other capital reserves
for the current period was due to the calculation of the
corresponding employee service expenses for the current
period according to the share-based payment based on
the fair value of equity instruments on the granted date;
Capital reserve — the decrease in other capital reserves
for the current period was due to the exercise of employee
share-based payment.

HERERAMRERNATEEH:

2 BARE — HMWEAREARBE NS
ERBROXNRBESTAERTHE
RABEFEANBTIRGHEEXASE
R BARARE — HERNREARHR D
TEABRMDNBTITREN -
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

il

B BBREEER(E)

(0I) Treasury Shares ) EFR
Balance at
Balance at the Increase in Decrease in the end of
end of last year current period current period the period
Items BHE FFEFRBRRR N HASE N AN ERR HARERE
Share repurchase 5 B A% 1 21,315,465.58 4,229,126.99 5,685,139.58 19,859,452.99
Total A& 21,315,465.58 4,229,126.99 5,685,139.58 19,859,452.99

Additional information: the increase in treasury shares for the current

period was due to the Company's repurchase of shares for intended

equity incentive purposes, and the decrease in treasury shares for

the current period was due to the exercise of employee share-based

payment.

(XxXV) Other Comprehensive Income

HAMFH A A ENERFR R A E RS
BANBESBER  NPEFERD BB
TITHeEE -

D) Hfth 4 & W

Amount of the current period

Less: Those
included in other Less: Those
comprehensive included in other
income in the comprehensive
Incurred  previous period income in the
income tax  but reclassified Attributable  Attributable previous period
Balanceat  amount for into the profit Less: tothe  tominority butreclassified  Balance at
theendof  the current orlossinthe Incometax  Company shareholders into the retained  the end of
last year period  current period  expenses after tax after tax eamings  the period
STAEAM L SARMEE
tE FHAGE HekmgB  FGH  BREE HESE KREHEA
Items FRBE  AEEE #ABR% ER  RERE RIBRE BRks HRBE
2. Other comprehensive income 2.1 &7 8 # B &)
that can be reclassified into ~ E {147 4 Uk 2§
profit or loss -722,580.47  -203,483.98 -203,483.98 -926,064.45
Exchange differences on SETBRENME
translation of foreign
currency financial
statements -722,580.47  -203,483.98 -203,483.98 -926,064.45
Total other comprehensive Hifra Wma st
income -722,580.47  -203,483.98 -203,483.98 -926,064.45
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XXX\) Surplus Reserves

1) BN TE

Balance at the Increase in Decrease in Balance at the

end of last year current period current period end of the period

Items 1HH FFEFRGBE IS HR 38 AN N H R A HREREE
Statutory surplus reserves A & & # N & 155,377,605.51 18,708,116.86 174,085,722.37
Total At 155,377,605.51  18,708,116.86 174,085,722.37

(V) Undistributed Profits

Items

HHE

Et7 R 2 B R

Amount of the
current period

S

Amount of the
previous period
gt o

Undistributed profits at the end of last year
before adjustment

Total undistributed profits at the beginning of
adjustment year (increase +, decrease -)

Undistributed profits at the beginning of the
year after adjustment

Add: Net profits attributable to the

Less: Withdrawal of statutory surplus reserves

shareholders of the Company in the
current period

Withdrawal of discretionary surplus
reserves

Withdrawal of general risk reserves

Dividends payable on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary share converted
to share capital

Undistributed profits at the end of the period

uE

AR A L FFRRD BB

BWEFEMARD EANEAFE

(S WA

BERFIARDEMNE

mAHEERNEGRRMEE

H 3 7]

B IRBUATE B ATE
RBREERHKBAE

R — R B
& A< 3 A B A

B

B2 1 J 7S RO 388 A A A

HR AR BECAE

618,143,492.42

618,143,492.42

280,866,842.18

18,708,116.86

880,302,217.74

456,253,839.04

1,5671,053.57

457,824,892.61

160,318,599.81

618,143,492.42

Note: On 28 March 2025, the Board recommended not to distribute
the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
nil).

i EEEN2025F03A2B B2 NIREHE
202412 A31 8 1L F E # R B F) (20234 -

&) -

Annual Report 2024 5§

259



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I SOt KR REEZEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(W) Operating Revenue and Operating Costs Crt) BEWATE ER K
1. Operating revenue and operating costs 1 EEWRAFEERELEL
Amount of the current period Amount of the previous period
NHE & 5E LTHEE
Revenue Costs Revenue Costs
Items 1B R ' ON R A WA BN
Main business TEER 5,480,874,452.33 4,837,961,288.03 5,112,430,243.09 4,537,182,882.58
Other businesses £ fib 3 7% 23,776,884.77 6,591,400.09 21,982,846.49 5,765,817.52
Total &&F 5,504,651,337.10 4,844,552,688.12 5,134,413,089.58 4,542,948,700.10
The breakdown of operating revenue: EERONEFE

Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Items HH NE £ EE FH&E
Main business: FEER: 5,480,874,452.33  5,112,430,243.09
Sales of goods SHE®M M 5,480,874,452.33  5,112,430,243.09
Other businesses: S 23,776,884.77 21,982,846.49
Revenue from by-products 2l &E & A 7,610,476.74 9,009,685.57
Services income AR 7 U A 5,922,399.20 3,030,029.03

Revenue from sale of ash, slag and WBE - THREERA
scrap 5,126,038.84 3,680,135.05
Revenue from waste materials BEEYEIRA 4,938,932.12 5,801,590.89
Revenue from sale of materials MR & A 179,037.87 461,405.95
Total a&t 5,504,651,337.10  5,134,413,089.58
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(X0M) Operating Revenue and Operating Costs (Continued)

2. Breakdown of Operating Revenue and Operating
Costs

Revenue from contract for the current period is set out as

Operating revenue

WA

CH BB AMEERAE (E)

2 ERUA  EXHEA T HIEE

FHEFERELNBABREAT

Operating costs

below:
Breakdown of contracts RS E
Business type: EBEA
Raw chicken meat EZEHERA
Processed chicken meat I T # A
Chicken breeds *#H
Others EH
Total &&t

By time of transferring products:
At a certain point in time
Within a certain period of time

ER-FBEER
AR -FERAER

mEmEEREY 8

2,343,404,468.58
2,955,393,062.85
26,963,795.00
178,890,010.67
5,504,651,337.10

5,504,651,337.10

5,504,651,337.10

3,828,206,545.23
1,999,932,877.51
1,622,419,862.05
26,963,795.00
178,890,010.67
411,624,383.10
411,624,383.10
298,221,335.87
298,221,335.87
826,627,162.81
826,627,162.81
139,971,910.09
45,250,255.20
94,721,654.89

2,394,259,835.61
2,261,572,973.79
28,681,769.55
160,038,109.17
4,844,552,688.12

4,844,552,688.12

4,844,552,688.12

3,536,398,404.31
2,120,813,478.77
1,226,865,046.82
28,681,769.55
160,038,109.17
308,166,881.96
308,166,881.96
240,510,571.39
240,510,571.39
658,765,942.65
658,765,942.65
100,710,887.81
32,935,785.45
67,775,102.36

Total =

By operating region: RIS E DR
Mainland China O K RE

— Raw chicken meat — £ #W

— Processed chicken meat — ANMITEHEA
— Chicken breeds — %y

— Others — HA

Japan =[N

— Processed chicken meat — FMIEA
Malaysia BRAEE

— Raw chicken meat — EHER
Europe &M

— Processed chicken meat — AMIT#NA
Other countries Hfth B =R

— Raw chicken meat — £ #W

— Processed chicken meat — AMIT#A
Total &&F

5,504,651,337.10

4,844,552,688.12

3. Transaction price allocated to remaining
performance obligations

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of the transaction
price corresponding to the performance obligations
that have been contracted but not yet per formed or
completed was RMB23,608,417.12, which is expected to
be recognised as revenue in 2025.

3 THMEFGENEBHXZ E %

H E2024F12A318 E% T AR
BEHRETIHRBITETENRBOES
FT¥ M R 5 (81 ¢ 58 423,608,417.12
7T - A& T 2025 F AR R U A ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XM Taxes and Charges E1h B < & B o0

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Items 15 B AH & EE LE& R
House tax FEERM 15,179,548.87 14,853,160.89
Stamp duty ENIER 6,043,762.69 5,693,219.99
City maintenance and construction tax T AR AR 3,849,575.06 3,554,802.05
Resource tax BIR 3,379,032.50 4,883,129.50
Land use tax T E AR 3,172,372.67 3,200,871.64
Education surcharge B Bt n 2,301,156.87 2,124,885.79
Local education surcharge #7520 B BN 1,534,104.65 1,416,590.56
Vehicle and vessel use tax B H 76,969.37 74,841.73
Environmental protection tax RIBIRER 29,430.75 33,893.03
Total AEf 35,565,953.43 35,835,395.18
(XX Selling Expenses E sHEE A

Amount of the Amount of the

current period previous period
Items b= A& EE +HH&RE
Sales and promotion expenses HEHREE 73,900,456.56 67,363,960.51
Employee compensation BY, T %5 Bl 67,091,213.92 67,615,822.70
Travel expenses EIRE 9,750,059.57 9,528,109.09
Intermediary services fees RN RSB 3,526,203.07 2,728,874.11
Business entertainment expenses XEBEE 3,305,108.63 3,125,452.10
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 2,165,005.30 1,864,567.90
Office expenses SN 1,257,639.08 1,452,549.29
Depreciation and amortisation & K 5 559,647.90 653,663.52
Others EH i 2,413,998.65 1,934,672.28
Total &&r 163,969,332.68 156,267,671.50
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I SOt KR REEZEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(XL) Administrative Expenses bt EEEHA
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Items HE E £ 5 FTHeR
Employee compensation B T & B 90,441,775.97 66,701,584.50
Intermediary services fees PR E 10,743,838.24 10,409,423.67
Business entertainment expenses ¥BHREE 9,933,810.35 4,082,760.38
Depreciation and amortisation 1 & K 5 5,911,605.14 6,371,858.05
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,587,713.11 3,886,445.87
Office expenses FER/NE= 2,935,102.62 2,649,881.31
Energy consumption BE R FE 2,714,483.97 2,629,244.17
Others HAh 4,481,455.71 3,872,670.53
Total a5t 130,749,785.11 100,603,868.48
(XL) R&D Expenses bt FHREE A
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Items HE HE £ 5 FTHEeE
Employee compensation B T & B 13,004,223.34 11,189,064.13
R&D and design expenses Rt E 3,447,167.97 2,391,354.40
Depreciation expenses meE® 2,190,071.76 2,188,427.93
Office expenses FIERNE = 1,973,697.91 1,855,693.05
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEENE 1,745,323.60 1,909,894.24
Travel expenses EIRE 987,937.85 1,009,998.29
Entrustment fees EaE 905,241.29 862,326.93
Energy consumption BERE 485,676.70 530,107.54
Others E A 883,595.76 771,260.93
Total A&t 25,622,936.18 22,708,127 .44
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XLI) Finance Costs

SHEUHR/ARYET)

[Bt:) B % B A

Amount of the
current period

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

Amount of the
previous period

Items HE AH & EE LE& R
Interest expenses MEER 62,841,191.66 91,163,646.84
Including: Interest expenses on lease liabilites & : HEGEFEE A 11,566,459.73 11,221,883.29
Less: Interest income R B A 5,922,965.00 6,171,284.58
Exchange gains or losses (= Ey -17,030,462.42 13,023,128.66
Handling fee FES 12,177,392.43 1,061,312.85
Discount acceptance notes AL EERL B 67,847.22 3,904,556.46
Total &t 52,133,003.89 102,981,360.23
(XLI) Other Gains B3 H fth Y 2
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Items HH KHEEEE FH &
Government grants BT 48 BY 3,559,411.52 6,503,162.48
Handling fee for withholding individual RMBEAFRSEHFEE
income tax 199,213.07 147,179.22
Direct exemption for VAT HEERENIEED 179.65 47,497.62
Total AEf 3,758,804.24 6,697,839.32

Additional information: For details of government grants,

please refer to the Note IX, Government grants.

HtF  RFHBeERER

N BRIFHEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XLIV) Investment Income

B 32 & W

Amount of the
current period

SHEEUH/ARYET)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

Amount of the
previous period

Items HH b LH&®E
Gains from long-term equity investments BREZENRARERE

accounted for by equity method & -6,124,189.39 -5,231,499.28
Discount interest of the bills that can be AR IEERRBE

derecognized -442,087.50
Handle fees for hedging instruments and EHTAEFEBRABRA

interest income -120,723.14 -275.37
Total &5t -6,687,000.03 -5,231,774.65

(XLV) Gains from the changes in fair value bl A AEESESH WG
Amount of the Amount of the

Sources of gains from current period previous period
the changes in fair value EERABEHESHRENRE rHEHE tHe®E
Financial assets held for trading RPEETEE 293,000.00
Including: Gains from the changes in fairvalue HrfF : fT4A B T AEEH

of derivative financial instruments NRBEEZFHWKS 293,000.00
Biological assets measured at fair value BARBEIFENEMEE -10,482,907.63 2,576,030.48
Total &&t -10,482,907.63 2,869,030.48

Additional information: gains from changes in fair value of the
biological assets of the Company consist of: (1) gains from the
initial recognition of consumable biological assets at fair value
less sales costs upon harvest; (2) gains from changes in fair
value less sales costs of productive biological assets.

b3 ARAADEEA L BEEDK
REAE (1) BFER A E TR R A A
1 (9 5 28 0 MR A M MR 26 5 (2%
EMAENAEL L BEANEBRNEDE
ETN R
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

SHEUHR/ARYET)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL il
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(XLV) Credit Impairment Loss

[Bt7) 1= FA R {EL 18 &

Amount of the
current period

B BBREEER(E)

Amount of the
previous period

Items 15 B RS EE &%
Losses on bad debts of trade receivable JE UK BR FREBR B K 9,504,994.89 6,089,680.61
Losses on bad debts of other receivable Hfb e W IR BR B K -607,444.43 -663,967.04
Losses on credit impairment of monetary BEEESERABERESX -56,607,439.29

funds
Total &&r -47,709,888.83 5,425,713.57

Additional information: reversal of losses on credit impairment
of monetary funds was caused by the recovery of assets from
the liquidation of GMK Finance Co., Ltd. during the current
period.

B3 -

(XLV) Asset Impairment Loss

Bt EERERX

Amount of the
current period

HMFHH: ERESERRERRKBEAR
HREHFREMEERARDKESEEE

Amount of the
previous period

Items HH KHE £ 5 FHeE
Losses on inventory impairment and FEBEBRIRERELHKAR

impairment of cost of contract performance BB 18 %k 14,784,399.10 1,075,036.96
Impairment losses on fixed asset liquidation FEEERBEERK 2,674,944.64 1,116,237.27
Impairment losses on long-term equity RHREEREEREBERERZL

investments 2,192,416.32
Total &t 19,651,760.06 2,191,274.23

(XLVIl) Gains on Disposal of Assets

Bt & = 2B W

Amount included in
non-recurring

profit or loss

in the current period
STAEMERTIE

Amount of the
previous period

Amount of the
current period

Items 1H B KE S E FHexE Banr o
Net gains on disposal of BEFREEEFWE

non-current assets 9,874.15 248,471.07 9,874.15
Total = 9,874.15 248,471.07 9,874.15
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
[B1) & SR A

(XLIX) Non-operating Income

Amount included in
non-recurring

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

profit or loss
in the current period
FTAEHERTIE

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Items B H REEEE FHEH BEMEHE
Insurance claims IR B 22 B 936,164.00 936,164.00
Gains from disposal of BEFERDEENS

non-current assets 570,637.38 12,648.55 570,637.38
Net income from fines SIE =2 N 239,411.86 863,786.68 239,411.86
Unpayable trade payables £ % S - 89 f& (- 3R 18 17,393.98 474,004.55 17,393.98
Other Hib 51,294.59 14,113.50 51,294.59
Total A& 1,814,901.81 1,364,553.28 1,814,901.81

(L) Non-operating Expenses () &R H

Amount included in
non-recurring

profit or loss

in the current period
STAEMERTIE

Item HA KESEE FHeR BareR
Expenses for liquidated BABESIE R

damages or fines 1,441,788.54 132,782.29 1,441,788.54
Litigation compensation ARS8 1,944,613.64 1,944,613.64
Loss on destruction and ERBEERBREEX

retirement of non-current

assets 6,604,769.00 6,630,376.69 6,604,769.00
Non-recurring losses EEEX 259.83 107.08 259.83
Donation for public welfare i 448 i 322,032.00 691,179.65 322,032.00
Total &5t 10,313,463.01 7,454,445.71 10,313,463.01
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(L) Income Tax Expenses

1. Income tax expenses table

SHEUHR/ARYET)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

it-) FREBER

C R E R R

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Items 5 B b1 R +E& R
Current income tax expenses EHEHRER 38,864,842.36 4,089,241.31
Deferred income tax expenses BRIEMSHER -61,515,708.55 -463,188.48
Total AFf -22,650,866.19 3,626,052.83

2. Adjustment process of accounting profits and

B FIBEEHERARBRE

income tax expenses

Items

BB

Amount of the
current period

KHMEHE

Total profits

Income tax expenses calculated at
statutory or applicable tax rates

Effect of subsidiaries applying different
tax rates

Effect of adjustment in income tax in
the previous period

The impact of non taxable income

Effect of non-deductible costs, expenses
and losses

Effect of utilising deductible loss of
deferred income tax assets not
recognised in the previous period

Effect of deductible temporary difference
or deductible loss of deferred income

tax assets not recognised in the current

F 3 48 58
BEATRERAMEAENMEHER

FARNERTARENYE

BUARHEMSHROZE

FEBRBANTE
AHEMNRA  BRNBRANTE

158 FA A HA K SRR
BENZE

LI FT 15 5 & 2 H AT IR A

AEARERELEABHEENATEME T
ERFMEMBEENTE

258,215,975.99

64,553,994.00

2,198.49

35,471,898.27
-938,373,810.08

904,048,398.98

-4,456,705.98

period -83,412,431.63
Effect of deductions for the disabled B A INGT 0B A 52 2 -484,408.24
Income tax expenses s ER -22,650,866.19
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(L) Earnings Per Share
1. Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing
the consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary

shareholders of the parent company by the weighted
average number of outstanding ordinary shares of the

(£12) & IR W 3

1

Company:

Items

HH

EXFK K&

EAXERESAFBERE AR EERR
RE) & GHFFBRIAR R R BEITEIE

FARE INFE TG HF
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
rPEE rHieR

Consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary

shareholders of the parent company
Weighted average number of outstanding
ordinary shares of the Company
Basic earnings per share
Including: Basic earnings per share from

FERERREARER
V& % A

ARBETHEIIEBERD
AN 19 B

EARF RS

Hep  FEREELRESR

continuing operations &=
Basic earnings per share from BIEREEREGR
discontinued operations &

280,866,842.18 160,318,599.81

1,567,529,192.33  1,488,380,527.00
0.18 0.11

0.18 0.11

Additional information: the change of weighted average
number of outstanding ordinary shares of the Company
during the current period is mainly due to changes in the
issue of additional new shares.

2. Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing
the consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of the parent company (diluted) by the
weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares
of the Company (diluted):

ltems HH

2.

H A B0 ¢ A A R AT 5D B AR 1 0
BTHRAHEDEEER BB TRE
BEH -

KK
BESRESEAFBRE AR EEBRK

RE)E %M B (B BRARNRR #HIT
SN E B NEFEB (B FE -

Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
rHPEE rFHieR

Consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary §7 /& 7> & A 7] % 38 i A% 3=

shareholders of the parent company (diluted) £ & 37 % K58 (7% 12)

Weighted average number of outstanding RRRETEINE BRD
ordinary shares of the Company (diluted) mniEFHH (HE)
Diluted earnings per share R W s
Including: Diluted earnings per share from  Hri : HEKEHETR
continuing operations &
Diluted earnings per share from RIEKERESR
discontinued operations I &

280,866,842.18 160,318,599.81

1,572,124,024.33  1,501,881,527.00
0.18 0.11

0.18 0.11
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(L) Cash Flow Statement Items I REREKEE

1. Cash in relation to operating activities 1. EEEZBHEHHWREZ

(1) Other cash received in relation to operating (1) Y389 B fits AR &% B) /5 B /)
activities HE

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Item HE AH &5 FHEH
Deposits TEEE 38,828,881.71 27,050,855.25
Government grants BT # B 9,320,954.94 3,847,662.93
Catering income Z A 7,741,202.30 9,185,770.82
Interest income F B WA 5,922,965.00 6,664,731.59
Rental income HEWA 3,091,420.36 3,080,617.50
Income from claims of fines S0 BT SRR 1,573,461.21 508,562.49
Business transaction amounts (N 789,902.56 2,569,314.70
Others Hi 429,569.73 370,636.10
Total AEf 67,698,357.81 53,278,151.38

(2) Other cash payments in relation to operating (2) ZITHYE it B4R &% B) /5 B /Y
activities HE

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Item HH K& EE FHe%E
Out of pocket expenses EEE-35 106,684,439.12 78,925,979.27
Guarantees and deposits REE  HE 31,263,344.14 23,211,823.05
Business transaction amounts R 1,904,813.37 9,356,701.05
Others HAb 489,584.57 869,965.12
Total A&t 140,342,181.20 112,364,468.49
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(L) Cash Flow Statement Items (Continued)

2. Cash in relation to investing activities

(1) Other cash received in relation to investing

activities

Item

HHE

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

[ IRERBEREE (B)

2. BREZEBEHENES

HE

Amount of the
current period

&

(1) W2 e £ b 8212 & )% B) A B 49

Amount of the
previous period

gttt

Cash received from liquidation of
finance companies

MBRAWEFBER@RS

27,786,153.44

Amounts received on disposal of BREEREERRBRE

trust assets 26,393,660.65
Deposit for letters of credit ERERES 22,561,530.33
Deposit for futures securities HEFHFRES 3,059,525.13
Deposit for foreign currency hedge INEEHRES 2,473,619.13
Total &5t 82,274,488.68

(2) Other cash payments in relation to investing

(2) X TE)E B E 52 B

activities BEs
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Item HE KL EE FHe%E
Deposit RES 28,799,800.00 6,773,765.03
Total a5t 28,799,800.00 6,773,765.03

3. Cash in relation to financing activities

(1) Other cash received in relation to financing

activities

Item

HHE

3.

R 57

(1) 4 2| & £ fth 82

He

Amount of the
current period

S

HELZEEFHNE S

=Wl

Amount of the
previous period
rHeR

Loan form shareholder received

U B BR A R

350,790,284.53

Sale and leaseback payments & 1% 0 18 W R EE 35,000,000.00 302,000,000.00
Recovery of deposit W B {R & 1,000,000.00 189,992,035.38
Total AEf 36,000,000.00 842,782,319.91
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(L) Cash Flow Statement Items (Continued) I REREKXER (B)

3. Cash in relation to financing activities (Continued) 3 - HEEETEHEENEL (E)

(2) XTE)E B E &% B A B Ay

(2) Other cash payments in relation to financing

272

activities e
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Item ®A TS tHEHE
Repayment of loans and interest to BERREREFE
shareholders 201,841,418.95 190,069,229.58
Sale and leaseback payments and interest E %O ERERFE 261,589,612.49 151,208,687.22
Lease fees and deposits HEMKEERRES 24,319,455.34 17,923,440.86
Loan handling fee ERFEE 13,800,000.00 8,640,000.00
Notes, loans and finance lease deposits ER-ER BREMEE
RFE S 13,040,000.00 2,000,000.00
H shares issuance costs Hf% 1% 25 & 4,376,285.67
Payment of shares repurchase A RS 1 3] B 4,432,942.60
Total &5t 523,399,715.05 369,841,357.66
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(LIV)Supplementary Information for Cash Flow AtORERERFRER
Statement

1. Supplementary information for cash flow 1- RERBERBLTER

statement
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Supplementary information wxEs AHEHE tH#HeE
1. Reconciliation of net profits to cash flows from 1. #F M BHG ALLEHELHE
operating activities
Net profits 3 S 280,866,842.18 160,318,599.81
Add: Credit impairment loss m:ERRERX -47,709,888.83 5,425,713.57
Provision for asset impairment EERBEERE 19,651,760.06 2,191,274.23
Depreciation of fixed assets TEEWE 258,468,735.88 255,668,772.59
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELSERE 11,562,130.36 8,809,670.97
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 2,689,518.18 2,658,584.32
Amortisation of long-term deferred expenses ROGEBREH 5,760,000.00 683,000.00
Losses on disposal of fixed assets, intangible REETEE EVEENEMRS

assets and other long-term assets (income BAEMBE (KERAT-158E)

to be inserted with “-") -9,874.15 -248,471.07
Obsolescence losses on fixed assets TEBEMEBRL M [-15E7])

(income to be inserted with “~") 6,034,131.62 6,617,728.14
Losses from changes in fair value A BEEZHER (WEA-IRE)

(income to be inserted with “-") 10,482,907.63 -2,869,030.48
Finance costs (income to be inserted with ") B ER (W AT-1581E7) 45,535,611.46 108,091,331.96
Loss on investments (income to be inserted with ") 1% & 18 5k (28 A T- ] 5748 7)) 6,687,000.03 5,231,774.65
Decrease in deferred income tax assets BEMGHEERYD

(increase to be inserted with “-") (&A% 38 51) -62,166,706.79 -445,363.86
Increase in deferred income tax liabilities ERFTEHEELEM

(decrease to be inserted with =" (R LAT-15824E75) 650,998.24 -17,824.62
Decrease in inventories FEER D

(increase to be inserted with “-") (2 nLAT-15RE ) -31,494,665.02 -49,897,620.16
Decrease in operating receivables L EKIEE MR

(increase to be inserted with “-") (&A% 38 51) -43,034,269.70 -47,905,453.66
Increase in operating payables R ENIEE R

(decrease to be inserted with “-") CRADAT-157385) 143,356,402.69 -108,882,980.00
Others HA 2,425,444.72 6,560,169.10

Net cash flows generated from operating
activities

BETHELNREREFE

609,756,078.56

351,989,875.49
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(LIV)Supplementary Information for Cash Flow
Statement (Continued)

1. Supplementary information for cash flow
statement (Continued)

hEHMBEBRRERERE(E)

EEREREBEREETER (B)

1- BEREBXRBAREN(E)

Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Supplementary information BrER byl g ] LHeH
2. Material investment and financing activities not 2. ¥ RE LW HEARE M
involving cash receipts and payments EBEY
Conversion of debt to capital BEHEBRENR
Convertible corporate bonds due —ERNEHEMTERREES
within one year
Acquisition of right-of-use assets by way of AEHEAEAANEGERRELSRE
lease obligations 34,621,336.69 1,305,996.00
3. Netchanges in cash and cash equivalents 3. B4 NEELEEMFEHER
Closing balance of cash Rem R 329,822,566.24 189,928,649.77
Less: Opening balance of cash A RSB E 189,928,649.77 144,732,805.91
Add: Closing balance of cash equivalents m: BeSEMNBRRSGE
Less: Opening balance of cash equivalents BB SENNBINSRE
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEMFEME 139,893,916.47 45,195,843.86

Information on Other: an increase of RMB2,425,444.72 in
other share-based payments included in cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I EOHMBRREEZER(E)

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(LIV)Supplementary Information for Cash
Statement (Continued)

2. Composition of Cash and Cash Equivalents

Flow

Balance at the

EEREREBEREETER (B)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

2 - BEABEEEBYHIEL

Balance at the end

end of the period of last year
Items BB BAREAEE LFEFERBE
I. Cash —Re 329,822,566.24 189,928,649.77
Including: Cash on hand Eqh ERERE 20,756.26 18,414.82
Digital currency that can be ARERARIHET
used readily for payments =¥
Bank deposits that can be A BER R 2SR 1T
used readily for payments TR 32,935,870.01 188,670,092.47
Other monetary funds that A B8 R B R S2 AT B EL A
can be used readily for BEBE®
payments 443,059.97 1,240,142.48
Amounts that can be used AR NEFEHRFR
for payments from RITHIA
Central Bank Deposits
Interbank deposits EN e O
Interbank Offer i CIE O
Il. Cash Equivalents Z ReEED
Including: Debt investments due within H & : = {8 A REHINESHKE
three months
lll. Cash and cash equivalents balance = * BRI & NI & S EWHE
at the end of the period 329,822,566.24 189,928,649.77

Including: Cash and cash equivalents
held but not available for
use by the parent company
or other intra-group
subsidiaries

Monetary funds not classified as

cash and cash

Hep: FAEM R RRHK
SERNEMLFRAREMAN

TERAZRASFEVNEEES:

equivalents:
Reasons for
not classified
Balance at the Balance atthe as cash
end of end of and cash
the period last year equivalents

Items HH TERRE
B EE

HIREREE LFEERHRE POER

Other monetary funds HihBEES Deposits

25,136,924.01 8,574,090.66 (RE®
Total = 25,136,924.01 8,574,090.66
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

V. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL I et EBRREBEEE(E)
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(LV) Lease (EtEEE
1. As alessee 1- ERAREA
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
Items ER RES LHe
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEMMNEER 11,566,459.73 11,221,883.29
Short-term lease charges included AEBEEERALE HERSN
in the cost of the related assets or EEEENEHEERER
in the current profit or loss using
simplified treatment 4,962,907.65 5,801,293.10
Lease charges for low-value assets sTAMABEEER AN E BHETH
(other than short-term lease ftRENEBEEEEES
payments for low value assets) AUEBEEEEMRHEESR
included in the cost of the related BN
assets or in the current profit or loss
using simplified treatment
Variable lease payments not included 5t AMBRI & E K A E H B2 K
in the measurement of lease KA EB BTN EHE
liabilities included in the cost of the EfE
related assets or in the current profit
or loss
Including: Portion arising from sale Hf SR HEERZELERD
and leaseback transactions
Income from sublease of right-to-use & 78 {55 /3 1 & & BU/S A Uk A
assets
Total cash outflow related to leases ~ E2FE EAE R Y 4238 €7 29,282,362.99 23,724,733.96

Gains or losses arising from sale and &% MBI 5 &E 4+ M iER B
leaseback transactions

Cash inflows from sale and leaseback &% B % HE 475
transactions

Cash outflows from sale and EBERERSHELRH
leaseback transactions
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
VI. R&D EXPENSES AR -

() R&D Expenses (-) & H

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

Items 1HH AE L5 LHe®
Employee compensation 58 T & B 13,004,223.34 11,189,064.13
R&D and design expenses MR E 3,447,167.97 2,391,354.40
Depreciation expenses ES 2,190,071.76 2,188,427.93
Office expenses WRE 1,973,697.91 1,855,693.05
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,745,323.60 1,909,894.24
Travel expenses EiRE 987,937.85 1,009,998.29
Entrustment fees B 905,241.29 862,326.93
Energy consumption BE R B R 485,676.70 530,107.54
Others Hib 883,595.76 771,260.93
Total CE 25,622,936.18 22,708,127 .44

Including: Expensed R&D expenses

Capitalised R&D expenses BAR{bi BT

Hep: BREAEH

25,622,936.18

22,708,127.44

Vil. CHANGE IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION t SOHEENEE

() Other Reasons for Change in Scope of - HMWRENEHEESE
Consolidation

During the period, the Company established subsidiaries:
Liaocheng Youjing Enterprise Management Consulting Co.,
Ld* (M ESECEETIEH B AR AF) and Liaocheng
Youshen Enterprise Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (#l35
ERTEXTEZLMNER DA, each with a registered capital
of RMB10,000. As of 31 December 2024, no capital has been
actually contributed.

AABAHRLFRAYNBEBECEEER
HMERAR  WRERCEEBEEANBRA
A EMEARE B1E L HE2024F12A4
3MB HAREBEHEE -

KRR FA TM%H#@&E%’*@’EF N
A ANEFBRLFRARILREERMARA
T E AR 1,000% T - FEf D LR B S
CEERMMIER-

During the period, the Company’s subsidiary, Shandong
Fengxiang Food Development Co., Ltd., established a new
subsidiary, Shandong Xiangyuan Food Co., Ltd.* (I R & &
mh A R A 7)), with a registered capital of RMB10 million. The
company is located in Weifang City, Shandong Province, and
primarily engages in food processing.

3t oz
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

VII.LEQUITY IN OTHER ENTITIES

SHEUHR/ARYET)

N EHEERPNES

() Equity in Subsidiaries (- EFLARFHER
Constitution of the enterprise group PEEENEL
Registered Percentage of
capital shareholding (%)
(RMB10,000) Category of B R Bl (%) Acquisition
Name of subsidiary &R  Major operation place Registered in Business nature legal person Direct Indirect method
FARER (Bn) TZELEH it B 331 EAER ¢ B BEAR
Shandong Fengxiang Industrial 61,950.00 Yanggu County, Shandong  Yanggu County, Production and sale of Limited liability 100.00 Setup
Co., Ltd. Province Shandong Province frozen meat products company
LRBHEXBRAF LWRaBAS LREBAS RRARMEE HE  BREARA i
Shandong Fengxiang Food 41,223.89 Yanggu County, Shandong ~ Yanggu County, Production and sale of Limited liability 100.00 Setup
Development Co., Ltd. Province Shandong Province frozen food company
LIRBHRRERARAT LWEEBAS LWREBAE BREMEE HEFE  BREARA &I
Shandong iShape Food 22,000.00 Yanggu County, Shandong  Yanggu County, Shandong Production and sale of Limited liability 100.00 Set up
Technology Co., Ltd. Province Province frozen food company
LEEFRRBEARAT LREHEAR LEEBAS RERMEE HES  BREARA R
Fengxiang Foods (Japan) 300.31  Japan Japan Consulting Limited liability 100.00 Set up
Co., Ltd. company
BEREmKASH BR BE ) BERAERAA R
Liaocheng Youjing Enterprise 1.00 Liaocheng City, Shandong  Liaocheng City, Shandong Consulting Limited liability 100.00 Setup
Management Consulting Province Province company
Co., Ltd. (HHERLEER
HABERAR)
WREBRCEEREN WREHR T TSy i) BERAERA R
BRAA
Liaocheng Youshen Enterprise 1.00 Liaocheng City, Shandong  Liaocheng City, Shandong Consulting Limited liability 100.00 Set up
Management Consulting Province Province company
Co, Ltd (WABREEE
BHRAGRAA)
HRBREZEREN Sy LEB WA T k) BREERTF &I
BRAF
Yucheng Fengming Food 3,300.00 Yanggu County, Shandong  Yucheng City, Shandong Production and sale of Limited liability 100.00 Setup
Co., Ltd. Province Province frozen food company
BHEBRABERAF LWRaBAS LREERT BRAMEE HEF  BREARA eV
Shandong Xiangyuan Food Co., 1,000.00 Weifang City, Shandong Weifang City, Shandong Production and sale of Limited liability 100.00 Setup
Ltd. (URESRBEBAR) Province Province frozen food company
LURFERMBBAF Sy S LWEB#HT BRRMEE HEFE  BREARA &I

Additional information: as at 31 December 2024, no issuance
of share capital and debentures were made by the Company’s

subsidiaries.

(II) Equity in Joint Arrangements or Associates

HA 3 A - 80 E2024F 128318 - AR AEIH
FARABEDHITHNRANMES

1. Major joint ventures or associates

Percentage of ~ Accounting for

shareholding (%) investmentsin  Strategic to
Name of joint BRWEHI(%)  joint ventures or the Company’s
ventures or associates Major operation place Registered in Business nature Direct Indirect associates activities
HegbERH

RELER ELXRENE HEAQNREHR
BELXER TEREH i E 331 B M#E SEELZE RERERHY
Yanggu Xiangyu Yanggu County, Yanggu County, Operation of organic 49.00 Equity method Yes

Biological Shandong Province Shandong fertilisers, microbial

Technology Co., Ltd. Province fertilisers, bio-fertilisers
GARREDHRK LRE B AR LR A B - 0L =9 BRE =

AR EOp
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)
VIILEQUITY IN OTHER ENTITIES (CONTINUED) NEHMEBPOER(B)

)

i

(S EEERFERBE D E PR (4

() Equity in Joint Arrangements or Associates
(Continued)
2 - EEBERCENTEHNBEE

2. Key financial information of major associates

Balance at the end
of last year/

Balance at the
end of the period/

amount of the
current period

amount of the
previous period

HARBE,  LEFERHES

KPS E rtHe®m

Yanggu Xiangyu Yanggu Xiangyu

Biological Biological

Technology Technology

Co., Ltd. Co., Ltd.

BAEREY AR FERAEY

MEERAR R ER AR

Current assets mEEE 4,528,839.75 7,469,876.86

Non-current assets EREBEE 123,176,092.81 131,642,483.78

Total assets BEA 127,704,932.56 139,112,360.64

Current liabilities nEBE 28,295,157.55 30,212,184.98

Non-current liabilities BB E 2,634,482.67 2,834,416.67

Total liabilities BEAEF 30,929,640.22 33,046,601.65
Minority interests DB R =

Equity attributable to the
shareholders of the Company
Net assets share calculated
as per shareholding ratio
Adjustments
— Goodwill
— Unrealized profits from internal
transactions

BENRSRRREER
BERLOIGENFEENE
HEER

.
— NERHAERAE

96,775,292.34

47,419,893.25

106,065,758.99

51,972,221.91

— Others — Hfb -1,126,763.60 2,637,513.45
Book value of equity investmentin  ¥E & P ER SR ENIRAEE
associates 46,293,129.65 54,609,735.36

Operating revenue BRI A 4,373,477.50 15,319,136.86
Net profit gD -12,498,345.70 -10,676,529.15
Net profit from discontinued B E A ) F )

operations
Other comprehensive income H A 4R A& e
Total comprehensive income LEeEWTEEE -12,498,345.70 -10,676,529.15

Dividends from associates at
the current period

RERUL B RO 2R 5 B o A B A
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

IX. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

() Types, amount and presented items of
government grants

1. Government grants included in current profit

or loss

Government grants related to assets

Amount of Amount included in current profit

SHEUHR/ARYET)

- B #EBh

CBFEBNESR SBEMIKERE

1 5t A ERj1R a8 09 B FF # B)

H2 & E 16 B 7 BT 7 B

Items included in current profit or

Presented items government or loss or written off against loss or written off against related
in the balance sheet grants related costs and expenses costs and expenses
FAEHBERTARERAER FAEHRSEINAEERAER
EERBRIBRER BREBESHE BANESHE BAMEE
Amount of the ~ Amount of the
current period  previous period
XHEH LHeE
Deferred income 23,654,633.33 1,749,978.06 1,749,978.07 Other income
B Hh Wz
Total
aat 23,654,633.33 1,749,978.06 1,749,978.07
Government grants related to revenue £ U 75 16 65 B9 B T 7 B
Amount of Amount included in current profit
Items included in current profit or loss or government or loss or written off against
written off against related costs and expenses grants related costs and expenses
FAEHBREINREERAERBELANER FAEHEEI R EEERAER
BREpEE BEANEE
Amount of the Amount of the
current period previous period
N rHeE
Other income 1,809,433.46 1,809,433.46 4,753,184.41
o
Finance costs 3,310,000.00 3,310,000.00 3,560,000.00
HBER
Total
A&t 5,119,433.46 5,119,433.46 8,313,184.41
2. Liabilities involving government grants 2 PREFHBHWEEEE
Amount Amount
of new included in Amounts Written off

Balanceat  grants for  current profit

transferred to against costs and

Balance at Related to the

the end of the current  or loss of the other income for expenses for the Other the end of assets/related to
Liabilities last year period current period the current period current period changes the period the income
AHHE  ABHAEX AHEA - REHE HEERR/
&fEER FEFRBE  HYPLE HEAEE HtthE &8 HAERAEE Ht2s MARHE RREAE
Deferred income ~ 19,006,106.48 1,749,978.06 17,256,128.42 Related to the assets

AT

BEEMRMN
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL T EHEZMIAEEBENER
INSTRUMENTS

(I) Various risks arising from financial instruments (D eRMIAEENSERR

The Company is confronted with various financial risks during
its operation, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
(including exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk). The financial risks and the risk management policies
adopted by the Company to reduce the risks are as follows:

The Board is responsible for planning and establishing the
Company’s risk management framework, formulating the
Company’s risk management policies and related guidelines
and overseeing the implementation of risk management
measures. The Company has established risk management
policies to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Company. These risk management policies specify specific
risks, covering various aspects of market risks, credit risks
and liquidity risk management. The Company regularly
evaluates changes in market conditions and the Company’s
business activities to determine whether to update its
risk management policies and systems. The Company’s
risk management is carried out by the Risk Management
Committee in accordance with the policies approved by the
Board. The Risk Management Committee identifies, evaluates
and hedges relevant risks through close cooperation with
other business units of the Company. The Company’s internal
audit department conducts regular audits of risk management
controls and procedures and reports the results of these audits
to the Company’s Audit Committee.

The overall objective of the risk management in the Company
is to formulate risk management policies to minimise the risks
without unduly interfering the Company’s competitiveness and
resilience.

ARREKLEBRETPHAGEESRAR
ARER RBUEARNTSER(BEEX
B - AR E R AE A EARRER) o Ll 2R
R Bz A e A 2 ) A P 1EK A Ak L B P R BN Y L
B BURI AT -

EXESRERIVLBRIYARANERERER
B B A A E & R b E IR B A AE B 1R S
TEERREREBOATER ARFE
1 E [ B & IR B A 3 Bl A 0 A AR R R BT E
i H L B - AE e AL B TR ORI R Rl B o
TTHERE BRETHHSAR ERER
MREEEREREFZESTH - NQAEH
FHETISIRIE R AR BL LB EB(LIAR
ERRHRAREERRREARETEHN A
RANEAREEHEREEZEERRES
SHENBRRAR RREEZESREHR
RAREMEBBFANEZ S IERBR - 7
BEMBREEERR - AR B ABEF I
REipERES REFETERNEZ I8
BERBEREEBARANEFEZEG -

ARAEBREENABAREETNEETE
RABRFHAMEEINOBERT  HIEZA8E
e R L e B L B T IR SR

Annual Report 2024 &5}

281



282

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(I) Various risks arising from financial instruments

(Continued)

SHEUHR/ARYET)

T EHERTAMEBNERRGE)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of financial loss to the
Company due to the failure of the counterparty to fulfill its
contractual obligations.

The Company’s credit risk mainly arose from the
monetary funds, trade receivable, other receivable
and financial guarantee contract. At the balance sheet
date, the carrying amount of the financial assets of the
Company represents its maximum exposure to credit risk.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Company’s
monetary funds presented in the financial statements are
mainly deposits placed in state-owned and other large
and middle listed banks with higher credit rates. The
Company is of view that they are free from significant
credit risks and is unlikely to incur significant losses due
to banks’ defaults. As at the end of 2023, the Company
has provided full impairment loss for its monetary funds
placed in GMK Finance Co., Ltd., the main reason is that
GMK Finance Co., Ltd. is insolvent and the Company is
unlikely to recover its monetary funds.

The Company ensures that the Company’s overall credit
risk is within control through quarterly monitoring of
existing customers’ credit ratings and monthly review of
trade receivable aging analysis. When monitoring the
customer’s credit risk, we group them according to their
credit characteristics. Customers rated as “high-risk” will
be placed on the list of restricted customers, and the
Company can only sell them on the premise of additional
approval, otherwise they must be required to pay the
relevant amounts in advance.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

() Various risks arising from financial instruments
(Continued)

2.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise may encounter
deficiency of funds in meeting obligations settled with
cash or other financial assets delivery.

The Company’s policy is to ensure it has sufficient cash
to settle the debts when they fall due. The Company’s
finance department centralised control on liquidity risk.
Through monitoring cash balance, readily realisable
marketable securities and the rolling forecasts of cash
flow for the next 12 months, the finance department
will ensure the Company has sufficient fund to settle its
debts under all reasonable foreseeable circumstances.
It also continuously monitors the Company’s compliance
with borrowing agreements to obtain credits from major
financial institutions to provide sufficient reserve funds
and obtain shareholder borrowings from the controlling
shareholder to meet short- and long-term capital needs.

The financial liabilities of the Company are analysed by
their maturity date below at their undiscounted contractual
cash flows:

T EHem T AMEBNERGE)

(O EMIAEENSEARE)

2. WmEME R

MBUEERRECFREBRTURINRS
KEMEMEEN T AEETNEHRH
EESHEROER -

ARANBREEFRAEERENAE N
EEDMER - RBMER R HARF N
PR EPI SRl o B 75 AR P B I B4R
Resh@d TREHERANAEESFAR
HRX1EARSRENRE R - #
RAREMARBEAANIBERL TSR
RNESEERER RARKEZZERF
EENEERBAENRE K22/
BEESREHUEHNEREZNERE X
8 428 S AR 3R 2 HR A 3R {5 SR A W 2 A2 ER A
RHNEEFFR -

ARBAZSEHEBABARTRNEGRER
B RAZIREAT :

K
St
feio
I
B

Balance at the end of the period

Immediate Total undiscounted
repayment Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5years contractual amount Carrying amount

Items HE AFREE
ISR §- 150K 1-2% 2-5% 5 E @A REEE
Short-term borrowings & H{E 640,251,094.72 640,251,004.72  633,645,701.02
Trade payable ERER 399,453,303.68 399,453,303.68  399,453,303.68
Other payable HinER 142,816,372.10 142,816,372.10  142,816,372.10
Other current liabiles ~ Ef i & & & 11,881,617.10 11,881,617.10 11,686,120.91

Non-current liabilities due — £ W Z £ 4)

within one year ERBERE 215,317,339.16 215,317,339.16  186,806,811.11
Long-term borrowings R EE 166,482,955.00 166,482,955.00  159,950,000.00
Long-term payable REENER 16,935,000.00 4,233,750.00 5,677,868.96 26,846,618.96 25,681,131.01
Lease liabilities HEEE 28,317,997.56 47,208,920.82  368,869,485.32 444,396,403.70  203,550,003.46
Total A& 1,409,719,726.76  211,735,952.56 51,442,670.82  374,547,354.28 2,047,445,704.42  1,763,589,443.29
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL + EHEmITAEHABENRR (B)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
() Various risks arising from financial instruments (HEeRMIARELENSERRE (B
(Continued)
2. Liquidity risk (Continued) 2 mEMEE(E)
Balance at the end of last year
FEERBE
Immediate Total undiscounted
repayment Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Over5years  contractual amount  Carrying amount
Items BH AHBAR
BB 1E0R 126 2-5% 5E + eEAH REEE
Short-term borrowings 2 2 & 7% 291,698,799.33 291,698,799.33  280,373,266.00
Trade payable JE IR 3 380,727,251.84 380,727,251.84  380,727,251.84
Other payable HipE R 317,299,415.62 317,299415.62  311,885,930.94
Other current liabilities ~ E 4t A5 & (& 205,649,268.80 225,649,268.80 22551544017
Non-current liabilities due —%F 7 3 £ 49
within one year ERBDEE 179,018,068.66 179,018,068.66  165,859,675.20
Long-term borrowings R HIE 165,451,665.00  162,304,550.00 327,756,215.00  319,970,000.00
Long-term payable REEMT 6,010,512.43 6,010,512.43 6,010,512.43
Lease liabilties MEEE 15796,468.26  41,171,881.00  381,603,095.49 438,571,444.75  187,779,655.98
Total A& 1,394,392,804.25 18124813326  203476431.00  387,613,607.92  2,166,730,97643 1,878,121,732.56
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

() Various risks arising from financial instruments
(Continued)

3. Market risk

Market risk of financial instruments is the risk of fluctuation
in the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flow
arising from changes in market price. Market risk includes
exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

(1)

(2)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuation in the fair
value of financial instruments or future cash flow
arising from changes in market interest rate.

The Company’s interest rate risk mainly arises
from bank borrowings. Interest-bearing financial
instruments with fixed and floating interest rates
expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The
Company determined the proportion of fixed interest
rate and floating interest rate risk based on the
market conditions and maintained an appropriate mix
of fixed interest rate and floating interest rate through
regular review and supervision. The Company will
use swap instruments to hedge interest rate risk
when necessary.

As at 31 December 2024, if the interest rates of
borrowings with floating interest rates increased or
decreased by 100 basis points with all other variables
held constant, the Company’s net profit will decrease
or increase by RMB3,499,700.00 (31 December
2023: RMB7,610,332.66). The management is of
the view that 100 basis points reasonably reflect the
reasonable range of possible changes in the interest
rates in the following year.

Exchange rate risk

Exchange rate risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Company continuously monitors foreign currency
transactions and the size of foreign currency assets
and liabilities to minimise exposure to foreign
exchange risk. In addition, the Company may
consider entering into forward exchange contract
or currency swap contract to mitigate the foreign
exchange risk. During the period and the previous
period, the Company has not entered into any
forward exchange contract or currency swap contract.

T EHERTAMEBNERRGE)

(EMIBEEENSERRE(E)

3 TEERE

SRIANTHEARRZEERIANAD
fo (BAE SR AR S e B 4 7

MELEBHER CEEXER  F
HEBRA M EEERR -

(1) F &= B

MExERIEEERIANDIAEBE
HARARREREEATZHNEEFHM
BHERBOEE -

NN B H R AR E R R E Z RN
BITEF BEMEFZEFEN
HECRIADRFEARARAIEER
AEEFNERRBERESREFNEE
R AQRRIETMISRERRTEH
EFEREZEFRTEANLEG - I
AATHENEERERSEENE
TEFZESHFETEAL - KB
AABGRABERT ARE HFHE
[2 Bz

MN2024E12A31H - EH M2 2R
BARENEBERT  WRIAFEF X
T E R fE XA E E A KT FE1001E
o AR A A EFEE R D%
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

X. RISKS RELATED TO FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

() Various risks arising from financial instruments
(Continued)

3. Market risk (Continued)
(2) Exchange rate risk (Continued)

The Company’s exposure to exchange rate risk
arises mainly from financial assets and financial
liabilities denominated in US$. The amounts of
foreign currency financial assets and foreign currency
financial liabilities translated into RMB are shown

T EHERTAMEBNERRGE)

(O EMIAEENSEARE)

3 WmEmEE(E)
(2) ExEm bz (&)

AABEEROEXRRTEZRER
METHENEREEMNSRA
BB ERMEENIESRAE
FEXRARENEREIITET :

below:
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HREAEE TEERBE
Other foreign Other foreign
Us$ currencies Total Us$ currencies Total
ltems BH £ Hth oh g &t e H 51 At
Monetary funds E%Ee 84,962,786.30  5812,999.49  90,775,785.79  18,525,672.10  7,297,330.75  25,823,002.85
Trade receivable & U ER 3 154,208,216.68 154,208,216.68  125,376,687.67 125,376,687.67
Prepayments BRZE 1,285,382.48 1,285,382.48 607,535.66 607,535.66
Trade payable ERERR 10,949,216.38 10,949,216.38 1,195,720.47 1,195,720.47
Other payables Hih R 191,232,900.00 191,232,900.00

As at 31 December 2024, with all other variables
unchanged, if the RMB appreciates or depreciates
by 1% against the US$, the Company’s net profit
will increase or decrease by RMB2,295,071.18 (31
December 2023: RMB-479,187.25). Management
believes that 1% reasonably reflects the reasonable
range of changes that may occur between the RMB
and the US$ in the coming year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XI. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE

The inputs used for fair value measurement are divided into three

levels:

Level 1 input is the unadjusted quotation of the same asset or
liability that is available on the measurement day in the active

market.

Level 2 input is the input that can be observed directly or indirectly
of the relevant asset or liability other than those in level 1.

Level 3 input is the unobservable input of the relevant asset or

liability.

The level of the fair value measurement is determined by the
lowest level of the input which is of great significance to the whole
of the fair value measurement.

() Fair value of assets and liabilities measured at
fair value at the end of the current period

Item

BH

- ARBEENKE

ARBEEFEMERNBGAES S A=ERE KX :

E-—ERBAEREERLARSHHEREE
HBEEERTS LARGHENRE -

E_ERBANEERE-—BRBABIMEHEE
KBEERKAERAIBEENGAE-
F-BROAERHEBEEXBENTAERES

REEHEERMBNER Y QAR EER
EXEMEAEEREEZNBAEMBORIERE

() HUARBEEAENEENEENHRA
REE

Fair value at the end of the current period

BRAAEE
Level 1 of Level 2 of Level 3 of
fair value fair value fair value
measurement measurement  measurement Total
E—BR FE_BR E=ZEBIR
BETE ADABEEFE DAEERE &t

I. Continuous measurement at

fair value

- FHENAREE

Held-for-trading financial assets XZ M4 ¢@MEE

1. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
(1) Investment in debt instruments
(2) Investment in equity

instruments

(3) Derivative financial assets

(4) Trust units

Biological assets
1. Consumptive biological assets
2. Productive biological assets

1LUARBEFELAEZFHA
EHBRRNEREE

MEBITARE
QEZIALE

B)TESREE
@ErEhE

ENEE
1. ARMEENEE
2LHEENEYEE

2,477,721.15 2,477,721.15
2,477,721.15 2,477,721.15

2,477,721.15 2,477,721.15
433,024,800.00 433,024,800.00
228,094,800.00 228,094,800.00
204,930,000.00 204,930,000.00

Total assets measured at fair
value on a continuous basis

REUQAABENENEEAS

435,502,521.15  435,502,521.15
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

XI. DISCLOSURE OF FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED)

(Il) Valuation techniques used and the qualitative
and quantitative information of key parameters

for recurring and non-recurring fair value
measurement categorised within Level 3

Fair value at the end

SHEUHR/ARYET)

- AREENEEE

(C)BRBANHBFEE=ZBRAABEFNEER
B RANMGEERNNEESBNE M

FEEEER

Relations between key unobservable

Items of the current period  Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs inputs and fair value measurement
HRETIBRBABEAAENEZH
EHH BADAEE HERN FABRBAE NIEERR
Broiler 35,480,200.00 Cost method (The valuation is determined by The market price of broiler eggs on 31 December The estimated fair value increases when the
eggs deducting the sales expenses, all taxes and certain 2024 was RMB2.15/egg. market price increases.
product sales profits from the selling price.)
BE KAENEBRAHEER 2UHEN TN 20245 12ANBREETHEB/ARS215T,/ THEREME  Fit A EEM-
ERHENBRETTMGE) e
Broiler 192,614,600.00 Cost method (The valuation is determined by The market price of broilers on 31 December 2024 The estimated fair value increases when the
deducting the sales expenses, all taxes a certain was RMB20.29/bird. market price increases.
product sales profits and the cost up to the date of
listing from the selling price.)
nE KAENEBRAHERR 288 —ER  204F128310 AETHERARE22  THERENE  Er A ELM.
ERHEFENZLRENKARRETMRE) T/ R-
Breeders 204,930,000.00 The fair value of the breeders is determined by the For the quantity of the breeders, assuming the The estimated fair value decreases when the
replacement cost method, which is based on the cost number of the existing breeders will decrease estimated culling rate increases.
and profit of restoring the breeders to their original as at the end of relevant period at certain culling
condition, taking into account the newness and rates due to natural or unnatural factors, which
residual value. include illness, difficult birth, low eggs production
or completion of all eggs production periods, the
estimated overall culling rate of the year ranges
from 6.29% and 27.11% along with the increase of
the number of the eggs production periods.
&g BENRAERREERFEET ZAEeR  HEBNHEMS BREFEZHEZAR EOARELAR fH2r@ERD -

BERER S E R ATABLE B H R
BitE -
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BERAIFEARZ(RERR BE BEEE
YR BEZHLER) SENE TRAE MR AR
BMEERKRD - AFRABRARERES
EEHEIEINME6.20%%27.11% 2 f o

The replacement cost is the price of the chicken
breeds plus the cost of each breeder to the
breeding period. The breeding period of breeders
is 25 weeks, and the production period ranges
from 25 weeks to 71 weeks. The average price of
chicken breeds of the year was RMB37.30/bird,
and the cost of the breeders to the breeding period
is RMB94.96/bird.
BERARBHEEMGREEZERENK
K BRERHAABE EEHRBAZTA-
REBRENTHERANINL/R EEEE
JﬁZ%ﬁE’\JBZZ!S?%M.%TE/A °

The profit is determined by multiplying the sum of
the cost of chicken breeds and the breeding period
by the cost margin. The cost margin was 11.2%
based on the financial data for 2024.
ARFEREREME KB AMATAKA
FERRETE « AR ATE R RE2024 F 8 7
BB BB R11.2%

The ratio of the remaining egg production of the
hen to the total egg production during the entire life
cycle is used to calculate the newness rate.
KREREENNREERA2BEGRASR
MEESHLPIFERIE -

The estimated fair value increases when the
estimated chicken breeds price, breeding and
other costs increase.

At HHERMARSEERA LIRS - st
RAEEM-

The fair value increases when the estimated cost
margin increases.

BERAFIEE AR A EEm.
The estimated fair value increases when the

newness rate increases.

A RRRE At AR EED-



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION
WITH RELATED PARTIES

b2 B R BB R 5

(I) Information on the parent company of the (=) XARNEARER
Company

Equity Percentage
interest in of the parent
the Company company’s
held by parent voting rights in
Name of the company the Company
parent company Registered in Business nature Registered capital (%) (%)
TR AH 1SR
VSN PN N
[SENECIER] & i 3t XBHE = i & A< R EEBI RIORFE L B
(%) (%)

Falcon Holding LP  Cayman Islands Private equity
investment 71.38 71.38

Falcon Holding LP  FI£E & LERERE

The ultimate controller of the Company: PAG (Pacific Alliance
Group) registered in Cayman Islands.

(II) Information on the subsidiaries of the Company

Please refer to Note “VIII. Equity in other entities” for details of
the information on the subsidiaries of the Company.

(Ill) Information on associates and joint ventures of
the Company

Please refer to Note “VIII. Equity in other entities” for details of
the major associates and joint ventures of the Company.

ARABREESTEZ:PAG(AERE
SE) AMLHESHS -

(D) AZRXANFRARABER

ARRFRABANBRAFRARMEIN - £E
=P RS

() ARFNEENBERERER

ARAEENALABELEFRAWE
[\~ HEEMERPAES] -
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

Xil. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION TREIRBERS (B)
WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
(IV) Related party transactions (M) BEERZER
1. Related party transactions for purchase and 1 - BHEEm BERNESEHNEH
sales of goods/provision and receipt of labor XxZ
services
Table of selling goods/provision of labor services HEBm REEBIEAER
Content of related party Amount of the Amount of the
Related party transactions current period previous period
RS BHXZAR rHPEE THeR
Yanggu Xiangyu Biological Sales of materials 1,028,744.46 3,819,082.23
Technology Co., Ltd.
BAFREYREERA R BHEMH
2. Loans and borrowings of the related parties 2 - BB ELKE
Commencement
Amount date Expiry date note
Related parties S FESHE #1A BEA FHEA
Borrowings A
Falcon Holding LP Falcon Holding LP 92,075,100.00 2023-2-6 2024-1-27 Due and repaid
FHEER
Falcon Holding LP Falcon Holding LP 42,496,200.00 2023-6-30 2024-6-25 Due and repaid
IR &R
Falcon Holding LP Falcon Holding LP 28,330,800.00 2023-6-30 2024-6-25 Due and repaid
FEBEN
Falcon Holding LP Falcon Holding LP 28,330,800.00 2023-6-30 2024-6-25 Due and repaid

BB ER

290 SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A



Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—_O=

LSRR RS A )

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

T EBAREBRX S (E)

Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION

WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(IV) Related party transactions (Continued)

3. Remuneration of key management personnel

(M) RABXZER(E)

(1) Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
Chief Executive Officer and Directors’ interests

Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and

Chief Executive Officer

Remuneration of each Director, Supervisor and

3 - FREZNSHH

(1) EF  EFMHPTHRIFTHRE
E#En

EF ESEMHTAZ SN

2024 F EBMNEE ESMUNITHR

Chief Executive Officer for the year ended 2024 is as EHrH BT
follows:
Benefit plan
Date of Date of (social security ~ Share-based
appointment  resignation Fees Remuneration Bonus  provident fund) compensation Total
BAHE & 4

Name %A ZERH BEAN ik EEHM #EuEs (HELERE) ZAHHH Bt

Director — Xiao EFE—HEE 202351718H 2,000,000.00 669,364.50 88,961.52 553,329.07 3,311,655.09
Dongsheng 18 January 2023

Director — Shi Lei EE_RE 20234517181 1,500,000.00 496,918.00 33,696.00 244,026.47 2,274,640.47
18 January 2023
Director — Zhu Lingjie #% — R%Z 2023417180
18 January 2023
Director EFE—MFE 202351718H
— Qiu Zhongwei 18 January 2023
Director — Lu Wei EE—EF  2023F1A18H
18 January 2023
Director — Zhou Rujjia ¥ % — EJifE 202341 718H
18 January 2023
Supervisor —Gao Jin  EE — &%  202351718H
18 January 2023
Supervisor EE RGN 2023F1A18H
— Zhu Kaijie 18 January 2023

Supervisor EE—EFE 2023517180 280,000.00  55,845.00 20,220.00 356,065.00
— Ma Xianwen 18 January 2023

Independent Director B E —EEX  201948FA8H 277,812.00 277,812.00
— Chung Wai Man 8 August 2019

Independent Director B2 — fHil#f 2021557 28H 277,812.00 277,812.00
— Zhao Yinglin 28 May 2021

Independent Director BE—T%5 2023F1A18H 277,812.00 277,812.00
— Wang Anyi 18 January 2023
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% 45 5l 7 83 5 -

Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION
WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(IV) Related party transactions (Continued)

3. Remuneration of key management personnel
(Continued)

(1) Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
Chief Executive Officer and Directors’ interests
(Continued)

Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and
Chief Executive Officer (Continued)

Remuneration of each Director, Supervisor and
Chief Executive Officer for the year ended 2024 is as
follows: (Continued)

Note:

@

The independent non-executive Directors will receive
remuneration from the Company and the Company
will pay each independent non-executive Director
HK$300,000 per annum. Executive directors and
employee representative Supervisors who hold other
salaried offices in the Company, namely Mr. Xiao
Dongsheng, Mr. Shi Lei and Mr. Ma Xianwen, receive
remuneration from the Company in accordance with
their positions and the Company’s remuneration
policy, while non-executive Directors and shareholder
representative Supervisors do not receive any
remuneration from the Company.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A
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3 - HREZENSFHH(E)

(1) EF EFNHTHAATHRE
FEEar (8)
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2024 FEBNEE EEMHITHE
HEFMWmT : (8)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

TS EBAIREBRX S (E)

Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION
WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(IV) Related party transactions (Continued)

(M) RABXZER(E)

3. Remuneration of key management personnel 3 - HREEANSHM (&
(Continued)
(1) Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and (1) EF EFNHTHAATHRE
Chief Executive Officer and Directors’ interests E#gEx (B
(Continued)
Remuneration of the Directors, Supervisors and EE EEMRTAEEH(E)
Chief Executive Officer (Continued)
Remuneration of each Director, Supervisor and 2023FEFBUEE EEMNHITHE
Chief Executive Officer for the year ended 2023 is as HOFHMOT
follows:
Benefit plan
Date of Date of (social security Share-based
appointment resignation Fees  Remuneration Bonus provident fund)  compensation Total
YR i3]
Name #e ZfEAH BEAS e ErHmM  Augs (RRAES) XA HEH At
Chief Executive Officer — #1174 % — 2010512760 202314188
Liu Zhiguang BEx 6 December 2010 18 January 2023
Director — Xiao EE_ERAE 2023617188 2,000,000.00  200,918.00 84,655.80 1,263,750.91  3,539,324.17
Dongsheng 18 January 2023
Director — Shi Lei 5507 2023517188 1,500,000.00  178,751.00 33,696.00 1,056,409.85  2,768,856.85
18 January 2023
Director —ZhuLingjie ~ EZE—K%%Z 2023517188
18 January 2023
Director — Qiu Zhongwei EF —HHE 2023515188
18 January 2023
Director — Lu Wei R 2023518188
18 January 2023
Director —Zhou Rujia £ —[AkE 2023517188
18 January 2023
Director — Zhou Jinying  E5 —AHE 02458318 2023517188 45,455,00 1,688.73 4714373
31 May 2022 18 January 2023
Supervisor — Lian BE—RES 2019998168 2023F1718H 13,636.36 147316 15,109.52
Xianmin 16 September 2019 18 January 2023
Supervisor —GaoJin - EF—5E 2023517188
18 January 2023
Supenvisor — Zhu Kaije  £Z—KiER 2023F15188
18 January 2023
Supervisor — Ma Xianwen E% — 512 2023617188 230,000.00 19,412.00 249,412.00
18 January 2023
Independent Director —  BE —HHE 201948A8H 2023517188 1314019 13,140.19
Guo Tianyong 8 August 2019 18 January 2023
Independent Director —  E — & X 201958 A8H 271,866.00 271,866.00
Chung Wai Man 8 August 2019
Independent Director —  BE — @5 2021457288 271,866.00 271,866.00
Zhao Yinglin 28 May 2021
Independent Director —  BE—TI%5 20231 A18H 259,405.48 259,405.48
Wang Anyi 18 January 2023
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

Xll. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION T2 HEBAIRBERS (E)

WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(IV) Related party transactions (Continued) (W) AR B 1B R (48)

3. Remuneration of key management personnel 3. BHREZEASHFH(E)

(Continued)

(2) Five highest paid individuals (2) # B &= = &) Bl 7z
BIE20245612A31H A& & &
M E (2% E £ (20234 ¢
2B))MEFMEFBER EXHFE =
(/) - & 1£20245F12 A31H  H##:3
% (20235 3R FEFHFETH

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
employees (including two Directors (2023: two)) as
at 31 December 2024 are set out in note Xll (IV)
above. The remuneration of the remaining three
(2023: three) non-Directors or key executives as at

31 December 2024 is as follows: AERFHBMAT
2024 2023
2024 E 2023 F [&
Basic salary, housing subsidy and EATE - FFEME A K
other subsidies H bt B 2,600,000.00 3,200,000.00
Performance bonus BEHEE 1,227,923.00 1,055,728.00
Pension plan contributions BEESTEIMHER 80,988.00 108,000.00
Share-based payment A& 10 = A 272,053.45 18,125.42
Total &5 4,180,964.45 4,381,853.42
Number of individual
AE
2024 2023
2024 E 2023 F [&
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 7 #07c-1,000,000 7T
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,000 7T —1,500,000 7T 3 3

4. Other related party transaction

Items

BB

HtFEHX 5

Amount of the

previous period
e

Amount of the
current period

&

Falcon Holding LP

Falcon Holding LP

5,668,549.93 25,651,783.14
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

Xil. RELATED PARTIES AND TRANSACTION T REIRBERS (B)
WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)
(V) Balances of receivables from and payables to (R BB ERENEREHEER
related parties
1. Receivables from related parties 1- EKWIEHR
Related parties Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
Items HE AW )b HRERE FEFERBR
Bad debt Bad debt
Book balance provision Book balance provision
BRE SR E BERER BRE SR ER BERER
Trade receivable & 4 85 3% Yanggu Xiangyu
Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. 14,640,154.26  14,640,154.26 14,618,640.73 5,335,908.22
GARRENRRAER
NE]
Xill. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS Tz R4 XA
() Share-based payment (RN EEBER
Equity instrument Equity instrument Equity instrument Equity instrument
granted for released for exercised for lapsed for
the period the period the period the period
Grantees BFHE FURFTHSERRZIA AEBRENSEREIR AHTENSE#RIE FHXARWNSEEEIA
No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount No. Amount
Management EEAE
members 2,525,866.00 3,125,228.69
Sales members HEAER 1,440,366.00 1,782,150.42
R&D members HEAE 58,400.00 72,257.23
Production members 47 A & 570,200.00  705,502.74
Total Aif 4,594,832.00 5,685,139.58
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XIll. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED) t2 R B XA (5
() Equity-settled share-based payment (DIUEREENROZAER

Recognition method for fair value of equity instrument on The price to buy back the shares of the Company
the date of grant
RTHREGTARARBENEEH A Bl f A8 1 A i S ) [0 B (B A%

Significant inputs for fair value of equity instrument on the
date of grant
RTARRIARAABENEEZZY

Recognition method for number of exercisable Be exercisable by the grantee on the date of within the
equity instrument prescribed service period, so the best estimation of the
amount of exercisable equity instrument is all exercisable.
AiTRER T AME T K WERTFAEREORBHRA - EDTHEBBATT#

WATHRES TABENSERGT A2 MTHE -

Reason for significant difference between estimate of the Nil
period and previous period

AHEFEEHEHFAEREZENRA i

Accumulative amount in capital reserve of equity-settled
share-based payment

NS EEORN XN AERRABN R SR 10,383,807.19
Additional information: E b3 A
2020 Share Award Scheme: As considered and approved 2020 F R RN ET &l - KA AIRREKRE
at general meeting of the Company on 4 June 2020, the 2020F 6 A4 H F & b - A2 7 142020F 6
Company adopted the share award scheme from 26 June A26 B BET—HRGEENFE - Bt - &K
2020. Pursuant to the share award scheme, the Board of the RAEFERBEEETARRIBEE RER
Company is authorised to grant the shares of the Company to ABREMBIEZFNHENTESEAR
18 senior management members and other employees for nil ARE -EEROSWBERERRZBAS -
consideration. Shares repurchased are granted to rewarded % — #2020 9 A30 B & T A 58 H40% °
employees in four phases, in which 40% of the total amount % B 202196 A30 A & F 2% 1920%
was granted on 30 September 2020 (first phase), 20% of the % = #702022F6 A30H & T A EH20%
total amount was granted on 30 June 2021 (second phase), FVOHEA 20236 A30 B T B #20% °

20% of the total amount will be granted on 30 June 2022 (third
phase) and 20% of the total amount will be granted on 30
June 2023 (fourth phase).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

Xlil. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

() Equity-settled share-based payment (Continued)

2021 Share Award Scheme: As considered and approved
at general meeting of the Company on 4 June 2020,
the Company adopted the share award scheme from 10
December 2021. Pursuant to the share award scheme, the
Company is proposed to repurchase 26,097,600 H shares,
23,487,800 H shares would be granted to 63 employees in 3
batches, in which one third of the total amount will be granted
on 30 April 2023 (first phase), one third of the total amount will
be granted on 30 April 2024 (second phase), one third of the
total amount will be granted on 30 April 2025 (third phase).
The 2,609,800 H shares would be reserved for granting
to newly recruited senior marketing staff, senior marketing
department management, and core R&D staff.

One share option shall entitle the grantee to subscribe 1

= REXMNEE)
(C) UESEEENROZAER (BE)

2021 FRMDEBETE: EARAREARS
20206 A4 B Tt - A QA R20214F
128108 R E/T —HR M EEN T & - #R it -
AN A T B E BE2,609.76 8 BXHAL - I #8 H
2,348.788 IRHAY - D3 X F63% & 8 -
FE—HIN2023FE4 A0 R TFTREN =92
— > EHIN2024F4A30R BT AEN=
DZ— FE=HIN2025F4 A30R & T &5
M=z —°TE8E260.98E K HHARET
FHRENSREHEAE BRAMHBBEEA
8 BRLUMEAS -

BOBEROHERTHEEARBIRARAAE

ordinary share of the Company. AR R o
() Share-based payments G ROXZXNER
Amount of the current period Amount of the previous period
rHEH HHeE

Equity-settled  Cash-settled Equity-settled Cash-settled

share-based  share-based share-based share-based
payments payments Total payments payments Total

NEREEN LHLRLLEMN DEGEEN NRSEEN
Grantee RFH% R XA 3 EE5) it BR1p % A+ Rip % =
Management EEAE 1,453,266.80 1,453,266.80  3,715,657.61 3,715,657.61
Sales staff HEAB 750,789.37 750,789.37  1,703,251.28 1,703,251.28
R&D staff HEAB 33,245.29 33,245.29 91,586.78 91,586.78
Production staff £EAB 324,596.93 324,596.93  1,049,673.44 1,049,673.44
Total A 2,561,898.39 2,561,898.39  6,560,169.11 6,560,169.11

XIV.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

() Significant commitments

No significant commitments are required to be disclosed
during the period.

(Il) Contingencies

No significant contingencies are required to be disclosed
during the period.

tHERHERREEE
() EERARER

AHEFERENEENARER -

(D) HEEH

AHEFERENEENHEERE-
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XV. EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF BALANCE
SHEET

() Significant Non-adjustment ltems

On 28 February 2025, the Company and Weifang Fengxiang
Food Co., Ltd* (# Z # ® @ B R 2 7)) (hereinafter
referred to as “Fengxiang Food”) jointly invested in the
establishment of a subsidiary, Shandong Xiangteng Food Co.,
Ltd.* (LLEFEERBERAQAF) (hereinafter referred to as
“Xiangteng Food”).

The proportion of subscribed capital contribution by the

tHhEEEERBRER

() EENFRBER

202542 F28H AR R E A EHER M
RABIUATHBLEERMA)  ARBHERL
FARILERFEBRRBER QA (LA T EEE
ERM) -

MRTFRAAFEBRESRRIBE L E LA

shareholders of the newly established subsidiary, Xiangteng I
Food, is as follows:
Subscribed capital Proportion of
contribution shareholding
Shareholders B=R RBHER 5 IR 6
The Company ¥iNYNEC] 25,500,000.00 51%
Fengxiang Food BHERM 24,500,000.00 49%
Total &&t 50,000,000.00 100.00%
XVI.CAPITAL MANAGEMENT THhEXRER

The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management are
to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value. The adjusted debt/capital ratios as at the balance sheet date
are as follows:

ARAREAREENTERRAERELRTREDN
EEFRRRBROEARL U FHEER K&K
ERREE REEABXRAERABNAE &
AR ZE

Balance at the Balance at the end
end of the period of last year

HA K 85 2R LFFRHBE

Total borrowings BEEBE
Owners’ equity FiB &
Adjusted debt/capital ratios KAENBE BARLE

999,052,870.54 1,175,278,020.82
3,306,439,504.69  3,031,895,729.60
30.22% 38.76%
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Z O IY F E B 5% 3ok MY & (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

XVILOTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

() Auditor’s remuneration

tTHHEMEESR

(=) % 2L Am 3 A

CRBEMEA/AREIT)

Item HE

Amount of the
previous period

tHEHE

Amount of the
current period

&

Auditor’'s remuneration

12 BB #r A

2,350,000.00 2,150,000.00

() Segment information

Basis for determining reporting segments
and accounting policies

Each of the Company’s reporting segments provides
different products or services or engages in operating
activities in different geographic areas. As each segment
requires different technologies or market strategies,
the Company’s management separately manages the
operating activities of each reporting segment and
regularly evaluates the operating results of these reporting
segments to determine the allocation of resources and to
evaluate their performance.

Intersegment transfer prices are determined on the
basis of actual transaction prices. Expenses indirectly
attributable to each segment are allocated between
segments in proportion to revenue. Assets are allocated
based on the operations of the segment and the location
of the assets. Segment liabilities include liabilities
attributable to the segment arising from its operating
activities. If expenses related to liabilities shared by
multiple operating segments are allocated to those
operating segments, the jointly assumed liabilities are
also allocated to these operating segments.

) 2 &BIE R

1 HED B EERXBEE T EHE

ZNY/NETE: =S Sl B 2 N TNz
EmERE RETEBERELEE
H-ARNEBEIBTETRNKMET
BERE ARREEESHNEBEES
@ﬁiﬂﬁmmM%@'iﬁﬁﬁﬁw
BREDHHLERR  WREME S
BRNMFTEEREE-

DHHBBEERRRERIZERAE
BEE AERBEREDMNERER
WALLPIES Bz HETHE - EER
BoMHKEAREENMEMEETT
Poll o ”ﬂ%ﬁa%”*%%éﬁ%%
MABRBRZOMNAE - MRZ AL
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XVILOTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (CONTINUED) Tt HEMEEEIE(E)

(I) Segment information (Continued) (2) 2 EBE R (&)

2. MEREHHHBEEE

2. Financial information of the reporting

300

segments
Processed
Raw chicken chicken meat
meat products products Chicken breeds Other Elimination Total

ltems EH fREAHEL ANMIEAHE BE Hits S BEEH B%
Revenue from external ESS 1 ON

transactions 7,156,308,549.92 3,113,693,901.94  26,963,795.00  259,696,034.44 -5052,010,944.20 5,504,651,337.10
Revenue from inter-segment 2 SHE < Z YA

transactions 4,812,904,081.34  158,300,839.09 80,806,023.77 -5,052,010,944.20
Income on investments HEERnaehEn

in associates and joint REWH

ventures -6,124,189.39 -6,124,189.39
Credit impairment loss ERRERX 20,310,744.47  25,614,969.20 233,700.48 1,550,474.68 47,709,888.83
Asset impairment loss BERBERE -14,035,592.63 -748,806.47  -4,867,360.96 -19,651,760.06
Depreciation and amortisation 7% % 7l & §4 &

expense 116,100,753.41  146,420,887.15 1,335,884.16 8,862,859.70 272,720,384.42
Total profit (total loss) FliEes(BBes) -225,004,674.88  491,143,288.68 -8,427,643.76 17,172,678.91 -16,667,672.96  258,215,975.99
Income tax expenses FERBA 2,841505.30  -25,492,371.49 -22,650,866.19
Net profit (net loss) FAECFER) -227,846,180.18  516,635,660.17 -8,427,643.76 17,172,678.91 -16,667,672.96  280,866,842.18
Total assets BEL® 3,569,973,634.37 4,502,285,224.36  41,077,005.07  272,523,429.10 -3,150,957,349.60 5,234,901,943.30
Total liabilities afEE®E 1,640,000,227.53 2,068,292,247.66  18,870,250.75  125,193,777.74 -1,923,894,065.07 1,928,462,438.61
Long-term equity investments $1Ef4F14 &M EH

in associates and joint RERERE

ventures 46,293,129.65 46,293,129.65
The amounts of increase of & 2 1 1% & LA SN

non-current assets other Hitdpmsh & &

than long-term equity mE

investments 1,472,289,611.00 1,856,783,394.07  16,940,530.66  112,391,141.93 3,458,404,677.66
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

SHEEUH/ARYET)

TNEBRAMBHRREBZHEBERE

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (% %5 5l 7835 -

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF

THE COMPANY
() Bills Receivable

1. Category of bills receivable

() BB RE

Balance at the

1 BREEZES T

Balance at the end

end of the period of last year
ltem HA HIR &R %E EFFRGBE
Bank acceptance notes RITHERESE 11,000,000.00
Total &5t 11,000,000.00

2. Bills receivable which are not matured as
at the balance sheet date but have been
endorsed or discounted by the Company at

2 - ARAAEEEXMBEHELRE
BEXAMERIGEREE

the period end
Closing balance
Closing balance not
derecognized yet derecognized
HARAZLERE HRRKIE®ER
Item EA &8 k|
Bank acceptance notes RITEREES 11,000,000.00 11,000,000.00
Total A&t 11,000,000.00 11,000,000.00
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

XVIl. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INEBLARMBHERETEEEFRE(E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(1) Trade receivable (2) B R
1. Disclosure of trade receivable by aging based 1- BRERSEZREABGTERNRR
on the invoice date %
Balance at the Balance at the
end of the period end of last year
Aging R HREREE LFFRGBE
Less than 1 year 1F AR 1,058,067,360.55 1,032,575,846.43
1to 2 years 1229 4,008,200.37 10,631,953.89
2 to 3 years 2% 3F 10,631,953.89
3 to 4 years 3FE4F
4 10 5 years 4E5F
Over 5 years 5% LA E
Subtotal NEE 1,072,707,514.81 1,043,207,800.32
Less: Bad debt provision W EREE 14,640,154.26 5,335,908.22
Total &&h 1,058,067,360.55 1,037,871,892.10
2. Disclosure of trade receivable by bad debt 2 BURMEBERIIES 208
provision method wE
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
BABE FEFRBE
Book balance Bad debt provision Book balance Bad debt provision
Category 3 REHE BEER RESE BRER
Proportion Proportion Proportion Proportion
Amount (%) Amount (%) Amount (%) Amount (%)
SR A sHELA Book value HHRILA R Book value
&8 (%) &8 (%) REEE k2 (%) E2 | (%) REEE
Bad debtprovisionmadeon R EEREE  14,640,154.26 1.36 14,640,154.26 100.00
an individual basis %l
Including: Er
Bad debt provisionmadeon B REHE 14,640,154.26 1.36 14,640,154.26 100.00
an individual basis with SHEEX
significant amount
Bad debt provision madeona 1 {= 3 LB % &1 1,058,067,360.55 98.64 1,058,067,360.55  1,043,207,800.32  100.00 5,335908.22 051 1,037,871,892.10

collective basis based on BERER
credit risk characteristics £

Including: He

Aging analysis group ERATES 1461820001 140 533590822 3650 928230079
Related party group EEyE S 1,058,067,360.55 98.64 1,058,067,360.55  1,028,589,591.31 98.60 1,028,589,591.31
Total &3 1,072,707,514.81 100.00 14,640,154.26 1,058,067,360.55  1,043,207,800.32 100.00 5,335,908.22 1,037,871,892.10
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XVI. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF INEBLARMBHERETEEEFRE(E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
() Trade receivable (Continued) (Z) EWERR (&)
2. Disclosure of trade receivable by bad debt 2  BRRIEBEERIIES Z7HE
provision method (Continued) wEE)
Bad debt provision made on a collective basis BIEAE RS T IEBRER

based on credit risk characteristics:

Bad debt provision for trade receivable made on an EEMNRERETREREENER
individual basis with significant amount: AR
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HREAEE TFEERBE
Provision
Bad debt percentage Basis for Bad debt
Book balance provision (%) provision Book balance provision
TR
Name a1 BHEEAE RIRER (%) sHR#&E FEHE BERER
Company 1 vk 14,640,154.26  14,640,154.26 100.00 Not expected to
be settled

B BEGHAR

Total &5t 14,640,154.26 14,640,154.26
3. Provision for bad debts made, reversed or 3 AEar12 - EOe BB EKRERE
recovered for the current period 155

Changes in amount for the current period

AHEEHEH

Balance at the
Balance at the end Recovered or Resold or end of
of lastyear  Provision reversed written off Other changes the period
Category L] LEERBE R KEHER SRR Hin# g BRBE
On an individual basis £ 85t 12 9,326,191.29 5,313,962.97 14,640,154.26

Aging group R4 5,335,908.22 -21,945.25 -5,313,962.97
Total EX 5,335,908.22 9,326,191.29 -21,945.25 14,640,154.26
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(Ill) Other receivable

(2) H fth /& WK

Balance at the
end of the period

tNEBARMBHRRTEEBER(E)

Balance at the
end of last year

Items HH HREREE EFFEFRHBREE
Interest receivable JFE UL F) B
Dividend receivable JiE Uk 3%
Other receivable H b e W sk I8 96,795.58 8,277,106.96
Total AEf 96,795.58 8,277,106.96
1. Other receivable 1- EMEWE
(1) Disclosure by aging (1) 1=ARB 7 &
Balance at the Balance at the end
end of the period of last year
Aging IR HREREE EFEFERBE
Less than 1 year 1FEAR 98,269.62 6,236,511.21
1to 2 years 1526
2 to 3 years 2% 3%
3 to 4 years 3E45F 80,000.00
4 to 5 years 4E5F
Over 5 years 5F A F
Subtotal INET 98,269.62 8,904,190.48
Less: bad debt provision o R ER 1,474.04 627,083.52
Total AEf 96,795.58 8,277,106.96
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(Ill) Other receivable (Continued)

1. Other receivable (Continued)

(2) Disclosure by bad debt provision method

Balance at the end of the period

tNEBARMBHRRTEEBZR(E)

(Z) Ef W (8)
1 BEftEWR A (&)

(2) BERFIETED RIKEE

Balance at the end of last year

BABE FEERHBE
Book balance Bad debt provision Book balance Bad debt provision
EARE BRER FEHE BRER
Proportion Provision Proportion Provision
Amount (%)  Amount percentage (%) Book value Amount (%) Amount percentage (%) Book value
t Al idi]
Category 5l ¢85 (%) S8 HRWA%) REEE t8 (%) S8 HRLEIC) FHER
Bad debtprovision made onan R EEHEERER
individual basis
Bad debt provision made on a RERRERERAS
collective basis based on credit  FHEEEREE
risk characteristics 98,269.62 100.00 1,474.04 150  96,795.58  8,904,190.48 100.00  627,083.52 7.04  8277,106.96
Including: Hep:
Aging analysis group ERATES 98,269.62 100.00 1,474.04 150  96,795.58  8,904,190.48 100.00  627,083.52 7.04  8277,106.96
Total a3t 98,269.62 10000 1,474.04 96,79558  8904,190.48 10000  627,083.52 8,277,106.96
Bad debt provision made on a collective basis EERARREERASTIERER
based on credit risk characteristics: A
Group provision items: Aging group HEFIRIER - REKRAES
Balance at the end of the period
R
Other Bad debt Provision
receivables provision percentage(%)
Name =2 H b fE YRR IE FEREE 5112 B B1(%)
Less than 1 year 1F AR 98,269.62 1,474.04 1.5
1to 2 years 15224
2 to 3 years 2E3F
3 to 4 years 3E44F
4 to 5 years 4E55F
Over 5 years 5F A E
Total &&t 98,269.62 1,474.04
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
— O = M F E B #% ¥ 3k B = (&)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF TNEBARBERERTEEAZERE(E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(1) Other receivable (Continued) (Z) Efp e K (48)

1. Other receivable (Continued) 1- BttEWFE (&)

306

(3) Provision for bad debts (3) BERREFELIEIE N
Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

F-KE FRR FoRR

Expected credit Lifetime expected

losses in Lifetime expected credit losses

the next credit losses (credit impairment

12 months (no credit impairment) has occurred) Total
BEEGESES BEFESES
AF128 A ERBX EREX
Provision for bad debts RIREE BHERAX (RBEERARE) (BRESARE) G
Balance at the end of last year ~ FFF K% 627,083.52 627,083.52
Balance at the end of last year at -4 F R 4 5B /£ A Hf
the current period
— Transfer to phase 2 —BAE BB
— Transfer to phase 3 —BAE=RR
— Reverse to phase 2 —BOE[EE
— Reverse to phase 1 —ERE-FER
Provision for the current period 7k #5112 1,474.04 1,474.04
Reversal at the current period A~ Hi &[]
Resell at the current period AHEE -627,083.52 -627,083.52
Written off at the current period 7% Hi 4% 34
Other changes Hb &5
Balance at the end of the period ~ Ei & # %8 1,474.04 1,474.04

The movements of the book balance for other

receivables are as follows:

HA EUGREREABEESH T ¢

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3
E-KE EZRE R
Expected credit Lifetime expected
losses in Lifetime expected credit losses
the next credit losses (credit impairment
12 months (no credit impairment) has occurred) Total
EEEZRDES BEEGRSES
A28 A EREX FREX
Book balance RESE BHERAX (RBEEERRE) (BRECARE) G
Balance at the end of last year ~ +EEKH%E 8,904,190.48 8,904,190.48
Balance atthe end of last year -4 F KRB E £ A
at the current period
— Transfer to phase 2 —BAEZRER
— Transfer to phase 3 —BAE=RE
— Reverse to phase 2 —BEE R
— Reverse to phase 1 —BERE-RR
Addition for the current period 7N 3 1% 98,269.62 98,269.62
Derecognised at the current RHEE LR
period 8,904,190.48 8,904,190.48
Other changes Hin g
Balance at the end of the period  #i R % %8 98,269.62 98,269.62
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(Ill) Other receivable (Continued)

1. Other receivable (Continued)

(4) Provision for bad debts made, reversed or
recovered in the current period

tNEBARMBHRRTEEBZR(E)

(Z) Ef W (8)
1 HftEWRFIE (&)

(4) AHj511E - B8 [0 2 4 [O] 4 52 AR E
A=

Changes in amount for the current period

TR EHEE
Balance at the Recovered or Resold or Balance at the
end of last year Provision reversed written off end of the period
Category 7 EFEFRBE HE B = EE Rz HREAEE
Aging analysis group Bk DA A 627,083.52 1,474.04 -627,083.52 1,474.04
Total Sy 627,083.52 1,474.04 -627,083.52 1,474.04

(5) Classification of receivables by nature

(5) BAELEE S HIFR

Book balance Book balance

at the end of at the end of

the period last year

EFER

Nature MEME HiR AR I A 88 BRE R
Employee advance payment BTIRBR 98,269.62 78,837.33
Deposits and guarantees He RIRES 5,075,679.27
Government grants receivable & W BT 18 B 3,749,673.88
Total &5t 98,269.62 8,904,190.48
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (B BIFERRIN » ©EEEMH A AR IT)

XVILNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF NBARBKEERRTEEBETE(E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(IV) Long-term Equity Investments (W) REBRERE
Balance at the end of the period Balance at the end of last year
HABE LFEERBE
Provision for Provision for
Book balance impairment Book value Book balance impairment Book value
Items A RERE HEER REEE REBE HEER REEE

Investment in subsidiaries ¥ ¥ 22 A% 1,237,402,359.09 93,623,000.00 1,143,779,359.09 1,236,225415.26  93,623,000.00 1,142,602,415.26

Investment in associates 41 EE - AE (M E

and joint ventures RE 4848554597 219241632  46293,129.65  54,609,735.36 54,609,735.36
Total A 1,285,887,905.06 9581541632 1,190,072,488.74 1,290,835,150.62  93,623,000.00 1,197,212,150.62
1. Investment in subsidiaries 1- $FRGRE

Increases/decreases at current period

rBRELD
Balance of Provision for
provision impairment Closing balance
Balance atthe  impairment atthe Increasesin Decreases in at current Balance atthe  of provision
endof lastyear ~ end of lastyear investment  investment period Others end of the period impairment
HEER REER HEER
Investees BRREEN FEERBE LEERBE  BORE HIRE HEEE Hib BRRE HABE
Shandong Fengxiang Industrial LI R Bl & % 584,517,896.55 57,051,078.44 199,300.93  584,717,197.48  57,051,078.44
Co., Ltd. BERAR
Shandong Fengxiang Food LRERRRER 381,194,304.59 36,571,921.56 977,642.90  382,171,947.49  36,571,921.56
Development Co., Ltd. BRAA
Shandong iShape Food WREF R @R 173,654,073.00 173,654,073.00
Technology Co., Ltd.* BRAF
Fengxiang Foods (Japan) BERGIKA L 3,236,141.12 3,236,141.12
Co., Ltd.
Total At 1,142,602,415.26 93,623,000.00 1,176,943.83  1,143,779,359.09  93,623,000.00
2. Investment in associates and joint ventures 2 - HBE SETL¥ERE
Increase/decrease at current period
THEREY
Gains or losses
on investments Other
recognised  comprehensive Declaration of Balance at  Closing balance
Balance at the Additional ~ Reduction of - under the equity income  Other changes ~ cash dividends ~ Provision for the end of of provision
end of last year investment investment method adjustment in interest or profits impairment Others the period impairment
i3 BEETER Eftiza Ay SEENERS iR REERE
Investees BREEM ERBE BNRE AYRE  MRER& BaAE BR2Y  RASAE HEER i BRBE BRBE
Associates BEtLE
Yanggu Xiangyu Biological Technology ~ B AH B AR
BRAR 54,609,735.36 -6,124,189.39 2,192,416.32 46,293,129.65  2,192,416.32
54,609,735.36 -6,124,189.39 2,192,416.32 46,293,129.65  2,192,416.32
Total ait 5460973536 -6,124,189.39 2,192416.32 46,293,12065 219241632
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(IV) Long-term Equity Investments (Continued)

3.

The impairment test of long-term equity
investments

During the current period, the Company conducted an
impairment test on its long-term equity investments,
determined the recoverable amount based on the net

amount of the fair value less the costs of disposal, and
recognized an asset impairment loss of RMB2,192,416.32.

The Company utilized the evaluation report titled “Fair
Value Evaluation Project of the 49% Equity Interest in
Yanggu Xiangyu Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a Long-
term Equity Investment Held by Shandong Fengxiang
Co., Ltd. for the Purpose of Preparing Financial Reports”
(Zhe Lian Ping Bao Zi [2025] No. 84) issued by China
United Assets Appraisal Group (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd.
on 17 March 2025 to confirm the fair value of its long-
term equity investments. As of 31 December 2024, the
pricing information for the fair value of the long-term
equity investments mainly derive from the land transfer
information of Yanggu County, the “Handbook of Common
Methods and Parameters for Assets Appraisal” (published
by China Machine Press in 2011), “Valuation: Measuring
and Managing the Value of Companies (3rd Edition)” (written
by [US] Copeland,T., etc., translated by Hao Shaolun and
Xie Guanping, published by Electronic Industry Press), as
well as the notice forwarded by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong
Province regarding “Notice of Shandong Provincial
Development and Reform Commission on Integrating
and Reducing the Transaction Service Charges for State-
owned Assets of Enterprises”. The valuation conclusion
is that the fair value of the 49% equity interest in Yanggu
Xiangyu Biological Technology Co., Ltd., a long-term
equity investment held by Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd.
for the purpose of financial reporting, is RMB46.3859
million. The Company calculated the costs of disposal to
be RMB92,800, determined the recoverable amount to be
RMB46.2931 million based on the net amount of the fair
value less the costs of disposal, and recognized an asset
impairment loss of RMB2.1924 million.

tNEBARMBHRRTEEBZR(E)

(O RERERE(E)

3 RAREREHERZHER

AE - ARBHERBARERET T RE
AR BRARBEREREEERENTF
HETEATKD S BREERER
%£2,192,416.327C °

KAREHRERBEREREN AR EERE
RAATHHREETIGHEECHT) AR
A RA2025F3 178 £ A QLR B 4
BOHBRAREREM B RS BHS R
BENREBREREGAEREDR K
BRAEI9%KIERN R EEBEFHIER)
CH Bt 27 3R 7[2025] 5 8458 MO T (A 3R &)
B E202412A31H RPBRERED
APABEMNREGEEEZRZAEBAE
T HEES (BEFGEFRAAFEES
BF M) (4 T % 5 AR #2011 S hig) -
(BEFGE: ArEENEHERER(F
3fR))([E]Copeland, T.Z % - MB 1w - i
BEE EFIELRE)URILEERH
BZEB(LRERENNELZECH
REABRBELCERNEEERIRBKE
EERBANBN - FHEEwE LR
BHEBROERAGRAMBE RS B SR
RHBREREBARREDREERA
A]49% A% # 1) A 7t (B 18 54,638.59 8 T ©
ARBIBEREEEMIBET KAA
BEREZEEEREZMNFEETHEITK
B & %H4,62931& L BREERMERE
£219.248 7T ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O- M FE B R M EE ()

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K #5587 - ©EEMNHEARKE )

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF TNEBARBERERTEEAZERE(E)
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(B) X WAMEXEHE

(V) Operating revenue and operating costs
1. Operating revenue and operating costs 1 EEWRAFEEL KGR

Amount of the current period Amount of the previous period

AEEHE +FEE
Revenue Costs Revenue Costs
Items HE A 2% WA BN
Main business FEEK 3,410,545,537.37 3,042,348,959.15 3,446,790,350.53 3,299,754,885.74
Other businesses HAb 75 6,674,173.25 5,469,371.52 4,814,164.55 3,383,909.81
Total &5t 3,417,219,710.62 3,047,818,330.67 3,451,604,515.08 3,303,138,795.55

ERUAFA

The breakdown of operating revenue:

310

Amount of the
current period

Amount of the
previous period

ltems EHR RESHE Bl
Main business: T 3,410,545,537.37  3,446,790,350.53
Sales of goods HE®Hm 3,410,545,537.37  3,446,790,350.53
Other businesses: BEMER: 6,674,173.25 4,814,164.55
Revenue from by-products Bl E S WA 597,646.43 495,970.84
Revenue from waste materials EEEWMEKR A 1,127,231.71 1,347,843.65
Services income AR 75 A 4,832,021.14 2,805,132.95
Revenue from sale of materials R E WA 117,273.97 52,230.15
Others HAith 112,986.96
Total &5t 3,417,219,710.62  3,451,604,515.08
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

—O-HEE B ®RRWEE (E)

(Amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) (K55S - @ BEEMN T B AR T)

XVI.L NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(VIl)Investment Income

() RE W&

Amount of the
current period

tNEBARMBHRRTEEBZR(E)

Amount of the
previous period

Items HH L tHe®E
Long-term equity accounted for using the #E 25 /7% 1% & #) & Hi A% 4&

equity method -6,124,189.39 -5,231,499.28
Discount interest of the bills that can be A 4% [F FE R Z 1 8L B M F B IR A

derecognized and interest income -442,087.50
Handle fees for hedging instruments EHTAFES -120,723.14 -275.37
Total EE -6,687,000.03 -5,231,774.65

Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd. LWERBH#ERGBERALD A

(Company seal affixed)
28 March 2025

(nEQE)

—O-—HF=A-+/\H
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEBERE

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, prepared on the basis as set out herein,
is set out below:

TREAEEXNBERBAMBFRE 2 WEHE
BBERAEBE ZFEHRBRLAFERAEREE

e

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 2023 % 20224 202145 2020 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®BTT AR®TT AR®TT AR®ETTT
Results E4
Revenue WA 5,504,651 5,134,413 5,085,790 4,416,764 3,901,615
Gross profit (before biological ENREMEE
assets fair value adjustments) AR BEEAER) 660,099 591,464 583,497 557,939 603,246
Profit (loss) for the year (after FEOEF (B58)
biological assets fair value (REMEELAREE
adjustments) (Note 1) FEER) (Mit1) 280,867 160,319 (769,029) 47,075 151,615
Gross profit margin (%) EME%)(REMEE
(before biological assets AR EEFHER)
fair value adjustments) 12.0 11.5 11.5 12.6 183
Net profit (loss) margin (%) A (B8 X (%) 5.1 3.1 (15.1) 1.1 3.9
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BEEBE 5,234,902 5,057,066 5,228,334 6,931,052 5,777,550
Total liabilities BERE 1,928,462 2,025,170 2,616,359 3,531,440 2,390,015
Total equity W B 3,306,440 3,031,896 2,611,975 3,399,612 3,387,535
Note 1: In 2022, net profit after deducting monetary fund receivables bad debt BifaE1 - 2022 5 0 Br B B 3R FE W30 B4 B 765 2 B 2 17 A —

loss arising from the recognition of a one-off and non-recurring
impairment loss on the deposits due from GMK Finance amounted to
RMB39,206 thousand. In 2024, net profit after deducting the reversal of
monetary fund receivables bad debt and the corresponding tax and
interests arising from the liquidation of GMK Finance amounted to
RMB198,048 thousand.

SHANDONG FENGXIANG CO., LTD. ILRB#¥ KM ERA A
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Shandong Fengxiang Co., Ltd.
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